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CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP "MONGOLIA."

SATURDAY, JUNE 2, 1917.

United States Senate,

Committee on Naval Affairs,

Washington, D. G.

The committee met, pursuant to call, at 10 o'clock a. m., in the

committee room, Capitol, Senator Claude A. Swanson, presiding.

Present: Senators Swanson (acting chairman), Smith of Mary

land, Phelan, Harding, Penrose, Page, Poindexter, Frelinghuysen,

and Hale.

The Acting Chairman. The committee has been called together

to-day pursuant to the provisions of Senate resolution No. 71, which

is as follows:

Whereas a few clays ago a lamentable accident occurred on the merchant ship

Mongolia, whereby two Red Cross nurses, who were en route to the battle

fields of Europe upon an errant of mercy, were instantly killed, said accident

being due, it is charged, to defective shells employed in gun practice, under

the direction of officers and enlisted men of the United States Navy ; and,

Whereas according to newspaper reports, based upon statements alleged to have

been made by a rear admiral of the United States Navy, previous accidents

of a similar nature have occurred, though not attended by fatalities ; and

Whereas this Nation is now engaged In the greatest war in the history of the

world, in which its Navy is likely to play a conspicuous part, a participancy

in which the element of accident should be reduced, if possible, to a negligible

quantity : Therefore be it

Resolved, That the Naval Affairs Committee of the Senate be directed to

make a careful and searching inquiry into the causes of the recent accidents on

shipboard, due to defective ammunition, or otherwise, with a view to prevent

ing similar occurrences hereafter.

Resolved, That the report of such findings shall be made to the Senate not

later than June fifteenth, nineteen hundred and seventeen.

The Acting Chairman. I have written a letter to Secretary Dan

iels, requesting him to appear before the committee to-day and give

us all the information that is possessed in the Navy Department, and

to have with him such officers as may be acquainted with the facts

and circumstances concerning the matter which is the subject of this

investigation. I received a letter from Secretary Daniels, in response

to that, saying that he would be delighted to appear before the com

mittee and give the fullest information that is possessed by the

department.

I have also written a letter to Senator Frelinghuysen. informing

him of the investigation, and I will state now that we should be glad

to receive the names of any witnesses he desires summoned and any

information he may wish to give the committee in regard to this

investigation.
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4 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

We have with us to-day Secretary Daniels; Bear Admiral Earle,

the Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance; Lieut. Commander B. S.

Holmes; and Lieut. Commander G. L. Caskey, all of the Bureau of

Ordnance. If it is agreeable to the committee, Secretary Daniels will

make a statement and be first examined in reference to the subject

matter of the inquiry.

STATEMENT OF HON. JOSEPHUS DANIELS, THE SECRETARY OF

THE NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. Secretary Daniels, you have seen a copy

of Senate resolution 71, have you not?

Secretary Daniels. I have.

The Acting Chairman. Will you please state all that you may

know in reference to the facts therein stated and the matter that is

the subject of inquiry by this committee ?

Secretary Daniels. Mr. Chairman, in accordance with the policy

determined upon before the war was declared, the Navy Department

was given the duty of arming merchant ships going into the danger

zone. When we were notified the Mongolia was to sail, instructions

were given to put a crew on board with the guns that the Depart

ment of Operations and the Bureau of Ordnance thought ought to

be placed on that ship. The Mongolia sailed on Saturday, May 19.

On Sunday afternoon, after getting to sea, on May 20, this accident

occurred, resulting in the most deplorable death of these two nurses

and the injury of another. That information was sent by radio

from the ship. When I arrived at the department Monday morning

a few minutes after 9, 1 received the radiogram reporting the fatal ac

cident. I took it up at once with Admiral Benson, Chief of Naval

Operations, and Admiral Earle. Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance,

and a few minutes later, when the representatives of the press called

on me, as is their custom every morning at 10.30, I informed them

that these nurses had been killed on Sunday afternoon, and gave

them all the facts that we had been able to obtain up to that time.

Admiral Earle had called up New York by telephone and we gave

out such facts as we had been able to obtain.

I was also informed that Admiral Usher, who is the commandant

in that naval district, and also commandant of the New York Navy

Yard, had appointed a board of naval officers and ordered them to

make an investigation, which would take place at once. That after

noon Admiral Earle received further information, and I directed

him to prepare a statement giving every fact in connection with the

accident which we had. I gave his complete report to the press

Monday night, and it appeared in most of the papers Tuesday

morning.

I state those facts to show that the Navy Department not only

did not fail to give the public information, but gave it at the very

earliest practicable moment; that Admiral Usher ordered the in

vestigation immediately upon the arrival of the ship; that the ship

arrived Monday morning in New York. The ammunition in ques

tion was sent ashore at once, including the brass cap—you have one

of them here—which was on the shell. It is on the cartridge case to

keep the powder dry. It is necessary to have something with which

to keep the powder dry, and for 20 or more years the Bureau of
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Ordnance has used a cap exactly like this [indicating]. This cap,

following the discharge of the gun, in some inexplicable way which

we have not been able to discover, flew back and killed these young

women.

Senator Penrose. A cap like that ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Page. In other words, there was a rebound ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes. The statements I am making are based

on the official report I have received. I have here the actual pieces

of brass which caused the fatalities. This [exhibiting] is the actual

piece.

Senator Page. That is one of the pieces that struck the two girls ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; and this is another piece [exhibiting].

Senator Penrose. These different pieces struck both nurses?

Secretary Daniels. Yes ; it struck a post first and broke.

Senator Penrose. Then the scraps hit the women?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; this [exhibiting] went into the heart of

one of the women.

Senator Penrose. It must have been going with tremendous force.

Secretary Daniels. Yes; it must have been. The ship returned to

port, arriving Monday morning, and all this ammunition was taken

off at once. We then removed the brass caps and substituted wooden

plugs in their place.

Senator Penrose. Just as a matter of curiosity, were these nurses

standing near the gun or on what part of the ship ?

Secretary Daniels. One hundred and seventy-five feet forward

and 12 feet above the gun. There is a diagram drawn by the officer

of the Mongolia [exhibiting].

The Acting Chairman. Suppose at this time you show us these

shells.

Admiral Earle. Here is a diagram which will show very plainly

the situation.

Senator Page. Would it not be well, Mr. Secretary, to state the

purpose for which this discharge was made?

Secretary Daniels. The officers in command of armed guards on

merchant ships have instructions to hold target practice while under

way. They use icebergs or almost any suitable object they see for

a target. It is the best training they can get, and it is most impor

tant that they should be as efficient as possible.

Senator Page. That is a custom?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Page. It was not peculiar to this particular ship?

Secretary Daniels. Every ship that goes out has this practice.

They were conducting a target practice.

Senator Page. To what destination was the Mongolia bound ?

Secretary Daniels. We never give out the destination of trans-

Atlantic vessels. The captain of the ship receives orders to cross.

He sails under sealed orders and learns his port of call as he nears

the other side.

Senator Page. Is this the actual shell [indicating] ?

Secretary Daniels. No; that is the cartridge case that holds the

powder.

Admiral Earle. That is the cartridge case which holds the pow

der. The powder comes to about here [indicating], sir, and on top
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of the powder is put a pasteboard disk, then pasteboard distance

pieces like that [exhibiting]. In other words, the powder is in here

[indicating]. Here is the primer [exhibiting] that discharges the

powder. That goes into the cartridge case in this manner [indicat

ing]. That explodes the powder when the connection is made by

the gun pointer. The brass mouth cup is put in, heavily coated with

shellac, and driven in. That makes a hermetically tight joint. The

shell had nothing to do with the accident on the Mongolia at all.

The Acting Chairman. This [indicating] was put into the gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. That is the shell that was fired at the

target [indicating].

Senator Page. What fills up the rest of that brass tube?

Admiral Earle. This, sir [indicating pasteboard distance pieces

and disk].

Senator Page. What is that for ?

Admiral Earle. In the magazines and aboard ship they handle

the cartridge cases this way [indicating], and if they did not have

that the powder would be all joggled around. If it were not held

in place, the powder charge would not burn with the desired rate

and pressure. You must have the right pressure and insure that

the shell is projected at the right velocity.

Senator Page. Is this sample [exhibiting] a piece of the paste

board used to hold the powder ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Show how it is put in there.

Admiral Earle. It is put in this way [exhibiting].

The Acting Chairman. The powder is put in first ?

Admiral Earle. The first thing that goes in is the primer. For

this charge there are about 20 pounds of smokeless powder, then the

pasteboard disk, next this egg crate distance piece, and lastly the

brass mouth cup. It is merely to hold the charge solid. This is all

done at the magazine, and not at the ship.

The Acting Chairman. Do you have that vacant space in the

tube [indicating] ?

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir ; the pressure of the powder is a function,

of course, depending on the size of the powder chamber, and in

order to get the velocity of the shell, we have to calculate to get the

size of the powder chamber.

The Acting Chairman. What do you call the powder chamber?

Admiral Earle. That is represented by the length of this case

[exhibiting]. This brass cup [indicating] is driven in next. It is

driven in.

The Acting Chairman. The shell is put in the gun first?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the cartridge is put in next.

Admiral Earle. When the powder charge goes out this brass cup

goes along with it.

Senator Hale. AVhat size shell is that ?

Admiral Earle. A 6-inch shell.

The Acting Chairman. Is that only applicable to this particular

size of shell ?

Admiral Earle. We use it in the 4.7. That is an English gun.

The Acting Chairman. Of the American guns, it is only the 6-

inch shell that is handled in that way ?
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Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. The shell is put in the gun first and the

ammunition afterwards ?

Admiral Earle. The shell is loaded into the gun. Here is the

primer [exhibiting] that you see here [indicating on diagram] and

here is the powder and the wad and the distance piece and the brass

cup and shell [indicating on diagram]. Now, there is a sample of

the explosive that is used in the shell, and here is a fuse [exhibit

ing] that goes into the base of the shell.

Senator Page. This fuse goes into the base of the shell ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; that is to burst it.

Senator Page. What discharges that ?

Admiral Earle. When the shell hits an object this fuse is so

fitted inside that it causes the shell to explode.

The Acting Chairman. This shell, going at a great velocity stops

and there is a rebound, and the pin strikes down here [indicating]

and explodes. There is a rebound, and there is a little device that

goes down into the percussion cap.

Senator Penrose. Where is that percussion cap put?

Admiral Earle. In here [indicating].

The Acting Chairman. When anything stops the shell there is a

rebound, and when it stops, a little device hits the percussion cap

and explodes.

Senator Penrose. What does that shell weigh?

Admiral Earle. One hundred pounds, loaded.

Senator Penrose. How far does that shell carry when it is shot ?

Admiral Earle. It depends on the elevation of the gun. They

were shooting at 3,000 yards when the accident happened. It will

go 7 or 8 miles, according to how high you elevate the gun.

Senator Poindexter. Is that the limit?

Admiral Earle. We have never figured it out, but it is pretty

close to it.

Senator Penrose. Have you known of accidents of this kind to

occur before with this shell ?

The Acting Chairman. Suppose we proceed a little more syste

matically with Secretary Daniels.

Senator Page. I think it has been wise to have this demonstration,

because now we have a better understanding of the matter.

Secretary Daniels. As I said in the beginning, we received reports

on this matter which were promptly made public, and I would like

to insert in the proper place in the testimony this statement which I

issued Monday, following the accident, and also the statement given

out by Admiral Earle on May 22 ; and then I would like to insert

also the report of the board of investigation ordered by Admiral

Usher, and the report of the medical board which also investigated

the matter.

Senator Page. That will all appear in the record.

Secretary Daniels. It is all in the report.

(The matter referred to is here printed in full as follows:)

PRESS NOTICE.

Secretary Daniels said to-night :

" This morning I gave out the distressing statement that two nurses, who

were going to Europe had been aceidently killed on the steamship Mongolia Sun

day afternoon. That was all the information that had been received at that
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time. To-day the Mongolia returned to New York to bring the bodies of Mrs.

Edith Ayres and Miss Helen Burnett Wood, the two nurses who were killed,

and the fuller particulars were learned from the officers at the New York Navy

Yard who boarded the ship in the upper bay. The particulars of the fatal

accident, which is deeply deplored, is thus furnished by the ordnance officer

from New York:

" When about 100 miles to sea, in accordance with the usual procedure, guns

were fired to test mounts, ammunition, and to practice the navy crew in their

use. The guns were of the 6-inch caliber for which the shell and powder are

loaded separately into the gun. The powder charge is contained in a brass case

and there held in place by a pasteboard wad, distance pieces, and a brass mouth

cup that fits closely, thus making a moisture-tight joint in order that the

powder may always give the velocity and pressure intended. When the gun is

fired this brass cup is propelled some distance, sometimes whole and sometimes

in pieces, but always in front of the gun. Several nurses who were watching the

firing were sitting on the promenade deck some 175 feet abaft and 10 feet above

the gun. On the third shot the brass mouth cup struck the water peculiarly,

boomeranged directly back to the ship, struck the stanchion near where the

nurses were sitting and broke. Its pieces instantly killed Mrs. Edith Ayres

and Miss Helen Burnett Wood, of Chicago, 111. The firing was stopped at

once and the vessel returned to port to land the bodies.

" This method of sealing the cartridge cases has bseu used in the Navy for

many years, certainly for 15 years or more, and that such an accident, as this

sad one, could occur had not been even considered by ordnance experts.

"An investigation has been ordered and its findings will enable the depart

ment to fully ascertain the cause and provide the remedies to prevent a possible

recurrence of the accident."

[Third indorsement.]

Jt-SE 1 1917.

Prom : Bureau of Ordnance.

To : Bureau of Navigation.

Subject : Record of proceedings of a board of investigation, appointed by. the

commandant, navy yard and station, New York, to inquire into the circum

stances attending an accident on board the steamship Mongolia on May 20,

1917.

Inclosure: (A) Three fragments of 6-inch mouth cup.

1. Forwarded.

2. It is noted that the deaths of Nurses Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood

and the wounding of Nurse Emma Matzen were due to the striking of these per

sons by fragments of the brass mouth cup from the cartridge fired in the after

6-inch gun. The bureau concurs in the opinion of the board of investigation

that these persons were located in a position with reference to the guu which

would ordinarily be considered safe, and that no responsibility for the accident

attaches to the commanding officer of the armed guarii or any member thereof.

3. It is noted that no material damage to guns, mountings, or appurtenances

resulted at the time of this accident. It is further noted that, with the excep

tion of the mouth cap, the ammunition functioned normally in every way and

that the projectiles flighted true, striking the point of aim.

4. The ammunition of the 6"/40 guns of the type mounted on the Mongolia

is termed separate or semifixed ammunition—the projectile being loaded sepa

rately from the powder charge and the latter being put up in a brass cartridge

case. This arrangement is necessary on account of the weight of the ammuni

tion, the projectile weighing 105 pounds and the powder charge, complete, about

35 pounds, which makes the assembly of the projectile and powder charge into

one complete cartridge (as is done with smaller caliber ammunition) quite

impracticable.

5. In order to seal the powder charge in the cartridge case and thus preserve

its stability and ballistic qualities from the deteriorating influence of atmo

spheric moisture, it has been the practice to place a tight fitting brass cup in

the mouth of the cartridge case after loading the charge in the case and to seal

the joint between the cup and the case with shellac. The mouth cup is made

of the same kind of brass as the cartridge case itself and is manufactured by

drawing from a disk in the same way.
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6. This has been the standard method of preparing this ammunition for up

wards of 20 years and many hundreds of rounds have been fired without acci

dent. Normally the mouth cup follows the projectile out of the gun, either

whole or in pieces, travels for a short distance in the line of fire and then

splashes in the water while the projectile travels on to the target. That the

cup could boomerang back on board ship had not even been considered and so

far as the bureau is definitely aware such an accident is unprecedented. It

should be stated in this connection that the practice of usiug metal mouth cups

for semifixed ammunition is generally employed by foreign navies.

7. The bureau very greatly regrets this deplorable accident which has re

sulted in the death of two Women nurses but feels that in view of all previous

experience and knowledge such an accident could not have been foreseen. It is

probable that such a thing*would not occur again in the firing of many hundreds

of rounds, but in order definitely to eliminate this danger in future steps have

been taken to develop a substitute for the brass mouth cup.

8. As a preliminary measure, orders have been issued to replace the brass

mouth cups of the 6-inch ammunition on board the various liners armed with

6"/40 guns with wooden plugs, and a uew outfit of ammunition with wooden

plugs will be issued to each of these ships as they return to their home ports.

The wooden plug is not deemed entirely satisfactory from the viewpoint of

sealing the case and investigation is being made into the proposition of develop

ing a mouth cup of fiber, celluloid, cork composition, or some similar material

which will be substantial and waterproof and which will effectually seal the

cartridge case. After a suitable substitute cup has been developed and a supply

procured, the present brass cups and temporary wooden plugs will be withdrawn

entirely and the new cups substituted not only in the ammunition of the

armed liners but also in that of the vessels of the regular service which are

armed with this type of gun.

Ralph Earle.

Record of Proceedings of a Board of Investigation, Appointed by the Com

mandant, Navy Yard and Station, New York, to Inquire Into the Cir

cumstances Attending an Accident on Board the Steamship " Mongolia,"

on May 20, 1017.

United States Navy Yard,

New York, .V. Y., May 21, 1917.

From : Commandant.

To: Capt. F. A.' Wilner, United States Navy, retired.

Subject : Orders.

Reference: (a) Article R. 316.

1. A board, consisting of yourself as senior member, and of Commander H. C.

Poundstone, United States Navy, retired, and Chief Gunner John J. Murray,

United States Navy, as additional members, will convene at the navy yard,

New York, immediately, for the purpose of inquiring into and reporting upon

the accident which occurred on board the steamship Mongolia on May 20, 1917.

2. You will make a careful and thorough examination into all the circum

stances attending this accident, and upon the conclusion of the investigation will

report the testimony taken and all the facts established thereby, an estimate

of damage done, together with your conclusions covering such facts. There is

inclosed herewith copy of a telegram concerning this accident.

3. The board will submit its report in quadruplicate.

N. R. Usher.

A true copy.

John J. Murray.

Navy Yard, .Vcic York, May 21, 1017.

The board met at 2.10 p. m.

Present: Capt. F. A. Wilner, United States Navy, retired; Commander H. C.

Poundstone, United States Navy, retired; and Chief Gunner John J. Murray,

United States Navy, members.

Samuel C. Hudnell, stenographer, entered.

The convening order, hereto prefixed, was read, and the board decided upon

Its procedure.
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The investigation then proceeded as follows :

Lieut. Philip Seymour, United States Navy, was called as a witness and

'was examined, as follows :

By the Board :

1. Question. State your name, rank, and present station.

Answer. Philip Seymour, lieutenant, United States Navy, in command of the

armed guard on board the Steamship Mongolia.

2. Question. Were you attached to that vessel on May 20, about 2 p. m.7

Answer. Yes, sir.

3. Question. Give us a description of what occurred on that vessel at the

time mentioned.

Answer. The Mongolia left her pier in the North River on May 19, about 2

p. m., and proceeded to sea. We passed Ambrose Channel Lightship about 8

p. m„ on the 19th of May, and proceeded on an easterly course until about 1.57

p. m., May 20, at a speed of about 144 knots. I consulted with the captain of

the ship regarding target practice, and stated that I wanted to actually fire all

the guns and to ascertain whether everything was in satisfactory condition

before proceeding further on the trip across. We arranged that we would start

about 2 p. m., May 20. The prearranged signal for guns, crews to go to their

stations was decided upon, and the word was passed around the ship that the

crew would have target practice. The gun captains of all guns had been given

specific instructions to allow none of the passengers within 15 feet of their

guns. The after gun in particular is mounted on a platform about 10 feet

above the main deck, and none other than the guns, crews were allowed on this

platform, except by permission and when they were accompanied by me. The

ship carried about 250 passengers and about 200 crew. This passenger list was

composed entirely of base hospital No. 12. of Chicago, 111., which was organized

by the Red Cross, and was under the command of Maj. C. C. Collins, United

States Army.

The armament of the ship consists of three 6-inch, 40-caliber guns, two mounted

forward, one on each bow ; a third was in the center line of the after part of the

ship. The center of the pedestal of the after gun is about 10 feet from the stern

rail of the ship. At 2 o,clock on the afternoon of the 20th of May, approxi

mately, the target which had been constructed was thrown overboard from the

stern of the ship, the rudder put over, and the ship brought on a course so that

the target was approximately abeam, distant a mile and a half. I was on the

bridge, with fire-control telephones on, controlling the guns. When the target

bore about two points forward of the port beam I communicated with No. 2

and No. 3 guns and gave instructions to pick up the target and to let me know

when they were on the target, bearing two points forward of the port beam,

and got a report from each one that they were on the target. I gave the range

as 3,300 yards, deflection 50. When the target bore one point forward of the

beam I gave the word over the telephone to No. 2 and No. 3 guns to commence

firing. No. 2 gun fired the first shot. About three minutes subsequently No. 3

gun fired, and almost immediately No. 2 gun fired again. Meanwhile I had

reduced the range from 3.300 yards to 2,600 yards, and I reduced the deflection

from 50 to 46. Immediately after the third shot, which was the second shot

from the forward gun on the port side, the captain, who was conning the ship

and was at the standard compass, called to me that he thought I had better

cease firing, as he thought somebody had been hurt. I immediately ceased

firing and no more shots were fired from any gun. I made an investigation of

the situation and ascertained that two women bad been killed and a third one

injured—United States Army Reserve Nurses Edith Ayers and Helen Burnette

Woods were killed and Emma Matzen was injured. These were all from base

hospital No. 12, of Chicago, and were among the 65 nurses who were passeugers

on the Mongolia.

Further investigation showed me that the disastrous firing occurred from No.

3 gun, situated in the center line of the after part of the ship. For all 6-inch

guns on the Mongolia the ammunition used is separate, having a shell and a

cartridge case which contains the powder. The accident was caused by frag

ments of the brass cup which is put in the mouth of the cartridge case. In

this particular instance No. 3 gun caused the disastrous firing. The brass cup

broke into fragments when the gun was fired and it was carried outside the

gun, apparently maintaining a rotary motion which had been given it by the

rifling of the gun. This centrifugal force which had been imparted to the

fragments was sufficient to carry them out at right angles to gun a distance
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of about 175 feet. One fragment, nhout 6 by 2 inches, penetrated the left side

of one of the nurses, killing her instantly, and another fragment, about three-

fourths by one-half inch penetrated the left temple of the other girl, killing

her instantly. The third girl was injured apparently with slight flesh wounds

iii the left arm and left thigh, and was taken to the United States naval hos

pital, Brooklyn, N. Y. These women, in company with 40 or 50 others, were all

sitting in their deck chairs, approximately 175 feet forward of the gun, this

deck being about 16 feet above the gun platform of the gun that caused the

fatality. One of the fragments hit the after rail of the boat deck, and I am

certain that this is the fragment that caused one of the deaths. A line through

the mark left on the rail by this fragment and through the point where the

girl was sitting runs in a direction at right angles to the direction of the

bearing of the target which was fired at, which was one point forward of the

port beam. This line also passes through a point approximately 15 feet in

front of the muzzle of the gun.

The fragments that caused the deaths showed the metal to be brass, and in

their present condition are hard and brittle, and this is probably the reason for

this breaking up. I am of the opinion that if these brass cups, which are

plugged in the mouths of the cartridge cases, had been annealed and were

soft they might not have broken, but would have bent; but even if this were

the case a thin disk only one-sixteenth inch thick shoved forward with the

velocity given the projectile and at the same time given rotative motion by the

rifling of the gun, it is probable that if it was even distorted or bent, it would

catch the air and go flying off in any direction as soon as it left the gun and

would not continue its motion straight abend. A mouth cup of the cartridge

case, at the second shot fired from the gun forward on the port side, apparently

split up similarly, because after the gun was fired an are:i on the water about

30 feet square, 50 yards away from the ship, was covered with splashes. These

splashes were caused from something coming out of the gun, and I think it

was broken fragments of the brass cup. The captain of the ship thought that

these splashes were due to the breaking up of the shell, but this was not the

case, as I saw the distinct splash made at the target by the shell. The shell

did not break up.

4. Question. Give us a description of the ammunition used.

Answer. The ammunition used is made up separately, the powder being con

tained in a brass cartridge case. The shell was 6-inch. F. S„ common shell,

L. & F. ; the cartridges are 6-inch 40-caliber, S. P. D. W. 1275, and were

received from Iona Island.

5. Question. "What time was this ammunition sent up for this gun practice?

Answer. The two forward guns had been loaded the night before and the

shell sent home, and three powder charges for each gun were placed in the

ready ammunition chests ready for immediate use in case of necessity, which

were on the "main deck forward for the forward guns and on the after-gun

platform for the after guns. About 1 o.clock I told the gunner.s mate that I

would use three shells for each gun and to get the shells and ammunition

ready for use at 2. Accordingly the powder charges were gotten out and the

boxes unlnshed.

6. Question. Did you personally inspect this ammunition when it was brought

up for the guns?

Answer. No, sir ; I did not. but I had the gunner.s mate try each cartridge

cnse and see if it would fit the gun and was suitable in all respects.

7. Question. You state that the guns were loaded overnight. What precau

tions were taken to guard against accidents in that connection?

Answer. The shell only was put in each gun. The charge was kept in the

ready magazine chest. In addition there were two men on watch at each gun

continuously, day and night, standing a watch in three. These ready maga

zines were under their observation, and in addition they were armed with

Colt,s automatic revolvers to keep away any prowlers.

8. Question. Were the ready magazines kept locked?

Answer. They were not kept locked at sea ; they were kept locked only in

port.

9. Question. Did you examine the guns and mounts before firing to see if

they were all right?

Answer. Yes, sir.

10. Question. Were there any special precautions taken before firing com

menced to insure the safety of the people on board?
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Answer. Each gun captain of the forward guns had specific instructions to

allow nobody from the crew of the ship or any passengers near the guns, nor

within 15 feet of them. These guns were mounted right along the rail of the

ship, and neither one could be trained so that it covered any part of the ship.

For instance, you could train it dead ahead or two points abaft the beam.

No. 3 gun, which is aft, is mounted high up on the poop deck, and a special

gun platform was built to accommodate the gun's crew.

11. Question. What was the limiting arc of train of this after gun?

Answer. The limiting arc of train of this gun was laid down in the written

instructions, which had been in vogue on the previous trip, and was from one

point forward of each beam, around the stern, and at all points between these

limiting directions.

12. Question. Was it possible to train this gun farther ahead on each beam?

Answer. Yes, sir; it could probably have been trained broad on either bow.

Nobody was allowed on this platform except the two men who were continu

ously on watch. This restriction was given to the gun captains, and, in addition,

the petty officer of the guard made sure that the men on watch understood it.

13. Question. Did you personally assure yourself that the ammunition—shell

and cartridges—were in good condition before any of this firing took place?

Answer. The first-class gunner's mate, who was au experienced man, on his

third enlistment, personally oversaw each cartridge case and tried it in the

gun, and examined it fully to see that it was all right, and made a report to me

about 1.30 that all the ammunition had been iuspected and tried and was In

satisfactory condition.

14. Question. When the firing of this gun took place—this No. 3 gun—eould

you have noted whether the same effects were produced over the water as in

the case of No. 2 gun when it was fired—this splattering effect?

Answer. I could have if I had been looking there, hut I was looking at the

target, because I wanted to be sure and try to catch the splash.

15. Question. Could you see the after-gun's crew in action from where you

were ?

Answer. No, sir. The ship is about 630 feet long, and I was on the forward

bridge.

16. Question. How did you determine the range?

Answer. We had no range finder, and I just estimated it. The arrangements

for controlling the firing of the guns are as follows : Each sight setter wears a

telephone, through which he can hear and through which he can talk by press

ing a button. This phone is plugged in at each gun. On either side of the

bridge are two jacks, into either of which I could plug my telephone, so that we

could use whichever was the most convenient at the time. I can communicate

with all the guns or any one separate gun by voice.

17. Question. Can you also communicate with the magazine?

Answer. No, sir.

18. Question. Where are the magazines; anywhere near the guns?

Answer. There is a ready magazine, in which I can put ammunition ; the

other is down below ; but to maintain continuous firing for any length of time

I would have to call on the ship's company, both forward and aft.

19. Question. Anywhere close to these gun mounts are there hatches and

deck openings, or anything of that sort so close that a big suction might come

up through them from the 1)1 ast?

Answer. No, sir.

20. Question. Did you observe the fall of all three shots that were fired?

Answer. Yes, sir.

21. Question. Did the shells ricochet on striking the water?

Answer. They plunged ; there were no ricochets.

22. Question. And the shells did not break up in any one instance, is that

correct?

Answer. No, sir ; they did not break up in any instance.

' 23. Question. Did you observe this splattering effect over the water in the

case of both shots fired from the forward gun or only the second shot?

Answer. Only the second shot.

24. Question. How were the pieces of brass that are supposed to have killed

the women identified by you; how and by whom?

Answer. These pieces of brass, one of winch was removed from the temple

of one of the women who was killed, and the other piece which was removed

from the heart of the other nurse, were identified to me by Maj. Collins,

United States Army, in charge of the hospital unit.
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25. Question. Had Maj. Collins caused an investigation to be made of these

deaths himself?

Answer. Yes, sir.

26. Question. Have you a copy of the record of proceedings in the case, of

the investigation undertaken by Maj. Collins?

Answer. I have. I have this as an unsigned, but an authentic, copy of it.

(The copy of the proceedings referred to was introduced in evidence, and is

appended, marked "Exhibit 1.")

27. Question. What examination has been made of the interior of gun No.

3 since firing?

Answer. There is a spot in the rifling of the gun about li inches long, and

about three-quarters of an inch wide, which was not in the gun before firing.

28. Question. How far from the origin of the rifling?

Answer. About a foot in front of the origin of the rifling, the depth of which

I do not know, and could not ascertain without a bore searcher. I have here

also several pieces of the brass which I can identify ns pieces of the brass cup

from a cartridge case which was fired. These pieces were given to me by

Maj. Collins, who told me that they were removed, one from the heart of one

of the nurses and the other piece from the temple of the other girl ; and that

these were the pieces that caused the deaths.

29. Question. Where did you get hold of the piece marked " B," there in

the record of proceedings here referred to as Exhibit 1?

Answer. That was found on the other side of the deck and aft of the house.

I obtained that on the upper promenade deck, or boat deck, aft, just about

3 or 4 feet to starboard from the center line of the ship.

The witness here produced a fragment of brass mouth cup, referred to in

proceedings of investigation held on board the Steamship Mongolia as " B,"

and it was received in evidence, and Inclosed under separate cover, marked

" Exhibit 2."

The witness also produced fragment of brass mouth cup. referred to in

above-mentioned proceedings as "C," and it was received in evidence, and in

closed under separate cover, marked " Exhibit 3."

The witness also produced fragment of brass mouth cup. referred to in

above-mentioned proceedings as "A," and it was received in evidence, and in

closed under separate cover, marked " Exhibit 4."

30. Question. Have you had any previous experience in firing 6-inch separate

ammunition?

Answer. I have never had a battery of 6-inch guns, but I have gope through

the drill for the 6-inch gun on the North Carolina, which had 5-inch guns of

similar type, similar ammunition, and similar mounts.

31. Question. Had the crews you had stationed for the Mongolia,s battery

had previous experience or sufficient drills in the handling of this ammunition

to be certain that accident could be reasonably guarded against?

Answer. The men that I have on the important stations were from the

Wyoming. These had all been through practice in the South last winter. Five

of the men I had were from the Connecticut, and these had all seen practices.

Those who were not on the Wyoming at the time of practice had had practice

with some other ships—the New Hampshire and the Vermont.

32. Question. All with 5-inch guns, with similar ammunition?

Answer. I am not sure how many had had practice with the 6-inch or if

any had it. There are but few 6-inch guns in the fleet now. These were from

the Illinois, and they have taken them all off.

There was offered and received in evidence a sketch made by the witness

showing the locations of guns, the approximate distance from the scene of the

fatality, and the place of finding of pieces of brass, copy appended, marked

" Exhibit 5."

(The witness verified his declarations and then withdrew.)

Lieut. Commander John N. Ferguson, United States Navy, was called as a

witness and examined, as follows :

By the Board :

1. Question. State your name, rank, and present station and duties.

Answer. John N. Ferguson, lieutenant commander. United States Navy,

inspector of ordnance, in charge of naval ammunition depots in the New York

district.

2. Question. Are you conversant with the ammunition furnished the steam

ship Mongolia at a recent date for her present trip abroad?
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Answer. The target practice ammunition was put up at Iona Island, and

I am conversant with that. The service charges were put up at St. Juliens

Creek, I believe ; I am not positive of that, and I am not conversant with the

service ch-irges. I originally outfitted them with two indices of powder."

Index S. P. D. W. 1275 is the service ammunition, and in addition to that

they received 30 charges of index S. F. 279 for target practice.

3. Question. In what respect do the target ammunition and the service

ammunition differ?

Answer. The method of preparing the powder charges is the same, but

different indices of powder require different weights of charge to give the

same muzzle velocity. The projectiles used are different in that the target

projectile is loaded with sand: that is. blind-loaded and plugged. The service

ammunition is loaded with a burster charge of black powder and fused with

a Semple tracer, Mark IV, medium caliber fuse.

4. Question. Are the charges, cups, or cartridge cases closed in both kinds

of ammunition with the same metal cup?

Answer. Yes, sir ; in both types the metal mouth cup is used.

5. Question. In your experience did any reports reach you officially, do you

know, of any cases of the disintegration of these cups in the gun and their

scattering effect outside of the gun?

Answer. I have met with no instances of this kind in my personal experience,

nor have I seen any official reports of such. That one instance of this kind

occurred at target practice on board the U. S. S. Wisconsin, in which

n mouth cup disintegrated and a fragment struck a man on board ship, in

flicting some injury. I have also been informed that at the naval proving

ground at Indian Head there have been instances in which the mouth cup has

made erratic flights, although not actually disintegrating.

6. Question. On the other trip you gave them the target-practice shell?

Answer. Yes, sir ; that was the original outfit. They received no additional

powder, but they received a new outfit of service projectiles to replace the

projectiles that were issued at first, because of defects discovered in the origi

nal outfit.

7. Question. Was there anything about the powder with which the Mongolia

was supplld that would produce any particularly disintegrating effects upon

this mouth cup?

Answer. Not to my knowledge.

8. Question. Will you give us an idea what kind of powder that is, from

this index 1275?

Answer. The prefix S. P. D. W. means that it is smokeless powder which

has been reworked and stabilized by the addition of diphenylamine.

9. Question. Is such powder regarded as unstable in the matter of decom

position and dangerous in that way?

Answer. Powder of this character is regarded as being stable under ordinary

conditions of care and handling, and is considered as being no more unstable

than powders which have not been reworked and stabilized.

10. Question. Do you regard the conditions of stowage and handling to

which such ammunition is liable on board a merchant ship as any more pro

ductive of a tendency to breaking down such powders than in the regular

service?

Answer. I can answer that question only in so far as my observation on

board the steamship St. Louis warrants. On board that ship the stowage of

powder was not, in my opinion, as good as the stowage on board men-of-war.

Without a definite knowledge of the temperature conditions of such stowage, it

is difficult to state what effect might be produced. -

11. Question. What chamber pressure might be expected from powder stowed

under the conditions which obtained, for instance, aboard the St. Louis, which

is within your experience?

Answer. I do not believe that the chamber pressure would be greatly in

creased by the conditions of stowage on board the St. Louis as I saw them,

although I was unable to determine what the maximum temperature would be

at sea.

12. Question. Give us a general description of the method of assembling the

cartridges.

Answer. The cartridge case is formed from a brass disk by successive pas

sages from an hydraulic press, with mandrels of varying size. It emerges from

this process as a cylinder closed at one end and slightly tapering toward the

mouth. It is then machined, the mouth squared off to the proper length, the
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base turned to proper dimensions, and a hole bored, reamed, and tapped to

take the primer. Before loading these cases at ammunition depots they are

thoroughly cleaned and gauged and, if necessary, are reformed. The primer

is then put in place and the charge of powder previously weighed poured in.

On top of the powder is placed a pasteboard wad, which effectually closes the

cartridge case. On top of this wad is placed a pasteboard distance piece

slightly longer than the distance from the mouth cup to the disk. The mouth

of the cartridge case is then closed by a drawn-brass mouth cup, whose

greatest diameter is slightly larger than the inside diameter of the cartridge

case, thus insuring a tight fit. As this greatest diameter is an enlarged section,

there is a slight space between the upper corner of the mouth cup and the

cartridge case, which space is sealed by pouring in gum shellac. The cup Is

placed in the cartridge case open end down, and ordinarily it requires consid

erable pressure to force it into place. The usual procedure is to drive it down

with a wooden mallet.

13. Question. In your opinion is the method of closing these 6-inch cases by

a brass cap one that can be recommended?

Answer. There have been a great many shots fired from guns using am

munition with the brass mouth cups, and this instance and that on board the

Wisconsin, to which I referred previously, are the only ones to my knowledge

where any person has been injured, or any material damage inflicted by their

use. It would appear, however, that if a substitute can be found which will

effectually seal the cartridge case and protect the powder charge, that the use

of the brass mouth cup should be discontinued.

14. Question. Do you consider this form of closing the cartridge case emi

nently a safe one for use on board merchant ships?

Answer. I do not.

15. Question. Will you state your reasons for that belief, taking into account

the difference between the methods of use on board a man-of-war and on board

a merchant ship?

Answer. There is no doubt in my mind that there may be instances of

erratic flights of mouth cups, if not actual disintegration in firing ammunition

.so fitted. On board ships of the regular service, where guns are protected by

armor and where all hands are required to be at battle stations when guns are

fired, the probability of injury to personnel is small. On board passenger ships,

however, where there is scant protection, and where it would appear to be prac

tically impossible to keep all hands under cover, there is. to my mind, a strong

probability that Injury may result.

16. Question. Is it proposed to change the ammunition on board the Mongolia

to make it safer in this respect?

Answer. Yes ; it is proposed to remove all metal mouth cups and replace

them with wooden disks. It is further proposed to develop a fiber mouth cup,

if possible, which will eventually replace all metal mouth cups.

17. Question. This contemplated change will be made before the Mongolia

goes to sea again, as I understand it?

Answer. Yes, sir.

(The witness verified his declarations and withdrew.)

W. S. Young, seaman second class, United States Navy, was called as a

witness and was examined as follows:

By the Board :

1. Question. State your name, rate, and present station.

Answer. W. S. Young, seaman second class, United States Navy, attached to

and serving with the guns. crews on the steamship Mongolia.

2. Question. In what capacity were you serving at the gun on the afternoon

of May 20?

Answer. Trainer on No. 3 gun—the nfter gun.

3. Question. How was the after gun pointed when it was fired ?

Answer. One point forward of the port beam.

4. Question. Not farther forward than that?

Answer. No, sir.

5. Question. How do you know that it was only one point forward of the

beam?

Answer. When we got " cease firing " we left the gun like it was, so that

they could see how it was trained.

6. Question. Who verified the position of the gun?
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Answer. There was several there—a couple of us. The pointer verified the

position and the gun captain.

7. Question. How did you verify the position?

Answer. They looked at it. This was after we got " cease firing," just to see

which way it was pointing.

8. Question. Did you verify the position of the gun by the order of your

superior officer or was that just a custom?

Answer. By the captain's—the gun captain's orders.

9. Question. That was after it had been learned that there had been an

accident?

Answer. Yes, sir.

10. Question. Did you notice whether the shot struck near the target or struck

the target? If so, describe in what manner it struck?

Answer. It struck the target.

11. Question. Did it ricochet or make a splash?

Answer. It just looked like a clean shot, went right to the target.

12. Question. Did you notice any splattering on the water?

Answer. No, sir.

13. Question. As trainer what were your orders in laying this gun on the

occasion in question?

Answer. On training the gun on the target? I got orders from the pointer

to train on the target.

14. Question. What experience have you had at a 6-inch gun ?

Answer. I trained one of them on the U. S. S. Connecticut, a 7-inch.

15. Question. How long a time did you serve in that connection?

Answer. That was when we were down South. It was about two months.

16. Question. How long have you been in the service?

Answer. About nine months. I came in on the 8th of August.

17. Question. Did you ever serve at any other guns, in any capacity?

Answer. No, sir.

18. Question. Was there anything unusual at the discharge of this gun?

Answer. No, sir.

19. Question. Did you see any fragments of any material splatter the water

at discharge, any distance from the ship?

Answer. No, sir.

(The witness verified his declarations and withdrew.)

James T. Hurst, coxswain, United States Navy, was called as a witness and

examined as follows :

By the Board:

1. Question. State your name, rate, and present station.

Answer. James T. Hurst, coxswain. United States Navy, serving with armed

gun's crew on the steamship Mongolia.

2. Question. Where were you serving on the afternoon of May 20, and In

what capacity?

Answer. On the stern gun of the Mongolia—No. 3 gun, as gun captain.

3. Question. What were your duties there?

Answer. To see that the crew performed their duty while firing at this

target, and they all knew their duties.

4. Question. How was the gun pointed when it was discharged?

Answer. About one point forward of the port beam.

5. Question. Which beam?

Answer. The port.

6. Question. What method had you of verifying the direction in which the

gun was pointed when it was discharged?

Answer. It was laying on an angle with the corner of the stand on which

the gun was mounted in the stern ; just about one point forward of the beam.

7. Question. Not more than one point?

Answer. It could not have been more than one point.

8. Question. Was there anything unusual about the discharge of this gun?

Answer. Nothing ; only the battery was not strong enough to fire electrically.

We used to fire by battery, but we fired by percussion.

9. Question. Did you see the projectile strike the water?

Answer. Yes, sir .

10. Question. Where did it strike?

Answer. Right in the vicinity of the target ; I judge it was a hit.



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 17

11. Question. It was a clean strike?

Answer. Yes, sir.

12. Question. Did you see any fragments of material strike the water near

the ship after discharge?

Answer. No, sir; I did not. I was looking more at the target. It might

have been, but I couldn't say ; I was looking at the target.

13. Question. What experience have you had with 6-inch guns?

Answer. None. I have never fired them before. My station has always

been at 5-inch.

14. Question. How long have you been in the service?

Answer. About two years.

15. Question. In what capacities have you served with 5-inch guns?

Answer. I have been stationed as shellman and powder man ; that is all.

16. Question. You never were a gun pointer?

Answer. No, sir.

17. Question. How long a time altogether at the guns?

Answer. About one year.

18. Question. When did you learn that there had been any accident on

board the ship with reference to the time of the discharge of the guns?

Answer. Right after we fired the first shot, why, the first officer on the

Mongolia came running up and said : " Don't fire any more," and that is all we

heard about an accident. And then we heard somebody holler there was some

body hurt, and right after that we got the order to " Cease firing."

19. Question. Did you superintend the bore sighting of this gun before this

firing?

Answer. No, sir.

20. Question. What were the positions of the telescope sights before firing?

In other words, you examined them and found them to be O. K., is that it?

Answer. I didn't examine the sights at all.

21. Question. Were they examined, to your knowledge, by anyone else?

Answer. Not to my knowledge.

22. Question. Do you know whether the gun had been bore sighted?

Answer. I know that the forward guns were bore sighted. I didn't see them

bore sight the after gun. I was on watch at the time.

(The witness verified his declarations and withdrew.)

Andrew Fleming, seaman, United States Navy, was called as a witness and

examined as follows :

By the Board :

1. Question. State your name, rate, and present station.

Answer. Andrew Fleming, seaman, United States Navy ; stationed with the

gun crew on the steamship Mongolia.

2. Question. In what capacity?

Answer. A gun pointer, No. 3 gun—the after gun.

3. Question. Were you serving on the Mongolia on the afternoon of May 20?

Answer. I was.

4. Question. Was this gun fired on that afternoon?

Answer. Yes, sir.

5. Question. What was the position of the target when you fired?

Answer. The target was about one point forward of the port beam.

(5. Question. Were the telescopes in good order?

Answer. Yes, sir ; both cross wires we're on when I fired.

7. Question. There was nothing the matter with the telescopes of the gun?

Answer. No, sir.

8. Question. They were all right?

Answer. Yes, sir.

9. Question. Where did the shot strike?

Answer. It struck right at the target.

10. Question. Did you see any splash of the water close by the ship from

fragments after the discharge of the gun?

Answer. No. sir.

11. Question. How did you know that the telescopes were all right?

Answer. I had seen the men bore sighting.

12. Question. Supervised by the officer in charge?

Answer. Yes. sir.

13. Question. How long have you been in the service?

Answer. Pretty near three years.

105186—17 2
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14. Question. What guns have you served in that time?

Answer. Five-inch.

15. Question. In what capacity at the 5-inch?

Answer. Pointing all the time.

16. Question. You are a qualified gun pointer?

Answer. I haven't it on my record.

(The witness verified his declarations and withdrew.)

Lieut. Philip Seymour, United States Navy, was recalled as a witness and

further examined, as follows :

By the Board :

1. Question. Previous to the firing at the target on the afternoon of the 20th

of May were the guns bore sighted ?

Answer. Yes, sir ; at 3 o'clock on the afternoon of the 19th, at my request, the

captain anchored in Gravesend Bay and we were at anchor from about 8 o'clock

until 6.30, during which time I bore sighted all three guns at a distance of approxi

mately 3,000 yards, personally overseeing that each gun was properly sighted,

and as a check on my own accuracy used first-class gunner's mate and the lead

ing deck petty officer, Ohoyce by name, and two of the pointers there, and I

am positive that all guns were properly bore sighted.

2. Question. There is no possibility that the telescopes could have been tam

pered with in the interval between the bore sighting and the act of firing the

guns?

Answer. No, sir ; there were two men on watch ever since the bore sighting

to see that no one touches the gun except members of the gun's crew. At fre

quent intervals sight setters were given drills to be sure that they set the

sights properly. I examined the sights of No. 3 gun after the firing to see if

they had been properly set and found that they had been.

3. Question. Did you notice the direction in which the gun was pointed with-

reference to Hie beam of the ship when you examined the sights after firing?

Answer. Yes, sir ; the gun had stopped training and the gun was left in the

position in which it was last fired, which was approximately one point forward

of the port beam.

4. Question. Why did you use the service charges instead of the target-

practice charges?

Answer. Because there had been only 30 charges of target-practice ammuni

tion furnished the ship, and previous to my reporting aboard 24 of these

charges had been used up, and I wanted to fire more than the remaining target-

practice shells and I didn't want to mix up the two kinds of ammunition on

the same type of gun, and I wanted each gun fired.

5. Question. What damage was done to gun. gun mount, and ship?

Answer. There was a score In No. 3 gun about li inches long and and one-half

inch wide, and the ordnance officer of the yard has made an examination of the

gun and found that it is not sufficient to cause danger or warrant renewal of

the gun. A small batten was broken off the gun platform by the shock of con

cussion, and the end boards of the ready ammunition chest were knocked out

by the shock of concussion, but this has occured often on ships and is not un

usual, but this has no connection with the accident. The minor damages done

can be repaired by the forces on board the Mongolia. The gun has been ex

amined and there was no damage done to it.

(The witness verified the declarations just made and withdrew.)

There were no further witnesses to call and the investigation was completed.

The board, after maturely considering the declarations above recorded, finds

the following facts to be established:

FINDINGS.

1. The United States Navy gun crews on the steamship Mongolia, while that

vessel was at sea on the afternoon of May 20, 1917, at about 2 o'clock, were en

gaged in target practice.

2. That following the discharge of No. 3 gun, installed aft on board the

Mongolia, which sun at the lime was trained on a target about one point

forward of the port beam, at a range of between 2,500 and 3,000 yards, certain

persons, by name Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood, were killed, and one

other, by 'name Emma Matzen, was injured, said injuries not believed liable

to prove fatal ; that said persons were all attached to base hospital No. 12, of

Chicago, 111.
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3. That these persons at the time were located in a position with reference

to the gun which ordinarily would not be considered dangerous.

4. That the fatalities evidently resulted from the break up and deflection of

fragments of the brass mouth cup of the type of cartridge employed.

5. That no material damage to guns, mountings, or appurtenances resulted at

the time of this accident.

6. The board further finds that no responsibility for the accident in question

attaches to the commander of the armed guard or any member thereof.

F. A. Wilner,

Captain, United States Navy, Retired, Senior Member.

H. C. POUNDSTONE,

Commander, United States Navy, Retired, Member.

John J. Murray,

Chief Gunner, United States Navy, Member.

Exhirit 1.

proceedings of a roard of officers appotntf.d to investigate injuries to

certain army reserve nurses.

Base Hospital No. 12,

At Sea, U. S. S. " Mongolia," May 20, 1917.

Paragraph 1. A board is hereby appointed to meet this date to investigate

and report upon the death of Army Reserve Nurses Edith Ayers and Helen

Burnett Wood and the injury of Army Reserve Nurse Emma Matzen.

Detail for the board : Maj. Kellogg Speed, Medical Officers, Reserve Corps ;

Maj. Milton Mandel, Medical Officers. Reserve Corps ; Capt. James C. Magee,

Medical Corps.

By order of Maj. C. C. Collins.

James C. Magee,

Captain, Medical Corps, United States Army, Adjutant.

Pursuant to the above order, the. board met at 3.30 p. in., May 20, 1917, aboard

the steamship Mongolia.

Present : All members.

Maj. Frederic A. Besley, Officers, Reserve Corps, was then called, and, being

duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Where were you at 2.10 p. m. on the afternoon of May 20, 1917?

Maj. Besley. On the after upper deck of the steamship Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. Please describe what occurred at that time.

Maj. Besley. The gunners on the. aft were firing in practice shooting at a

target. The ship was swinging, and there was an explosion, and no sounds

other than the explosion. I saw the shot hit the water, and was immediately

touched on the shoulder by one of the nurses. Miss Matzen, who told me that

the nurses were hurt. I turned and saw, about 8 or 10 feet away from me,

a nurse was falling out of the chair, slipping onto the deck. I noticed that

another nurse, sitting about 3 feet away, had also fallen onto the deck. The

one nurse was bleeding from the left side profusely. I tore open her clothes,

and a large wound was disclosed in the midaxillary line, about the sixth or

seventh rib, I should say. The wound was large enough—air was escaping from

the wound, which was large enough for me to insert a finger. Her ribs were

fractured and she was bleeding profusely. I thought I felt a rent in the heart.

She was apparently dying rapidly, and I felt by a superficial examination that

she was dead when she was lifted up and carried into the salon.

Maj. Speed. Could you state. whether there was a second explosion following

the discharge from the gun?

Maj. Besley. There was a second explosion, to the best of my knowledge,

from the forward gun.

Maj. Speed. Did you see the shots strike the water?

Maj. Besley. I saw the shot strike the water.

Maj. Spf.ed. Was there a spatter or one single splash?

Maj. Besley. It seemed to me only one single splash.

Maj. Speed. Did you investigate the wound in the case of the second injured

woman?

Maj. Besley. I investigated it superficially, as some one took charge of the

first nurse at my direction. I went over and investigated the second girl,s

wound. I would 'rather not state the names, because I was not absolutely sure.
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Maj. Speed. Where was Mrs. Ayers,s wound located?

Maj. Besley. On superficial examination, I would say that It was located

in the left temporal region-—a wound about an inch long; a lacerated wound. I

iput my finger into it and thought I discovered a skull fracture after a piece of

metal had been taken out by one of the doctors.

Maj. Speed. What was her condition when you first examined her?

Maj. Besley. Her condition was extremely grave. She was still alive—breath

ing a little. She was very pale and not conscious.

Maj. Speed. Can you describe further what was done with these two women?

Maj. Besley. They were both carried into the men.s lounging room on the

upper deck aft, about 40 feet from the spot that they were.

Maj. Speed. Were any other members of base hospital No. 12 injured, to your

knowledge?

Maj. Besley. Yes; one.

Maj. Speed. Who was that?

Maj. Besley. Miss Matzen.

Maj. Speed. Do you know anything about the wound?

Maj. Besley. Later I discovered that Mrs. Ayers had a large flesh wound on

the right arm and apparently a flesh wound on the right thigh and two on the

right arm. I did not see them very well, and perhaps I had better not describe

them. There were further ones on the right arm and the right thigh. She was

cared for by Drs. Chase and Glaspel.

Maj. Speed. What was the outcome of these wounds in each instance?

Maj. Besley. Both Miss Wood and Mrs. Ayres died almost immediately. Miss

Matzen is at the present time apparently in very good condition ; not, I should

say now. dangerously hurt.

Maj. Speed. Will you kindly describe what, in your opinion, was the cause

of death in both the fatal instances?

Maj. Besley. In the case of Miss Wood, I think it was hemorrhage. In the

case of

Maj. Speed. Hemorrhage from what, if you please?

Maj. Besley. From the chest, I prefer to say—I presume heart. And in the

case of Mrs. Ayers, shock.

Maj. Speed. Would you be willing to say that these wounds of fatal termina

tion were caused by gunshot fire?

Maj. Besley. To the best of my knowledge it was, occurring so quickly a'er

the explosion.

Capt. Magee. Do you know of any other condition that could possibly have

been the cause of this sudden death?

(No answer.)

Maj. Mandel. Do you think, Maj. Besley, that possibly she had a penetrating

wound of the brain?

Maj. Besley. It is possible, but I would not want to state.

Maj. Speed. To the Best of your knowledge, they were in good health?

Maj. Besley. Recently examined and in perfect health.

Maj. Speed. You might then be willing to state that the causes of the wounds

and the fatal termination-in the two cases mentioned were caused by shell frag

ments following gunfire—gunshots occurring at this time?

Maj. Besley. I could see no other cause for their death.

Maj. Speed. We might add that you might be willing to say that there was at

hand plenty of professional attendants. Did any of these wounded persons

have any other wounds than those described by you in your testimony?

Maj. Besley. Later I discovered that Mrs. Ayers had a large flesh wound on

the left breast : a lacerated, torn wound.

Maj. Speed. That did not penetrate the chest cavity?

Maj. Besley. I think not. I have not examined it carefully enough to be

sure.

Maj. Speed. Were there any other wounds on any of them?

Maj. Besley. Not to my knowledge.

(Witness dismissed.)

Maj. Kellogg Speed, Medical Officers, Reserve Corps, was then called, and,

being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Mandel. Were you on board the Steamship Mongolia at 2.10 p. m., on

May 20, 1917?

Maj. Speed. I was.

Maj. Mandel. What was taking place at that time?
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Maj. Speed. Gun-fire practice was taking place, from two guns on the for

ward part of the ship, one on the stern of the ship, at a target.

Maj. Mandel. Where were you standing at the time that this gun practice

was going on?

Maj. Speed. Immediately beneath the captain,s bridge on the forward part

of the ship.

Maj. Mandel. How many shots did you hear fired?

Maj. Speed. I heard two shots fired.

Maj. Mandel. Just two distinct shots?

Maj. Speed. Just two distinct shots.

Maj. Mandel. What next attracted your attention?

Maj. Speed. After the second shot I noticed that the projectile had scattered

and was hitting the sea very near the ship, causing some 40 or 50 splashes

spread out in a fairly large radius. Following that, I heard a medical officer

ran up behind the group with whom I was standing and say " Three nurses

have been killed." Then I saw the captain on the bridge and heard him give

the command to cease firing.

Maj. Mandel. When your attention was called to the fact that passengers

were Injured, what did you do?

Maj. Speed. I immediately Inquired where the wounded were, and proceeded

at once to the point to offer professional aid.

Maj. Mandel. You reached one of the injured soon after the accident oc

curred?

Maj. Speed. I should say within two or three minutes, at the most.

Maj. Mandel. What was her name?

Maj. Speed. Miss Wood.

Maj. Mandel. What did you find on your initial examination?

Maj. Speed. I found that there was a large gaping wound in the left mid-

axillary region, which was plugged with some gauze. Her condition was ap

proaching death, or possibly she was then dead.

Capt. Magee. Was this wound plugged with gauze, or do you mean that you

plugged it?

Maj. Speed. I did not plug it myself. Dr. Besley plugged it.

Capt. Magee. Did you have occasion to examine this wound after the gauze

packing had been removed?

Maj. Speed. I did. I had it removed and inserted my fingers through the

chest wall where ribs had been carried in and found lying in the depth of the

left chest cavity a shell fragment curved in shape about 0 inches long. One

portion of this fragment was buried and entangled in the thoracic muscles and

broken ribs while one point lay buried in or upon the cardiac muscle, the

pericardium having been opened.

Capt. Magee. Do you know any more concerning this case? Have you any

knowledge as to the termination of this case?

Maj. Speed. I believe death was nearly instantaneous in the case of Miss

Wood, and was undoubtedly caused by penetration of the heart by a shell

fragment.

(A piece of brass. 6 inches long. 2 inches wide, covered with blood and

muscular tissues and. particles of dark-blue clothing, was presented to the

board. This was labeled "Exhibit A.")

Capt. Magee. Have you any other knowledge bearing upon this case?

Maj. Speed. None except that I made every effort with the limited materials

immediately at hand to effect a transfusion of salt solution into the veins, and

advised medical officers working with me to continue artificial respiration.

Maj. Mandel. In your opinion, what was the cause of death?

Maj. Speed. Penetrating wound of the left axilla, involving the heart, caused

by the shell fragment which was presented.

(Witness dismissed.)

Maj. Milton Mandel, Medical Officers. Reserve Corps, was then called and,

being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Maj. Mandel, where were you at about 2.10 p. m. on the after

noon of May 20, 1917?

Maj. Mandel. I was on the fore deck of the steamship Mongolia witnessing

the practice of gun fire.

Maj. Speed. What happened at that moment?

Maj. Mandel. After the second shot had exploded I felt a body brush by

my side, and on looking down saw that a nurse had been injured and was

bleeding profusely.
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*J*L&il Sra?CD- Were you sure that she had been injured, or did you suppose

that she might have fainted?

Maj. Mandel. I saw the blood flowing from her side.

Maj. Speed. And you concluded therefore that she had been wounded?

Maj. Mandel. Yes, sir.

Maj. Speed. What did you do then?

Maj. Mandel. I put my hand into her lacerated and torn dress and observed

the fact that she bad a large wound In the left chest a little anterior to the

midaxillary line.

Maj. Speed. Was this nurse anywhere near the gun which was being fired

so that her proximity might have been a dangerous factor?

Maj. Mandel. No ; she was not

Maj. Speed. Please describe where she was In relation to the gun which was

fired and her position, if you can. .

Maj. Mandel. She was on the aft deck about 200 feet from the gun which

was being discharged.

Maj. Speed. Were there any other passengers standing in that vicinity?

Maj. Mandel. Yes ; there were probably 40 others.

Maj. Speed. Would you consider that this point on the deck was one of any

danger In relation to the gun fire then In progress?

Maj. Mandel. No ; we were allowed to stand there.

Maj. Speed. What happened after the nurse fell and you proceeded to her

assistance?

Maj. Mandel. Why, I noticed that she was practically exsanguinated, and

she was immediately carried into the men's lounging room and placed in

charge of Maj. Speed.

Maj. Speed. What, Major, in your opinion, was the termination of that

wound?

Maj. Mandel. She died very promptly.

Maj. Speed. Would you care to make an estimate of the length of time

following her injury to the time of death?

Maj. Mandel. Oh, I believe her death was almost instantaneous.

Maj. Speed. What, in your opinion, was the cause of death in this instance?

Maj. Mandel. I believe It was due to the penetrating wound of the chest,

which either lacerated the heart or large blood vessels.

Maj. Speed. Have you any opinion as to the cause of this wound?

Maj. Mandel. I saw a piece of brass removed from the base of the wound

which I believe was the cause of her death.

Maj. Speed. I present to you here a piece of brass, 6 Inches by 2 inches,

curved in shape, which has been laid before the board as Exhibit A, said to

have been removed from this woman's chest. Are you able to say whether a

piece of metal of this size and shape would have caused such a wound as she

suffered?

Maj. Mandel. Yes.

Capt. Magee. Was it the sole cause of her death, in your opinion?

Maj. Mandel. It was.

(Witness dismissed.)

dipt. M. It. Chase, Medical Officers' Reserve Corps, was then called, and,

being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Captain, at 2.10 p. m., on the afternoon of May 20, 1917, where

were you?

Capt. Chase. I was standing on the aft upper deck of the steamship Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. Please tell us what happened at that instant?

Capt. Chase. The gun crew was engaged in practice. Two shots were fired.

Immediately after the second shot I heard some one say that a nurse was hit.

I turned around, and about 8 feet directly behind me I saw a nurse lying on

the deck. On going closer I saw that she had a large wound in the left tem

poral region and was unconscious. I helped carry her into the men's lounging

room, at which time she was placed under the care of other medical men. That

is all I saw.

Maj. Speed. Had this woman any other wound to your knowledge?

Capt. Chase. Her clothing was loosened and I saw that she had a large

lacerated wound on the left breast and pectoral region.

Maj. Speed. Do you know whether this second wound penetrated the chest

cavity?

Capt. Chase. I do not.
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Maj. Speed. Were any other people standing in this vicinity injured to your

knowledge?

Capt. Chase. Yes ; two other nurses were Injured.

Maj. Speed. How far from the gun which was fired was this position?

dipt. Chase. I should say about 200 feet.

Maj. Speed. Did you consider this position unsafe in any way?

Capt. Chase. I did not.

(Witness dismissed.)

Lieut. Philip Seymoue, United States Navy, in charge of armed corps of

this vessel, was then called, and, being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Lieut. Seymour, will you kindly tell us where you were at about

2.10 p. m. on the afternoon of May 20, 1917?

Lieut. Seymour. At that time I was on the bridge of this ship with fire-

control telephones on my head.

Maj. Speed. Would you mind stating the name of the ship?

Lieut. Seymour. The Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress at this time on board the ship?

Lieut. Seymour. At that time on board the ship the alarm had been given

which had been prearranged calling the guns, crew to their stations at the guns.

Maj. Speed. Was firing in progress?

Lieut. Seymour. The target was overboard, approximately 3.000 yards distant

from the ship. I had given the word over the telephone to No. 2 and No. 3

guns to bring the guns to bear on the target and to let me know when the cross

wire of the telescope was on the target. The target bore 1 point forward of

the port beam, approximately 11°, and I had given the word to commence

firing. The No. 2 gun fired two shots and No. 3 had fired one shot when I got

word from the captain to cease firing, that some one had been injured ; the

firing was ceased immediately and no more shots were fired. Subsequently,

I learned that two nurses—Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood—had been

killed, and I immediately set out to find out the cause of the fatality. The

two women who were killed were both killed, in my opinion, from fragments of

the brass cup which is installed in the ends of the cartridge cases. And the

particular cartridge case is the one which was fired from gun No. 3 on the

center line of the afterpart of the ship. The women who were killed were about

150 feet forward of the gun and about 26 feet out from the center line of the

ship. Can you ask me any leading questions? I am sort of confused.

Maj. Speed. Was any part of the ship damaged by fragments from this

shell?

Lieut. Seymour. The covering over and reel of the after-gun platform was

ripped by concussion and part of the gun platform was torn away. I under

stand that a flying fragment cut away part of the rail on the port side of the

ship, but I have not viewed this. Several fragments of the brass disk in the

end of the cartridge case were picked up in the vicinity where the fatality

occurred.

Maj. Speed. Do you consider that the point at which you know these fatali

ties occurred was a dangerous one, considering the location of the target and

the firing which was being done?

Lieut. Seymour. I do not.

Maj. Speed. It was not necessary, in your opinion, to warn passengers to keep

off the deck at the time of this accident?

Lieut. Seymour. It was not.

The after gun, as installed, is supposed to fire bearing 1 point forward of

overbeam to dead astern, and No. 2 gun is to bear from forward to 1 point

abaft the beam on port side. At the time of firing the target bore 1 point for

ward of the port beam. The bearing of the gun has been verified at the time of

firing by the gun captain in charge of the gun, the pointer, and the trainer,

who we're each looking through telescopic sights. From the appearance of the

splashes of the shells when they landed in the water the shells were not defec

tive in any way and did not break up. On the second shot from No. 2 gun the

water close toward the ship was splashed. The cartridge cases themselves

have not been injured in any way and no fragments came from these cases.

The fragments picked up are unquestionably from the cap which is installed

in the open end of each cartridge case.

(A piece of brass distorted to approximately 6 inches long by 4 inches wide

was then presented to the witness. It is labeled " Exhibit B " and is now In

the possession of the Navy Department.)
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Capt. Magee. Do you recognize that piece of brass as a component part of

the shell or part of the cartridge case?

Lieut. Seymour. It is neither the shell nor the cartridge case. It is the cap.

Capt. Magee. Do you recognize it?

Lieut. Seymour. I do.

Maj. Speed. Are there any identifying marks on this which make it without

doubt that this is a part of one of the shells fired?

Lieut. Seymour. The general shape, form, and dimensions of the piece in

question leaves no doubt in my mind as to its identity. Also the letters " S. P.

D. 127 " mean " Smokeless powder, index number, 1275, which is the index of

powder used on the gun which was fired.

(Exhibit A was then presented to the witness.)

Maj. Speed. I show you here another piece of brass casing, covered with blood

and tissue, market " Exhibit A." Tins is approximately 6 by 2 inches. Do

you recognize it?

Lieut. Seymour. I do, as part of the same cap from the cartridge case.

Maj. Speed. Have you in your possession any other fragments of brass cap

other than this presented to you?

Lieut. Seymour. Yes ; these three small ones which I give you herewith.

(Witness then presented to the board three small pieces of brass which were

labeled " Exhibit C" and are now in the possession of the Navy Department.)

Maj. Speed. Where did you get these?

Lieut. Seymotis. They had been given to me by various people on the deck.

Maj. Speed. In your opinion, Lieutenant, would a wound caused by such a

fragment of metal as presented to you In Exhibit A possibly lead to death if

it struck a vital point?

Lieut. Seymour. Unquestionably.

Maj. Mandel. Lieutenant, was the gun injured at all?

Lieut. Seymour. The after gun. No. 3, which caused the accident without

doubt is scored and will probably have to be removed. I can not say definitely

until further examination. This scoring is similar to that which happened on

No. 2 gun on this ship on the last trip, and in my opinon, was caused by the

brass cap breaking up and scoring the soft steel of the gun.

(Witness dismissed.)

First Lieut. George P. Howe. Medical Officers' Reserve Corps, unattached,

was then called, and being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Ma;i. Speed. Where were you at about 2.10 p. m. on the afternoon of May 20,

1917?'

Lieut. Howe. I was on the port side of the ship, looking under the after

most of the boats on the davits, looking at the target of the ship.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress at that time?

Lieut. Howe. Target practice, or preparation for target practice.

Maj. Speed. Were any shots fired?

Lieut. Howe. Three Shots, I think, sir.

Maj. Speed. You think?

Lieut. Howe. Yes, sir.

Maj. Speed. Can you state positively that you heard three shots fired?

Lieut. Howe. I heard at least three, sir, but there were not four.

Maj. Speed. What happened immediately after that?

Lieut. Howe. The first that I noticed I heard some of the women make an

outcry. I turned around and saw one woman lying back in the steamer chair

apparently unconscious and another lying on the deck between the chairs. At

first I supposed that they had fainted. Then I saw blood running from the

head of the woman lying back in the chair. I stooped over and saw a piece of

metal projecting a little from the wound on the left-hand side of the head.

Maj. Speed. Did you disturb this metal?

Lieut. Howe. I took it out.

(Exhibit C was then presented to the witness.)

Capt. Magee. Among these three pieces of metal, do you recognize the piece

you extracted?

(The witness then pointed out the one he had extracted from the head. This

was labeled " Exhibit C. 1 " and is now in the possession of the Navy Depart

ment. )

Maj. Speed. Can you tell us the name of this woman?

Lieut. Howe. No.

Maj. Speed. What was ddne with this woman?
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Lieut. Howe. I don't know, because I stepped over to the other woman. I

did not see what was done immediately.

Maj. Speed. Describe the condition of the other woman.

Lieut. Howe. She was bleeding very freely from a wound apparently in the

left axillary region. I helped to remove her clothes and to stuff some handker

chiefs into the wound.

Maj. Speed. Referring again to the woman injured in the head, do you know

whether or not she had any other wounds?

Lieut. Howe. I didn't know it at that time. I came to know it afterwards.

Maj. Speed. Where was there any further wound?

Lieut. Howe. A lacerated wound on the left side running below the breast.

Maj. Speed. Were any other individuals on the deck injured at this time to

your knowledge?

Lieut. Howe. To my hearsay knowledge, yes. To my personal knowledge, no.

Maj. Speed. What was the outcome of the wounds in the two instances men

tioned?

Lieut. Howe. Both women were dead almost instantly, I think.

Maj. Speed. What, in your opinion, was the cause of the wound and death?

Lieut. Howe. Some jagged piece of copper metal said to have come from the

cap of the powder cases.

Capt. Magee. Is that copper or brass?

Lieut. Howe. I don't know. It had the appearance of copper.

Maj. Speed. Looking at this piece of metal, Exhibit C-l which you removed

from the head of the woman mentioned, can you state whether or not it is

copper or brass?

Lieut. Howe. By feeling it and its hardness I can state that it is brass, in

my opinion.

(Witness dismissed.)

James Thomas Hurst, coxswain, was then called, and being duly sworn,

testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. 'Coxswain, where were you on the afternoon of May 20, 1917,

about 2.10 p. m.?

Mr. Hurst. Why. on the after gun of steamship Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. What were your duties there?

Mr. Hurst. To take charge of the gun and see that it was fired on this

target.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress at this time?

Mr. Hurst. We were trying out th^ guns for to fire on this target.

Maj. Speed. How many shots did your gun fire?

Mr. Hurst. One.

Maj. Speed. Was there any irregularity in this shot to your knowldge?

Mr. Hurst. Why, she misfired. The battery was not strong enough to fire.

The first two we fired by percussion.

Maj. Speed. Was there any danger or injury to any member of the crew

standing about the gun?

Mr. Hurst. There was not.

Maj. Manuel. Which gun did you handle?

Mr. Hurst/ Gun No. 3.

Capt. Magee. When the explosion actually took place was there anything

unusual?

Mr. Hurst. There was not.

Maj. Speed. Was it unusual that the shot should spatter on the water at the

time of its discharge?

Mr. Hurst. Which way do you mean?

Capt. Magee. Did you see anything unusual in the form of metal spatterings

in the water that does not usually take place during gun fire?

Mr. Hurst. I did not.

(Exhibit B was then presented to the witness.)

Capt. Magee. What is that?

Mr. Hurst. That is the cap of a powder can.

Capt. Magee. Is that a complete cap or a part of a cap?

Mr. Hurst. Well, that is hard to say.

Maj. Speed. Is that brass?

Mr. Hurst. I can't say. I had no experience on these guns. I have seen

them fired lots of times, but, you know, I have fired 5 Inch. That is my line.
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Maj. Speed. To the best of your knowledge, were the shells used In this firing

practice the customary ammunition?

Mr. Hurst. That is as I say. I know nothing about a 6-inch gun.

(Exhibit A was then presented to the witness.)

Capt. Magee. Is that a portion of the same cap? Does it look to you like a

portion of the same cap? Might it be?

Mr. Hurst. Well, I can't state.

Capt. Magee. You don't have to make a definite statement. But does it look

to you like a portion of the brass cap used in these shells?

Mr. Hurst. Certainly it looks like a portion of one of them.

Capt. Magee. Was there any damage done to the gun?

Mr. Hurst. I have not inspected the gun. I was on watch at the time.

Capt. Magee. At the time this was fired, do you think that its direction was

such as to make it perfectly safe for passengers to stand on the upper decks?

Mr. Hurst. I do; yes.

Maj. Speed. After firing the gun, there was no reason to believe that its point

ing was other than one which was perfectly safe for passengers of the ship?

Mr. Hurst. There was not ; no. I think it was perfectly safe.

Maj. Mandel. Was the gun platform injured in any way?

Mr. Hurst. Why, the jar of the gun caused the pieces to jar loose.

Maj. Mandel. Does that occur frequently?

Mr. Hurst. Yes ; quite often.

(Witness dismissed.)

Andrew Fleming, seaman, was then called, and, being duly sworn, testified as

follows :

Maj. Speed. Where were you on the afternoon of May 20, 1917, about 2.10

p. m.?

Mr. Fleming. I was on the stern gun of the ship Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. iWhat is the number 6f this gun?

Mr. Fleming. Gun 3, sir.

' Maj. Speed. What was in progress at this time?

Mr. Fleming. Target practice.

Maj. Speed. How many shots did the gun at which you were stationed fire?

Mr. Fleming. One shot, sir.

Maj. Speed. Was there anything unusual about this shot?

Mr. Fleming. No, sir.

Maj. Speed. Which way was the gun pointed?

Mr. Fleming. The gun was pointed about one point forward of beam, sir.

Maj. Speed. Would you consider that firing the gun in this position could be

done with safety for passengers on the deck?

Mr. Fleming. I do, sir.

Maj. Speed. Was there anything unusual that came to your notice when the

discharge took place; or did it after that gun was fired seem to you that it

had been perfectly normal, or was there anything unusual?

Mr. Fleming. It looked like a clean hit, sir.

Maj. Speed. Did you notice anything in the way of metal splashes in the

water close to the boat?

Mr. Fleming. No, sir.

Maj. Speed. Then, to the best of your knowledge, there was nothing abnormal ?

Mr. Fleming. No, sir.

Maj. Mandel. Was the gun in any way injured after the shot?

Mr. Fleming. No, sir.

Maj. Mandel. Did you examine the gun?

Mr. Fleming. Yes, sir.

(Exhibit B is presented to the witenss.)

Maj. Mandel. What is that?

Mr. Fleming. That was in the end of the powder can.

Maj. Mandel. What is it called?

Mr. Fleming. I don't know, sir.

Maj. Mandel. Is that a cap?

Mr. Fleming. Why, we have been using the bag powder. I do not know, sir.

Maj. Mandel. Is that a complete cap, or part of a cap?

Mr. Fleming. Only part of it there, sir.

(Exhibit A is presented to the witness.)

Maj. Mandel. What is this?

Mr. Fleming. It must have been part of the same thing, sir.



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 27

Maj. Mandel. Had you ever seen one of these caps break before in the act

of firing?

Mr. Fleming. No, sir.

Maj. Mandel. Are there any marks on this cap which would enable you to

identify it positively as a portion of the cap?

Mr. Fleming. Yes, sir. This here—I seen it before, sir—this round head.

Maj. Mandel. Are there any letters printed on this cap which would also aid

In this indentification?

Mr. Fleming. Well, I could not tell you that, sir.

(Exhibit C was then presented to the witness.)

Maj. Mandel. Do these fragments appear to you to be a part of the same cap?

Mr. Fleming. Yes, sir.

(Witness dismissed.)

W. S. Young, second-class seaman, was then called, and, being duly sworn,

testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Seaman Young, where were you on the afternoon of May 20, 1917,

about 2.10 p. m.?

Mr. Young. Where was I at that time-?

Maj. Speed. Where were you?

Mr. Young. On the gun ; trainer of the gun.

Maj. Speed. What gun?

Mr. Young. No. 3 gun.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress at this time?

Mr. Young. Well, we got word to fire, that is all.

Maj. Speed. Were you having target practice?

Mr. Young. Yes, sir.

Maj. Speed. How many shots did the gun at which you were stationed fire?

Mr. Young. One.

Maj. Speed. Do you know whether or not there was anything unusual about

this one shot?

Mr. Young. No, sir.

Maj. Speed. Did you see any splashes in the water near the ship after the

shot was fired?

Mr. Young. No, sir.

Maj. Speed. Did the projectile pass as a clean shot?

Mr. Young. Yes, sir.

Maj. Speed. Was there any damage to the gun, to your knowledge, caused

by this shot?

Mr. Young. No, sir ; none that I know of, sir.

Maj. Speed. Were any of the gun crew injured by the explosion?

Mr. Young. No, sir.

Capt. Magee. Do you know the brass cap that fits into the shell case?

Mr. Young. The brass cap into the shell case? Well, all I have seen—that

Is all I know.

Capt. Magee. Did you ever see one of those break during fire?

Mr. Young. No, sir. That is the first time I ever fired one like that, you

know.

Capt. Magee. How long have you been in the service?

Mr. Young. Something like nine months.

Capt. Magee. You have had full experience with guns?

Mr. Young. Yes, sir. That is the first time I have fired one, you know, with

fixed ammunition like that.

Capt. Magee. The other times you put in powder bags, did you? And this

time you pushed in the whole case?

Mr. Young. Yes, sir.

(Witness dismissed.)

Thomas Blau, chief officer of the steamship Mongolia, was then called, and,

being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Where were you on the afternoon of May 20, 1917, about 2.10

p. m.? -

Mr. Blau. On the after end of the boat deck of the Mongolia.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress at that time?

Mr. Blau. Well, target practice.

Maj. Speed. How many shots were fired?
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Mr. Blau. There was only three fired ; but the last one was fired after the

injury was made. The last one was fired after the injuty to these two nurses.

I was pretty near up on the bridge.

Maj. Speed. Was there anything unusual about any of these shots that were

fired, to your knowledge?

Mr. Blau. Well, the first shot of the after gun, as it left the nozzle, it seemed

to me like an immense amount of fire and a lot of grapeshot in between it.

Maj. Speed. Did you notice any splashes near the ship at the time of this

Shot?

Mr. Blau. No ; I did not notice ; but the only thing very unusual was that it

did not look like a clean fire to me at all. It spattered all over.

Maj. Speed. Was the gun crew or gun injured in any way?

Mr. Blau. Not that I know of.

Maj. Speed. Is the gun absolutely in order after firing this shot?

Mr. Blau. Well, I have not examined it, and I don't know.

Capt. Maoee. From your experience aboard ship and having seen gunfire on

previous occasions, do you believe that that shot was safe? Was the gun in

proper relation to the people on deck at the time it was fired?

Mr. Blau. Absolutely.

Capt. Magee. There was no reason to warn passengers on the deck in regard

to the fire?

Mr. Blau. No; I warned them down below. I just sent a carpenter down to

tell people to come off the after deck.

Capt. Magee. Why was that?

Mr. Blau. Just the fear of the shock. No fear of actual fire, because this was

170 feet away from the line of fire.

Capt. Magee. Do you know what accident happened following one of these

shots?

Mr. Blau. Well, you mean this afternoon?

Capt. Magee. This afternoon. Do you know of any accidents following one

of these shots?

Mr. Blau. Well, I was right near those two nurses when they were killed.

Cnpt. Magee. And it is your opinion that no position on the deck, particularly

one at a point where this accident did happen, was unsafe during this fire?

Mr. Blau. I think the position was absolutely safe as far as the height.

They were about 16 feet above the platform of the after gun and 170 feet

farther forward.

Capt. Magee. Then if it had been a normal discharge you feel that everybody

was in a perfectly safe position?

Mr. Blau. Absolutely ; absolutely.

(Witness dismissed.)

Samuel Cohen, steward in mess room of steamship Mongolia, was then

called, and, being duly sworn, testified as follows:

Capt. Magee. Where were you at about 10 minutes past 2 on the afternoon of

May 20. 1917?

Mr. (Iohex. Down in the mess room on this boat Mongolia.

Capt. Magee. What was going on on the boat at that time?

Mr. Cohen. While working there I heard the first shot, and running up to

see what was the matter

Capt. Magee. The first shot of what?

Mr. Cohen. The gun went off. I run upstairs to see what was the matter.

Capt. Magee. When you went upstairs did you find anything unusual up on

the deck?

Mr. Cohen. Yes, sir.

Capt. Magee. What did you find?

Mr. Cohen. A piece of metal from the gun.

(Exhibit B was presented to the witness.)

Capt. Magee. Is that the piece you found?

Mr. Cohen. Yes, sir.

Capt. Magee. You identify that as the same piece?

Mr. Cohen. Yes, sir.

Capt. Magee. And you found this on the upper deck just outside the door of

the men's lounging room?

Mr. Cohen. The ladies' lounging room.

Capt. Magee. Where did you find that?

Mr. Cohen. Down where the ladies' room is.
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Capt. Magee. You told me you found it just outside this door.

Mr. Cohen. I told you I got it marked off. [Shows marked circle drawn on

deck where he found it.]

(Witness dismissed.)

Capt. Emory Rice, of the steamship Mongolia, was then called, and, being

duly sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. On the afternoon of May 20, 1917, at 2.10 p. m.. where were you?

Capt. Rice. Well, at 2.10 p. m. I was shifting the course. At 2.10 this was

all over.

Maj. Speed. Well, about that time?

Capt. Rice. I think we were conferring about this accident in my room.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress on the ship at this time?

Capt. Rice. At 1.57 p. m. we dropped the target overboard aft.

Maj. Speed. How many shots were fired?

Capt. Rice. Three.

Maj. Speed. Was there anything untoward or unusual in any of these shots?

Capt. Rice. Why. the first shot from the forward gun, which was the first

shot fired—No. 2 gun—the felt and the wadding of the gun blew Into my face on

top of the chart room, but that is not a particularly unusual occurrence. Any

time the wadding is liable to blow back from a discharge.

Maj. Speed. To the best of your knowledge, from the direction of the target

and the training of the guns, do you believe there was any danger to passengers

on the upper deck of the ship?

Capt. Rice. Absolutely none. At 1.57 p. in. we put the target overboard. At

2 p. m. we put the engines on " stand by." and starboard the helm to come

around to the target. At 2.03 we steadied her on her course when the target

was bearing about 4 points on the bow, then we ran on that course which

was south 52° west by compass, until 2.04. when the first shot was fired from

the forward gun. Then at 2.05 the shot was fired from the after gun. and the

ship had been proceeding on her course at a speed of 14 knots at that time.

Maj. Speed. Following the shot from the after gun, which is known as No. 3,

is it not?

Capt. Rice. Yes, sir.

Maj. Speed. Have you any knowledge of any accident which occurred?

Capt. Rice. No. absolutely none. At that time 1 had no knowledge.

Maj. Speed. Did you see No. 3 fired?

Capt. Rice. No. I was watching the target with my glass to spot the shot.

I was watching the shot and Lieut. Seymour was controlling the fire.

Maj. Speed. From your knowledge and previous experience of gunfire have

you any reason to believe that the shots fired from this ship to-day were ab

normal in any way, either in direction in which the guns were pointed or in the

actual explosion that took place?

Capt. Rice. In the direction the guns were pointed, they were absolutely all

right. In the explosion of the shell only I saw explode. As a matter of fact

the shell itself did not explode, it was the cartridge case, but the next shot from

the forward gun exploded in close proximity to the ship and I called to Lieut.

Seymour on the bridge that that shell had exploded. It was at that moment

that the chief officer, Mr. Blau. arrived on the bridge to inform me that two

nurses had been hurt aft, and informed Lieut. Seymour at the same time, and

the order was given to cease firing.

Maj. Speed. Is it your opinion that faulty ammunition was used to-day at the

time of these discharges?

Capt. Rice. Well, that is rather a difficult question to answer. I could not say

whether it was faulty ammunition.

Maj. Speed. Well, we do not want any pure technicalities.

Capt. Rice. I could not tell whether anything had occurred in the rifling of

the gun to explode that. Lieut. Seymour tells me that the gun is scored inside,

and just what caused that scoring would have to be determined by the testimony

of experts. [The captain then pointed out the spot where the shell hit. 1

(Witness dismissed.)

Capt. James C. Magee, captain. Medical Corps, was then called and being duly

sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. Capt. Magee, on the afternoon of May 20, 1017, about 2.10 p. m.,

where were you?
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Capt. Magee. I was on the after deck of the steamship Mongolia on the

port side.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress on the ship at this time?

Capt. Magee. At that time they were having target practice. A few minutes

before they had thrown a target overboard. They were training the ship's

guns on it. The passengers were grouped at various places on the ship to

watch the gun firing.

Maj. Speed. Was any warning given to passengers at this time regarding

their safety under gunfire?

Capt. Magee. Not, that I know, except that volunteer advice as one party

would give to another.

Maj. Speed. There was no official warning as to danger?

Capt. Magee. None to my knowledge.

Maj. Speed. What happened about the time of the accident?

Capt. Magee. The only unusual happening occurred in that group of passen

gers of which I was one. I was sitting on a chair looking out to watch the

shell' strike the water. We heard a sound as of a forward gun being fired.

We heard a second explosion, which came from the gun aft. I heard a com

motion in the group of persons just around me. I turned and saw some officers

and nurses leaning over a chair. I heard Maj. Besley say. " She is hit." I

arose' from my chair and stepped across the intervening 5 feet. I saw one of

our nurses lying apparently dead, with a gaping wound in her left temple

just above the zygomatic arch. I then saw one other nurse who was wounded,

but at that time I did not have an opportunity to ascertain the location of her

wound. With the assistance of another medical officer I picked up the chair on

which the patient who had a wound in her temple was reclining. We carried

it across the deck to the bench just outside the door of the men's lounging room.

I assisted in lifting her off the chair and laid her on the bench. I then left her

in the hands of other medical officers and ran at once to the ship's bridge and

then informed the captain of the ship that I thought two nurses had been

killed. I then returned find found that the patient I had helped to carry and

two other nurses had been brought into the men's lounging room and were

then receiving the attention of medical officers. The nurse who had the wound

in her head, and whom I did not know personally by name, also had a large

lacerated wound on her left breast. Though I did not make close examination,

I was convinced that she died almost instantly after receiving the injury. I

then viewed another wounded nurse who was being attended by medical officers

and was informed that she had a penetrating wound of the chest, with the

wound of entry in the left axilla. This wound I did not see, as it was covered

up when I first saw her ; but a careful examination convinced me that she also

was dead. I saw the third nurse having wounds dressed, but the nature of

these wounds I am nor familiar with.

Maj. Speed. In your opinion, Captain, following the fatal outcome from

wounds that the two nurses you described received, what was the probable cause

of death?

Capt. Magee. I have no actual knowledge, but I have definite hearsay knowl-

edeg to the effect that certain fragments of brass, which were presented to me,

had been removed from the bodies of the wounded women.

Maj. Speed. Did you not see any of these taken out?

Capt. Magee. No.

Maj. Speed. Did you see the aft gun fired?

Capt. Magee. I was not looking directly at the gun at the time it was fired;

I was looking at the target.

Maj. Mandel. Did you notice any splash other than that caused by the splash

of the shell in the water?

Capt. Magee. No ; I did not notice any ; my attention was drawn away to

the group around me.

Maj. Mandel. Was there sufficient space of time between the shots which you

heard fired to warrant your giving an opinion as to which shot might have

caused wounds sustained by the women you have mentioned?

Capt. Magee. It is my belief that the wounds were caused by the discharge

of the second gun fired—that was the aft gun—I believe that because the

injuries were received immediately after the firing of this gun and because of

the look of the wounds in the bodies of the dead.

(Witness dismissed.)
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Louise Hostman, Army Reserve nurse, was then called, and, being duly

sworn, testified as follows :

Maj. Speed. On the afternoon of May 20, 1917, at 2.10 p. m., where were you?

Nurse Hostman. I was standing on the aft of the deck on the steamship

Mongolia, watching and looking for the target on the ocean.

Maj. Speed. What was in progress on the ship at this time?

Nurse Hostman. Gunfire ; target practice.

Maj. Speed. How many shots did you hear fired?

Nurse Hostman. Two.

Maj. Speed. What happened about the second shot?

Nurse Hostman. You want me to explain what I saw?

Maj. Speed. Yes ; just tell us briefly.

Nurse Hostman. I was standing on.the deck ; I saw one nurse had fallen from

the chair, and another was apparently sitting there, but I thought she had

fainted.

Maj. Speed. How near were you to these two nurses?

Nurse Hostman. I was about the distance of 2 feet.

Maj. Speed. From each one, or were you between them?

Nurse Hostman. I was back of them.

Maj. Speed. Did you observe any wounds on these nurses?

Nurse Hostman. I did not observe the wounds until I went to the nurse

and saw the blood on the floor, and observed the wound after carrying her

to the settee and saw that the coat had been torn and ragged.

Maj. Speed. Where?

Nurse Hostman. On the left side under the arm.

Maj. Speed. The other nurse—did you observe any wound on her?

Nurse Hostman. I saw the wound on the left side of the forehead, and saw

some one, who I thought was Dr. Besley, pull the piece of metal from her fore

head.

Maj. Speed. Were these two seriously wounded women alive at the time you

first went to them?

Nurse Hostman. I could not say about the one who was sitting, but by ob

servation I said, " She is dead."

Maj. Speed. The time following the second shot, which you have described,

and you made this observation, was about how long?

Nurse Hostman. Within a few seconds.

Maj. Speed. What, in your opinion, was the probable cause of these wounds?

Nurse Hostman. In my opinion the probable cause of the wounds was the ex

plosion from the discharge of these guns.

Maj. Speed. After the nurses were placed under medical care, did you help

dress their wounds?

Nurse Hostman. I did.

Maj. Speed. Did you observe anyone remove any more metal from these

wounds?

Nurse Hostman. I saw either Dr. Krost or Dr. Speed remove a horseshoe-

shaped metal from the left side of the chest.

(The witness was then showed Exhibit A, which is now in possession of the

Navy Department.)

Maj. Speed. Is this the piece of metal removed from the lady's chest?

Nurse Hostman. That is the piece of metal that was taken from the chest.

Maj. Speed. What, in your opinion, was the cause of death following this

wound in the chest?

Nurse Hostman. The burying of a piece of metal in the chest.

(Witness dismissed.)

The board then inspected the scene of the accident. This was on the upper

deck, aft, on the port side.

A spot was noted on the ship's railing from which the paint had been

scratched and to which particles of brass were adherent. Deck chair No. 15S

was spattered with blood.

The board then viewed the bodies of nurses Mrs. Edith Ayers and Miss

Helen Burnett Wood.

Inspection of Mrs. Edith Ayers's body showed the following wounds: A

lacerated wound of the left temple, three-fourths of an inch long ; an inspection

of this wound showed the presence of a fracture penetrating the temporal and

frontal bones, left side, the fracture extending to the middle fossa of the base



32 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

of the skull ; cerebrospinal fluid discharged from the left ear ; she also had

sustained an S-shaped wound of the left side partially circling the left breast.

An examination of the body of Helen Burnett Wood showed a penetrating

wound of the left axilla, extending from the anterior scapular line to mid-

axilla, at the level of the fifth rib ; an inspection of this wound showed that

two ribs, the fourth and fifth, had been fractured, and that the lung and

pericardium had been lacerated.

Both Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood were dead.

The board then examined Emma Matzen and found her to be suffering from

the following wounds : Lacerated wound, right arm, posterior lateral aspect

between shoulder and elbow; lacerated punctured wound of the right hip,

3 inches below the crest of the ilium.

The board, having carefully considered the evidence in this case, and having

viewed the bodies of Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood, and having

inspected wounds of Emma Matzen, is of the opinion that the wounds sustained

by Miss Matzen were accidentally inflicted by fragments of brass that struck

her, due to a faulty discharge from gun No. 3 on the aft deck of the steamship

Mongolia, about 2.10 p. m., May 20, 1917.

The board is also of the opinion that Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood

died as a result of the injuries outlined above, and that these injuries were

accidentally inflicted by fragments of brass cap which struck them as a result

of faulty discharge of gun No. 3 on the aft deck of the steamship Mongolia

about 2.10 p. m., May 20. 1917.

The board further believes that no fault attaches in this case to the ship,s

officers, to the naval officer in charge of the guns, to the gun crew, or to any

other person aboard the ship.

The wounded persons were not in a position which could be considered dan

gerous, and it appears that the accident was caused entirely by some defect in

the ammunition used. The deaths of Edith Ayers and Helen Burnett Wood

occurred in the line of duty. In neither case was death the result of the

nurses, own misconduct.

Major, M. 0. R. C, President.

Major, M. O. R. C, Member.

Oaptain, M. C, Recorder.

I certify this to be a true copy of the proceedings.

Philip Seymour,

Lieutenant, United States Navy.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Secretary, as I understand it, as soon

as you heard of this, you gave out what information you had in

reference to it?

Secretary Daniels. As soon as I received it on Monday morning.

The Acting Chairman. And an inquiry was ordered by Admiral

Usher immediately upon the arrival of the ship ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. The inquiry was made and a report made

to you from the naval officers and the civilians?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. What do these reports show? Have you

the report of the officers of the Mongolia?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; that is included in the report I have

already filed. We have the report of the officer in charge of the

armed' guard. Here is his testimony. If you desire it, I might read

it to you.

The Acting Chairman. He was the officer in command of the

Mongolia.?

Secretary Daniels. Of the naval guard on the Mongolia.
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The Acting Chairman. That is, of the naval force on the Mongo

lia. The naval force on the Mongolia was under Lieut. Seymour.

Secretary Daniels. Yes. He made the following report to me:

 

1. I have to report Unit on May 20. 1917, while engaged in target practice

about 200 miles out at sea from New York an accident occurred in which

United States Army Reserve Nurses Edith Ayers and Helen Burnette Woods

were killed and Emma Matzen was injured.

fe/oCeT/on oC

occurred, s i/

barred and brass
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2. At the time of the- accident I was on duty on Steamship Mongolia in

command of the armed guard of that vessel. The Mongolia is fitted with three

6-inch 40-caliber guns using ammunition in which the powder is contained in

a brass cartridge case and the shell is separate.

3. About 2 p. m. Hay 20 a target was put overboard and the ship maneu

vered so that the target bore 2 points forward of the port beam distant 1*

105180—17 3
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miles. The signal had been given for gun crews to man their guns, and I had

received a report from each gun that the guns were ready.

4. I had given word for the gun situated forward on port side of the fore

castle known as No. 2 gun, and also for the gun situated aft on the center line

known as No. 3 gun to pick up the target bearing two points forward of port

beam and had received word from these two guns that they had picked up the

target and were " on." I gave the initial range as 3,300 yards deflection 50. I

gave the order for No. 2 and No. 3 to " load," and gave the order to commence

firing when target bore one point forward of the port beam. No. 2 gun fired

and after viewing the splash made, I corrected sight to 3,000 yards and scale

46. About a minute later No. 3 gun fired, the splash showing the shot to be

correct in deflection and 300 yards over in range. I gave out range as 2,600

yards. No. 2 gun fired again immediately. At this time the captain of the ship,

who was on top of the pilot house called to me that he thought I had better

cease firing as he thought some one had been hurt. I ceased firing and no more

shots were fired. I made an investigation to learn what was the matter and

found that the fatality mentioned above had occurred. I verified the setting of

the sights and the position of the guns at the time of firing aud found this cor

rect. The guns had been properly bore-sighted the day before, May 19, and a

watch had been kept on the guns, and there is no possibility of their having

been tampered with.

5. Fragments of brass sheet removed from the bodies of the two who were

killed have been positively identified as parts of the cup which is placed in the

mouth of the cartridge case to retain the powder therein and to make the case

airtight.

6. The two nurses who were killed were sitting in deck chairs on the upper

promenade deck about 175 feet forward of the gun that caused the fatality.

This deck is 16 feet above the deck on which the gnu is mounted.

7. Both the nurses who were killed were struck by brass fragments which

came from No. 3 gun. The fragments after leaving the gun maintained a rota

tive direction and traveled in a vertical plane at right angles to the vertical

plane of the line of fire.

8. A similar action was observed on the second and last shot of No. 2 gun,

but in this case an area on the water 50 yards from the ship was covered with

splashes and, I believe these splashes were caused by the brass cup in the case

of that gun breaking up and being thrown out.

9. No. 3 gun, which is 6-inch 40-caliber No. 263, was slightly scarred inside

the bore. A spot about 1 by i inch on the upper side, 1 foot from the powder

chamber, was cut out of the rifling. This spot is not deep and is not of sufficient

gravity to cause the gun to be renewed or to endanger firing it.

10. The accident was not due to carelessness or neglect by anyone on board

or connected with the personnel of the guns. Ordinarily, when guns of this

caliber are fired on board ship all hands are behind protection and they would

not have been injured by flying bits of brass. It appears desirable to remove

the brass cups from the cartridge cases of this ammunition and substitute

papier-mache plugs.

11. The powder used was 6 inch 40 caliber cartridges S. P. D. W. 1275. The

.cartridge cases fired were not injured. The shell used was 6 inch of S. Com

mon shell L. & F. with tracer fuses. The shell did not break up, but made ac

curate flights. I used these shells for practice as the target-practice ammuni

tion remaining on board was insufficient, most of it having been used on a

previous trip of the Mongolia by other guus, crews.

12. The nurses killed and the one injured belonged to base hospital No. 12.

a Red Cross unit from Chicago, under the command of Maj. Collins United

States Army, which unit was taking passage on the Mongolia to Europe.

Philip SEYMorit.

The Acting Chairman. Was that report verified by the board of

inquiry called by Admiral Usher?

Secretary Daniels. Yes, absolutely. The only difference between

his report and the report of the board is that the board's report is

in the form of question and answer.

Senator Penrose. These shells can be used over again—these brass

shells ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.
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Admiral Earle. Not the shell, only the cartridge case.

Senator Penrose. I mean the case.

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. That is what you call a cartridge?

Admiral Earle. That is what we call the cartridge case. This is

the shell [indicating].

Secretary Daniels. This testimony, of course, is in the form of

question and answer and is very full and very complete, but Lieut.

Seymour has given in that letter to me all the information.

The Acting Chairman. That is all the information you possess

in the Navy Department on this matter?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Are you satisfied this was occasioned by

an inexplicable rebound or boomerang of this mouth piece ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; and that is also the opinion of the Ord

nance Board and the ordnance experts.

The Acting Chairman. How long have these mouthpieces been

used on the 0-inch guns?

Secretary Daniels. Over 20 years.

The Acting Chairman. How many accidents, before this, have you

had in reference to those copper mouth cups?

Secretary Daniels. There is no record of any.

Senator Poindexter. Is that the technical designation of that

piece, mouth cup?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. It would have been very hard to have made

the experts in the Navy believe that that could have occurred, would

it not?

Secretary Daniels. It would indeed. I can not understand now

how it could have occurred.

Senator Penrose. May I ask a question?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Senator Penrose. I was just going to ask you, Mr. Secretary—I

do not understand on what mechanical principle this cup which was

supposed to be projected away from the ship came back and hit the

nurses?

Senator Hale. A boomerang.

Secretary Daniels. I can not state myself.

Admiral Earle. The law of motion of a disk is such that you can

make a disk go back and fly any way you want. There is a rifling

in the gun and the disk itself is turning rapidly in this direction.

You can make it come right back to you, if you throw it right.

Senator Penrose. If you throw it the right way.

Admiral Earle. This cap is in motion when it leaves the gun.

Senator Poindexter. They do not do that every time?

Senator Page. That is the same principle as if you throw a thing

and have it come back?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; you give it the proper motion, and it

will come back.

Senator Page. Why had not that happened before ?

Admiral Earle. Because it is not noticed at target practice when

it does, possibly because the crew are protected by the side of the

ship. Our gun positions are different on battleships to what they

are on a liner, and we do not allow anybody out on the deck anyhow.
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Senator Penrose. Then these caps are liable to come back any

time, but as far as the gun crew are concerned they are protected. ~

Admiral Earle. Absolutely so.

Senator Penrose. Then ft would look to me as if the nurses

should have been ordered below when the gun was being fired, or

there should have been some precaution extended to them to seek

shelter somewhere.

Senator Harding. Except this never happened before.

Secretary Daniels. Nobody ever supposed it could have happened.

Senator Penrose. Nobody has been killed according to the rec

ords; but at the same time, as has been said, the caps are liable to

come back on the ship ; but the crew is provided with a defense—the

gun crew—as I understand it.

The Acting Chairman. It occurred once on the Iowa, did it not?

Admiral Earle. It was on the Wisconsin.

Secretary Daniels. There is no record in the department.

Senator Page. As I understand, Senator Penrose, this did not

come back and hit the nurses. It came back and hit a post.

Senator Penrose. It came back and hit the post.

Admiral Earle. And then flew away from the post and broke

into three parts.

Senator Penrose. It came back to the ship, at any rate.

Senator Page. It came back and hit a post.

Senator Poindexter. They were not aiming at the post, were

they?

Senator Page. The fact it hit the post may have made it possible

for some one who was adequately protected ordinarily to have been

injured. So it is not absolutely certain that you might not have

the same accident. It is probable you would not have had the acci

dent but for the fact it hit the post.

Senator Penrose. But it had no business to hit the post.

Admiral Earle. It was just about at right angles. It evidently

went out some distance.

Senator Penrose. Admiral, as I understand it, these caps are

liable to come back onto the vessel on account of the rotary motion

to which you have referred, but the gun crew have a defense pro

vided to protect them.

Admiral Earle. Not with that end in view, Mr. Senator, at all.

It has never been thought it would come back. We have only heard

of one case when it did, and we are not sure that it did, but only

that it probably went at right angles to the line of fire.

The Acting Chairman. On the battleships your gunners are pro

tected by a shield ?

Senator Harding. There is a shield to every gun.

Admiral Earle. That is the only explanation. Mr. Senator, which

shows why this sort of thing had not been seriously considered. We

have never noticed, and apparently we would never notice it if it

did occur before, because nobody was where they would be hit by it.

Senator Penrose. The reason no one was killed before was they

were ordered below or protected by gun shields.

Secretary Daniels. It was possible that it could have happened.

Senator Harding. The gun shields are intended for defense against

an enemy.
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Senator Penrose. But they come in handy for this cap, apparently.

Senator Page. Suppose this post had been in the rear of the men

who were protected from the front ; now, if this shell had not struck

the post, if it had been on a warship, it might have struck something

behind and caromed off and gone in behind the gun shield and killed

those behind the gun shield.

Senator Penrose. Oh, certainly.

Secretary Daniels. The fact that this cap has been used for 20

years and no ordnance officer of the Navy supposed it was possible

for an accident of this kind to happen is a complete answer to any

view that it could have been supposed to be dangerous. This cap was

used because it was considered the very best thing obtainable to keep

moisture out of the chamber.

Senator Penrose. As I understand it, no one was injured because

no one was permitted to be exposed.

Secretary Daniels. They were not kept from being exposed for

fear of any injury or any possibility of this kind. This accident

was a great surprise and shock to every ordnance officer in the Navy.

Senator Penrose. If I may be permitted—I do not want to take up

all of the time of the committee—the admiral stated that one of the

qualities of motion of this disk is that it is liable to come back like a

boomerang.

Secretary Daniels. This accident demonstrated that it could come

back that way.

Senator Penrose. And it has taken 20 years to learn that the disk

comes back ?

Secretary Daniels. It was never supposed by any ordnance officer

that it would do that. It has been used 20 years, because it has been

deemed the very best protection to keep the powder in condition.

Senator Hale. Is this the same size ammunition that is used in the

modern 6-inch gun?

Secretary Daniels. This is a modern 6-inch gun.

The Acting Chairman. Who has the date when the gun was made,

who made it, and the maker of the powder, etc. ?

Secretary Daniels. As to the dates and the technical questions

concerning this matter, I request you to call on Admiral Earle, and

if you wish to hear the lieutenant commanders, who are so much

more familiar with the technical ordnance materials than I, it would

be well to hear them also.

It might be well, before you call them, for me to say that it has

been always the practice of the department in dealing with matters

pertaining to ordnance to call to the Ordnance Bureau only officers

who by long experience have demonstrated their ability as experts in

ordnance. As far as I know, the officer selected as Chief of the

Bureau of Ordnance is always one who has made ordnance his life

work. Admiral Straus, who preceded Admiral Earle as the Chief

of the Bureau of Ordnance, had given all his life, except when com

manding a ship, to ordnance. I would like to state the record of

Admiral Beale, his fitness for this place, and to touch upon his record

in the Navy. He was appointed to the Naval Academy in 1892

from Massachusetts, and in 1901 and 1902 his first service on shore

was at the naval proving grounds, where we test all the guns and

make our powder. He then went to sea as battery officer, then he
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became inspector of powder on the east coast. He next went to sea

as gunnery officer, and in 1910 and 1913 he was on the special board

on ordnance, and again resuming sea duty he was captain of the

Dolphin, at Tampico and Vera Cruz, later becoming executive officer

of the dreadnaught Arkansas. Then he was made head of the de

partment of ordnance and gunnery at the Naval Academy. When

he finished that tour of duty he was called to be inspector in charge

of the proving grounds at Indian Head, and from that place became

Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance. That is his experience. I give it,

so that when you examine him you may know that he has had the

very best experience that any officer in the Navy could have had in

ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. How many merchant ships have you

armed since this policy has been adopted?

Secretary Daniels. About 200, Mr. Chairman.

The Acting Chairman. What were your instructions in reference

to the character of men who were to be put on these ships?

Secretary Daniels. Our instructions were very positive that the

men to be put on those ships—officers and men—should be men who

had had the highest standing and best experience in gunnery. In

order to get the best men we selected them from some of our dread-

naughts and from other ships that had made special progress and

reputations in gunnery. For instance, we took from the Dolphin

the gunnery crew which had made the best record for gunnery of

its class. Instructions were given that none were to go except the

best gunners and the very best men. Then, immediately, as soon

as they went, we put the next best men in training for this work,

recognizing that it was a very difficult thing for the best gunner

possible to hit a periscope. We have put on these ships the very best

men of the Navy.

The Acting Chairman. What was the character of officers that

you assigned to this duty?

Secretary Daniels. Men who had made reputations in gunnery

and men who were the fittest men in the Navy for this work. This

work was under the general direction of Admiral Benson, Chief

of Operations, and assignments were made by Admiral Palmer,

Chief of the Bureau of Navigation.

The Acting Chairman. What were your instructions in reference

to guns and ammunition to be furnished these merchant ships?

Secretary Daniels. I ' instructed Admiral Benson and Admiral

Earle to arm these ships with the best gunners and best guns, be

cause I regarded it as a very important, hazardous, and difficult

work, and nothing but the very best should be used.

The Acting Chairman. Now, in reference to the defective shells

on the merchant vessels, you say you have armed about 200?

Secretary Daniels. About 200.

The Acting Chairman. What has been your report in reference to

the character of shells that have been furnished these 200 merchant

vessels ?

Secretary Daniels. The reports of the officers are that they are ex

cellent and have worked perfectly. There was only one ship, or

maybe two

Admiral Earle. There were several cases of premature bursts.

The Acting Chairman. You have those reports here?
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Secretary Daniels. Admiral Earle has all the reports and will give

all of the particulars.

The Acting Chairman. I suppose Admiral Earle will be better

able to give us information in reference to that.

Secretary Daniels. He can give the information more accurately

than I can.

The Acting Chairman. Senator Frelinghuysen, do you wish to ask

the Secretary any questions ?

Senator Frelinghuysen has offered this resolution, and with the

permission of the committee he will be allowed to ask any questions

he may desire to ask.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I simply want to state first that the scope

of the resolution provides that the Naval Committee shall make this

inquiry and investigation. My interest in the matter is only to ascer

tain the facts, without casting any aspersions or criticisms on the

officials of the Navy or of the department. I think that if we have

had or have defective ammunition in the Navy that it ought to be

eliminated, and I am perfectly willing, if the committee will grant

me the permission, to ask, without prejudice, some questions. Of

course, I do not want you to assume that I am conducting an inquiry

in an}' way.

The Acting Chairman. No; the committee would be very glad to

get any suggestions from you, Senator, because it has no desire but to

ascertain the facts, and I am sure that the Navy Department is desir

ous of giving all the information in reference" to this matter that it

can.

Secretary Daniels. That is the attitude of the department ; and if

there is any ammunition in the Navy that is not as good as any in the

world, or as good as human ingenuity and money and men can make

it, we do not know it. The experts of the Navy have been very

zealous, and the very ablest men in the Navy have "been in charge of

this work.

Senator Poindexter. You do not want to conceal anything of that

kind, do you?

Secretary Daniels. Nothing on earth; quite the contrary. As I

stated before you came in, Senator, this accident happened Sunday

afternoon. The radio announcing the accident came to my desk

Monday morning. As soon as I received it I gave the information to

the press. It was printed in the Monday afternoon papers. Monday

night I gave out a very full statement from Admiral Earle. An in

vestigation was ordered by Admiral Usher on Monday morning.

As soon as the report of the investigation came to me I gave out a full

synopsis of it. There is not a single fact about this deplorable acci

dent from the beginning to the end that has been withheld from the

public.

Senator Poindexter. I think that is true: and it is a great deal

better, if there is anything wrong with the ammunition, to find it out

now before a naval battle.

Secretary Daniels. You may be assured that when this news came

Admiral Benson, who, of course, as Chief of Operations, directs the

operations of the fleet, and Admiral Earle and all the men in the

Ordnance Department, were just as astounded about it and just as

keen and determined as I that if there was anything wrong anywhere

that it would be gone into to the bottom and righted. Admiral
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Earle went at once wherever it was thought necessary to examine

ammunition. We have been conducting firing tests to determine

anything that may be wrong.

The Acting Chairman. In regard to the St. Louis, will you tell

us what occurred in reference to that? I understand they fired 45

shots and 9 exploded in the gun and 4 prematurely exploded after

they left the gun, out of the 45 shots. Now, when that report came

in in reference to the St. Louis, what was done ?

Admiral Earle. Here is the report as it is copied in the Con

gressional Kecord. The report is there in full.

Secretary Daniels. Immediately that was done, the Bureau of

Ordnance was directed to make an investigation and to examine

the shells. Here are the facts about it.

Senator Poindexter. Will you give the page of the document from

which you are reading.

Secretary Daniels. From the Congressional Record, at page 3167.

It has the facts in there.

Senator Page. Is that of this session?

Secretary Daniels. Yes (reading) :

The armed liner St. Louis, on her first trip to Liverpool, where she arrived

about March 26, 1917, fired 45 service shells at an iceberg for a target. This

firing was held in accordance with the instructions of the bureau in order to

test the mounts, guns, ammunition, and to train the guns. crews. Several shells

burst prematurely, some inside the bore of the guns, others before striking the

target. The damage to the bore of the- guns caused thereby was sufficient to

necessitate their being relined.

Upon her return to New York, the guns and shells were immediately removed

and new guns with a new supply of shells issued to the ship. Later on, one

other shell exploded prematurely, as well as one of the same caliber on both

the Mongolia and the St. Paul. In none of these cases was the gun damaged

beyond remedy by relining, which relining has been done. * * *

Eighty-nine rounds of this ammunition were fired at the proving ground im

mediately following the premature bursts in an effort to develop a reason for

such incidents. These rounds were fired nearly all at higher chamber pres

sure than were the service rounds fired on board these vessels. In 87 rounds

both the shell and the fuses functioned perfectly. One shell broke up. inves

tigation showing that it had been made prior to 1900, but had been accepted

as a suitable 6-ineh shell, and the second one was a shell that had been ex

amined prior to firing and found to have been a little thinner walled than the

latest design in use.

Senator Poindexter. How many were fired in that test?

Secretary Daniels. Eighty-seven.

The Acting Chairman. Eighty-nine, were there not?

Secretary Daniels. Eighty-seven that functioned perfectly, and

two that did not. This was after the receipt of the radio from the

St. L,ouis.

Senator Harding. What is the cause of an explosion within the

gun?

Admiral Earle. We have been investigating that, of course, ever

since it happened. No man can say exactly. I have my theory and

various ordnance officers all over the world have various theories

too; sir. It is a thing that happens very often in all navies of the

world, and no man has yet been able to develop a perfect fuse, a fuse

that will not at times act differently than at others. We have the

best material, the best workmen, and inspect the ammunition when

it is being manufactured. We are as sure as we can possibly be that

every fuse of any sort for insertion in a shell is made exactly in
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accordance with our drawings. Of course, it happens that sometimes

they do not function properly.

Senator Poindextek. Right on that point: you do not claim, do

you, Admiral, that this ammunition is as good as you could have had

or as good as it should have been, that was fired on the St. Louis 1

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; I certainly do.

Senator Poindexter. You think the ratio of shells exploding in

the guns is not more than should have been expected?

Admiral Earle. We do not expect any, sir. We never expected to

have one premature explosion. The ammunition was good and the

shells were as good as they can make the shells to-day, in the state of

the manufacturer's art. There was no defective shell or defective

fuse or powder issued to the armed liners. This bureau has not gone

back to 1878 to get guns as has been done in the French Navy. This

bureau has issued modern ammunition and there was not a shell is

sued that was not made with the best care and passed perfect tests,

and it is used every day in the proving ground. I unfortunately used

the words "defective shell.'' There has never been a defective shell

issued to a ship.

Senator Harding. Is there any particular menace to a shell burst

ing in a gun?

Admiral Earle. Not with this particular type of shell and burst

ing charge, except it is ineffective against an enemy and

The Acting Chairman. It ruins the guns frequently?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; we do not want to do that. We are try

ing to stop it.

Senator Harding. I understand, but in connection with this acci

dent, I wanted to know if there was any particular menace in this

feature.

Senator Poindexter. Of course, in the questions I am asking, I am

not asking them in a hostile attitude. :

The Acting Chairman. Of course not, Senator.

Senator Poindexter. What I would like to know is whether or

not you claim—I do not mean you personally, but the department—

that a shell which explodes prematurely in the gun is a perfect shell.

Admiral Earle. The shell is; yes, sir. It is caused by bad action

of the fuse. The fuse is inserted in the shell.

Senator Poindexter. That sounds to me rather technical. When

you speak of a shell in connection with a matter like this, I speak of

the entire ammunition that is in the gun—at least, I am using it in

that sense, including the cartridge case and shell and powder fuse

and everything connected with it. You have a perfect shell, as far

as the cartridge case is concerned, the metallic shell, and a defective

fuse that explodes in the gun

Admiral Earle. We do not know whether it is a defective fuse or

what, Mr. Senator. Of course, it is not what we want. We do not

want anything like that to happen.

The Acting Chairman. I understand the fuse is the piece of ma

chinery that fires the shell. You mean it will sometimes get out

of order. It is a very intricate fuse ; that is, there is a certain amount

of intricacy about it.

What powder did you have in these shells?

Admiral Earle. We had smokeless powder in the cartridge case.
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The Acting Chairman. I mean what powder went in the shell

itself?

Admiral Earle. What is known as black shell powder. It was

in that bottle which was exhibited here.

The Acting Chairman. Is that used in all the shells of all the

navies?

Admiral Earle. In all shells of a certain caliber. We use various

explosives in different caliber shells. It depends on the shells. We

use black shell powder, a mixed shell filler that is part black powder

and part TNT; also use explosive " D," which latter is, of course,

similar in a measure to the well-known picric acid.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, when it was reported

that out of 45 shots on the St. Louis that there were 13 defective

shots you were satisfied that was in excess of what should be ex

pected, and consequently gave a sufficient indication to you to make

an investigation of the ammunition furnished that ship.

, Admiral Earle. When the ship arrived at London we made an

examination of the records of the ammunition issued to the ship

immediately. The only thing I could think of possibly without

going into the records was that something had happened, that some

of the shells might not be good. I therefore took off all the shells

manufactured prior to 1900, although I found that those shells

made prior to 1900 were just as good as shells made later, but I did

that just on a chance. Up to the day before yesterday we had not

been able to arrive at what we believed was the reason. We do not

expect now any more premature bursts.

Senator Page. Has this experience in the Mongolia taught you

any lesson of value and can you. from the experience of this accident,

draw conclusions that will improve the methods hereafter?

Admiral Earle. Mr. Senator, the conclusion we have drawn from

our firings has led us to take certain measures that we think will

prevent this ever happening again in our Navy.

Senator Penrose. What are those measures, Admiral ?

Admiral Earle. Immediately when the Mongolia came back I

took off all these brass cups. Therefore there is no chance of that

happening on our liners.

Senator Penrose. What did you put in their place ?

Admiral Earle. As a rough and ready, though imperfect, substi

tute, a disk of wood. The Mongolia got in Monday ; we took the

ammunition off and we took out the brass disks and put wooden

ones in. Of course we may have to replace the powder when the

ships get back, because moisture may get in the powder. Of course

the powder will certainly be good for a month.

The Acting Chairman. Have you any assurance that the wooden

disks will not have a rebound ?

Admiral Earle. They are all blown to pieces: either blown to

pieces or burned up.

The Acting Chairman. Will that keep the moisture out?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; not with certainty.

The Acting Chairman. What is the difference generally in our

powder and the powder the English put in the cartridge case?

Admiral Earle. You must remember that the English use this

to-day. They use this thing, and they have had accidents.

Senator Poindexter. Use brass disks?
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Admiral Earle. Use zinc—both the German and English Navies.

Senator Poindexter. How about the Japanese Navy?

Admiral Earle. They use zinc, we understand.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. When vou received your reports of

these shells that had failed, from whom did you receive them?

Admiral Earle. From the naval attache at London.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. What is his name?

Admiral Earle. Capt. W. D. MacDougal.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Is that communication to the depart

ment privileged, or can it go into the evidence?

Admiral Earle. I do not think that the Secretary has any objec

tion to it.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is marked "secret." If it inter

feres in any way with the policy of the Navy Department, I do not

want it introduced.

Secretary Daniels. I do not see any reason why it should not go

into the record. It announces that the shells had prematurely ex

ploded, and immediately I had Admiral Earle look into it.

The Acting Chairman. That will be included in the record.

(The cablegram referred to is here printed in full as follows:)

Naval Intelligence, Washington:

The St. Louis fired 45 shells at a target. Four shells exploded a hundred

yards from the pun and nine shells exploded inside the guns. Not any of the

shells exploded when they hit the target. The rifling of all guns is damaged.

Many are scored 3 by 5 by J inch or more deep. Guns may be safe for good

shell, but not accurate. In my opinion it is wrong to expect the ship to de

fend herself successfully. No submarines repulsed.

MacDougal.

Senator Poindexter. What ship are you referring to now?

Admiral Earle. The St. Louis.

The Acting Chairman. After it was ascertained, Mr. Secretary,

that these 2 shells that did not function perfectly at Indianhead,

out of the 89, one being of a thinner wall than the others, which

shell of the thinner lining was made before 1900, were any of those

shells used afterwards ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir. They were all taken off the merchant

men.

The Acting Chairman. After you took them off, did you put any

more in use afterwards that were made before 1900, with the thinner

lining ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Penrose. I make these inquiries in an entirely friendly

spirit. You stated there was some mystery about the causes of these

explosions; that several theories existed, and you had your own

thought about the matter as to the cause. I am curious to know

what reasons have been suggested as to the cause of this.

Admiral Earle. Until the Mongolia trouble came, we had not

thought seriously about this brass cup as having anything to do with

the premature bursting of the shells. Now, we are led to believe

that this brass cup, as I think, is the cause. When the gun fires, ap

parently the cup shears right there [indicating]. The force of the

powder is so great that it turns it over, as it is shown here [exhibing].

It turns that edge over forward. That edge gets around the base of

the shell that way [indicating] and the shell has either got to burst
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or score the gun. The extent to which the shell cracks or is subjected

to an unusual strain of that kind, causes it to crack, and a flash

from the powder gets into the black powder that is inside the shell.

Then the shell bursts. It was only day before yesterday that we

were successful at our proving grounds in reproducing the trouble

we had had on the St. Louis. Day before yesterday—I think it was

Thursday—we fired 16 rounds and managed to get a quarter of

those rounds to explode prematurely just exactly as they did in the

case of the St. Louis. In the 89 rounds previously fired they did not

do it.

Senator Penrose. How did you bring about those results?

Admiral Earle. We made sure we had brass cups in every dis

charge. At Indian Head we had not been using a brass cup on

account of firing in the neighborhood of houses. The houses are

in front of the muzzle of the gun, and we did not use a brass mouth

cup there for the simple reason that these pieces fly over a big zone.

Senator Penrose. What kind of cup did you use?

Admiral Earle. We did not use any. We put the powder in with

a wad, before firing the gun. The question of keeping the powder

hermetically sealed did not enter into this there. •

Senator Penrose. These 89 shells on the St. Louis were they fired

that way or just as they were on the ship ?

Admiral Earle. They were fired without the brass mouth cup.

Senator Penrose. Then they were fired under conditions different

from the conditions existing when they were fired on the ship ?

Admiral Earle. They were fired under conditions different, but

conditions such that we had no reason to expect would make any

difference in the result.

Senator Penrose. You now have come to the conclusion that it did

make a difference?

Admiral Earle. I can not help but come to that conclusion. It

was only Thursday—day before yesterday—that we managed to re

produce it. We have, been firing every day trying to get it. We

came to the conclusion that that was the only thing which was not

reproduced. We tried this carefully. It was only when we used

the brass cup that we reproduced the condition.

The Acting Chairman : How many shots did you fire at Indian-

head day before yesterday?

Admiral Earle. Sixteen. There were four premature explosions.

The Acting Chairman. Did they explode in the gun or after they

came out?

Admiral Earle. Just after they got out, but they exploded pre

maturely.

The Acting Chairman. On each of those shells you had this cop

per mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you reached the conclusion that the

premature explosions that occurred on the St. Louis and others were

occasioned by the brass mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. We had apparently eliminated everything else,

Mr. Senator, that we can think of. Therefore, we. of course, are not

going to use any more.

Senator Page. You are not using these cups any more?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.
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Senator Penrose. You said you are using a temporary cup or

cover that does not keep out the moisture as effectively except tor a

few weeks?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Penrose. Might it not follow that the powder may be

come dampened and a submarine may approach and the shell would

not go off at all by reason of the inadequate protection for the

powder ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; we can fill a cartridge full of water and

it will go off. but it will not be as effective. It will not correspond

to the sight by range exactly. In the short time that a ship is away—

two months—nothing can happen in that time.

Senator Penrose. Then it is perfectly safe?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Penrose. I submit this statement with great modesty and

humility as a layman, but I would just like to ask if a cap of light

wood or metal would not keep the moisture out and avoid the con

gestion in the barrel ?

Admiral Earle. What we are trying now, Mr. Senator, is one

manufactured out of very strong cardboard, and we are trying a

disk of cork cemented in with cebaline paint.

Senator Penrose. Will they keep out the moisture completely?

Admiral Earle. We hope they will. We are trying a wood disk,

papier-mache disk, and trying cork. I, personally, think the cork

will do it.

Senator Poindexter. What is the objection to zinc?

Admiral Earle. Zinc is just about the same as this brass. It has

just about the same effect.

Senator Poindexter. Would not the heat of the explosion melt

the zinc?

Admiral Earle. We supposed it would, but we found it did not.

Senator Penrose. Would aluminum do for the cap?

Admiral Earle. It would be strong enough, of course; but if it

did break up in the case, it would cause that condition complained of.

Senator Poindexter. Do the Japanese and English use zinc?

Admiral Earle. I believe they do.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know whether or not they have brass

cups?

Admiral Earle. We have no information as to the Japanese in

that particular.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know what they did use before set

tling on the zinc cups?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; we are not able to get at such details.

Senator Poindexter. In the firing of the 89 shells taken from the

St. Louis, as a test at Indianhead, one of the conditions you stated

was not the same as when the similar shells were fired on the St. Louis,

namely, that you did not have the brass cup. Were all the other con

ditions the same?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; I will have to modify that, sir. because,

as we did not get any premature bursts from the shells, we increased

the powder charges in order to get higher pressure and thus try to

obtain premature bursts.

Senator Poindexter. That is. a larger powder charge than was

used on the ship?
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Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; we started with the same powder charge;

but, as we did not get any premature bursts, we ran the powder

charge up in order to get higher pressures and thus subject the

shells to greater strain. Now, with those shells as used on the St.

Louis the pressure given by the powder is about 13.7 tons. We fire

such shells every day down at the proving grounds at 21 to 22 tons.

They work all right.

Senator Poindexter. The two shells that exploded out of the 89

were fired without brass cups ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; fired without brass cups.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know what caused them to explode?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; we have no way of telling what caused

them to explode.

Senator Poindexter. Was it not stated by some one that some of

them had a thin cartridge case?

Admiral Earle. I stated there were two different kinds of shell—

one a high-capacity shell, containing more bursting charge, contain

ing 7 pounds to the other's 4—but we did not assign that as the rea

son for the shell's breaking up.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, there is a difference

in the Navy between the experts as to whether that shell—whether it

is wiser to put a smaller or larger charge in it?

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir.

The Acting Chairman. If you put a larger charge in it, it has a

larger capacity—larger bursting capacity, but less penetrating power ?

Admiral Earle, Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And it is a question in the Navy whether

you should have one or the other?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Was something said about one of the shells

exploding being a thin shell ?

Admiral Earle. A thin wall.

Senator Poindexter. You mean this brass cartridge case [indi

cating] ?

The Acting Chairman. No; the shell.

Senator Poindexter. The projectile?

Admiral Earle. I would like to show the Senator a picture.

The Acting Chairman. This shell, they sometimes put more pow

der in it; and in doing that, you have a thinner lining; and where

you have a thinner lining you have more explosion in the shell ; but

if you have a thick lining it will penetrate quite a bit better. There

has been some conflict as to which is the wiser procedure?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Harding. Are these shells exploded by both the fuse and

by contact?

Admiral Earle. The fuse is not supposed to work until it hits

something.

Senator Harding. This premature explosion, you think, comes ex

clusively from some ignition that attends the jamming of the shell?

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir; if the shell jams, it is strained and pos

sibly cracked, so that the flame from the powder charge may reach

the bursting charge.

Senatcr Page. What are these two points indicated here findicat-

ingl?
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Admiral Earle. That is the distance 'piece.

Senator Poindexter. What officer was in charge of the gun crew

on the St. Louis at the time the shells exploded?

Admiral Earle. Lieut. H. E. Knauss.
Senator Poindexter. How many men were underihim in his gun

crew on the St. Louis?

Admiral Earle. This is only a rough estimate, sir. He told me

he had 6 men to the gun. They have 3 guns, and that would be 18

men.

Senator Poindexter. Have you the names of them?

Admiral Earle. I have not. but the Bureau of Navigation has.

Senator Poindexter. Could you get them and put them in the

record ?

Admiral Earle. The names of this gun crew?

Senator Poindexter. Yes.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. And the names of the gun crew and the rank

of each of them.

(The matter referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full, as follows:)

CREW OF ARMED GUARD.

Ht. Louis, first trip, Lieut. H. E. Knauss. United States Navy, in command.

Dan J. Babb, seaman; enlisted February 8. 1915. Nip prior naval service.

August E. Baclms, seaman ; enlisted September 16, 1913. No prior naval

service.

Victor Janac, coxswain ; enlisted August 14. 1910. Prior naval service, seven

years and three months.

Arthur D. Kline, seaman, second class: enlisted February 16, 1914. No prior

naval service.

John Mockrish, seaman, second class ; enlisted November 29, 1915. No prior

naval service.

Walter E. Myers, gunner.s mate, first class: enlisted December 16, 1915.

Prior naval service, eight years.

John J. Overbeck, seaman ; enlisted May S, 1913. No prior naval service.

Charles N. Sandlin, seaman, second class ; enlisted February 15, 1916. No

prior naval service.

Leo Seng, seaman ; enlisted. July 27. 1910. Prior naval service, four years.

Paul J. Tracy, seaman ; enlisted September 4. 1914. No prior naval service.

Young H. Caritheres, seaman ; enlisted February 3, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Ernest Irion, seaman; enlisted June 9. 1915. No prior naval service.

Roy H. Jones, seaman; enlisted January 4. 1917. No prior naval service.

Ernest W. Kueinerle, seaman, second class ; enlisted June 21, 1916. No prior

naval service.

Paul A. Moulton, seaman ; enlisted September 13, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Loy J. Newman, seaman ; enlisted December 8. 1914. No prior naval service.

Fred A. Ringier. seaman ; enlisted, April 3, 1916. No prior naval service.

Vernon E. Scanlon, seaman, second class; enlisted June 26, 1916. No prior

naval service.

Frank Span, boatswain,s mate, first class; enlisted January 23, 1914. Prior

naval service, eight years.

St. Louis, second trip, Lieut. F. A. L. Vossler, United States Navy, in command.

Isaac H. Charles, gunner,s mate, first class ; enlisted September 18, 1914.

Prior naval service, about eight years.
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Augustus W. Caldwell, gunner's mate, third class ; enlisted April 15, 1916.

Prior naval service, about three years.

Calvin J. Elfer, seaman, second class; enlisted October 19, 1915. No prior

naval service.

Louis E. Gorman, seaman, second class; enlisted May 16, 1913. No prior

naval service.

Edward G. Machamer, seaman ; enlisted August 12, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Clarence W. Moran, seaman ; enlisted November 6, 1916. No prior naval

service.

Charles A. Ritchie, seaman; enlisted September 18, 1914. Prior naval service,

3 years and 10 months.

James (J. Watters, seaman; enlisted August 30. 1915. No prior naval service.

Joseph Schneider, coxswain; enlisted October 4, 1915. Prior naval service,

eight years.

Russell P. Case, seaman, second class; enlisted August 24, 1915. No prior

naval service.

Federico Rossillo, seaman, second class; enlisted September 2, 1915. No prior

naval service.

Arthur J. Hughes, seaman, second class; enlisted June 9, 1914. No prior

naval service.

Cyril T. Hanifan, seaman : enlisted August 16. 1913. No prior naval service.

Paul W. McElroy, seaman: enlisted May 5. 1916. Prior naval service, three

years.

Henry Murphy, seaman; enlisted November 2, 1914. No prior naval service.

Dave Rosen, seaman ; enlisted April S, 1910. Prior naval service, four years.

Edward W. Way. seaman ; enlisted July 30, 1915. No prior naval service.

James J. Nelson, coxswain; enlisted October 30, 1913. No prior naval service.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it. the only trouble about

this mouthpiece occurs in the 6-inch gun in the American Navy?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Admiral Earle. The 3-inch gun is loaded the same as a rifle. The

shell is an integral part of the cartridge case. The shell in all guns

below that makes a tight joint. It is forced in the mouth of the

cartridge case.

Senator Harding. All one piece?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Explain how you load the guns that are of

larger dimensions than the 6-inch gun.

Admiral Earle. We use a cartridge bag.

The Acting Chairman. Explain how you put the shell in.

Admiral Earle. We put the shell in and ram it home with a ram

mer, and then following that Ave put in the powder charge, which is

in silk bags, one bag for the 6-inch-caliber gun and two for the 7, and

so on.

The Acting Chairman. Then the powder is put in an air-tight

case ?

Admiral Earle. It is stowed in an air-tight copper or galvanized-

iron container magazine, and is only removed just as it is required

for loading the gun.

The Acting Chairman. So, can you not construct your 6-inch

guns in the future so that they can be fired in the same way as the

6-inch 50-caliber or 7-inch guns?

Admiral Earle. We are doing that.

The Acting Chairman. There are no more 6-inch guns being made

that can not be fired the same as the larger caliber guns?

Admiral Earle. All 6-inch guns are made of the type where the

powder is in cartridge bags. Some years ago we had 5-inch ammu

nition with the cup, but we have succeeded in remodeling the 5-inch



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 49

guns so that we use the cartridge bag. The Germans use the car

tridge case for all guns, assuming that the complication introduced

in the breech-loading mechanism by omitting the cartridge case is

sufficient to warrant them sticking to the cartridge case.

The Acting Chairman. Their guns are operated like the 6-inch

gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chaihman. And their larger guns ?

Admiral Earle. The larger guns have the last section of the shell

put in the cartridge case. Of course, that makes the breech mecha

nism very much simpler and very much easier to manufacture and

very much cheaper, and therefore they use it.

The Acting Chairman. Nearly all the German guns are made

that way ?

Admiral Earle. Practically all.

The Acting Chairman. What is the English system?

Admiral Earle. The same as ours. Their 6-inch guns are like

this ; and all the others use the bags.

The Acting Chairman. What is the proportion of the 6-inch

guns that you have on these merchant vessels?

Admiral Earle. We have the exact number of 6-inch guns here,

sir. Of the 6-inch guns, 45 guns are in service—at the naval station

at Guam, 10; Columbia, 3; Minneapolis, 3; Baltimore, 4; Alabama,

8 ; Wisconsin, 8 ; Illinois, 8 ; Manchuria, 1 ; Mongolia, 3 ; New York,

3: Philadelphia, 3; St. Louis, 1; and St. Paul, 3. Then we have

additional guns ready for issue. In all we have 92.

The Chairman. Ninety-two 6-inch guns in all ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; of this type.

The Acting Chairman. What have been the accidents that you

have heard of on these ships, with the use of the 6-inch gun, with

the metal mouth cup ?

Admiral Earle. The St. Louis. We have had 12 premature bursts

on that ship.

The Acting Chairman. On what other ships did you hear of pre

mature explosions?

Admiral Earle. The next accident was on the Mongolia on her

first trip ; not on this trip on which the accident occurred.

The Acting Chairman. What were the facts in connection with

that?

Admiral Earle. The scoring of the rifling of a gun, due presum

ably to jamming of a mouth cup and shell. There was not premature

burst.

The Acting Chairman. How many shells prematurely burst ?

Admiral Earle. None, as I remember, on the Mongolia.

The Acting Chairman. Have you the report on that?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. Then, two occurred on the St. Louis

about May 10, 1917 ; the St. Paul had one ; and some later occurred

on the Philadelphia.

The Acting Chairman. You have those reports so that they may

be filed with these proceedings?

Admiral Earle. I can get them, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Before passing that, will you ask him to put

those reports in?

105186—17 4
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The Acting Chairman. Yes. sir; unless there is something con

tained in the reports that have to do with matters outside of the

scope of this hearing.

Admiral Earle. There is a great deal of confidential matter in

them.

Senator Poindexter. I do not want to have anything confidential

put in the record.

(The reports referred to were subsequently submitted and are here

printed in full, as follows:)

Extract from report of Lieut. E. A. Sofuuist, commanding armed guard

steamship St. Paul, April 17, 1917, concerning firing of four 6-inch service

rounds on April 14, 1917:

" The first shell broke up about 100 yards from the ship. * * * No

other defects were noted * * *."

Extract from report of Lieut. F. A. L. Vossler, United States Navy, com

manding armed guard steamship St. Louis, May 10, 1917, concerning firing of

six 6-inch service rounds on May 2, 1917 :

« * * * xhe 6-inch shell for the third and fifth shots broke up (apparently

in the gun), pieces of shell being strewn over a large area of water from the

stern of the ship to several hundred yards away. Considerable damage was

sustained by the gun, the rifling being gouged out in a number of places. It

is recommended that a new 6-inch gun be installed in place of the one now

mounted on board and that reliable ammunition be supplied for same before

the ship sails on her next voyage.

Extract from report of commander of armed guard on steamship St. Paul.

Lieut. E. A. Lofquist, United States Navy, April 17, 1917 :

"While in London at the embassy, the naval attache informed me that the

commanding officer, armed guard, steamship St. Louis, had fired service ammuni

tion, the shells had broken up and the rifling of the gun scored. For this reason,

four rounds of service ammunition was fired from stern gun on April 14, 1916.

" The first shell broke up about a hundred yards from the ship. It looked

very much as if the second and third shells exploded after striking the water.

The fourth shell did not explode * * *."

Extract from report of condition of battery and ammunition on steamship

St. Louis by Lieut. H. E. Knauss, United States Navy, March 30, 1917.

" Nine shells exploded in guns ; three exploded or broke in fragments ut

ranges between one and two hundred yards. The interval between shell break

ing and discharge of gun too short to accurately note a second detona

tion * * *.

" A careful examination revealed that the rifled tubes had not started ; that

guns were otherwise normal, and that scores projected within bore in only one

instance (No. 518), which was reduced with file. After the above the guns

were again tested and proved safe and approximately accurate at short ranges

within 4,000 yards * * *.

" It is recommended that present battery be replaced by 5-inch or 3-incli

guns, as these calibers can be handled more efficiently by small gun crews

detailed (total 19 men) for present duty aboard this vessel."

Admiral Earle. Most of the reports are sailing directions from

the British Admiralty.

The Acting Chairman. We just want information as to prema

ture explosions.

Senator Poindexter. Who was the commanding officer on the

Mongolia?

The Acting Chairman. On the first trip ?

Senator Poindexter. On the trip when the three nurses were killed.

Admiral Earle. Lieut. Philip Seymour.

Senator Poindexter. How many men did he have?

Admiral Earle. About 18.

Senator Poindexter. Have you the names of those men ?

Admiral Earle. The Bureau of Navigation has them. But that

information has not been given out because it has been the practice

not to give them out until the ship gets back from a successful trip.
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Secretary Daniels. It has been the policy of the department not

to give out the names of the men, but the name of every one is listed,

put in the safe, and, with the exception of Admiral Benson and

Admiral Palmer, nobody knows who is on the crew. I did not know,

myself, who went on those ships that have sailed. That has been

the policy of the department.

Senator Poindexter. What was the purpose of that ?

Secretary Daniels. In the first place, we wished to keep this

matter at first absolutely confidential. These men were ordered to go

on a perilous duty without knowing where they were going. For

instance, if they were at Norfolk, they were ordered to report at

New York. They did not know where they were going and could

not tell their families. Their families, of course, would be very

much distressed if they heard of it. When they come back, I see

no reason why it should still be kept secret.

Senator Poindexter. I can understand that there is a very good

reason for it under those circumstances. That reason does not exist,

does it, after the event ?

Secretary Daniels. Not after the event.

The Acting Chairman. You have no objection to these names

being furnished ?

Secretary Daniels. None at all.

Senator Poindexter. I do not care to go to the Bureau of Naviga

tion to get that information.

Secretary Daniels. We will furnish the names of the crew—the

officers and men.

Senator Page. Will that information go into this report ?

Senator Poindexter. I would like to have the names of the officers

and men and the date of enlistment of the men of the crews of the

St. Lends and the Mongolia; the gun crews that were on those vessels

at the time of the several accidents that are being referred to here.

The Acting Chairman. There is no reason why that information

should not be furnished ?

Secretary Daniels. None at all.

(The matter referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full as follows:)

CREWS OF ARMED GTJARD.

Mongolia, first trip, Lieut. B. E. Ware, United States Navy, in command.

Emmet Atkins, seaman ; enlisted September 23, 1913. No prior naval service.

Vere V. Byers, seaman ; enlisted October 21, 1914. No prior naval service.

Arthur L. Conrad, seaman ; enlisted June 11, 1915. No prior naval service.

Frank E. Ford, seaman ; enlisted December 5, 1913. No prior naval service.

James A. Goodwin, gunner's mate, first class ; enlisted June 23, 1913. Prior

naval service, four years.

Rudolph J. Holly, seaman ; enlisted September 16, 1913. No prior naval

service.

Harry J. Lexa, seaman ; enlisted August 5, 1913. Prior naval service, four

years.

George E. Schulkins, seaman ; enlisted May 28. 1914. No prior naval service.

John G. Tushenski, seaman ; enlisted February 9, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Franklin T. Bland, seaman, second class; enlisted November 6, 1913. No

prior naval service.
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James Conley, seaman ; enlisted October 31, 1913. No prior naval service.

Donal F. Core, seaman, second class ; enlisted April 28, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Sam W. Freeman, seaman ; enlisted October 21, 1913. No prior naval service.

Norris Harries, seaman ; enlisted July 7, 1915. No prior naval service.

Francis Howard, seaman ; enlisted August 20, 1915. No prior naval service.

Eugene P. Reeady, seaman ; enlisted September 13, 1913. No prior naval

service.

Frank A. Smolski, coxswain ; enlisted September 18, 1913. No prior naval

service.

Mongolia, present trip. Lieut. Philip Seymour, United States Navy, in command.

Edward Bahm, seaman ; enlisted December 8, 1915. No prior naval service.

Louie Clarence Christensen, seaman, second class ; enlisted July 14, 1916. No

prior naval service.

Harold Seaman Dikeman, seaman ; enlisted June 14. 1915. No prior naval

service.

Andrew Fleming, seaman ; enlisted December 18, 1914. No prior naval

service.

James Gorman, gunner's mate, first class ; enlisted December 4, 1913. Prior

naval service, eight years.

Floyd Augustine Hefner, seaman ; enlisted February 18, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Carl Keehn, seaman ; enlisted March 31, 1916. No prior naval service.

Robert John Kelly, seaman, second class ; enlisted August 30, 1916. No prior

naval service.

Frank Lutinski, seaman ; enlisted March 1, 1916. No pror naval service.

James Paris, seaman, second class ; enlisted August 18, 1916. No prior naval

service.

Roy Edward Stilwell, coxswain ; enlisted November 4, 1914. No prior naval

service.

Ambrose Basil Choyce, coxswain ; enlisted April 22, 1914. No prior naval

service.

Henry Charles Coopey, seaman ; enlisted April 28, 1915. No prior naval

service.

August Henry Eichler, seaman ; enlisted March 10, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Andrew Joseph Galus, gunner's mate, second class ; enlisted September 2,

1913. No prior naval service.

Elmer W. Haglund, seaman ; enlisted July 12, 1916. No prior naval service.

James Thomas Hurst, coxswain ; enlisted April 5, 1915. No prior naval

service.

Oscar Larson, seaman, second class ; enlisted September 20, 1916. No prior

naval service.

Dan Victor Lindmark, seaman; enlisted March 14, 1916. No prior naval

service.

William Hicks Mclver, seaman, second class ; enlisted August 8, 1916. No

prior naval service.

Joseph Hamton Smith, seaman, second class ; enlisted June 30, 1916. No

prior naval service.

Walter Sam Young, seaman, second class ; enlisted August 9, 1916. No prior

naval service. ,

Senator Poindexter. Where was this ammunition kept, if it is

not disclosing any confidential information? If there is anything

you guard as not desirable to state publicly in answer to any ques

tion I ask, just say so. I do not want to bring out anything of that

kind. But I want to get an idea as to where the ammunition was

handled. Where was it kept before it was put on board the ships?

Admiral Earle. The method of handling is to take it by tug down

the Hudson River from Iona Island. Then it is put on board the

ships in rooms or compartments that have been prepared and laid

aside as magazines.
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Senator Poindexter. In what form is the ammunition of these

6-inch shells? I include in that word the fuse, the projectile, the

cartridge case, and everything as it is placed on the ship.

Admiral Earle. The shell is just as you see it here [exhibiting],

with the exception of a rope sling fitted to facilitate handling. That

rope sling goes over it in this manner [indicating]. It is a hemp

rope. The cartridge cases are put in wooden boxes.

Senator Poindexter. That cartridge case is separate at that time?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. There is no powder in it?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; the cup is on.

Senator Poindexter. It is on there before it is put on board the

ship?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; and the primer is in.

Senator Harding. Is there any difficulty in removing that cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; the way we did it was just to bore a

hole in here [indicating] and put in a corkscrew and pull it out.

Senator Poindexter. Are the fuses in the projectiles at the time

they are put on board the ship ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; the projectiles are loaded and fused.

Senator Poindexter. Have you discovered any defect in the fuses

in your investigation following the accidents?

Admiral Earle. No, sir ; the officer of the St. Louis reported in his

report that the shell did not burst, but on questioning him on his

return we found they all did burst. In other words, the fuse action

was perfect, and also the action of the tracer in the fuse, which

shows where the shell is going during the night.

Senator Poindexter. The shell action was premature when it

burst?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; that was either due to the fuse action

or to what I have explained, that the shell may have been jammed

and cracked and gases gotten by this place here [indicating].

Senator Frelinghuysen. Are the fuses all tested at the proving

/grounds ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you keep records of them ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you the records of these shells?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; all numbered and filed.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Can you give the committee the records

of these tests of these fuses for the 6-inch guns ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; but it will take some time.

Senator Frelinghuysen. On these guns—I mean the Navy De

partment records of the tests.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

(The matter referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full as follows:)

Memorandum re Mark IV medium caliber tracer fuses :

The 6-inch 40-45 reserve battery ammunition prepared at St. Juliens Creek

ammunition depot in the latter part of 1916 and issued to armed liners a few

months later, was fused with Mark IV medium caliber tracer fuses, manufac

tured by John B. Semple & Co., of Sewickley, Pa., during 1916. Fifty-two lots,

representing 156,000 of these fuses (3.000 per lot), were tested at Indian Head

during the year as follows :
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(a) Fifty-two fuses were given a drop test of 40 feet in a projectile on a

4-inch armor plate. There was one failure (lot 21). This failure was ascribed

to an extra sensitive primer cap ; the lot passed a successful retest and was

accepted.

(6) One hundred and twenty-three fuses were given a test for safety in

flight by firing in loaded projectiles down the range. All flighted safely, not

a single premature burst occurring. Three prematures were experienced in

the firing against plate, however, which are mentioned below :

(e) One hundred and eighty-eight fuses were fired at night to test the

night tracer element. The specifications require that 75 per cent shall burn

not less than 12 seconds, experience having shown that in the present stage of

the art of manufacture this is about as great a percentage as can normally be

obtained. Of the 188 fuses fired on this test 167 were O. K. and 21 were

failures or short on time. Only three lots (Nos. 45, 50, and 52) failed to

give the required 75 per cent on this test ; these lots were rejected and their

. tracer elements reloaded, after which they gave a perfect test.

(d) Three hundred and four fuses were fired in loaded projectiles against

plate to test their reliability of functioning and quickness and sensitiveness on

impact. Of these the action on 279 rounds was perfect, on 22 rounds the

fuse was somewhat slow or insensitive, while on 3 rounds prematures were

experienced outside the gun. The failures in sensitiveness and quickness were

for the most part unimportant, and in several cases these failures were waived.

Six lots giving a total of 9 failures were rejected and reloaded, and accepted

after passing a satisfactory retest. The 3 prematures were not accounted for

unless due to a fault in the assembly of the fuse or possibly in the quality

of the projectile used in the test ; the three lots in which these prematures

occurred (Nos. 13, 23, and 46) gave satisfactory test otherwise and were

finally accepted.

It should be noted that the 3 prematures experienced out of a total of 427

fuses fired in loaded projectiles all occurred outside the gun. This design of

fuse with minor improvements has been in use in the Navy 'for over 10 years

with remarkable freedom from accidents. The design is such that the plunger

can not arm until the projectile is outside the gun, and in the firing of

thousands of these fuses at Indianhead and by the fleet there has never

occurred a single instance of a premature in the gun which was chargeable

to the fuse so far as known.

Senator Poindexter. At the time the ammunition is put on board

the ship is the brass cup in place in the projectile ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; there is no brass cup on the projectile.

Senator Poindexter. I thought the brass cup fitted over the base

of the projectile.

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. It is in place on the cartridge case when it

is put on board the ship ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; that is in place, and a little bit of

shellac is put on it to further insure that it is tight.

The Acting Chairman. Can you tell us how those shells are tested

at the proving grounds when they are taken from the manufacturer,

and how the projectile is also tested? What is the Navy's method

of getting proper shells ?

Admiral Earle. When the shells are manufactured they are manu

factured according to specifications given by the Bureau of Ord

nance, specifications that are supposed to insure a good shell. In

spectors watch every operation at the factory.

The Acting Chairman. Who are those inspectors?

Admiral Earle. Those inspectors are civilians in charge of an

officer—a naval officer. They are called subinspectors of ordnance,

regularly employed, and nearly all of them have had a great deal

of experience in ordnance work.

Senator Poindexter. How are they appointed ?



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 55

Admiral Earle. All appointed after an examination.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. They are not officers?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; we have not enough officers to do that

work. There is an officer in charge. Sometimes an officer has four

or five places in a city under his control, but these subinspectors are

under his control and responsible to him.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Can you tell how that differs from the

method of inspection by foreign navies?

Admiral Earle. I do not know all their methods, but it is iden

tical as far as we have been able to learn. There is absolutely no

difference. We watch every bit of material that goes into the shell.

We watch every heat, watch the pouring of the metal, watch the

machining of the metal, and every process while it is under way;

and the inspector will select from a lot of shells, the worst shells—

if there are any such—for test. Those shells for testing are sent to

the proving ground.

The Acting Chairman. What proportion do you take?

Admiral Earle. About 3 from a lot of 200. Here are the various

specifications, together with the records of the shells furnished the

merchantmen :

Admiral Earle. About 3 from a lot of 200. I have here the

various specifications, together with the records of the shells fur

nished the merchantmen.

The Chairman. They will be printed.

(The matter referred to is here printed in full, as follows:)
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Senator Frelinghuysen. What is the pressure of the 6-inch min«

You say you test them under a pressure of 8 tons.

lat ^ EARLE' That She11 WaS teSt6d 8t 8 t0nS t0 go through a

Senator Frelinghcysen. Is not the pressure of the C-inch gun

Id tons* 6

Admiral Earle. 13.7 tons. These shells are fired all the way up to

22 tons. The most severe test of the shell, however, is to' fire it

through a plate at low velocity. In other words, that 8 tons repre

sents a low velocity, to put the maximum strain on the shell, as a test

of the metal. If you fire at high velocity it will go through the plate

too easily. r

Senator Frelinghuysen. That test is for the impact?

Admiral Earle. For the strength of the shell.

Senator Poindexter. What was the other ship on which premature

explosions occurred?

Admiral Earle. The St. Louis, first trip, 12; second trip, 2: St.

Paul, 1 ; and several on the Philadelphia.

Senator Penrose. Do all of these merchant vessels have more than

one gun on board?

Senator Harding. He read the number.

Senator Penrose. How many on each vessel? Does each vessel

have more than one gun?

Admiral Earle. The Mongolia, New York, Philadelphia, and St.

Paul have three 6-inch guns. When the ships came back from the

first trip abroad there was a little discussion among the officers as to

the proper caliber ; some officers wanted a smaller gun because they

could be loaded more quickly and fired faster. So we have changed

these batteries around to suit the various officers. Now, the St. Louis,

for instance, has only one 6-inch gun but has, in addition to that, four

4-inch guns.

Senator Penrose. If they had only one gun, and an explosion

occurred and the gun should be ruined, there would be no defense ?

Admiral Earle. There has never been a case where the gun was

ruined. We received a report to the effect that a gun had been

ruined, but I sent a cable giving directions how to test the gun when

the ship got in Liverpool, and the gun was found to be suitable for

firing and was fired on the return trip to the United States.

Senator Penrose. I understood your statement was that the gun

was ruined.

Admiral Earle. The rifling was cut and the gun damaged, but not

ruined.

Senator Harding. Have you had any experience suggesting the

relative effectiveness of different calibers ? I mean with reference to

defensive warfare against submarines?

Admiral Earle. What we are trying to get is a shell that is small

enough to be fired fast and, at the same time, is big enough to get into

the submarine.

Senator Harding. That you do not know?

Admiral Earle. A 3-inch shell will go into the submarine every

time except when it happens to hit on a certain part of the conning

tower that is armored.

The Acting Chairman. A great deal also depends on the distance,

does it not?
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Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; somewhat. Of course, some people say

you ought to use the biggest gun you have. We can keep using the

6-inch gun, the largest that can be handled by man power, but the rate

of fire is slower. You can only see the periscope a very short period

of time, and the more shots you can get at it the more chance you

have of hitting it.

Senator Harding. AVhat is the range of the 3-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. In the neighborhood of 12.000 yards.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Are you putting G-inch guns on battle

ships now ?

Admiral Earl?:. No, sir ; for this reason : The General Board of the

Navy decides on the characteristics and caliber of the batteries for

vessels. The 6-inch is a pretty heavy gun. We want to get a

certain amount of turret guns on the battleships. The 6-inch gun

is not only heavier, but the ammunition weighs more, and for these

reasons they have dropped down to the 5-inch gun. That is the

standard intermediate-battery battleship gun. Of course, battleships

up to and including the Georgia class have all 6-inch guns.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Really, the guns are obsolete, so far as

issuing them is concerned ?

Admiral Earle. Not obsolete.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Are you still using them and putting

them on new battleships?

Admiral Earle. Not putting them on new battleships. We are

using 5-inch guns on the new battleships.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In these 5-inch guns do you use fixed

ammunition—that is, where the shell is joined to the cartridge case?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; the 5-inch gun uses a shell with a car

tridge bag—no brass case.

Senator Poindexter. The 5-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. You are giving up the brass case on all

except the 4-inch gun

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; the 3-inch gun uses a brass case and the

4-inch and a certain type of 5-inch gun, which is an older type, and

the 6-inch gun. These are the only classes of guns which use them,

with the exception of the 6-pounder, 3-pounder, and 1-pounder.

Senator Poindexter. When were the guns manufactured which

were put on the Mongolia?

Admiral Earle. They were completed from October, 1898, to 1902.

The guns on the St. Louis were absolutely new.

The Acting Chairman. Have you a memorandum to give the dates

when these guns were made and by whom made ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I think that should go into the record.

Admiral Earle. Some were brand-new guns that had only been

fired at the proving grounds. The ones on the Mongolia were guns of

recent manufacture, the oldest one having been fired, I think, some

158 rounds.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You have the dates when these guns were

made, and the inspections?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir: I have not got them by ships, but it is

easy enough to give them to you.
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The Acting Chairman. Put that information in the record.

Senator Penrose. And by whom made.

(The matter referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full, as follows:)

MONGOLIA.

6"/40 gun No. 165, Mark IV, model 4. Hounds fired, 155. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished October, 1898. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Indiana November, 1898 : New York Navy Yard, January, 1904 ; U. S. S.

Baltimore, January, 1904 ; Norfolk Navy Yord ; U. S. S. Indiana, January,

1906; Philadelphia Navy Yard. October 15. 1908; Washington Navy Yard,

January 28, 1913; Second Reserve Battery, Norfolk Navy Yard, May 8, 1913;

New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917 ; Steamship Mongolia, April 3, 1917 ;

New York Navy Yard, May, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 173, Mark IV, model 11. Rounds fired 19. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished October, 1899. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Wisconsin February, 1901; Puget Sound Navy Yard. November, 1906; Wash

ington Navy Yard, May, 1907 ; Third Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard,

May 9, 1913 ; New York Navy Yard. February 15, 1917 ; Steamship Mongolia,

April 3, 1917 ; New York Navy Yard, May, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 263, Mark IV. model 4. Rounds fired 80. Manufactured at

Washington Navy yard. Finished 1902. Placed on board the U. S. S. Massa

chusetts, September, 1902 ; New York Navy Yard, April 1906 ; Washington Navy

Yard, February 27, 1913; Fourth Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard. May 9,

1913; New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917 ;' Steamship Mongolia, April 3,

1917.

6"/40 gun No. 158, Mark IV, model 4. Rounds fired, 154. Manufactured

at Washington Navy Yard. Finished September, 1898. Placed on board the

U. S. S. Massachusetts, October, 1898 ; New York Navy Yard, April, 1906 ; Puget

Sound, October, 1907; Washington Navy Yard. November 12, 1912; First Re

serve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard, May 8, 1913; New York Navy Yard, Feb

ruary 14, 1917 ; Steamship Mongolia, May 18, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 159, Mark IV, model 4. Rounds fired, 158. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished October, 1898. Placed on board the II. S. S.

Indiana November, 1898; New York Navy Yard, January, 1904; U. S. S.

Baltimore, January, 1904 ; Norfolk Navy Yard ; U. S. S. Indiana. January, 1906 ;

Philadelphia Navy Yard, October 15, 1908 ; Washington Navy Yard, January 28,

1913; First Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard. May 8, 1913; New York Navy

Yard, February 14, 1917; Steamship Mongolia, May 18, 1917.

ST. LOUIS.

6"/45 gun No. 517, Mark IX. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October, 1906. Washington Navy Yard, October, 1906 ;

Norfolk Navy Yard First Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915 ; New York Navy

Yard, February 14, 1917 ; Steamship St. Louis, March 15, 1917 ; New York Navy

Yard, April 15, 1917 ; Washington Navy Yard, April 22, 1917.

6"/45 gun No. 518, Mark IX. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October, 1906. Washington Navy Yard, October, 1906 ;

Norfolk Navy Yard First Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915; New York Navy

Yard, February 14, 1917 ; Steamship St. Louis, March 15, 1917 ; New York Navy

Yard, April 15, 1917 ; Washington Navy Yard, April 22, 1917.

6"/45 gun No. 519. Mark IX. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October. 1906. Washington Navy Yard, October, 1906 ;

Norfolk Navy Yard First Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915 ; New York Navy

Yard, February 14, 1917 ; Steamship St. Louis, March 15, 1917 ; New York Navy

Yard, April 15, 1917 ; Washington Navy Yard, April 22. 1917.

6"/45 gun No. 520. Mark IX. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October, 1906. Washington Navy Yard. October, 1906;

Norfolk Navy Yard First Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915; New York Navy

Yard, February 14, 1917 ; Steamship St. Louis, April 11, 1917 ; New York Navy

Yard, May 14, 1917.

6"/45 gun No. 522, Mark IX. Rounds fired, 18. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October, 1906. Washington Navy Yard, 1906 ; Norfolk

Navy Yard Second Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915 ; New York Navy Yard,

February 14, 1917 ; Steamship St. Louis, May 14, 1917.

X
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6"/40 gun No. 162, Mark IV, Model 4. Rounds fired, 155. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished October, 1898. Placed on board the Indiana

November, 1898 ; New York Yard. January, 1904 ; U. S. S. Baltimore, January,

1904 ; Norfolk Navy Yard ; U. S. S. Indiana, January, 1906 ; Philadelphia Navy

Yard, October, 1908; Washington Navy Yard. January 28, 1913; Second

Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard, May 8, 1913; New York Navy Yard,

February 15, 1917 ; steamship St. Paul, March 19, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 163, Mark IV, Model 4. Rounds iired, 131. Manufactured

at Washington Navy Yard. Finished September, 1898. Placed on board the

Massachusetts October, 1898; New York Navy Yard, April, 1906; Washington

Navy Yard, February 27, 1913 ; Second Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard,

May 8, 1913 ; New York Navy -Yard, February 15, 1917 ; steamship St. Paul,

March 19, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 164, Mark IV, Model 4. Rounds fired, 106. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished October, 1898. Placed on board the Indiana

November, 1898; New York Navy Yard, January, 1904; U. S. S. Baltimore,

January, 1904 ; Norfolk Navy Yard ; IT. S. S. Indiana, January, 1906 ; Phila

delphia Navy Yard. October 15, 1908 ; Washington Navy Yard, January 28,

1913; Second Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard, May 8, 1913; New York

Navy Yard, February 14, 1917 ; steamship St. Paul, March 19, 1917.

PHILADELPHIA.

6"/40 gun No. 149, Mark IV, Model 10. Rounds fired, 17. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished May, 1898. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Alabama August, 1900; League Island, November, 1904; Washington Navy

Yard, December, 1904 ; relined, July, 1909 ; Fourth Reserve Battery Norfolk

Navy Yard, May 9, 1913; New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917; steamship

Philadelphia, March 31, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 166, Mark IV, Model 9. Rounds fired, 262. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished May, 1899. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Alabama August, 1900; Boston Navy Yard, August, 1906; Washington Navy

Yard, September, 1906; Fourth Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard, May 9,

1913 ; New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917 ; steamship Philadelphia, March

31, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 191, Mark IV, Model 9. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished May, 1900. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Illinois, September, 1901 ; New York Navy Yard, August, 1906 ; Washington

Navy Yard, September, 1906; Fourth Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard,

September 19, 1913; New York Navy Yard, February, 1917; steamship Phila

delphia, March 31, 1917.

MANCHURIA.

6"/45 gun No. 521, Mark IX. Rounds fired. 5. Manufactured by the Bethle

hem Steel Co. Finished October, 1906. Washington Navy Yard, October,

1906 ; Norfolk Navy Yard, Second Reserve Battery, March 12, 1915 ; New York

Navy Yard, February 14, 1917 ; steamship Manchuria, March 15, 1917.

NEW YORK.

6"/40 gun No. 185, Mark IV, Model 9. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished April, 1900. Placed on board the U. S. S.

Illinois September, 1901; New York Navy Yard, September, 1906; Third

Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard, May 9, 1913; New York Navy Yard,

February 15, 97 ; steamship New York, March 9, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 157 L, Mark IV, Model 11. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured at

Washington Navy Yard. Finished September, 1898. Placed on board the

U. S. S. Oregon September, 1898 ; Puget Sound Navy Yard, April, 1906 ; Wash

ington Navy Yard, August, 1906; Third Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy Yard,

May 9, 1913 ; New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917 ; steamship New York,

March 19, 1917.

6"/40 gun No. 174 L, Mark IV, Model 11. Rounds fired, 5. Manufactured

at Washington Navy Yard. Finished October. 1899. Placed on board the

U. S. S. Wisconsin, February, 1901 ; Puget Sound Navy Yard, November, 1906 ;

-.
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Washington Navy Yard, May, 1907; Third Reserve Battery Norfolk Navy

Yard, May 9, 1913; New York Navy Yard, February 15, 1917; steamship New

York, March 19, 1917.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What was the age of the gun that was

fired on the Mongolia when the accident occurred ?

Admiral Earle. About that same date, a modern 6-inch gun. I

prefer to give the exact date rather than hit at it.

Senator Frelikghtjtsen. You have a record of that?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; I will put it in the record.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That gun had been on several battle

ships before?

Admiral Earle. That gun had not been used so very much. We

had not taken any guns off the battleships to send them to merchant

men.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I think, if I remember the record of the

gun, it had been on the Baltimore and one or two other vessels.

Admiral Earle. I do not remember that. I do not see how it

could have been.

The Acting Chairman. Have you a history of the gun that you

can put in the record ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; we have all of that information. Here

it is [reading] :

The gun fired on the Mongolia was 6"/40„ No. 263. It was completed 1902

by the Naval Gun Factory. It had fired but 80 rounds. It had previously been

mounted on the U. S. S. Massachusetts. At the time taken for use on the

Mongolia it was in the Fourth Reserve Battery.

The Acting Chairman. As to the ammunition which was put in

the gun, when was the ammunition put in the shell and in the car

tridge case?

Admiral Earle. It was all assembled between July, 1916. and

Senator Harding. Suppose we let the Admiral finish his state

ment. He started out by telling us about the testing of these shells,

when he was interrupted. He started to tell us how the shells were

tested. He said he took 3 out of 200, as I recall it.

Admiral Earle. Well, they were fired through a 4-inch nickle-

steel plate at low velocity. Then if the shell penetrated the plate

and was recovered without fracture sufficient to expose the cavity in

the shell the lot represented by that shell was accepted.

Senator Harding. That tested shell was not loaded, then, for ex

plosion ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; it was fired blind-loaded—nothing in it

but a little sand to bring it up to weight.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, those shells were

then put in the magazine?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. When the shells are placed in the maga

zine it is understood those shells have been tested and can be issued

by the department as perfect shells?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; they are put there and supposed to be

issued by the magazine when they are ordered to deliver shells to

the ships.

The Acting Chairman. Are any shells put in the magazine which

have not gone through this process of being tested ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. These shells which were put on board

the Mongolia, were they taken from the magazine?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know what magazine they were

taken from?

Admiral Earle. From St. Julien's Creek. They were sent to

Iona Island and then placed on board the ship.

Senator Penrose. Are these shells stored in the magazines loaded,

jind with the primers in, or are they stored empty and then assembled

when needed?

Admiral Earle. We prefer to keep them empty, unless we antici

pate a large demand in the near future and expect to have to hurry

up and load a lot. These particular shells that went out were loaded

only recently.

Secretary Daniels. When?

Admiral Earle. Between August and December, 1916. They had

the latest, most modern fuse, and the latest powder that we could

get.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, these shells had been

taken from a magazine where they had been shipped after they had

been inspected?

Admiral Earle. Oh, yes.

The Acting Chairman. And loaded between August and Decem

ber, 1916?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. And sent to Iona Island from St. Juliens

Creek, and put on the boats?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. What was the character of the powder,

and when was it made, and what was the nature of it, so far as the

efficiency of it was concerned?

Admiral Earle. I want to get that straight [reading] :

The powder that went in the cartridge cases on the St. Louis was known as

S. P. D. 885, manufactured at Indianhead Proving Ground, 1909, Commander

K. H. Jackson, inspector; originally manufactured for 6"/50, Mark VI; re

proved and reassigned to 6"/40, July, 1914; charge, 19 pounds; pressure, 14.3

tons ; primers, Mark XIII, new torpedo station ; manufacture, 1915.

Fuses, Mark VI ; medium caliber tracer fuses manufactured by Semple Co.,

1916 ; latest and best type ; Lieut. Commander Cresap, inspector.

Filler, black shell powder from either Hercules or Western Powder Manu

facturing Co. ; contracts of 1915.

The Acting Chairman. Do you mean that this powder was made

under the contract of 1915?

Admiral Earle. That was the black powder for the shell; yes,

sir. In other words, the ammunition issued to those liners was as

good ammunition as anybody could get.

The Acting Chairman. What is the life of powder, generally?

Admiral Earle. Well, powder, sir—you have got to qualify that.

There are so many different kinds of powder.

The Acting Chairman. Take the two classes that were used in

these 6-inch shells ; first, the black powder.

Admiral Earle. This black powder is supposed to be good for

ever; it is just as good now as it was in the Civil War.

Senator Penrose. Is that made by the Government, or do you get

it from private individual concerns?
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Admiral Earle. The Government does not manufacture any

black powder. We get it from individual concerns.

Senator Penrose. What kind of powder does the Government

make?

Admiral Earle. The smokeless powder.

The Acting Chairman. The powder that is in the cartridge that

drives the 6-inch shell, what is the usual life of that powder?

Admiral Earle. We have samples of actual powder indices that

were made in 1898 that are as good to-day as they were then, but

our tests indicate that the life is much longer. At present we have

in service no powders made prior to 1903.

The Acting Chairman. What test do you give powder to ascer

tain whether it is effective?

Admiral Earle. One test is a fortnightly test, another is a quar

terly test, and another is a semiannual test. These tests are of vary

ing severity, and they are made on every bit of powder that is in the

service.

The Acting Chairman. You are continually testing it?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Harding. You say you do not make any black powder?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Harding. I want you to say why you do not.

Admiral Earle. I think it is too dangerous. You see, black powder

goes off and nobody knows what happens. It blows up everybody

connected with it, and that is the end of it.

Senator Harding. The reason I asked that, Admiral, is that we had

quite a discussion in the Senate something like a year ago about the

Government manufacture of powder, and I am frankly interested,

and if it is a more hazardous undertaking, I think we ought to be

fair about it and manufacture that as well as the other.

Admiral Earle. Well, we use a very small quantity of it, and it

would not justify us to build a plant to do it.

The Acting Chairman. For what do you use black powder—for

what purposes?

Admiral Earle. We use it for bursting the shell.

The Acting Chairman. Is that the only purpose?

Admiral Earle. No; for saluting guns and ignition charges also.

Senator Penrose. Are you convinced, from your experiments fol

lowing these accidents, that the removal of the brass cup is an as

surance of safety in the future in handling these shells?

Admiral Earle. Mr. Senator, I am firmly convinced that we are

not going to have any more trouble at all with these shells, after re

moving the brass cup from the cases, but I only came to that conclu

sion day before yesterday, although I have been firing with such

ammunition ever since the St. Louis trouble.

The Acting Chairman. The quantity of black powder that is used

is small in comparison with other powders?

Admiral Earle. Oh, yes.

The Acting Chairman. You only use it for explosive purposes in

the shell?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; for saluting, for ignition charges, and for ex

ploding the shell.

The Acting Chairman. I understand, in reply to a question asked

by Senator Harding, that since you got the reports of the St. Louis
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premature explosions, you commenced experiments to ascertain what

was the cause of them, and until yon heard of the mouth cup in the

case of the Mongolia, you did not have any idea that it was that cup,

but you have now experimented with that, and from your experi

ments you have become satisfied that that has been the cause of the

trouble With the 6-inch guns ?

Admiral Earle. I see it that way, Mr. Senator, and I think all my

officers do.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any deterioration in the cartridge

on account of age?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any deterioration in the shell on

account of age ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. It does not deteriorate ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; it ought to be just as good for use now as

when it was manufactured. I mean we should use those shells manu

factured in 1896, and that they shouldbe just as good for use to-day

as they were when they were manufactured.

The Acting Chairman. That is, provided you have the same

charge of powder for which they were intended?

Admiral Earle. We did use the same charge of powder that the

shells were tested for. In other words, it would be unwarranted ex

travagance for us to condemn a shell that was made in 1896.

Senator Penrose. They take away what?

Admiral Earle. The powder from their ships after a lapse of

years and scrap it. That is a proposition that would be so extrava

gant that it is almost impossible to believe it.

Senator Smith of Maryland. Why do they do that ?

Admiral Earle. They are afraid of their powder; we are not

afraid of ours.

Senator Smith of Maryland. Is it a different powder?

jjjioi; Admiral Earle. Entirely different, sir.

Senator Smith of Maryland. Is it as good as ours?

Admiral Earle. I do not care to say that it is not.

Senator Smith of Maryland. They must have some reason for it.

Admiral Earle. The reason that they give for not having shifted

to our type of powder is this : That all of their guns were made for

their type of powder, and to shift to our type would require remodel

ing all of their guns : that is. the powder chamber, where the powder

explodes, would have to be remodeled in order for them to get the

ballistic results desired with our powder.

The Acting Chairman. What is the difference in the manufacture

of the two powders ? They use glycerine and nitrate it ?

Admiral Earle. Yes; glycerine nitrated.

The Acting Chairman. And you take cotton and nitrate it?

Admiral Earle. Yes; and then colloid it with alcohol and ether.

The French Government is very much interested in our powder,

and I believe they are going to use it, because it will not require such

a material change with them.

Senator Penrose. Their guns are adapted to it?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

: 10518&—17 5
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Senator Harding. You say you have a sealing process that will

be acceptable as a substitute for the brass mouth cup ?

Admiral Earle. I believe so.

Senator Harding. And which will be perfectly harmless?

Admiral Earle. Yes.
Senator Harding. So that you can conserve the supply •of con

tainers that you have?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Harding. Without any diminution of your resources?

Admiral Earle. Exactly. That is the way we feel.

Senator Page. Was this change brought about by the accidents on

the St. Louis and the Mongolia?

Admiral Earle. Yes; it never would have occurred to us other

wise.

Senator Page. You have a record of the gun that caused the acci

dent on the Mongolia?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Page. Has that gun been examined since the accident ?

Admiral Earle. Oh, yes.

Senator Page. Is it still in use on the Mongolia?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Page. And no defect was found in it that would have

caused it to be put out of service?

Admiral Earle. No, sir: nothing is the matter with it, except that

I would not use any more brass mouth cups.

Senator Page. Have you the record there?

Admiral Earle. The Secretary just read it a minute ago.

Secretary Daniels. I read it a few moments ago.

Admiral Earle. The gun was a 6-inch, 40 caliber, No. 263. Of

course our records show exactly when the gun was made, and where

it had been ever since.

The Acting Chairman. You keep a record of every gun, and of

the ammunition and shells that go into every gun ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And of every time it has been fired?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; and we can tell you where it has been fired.

Senator Penrose. What powder does the German Navy use? Is

that like the English, or more like ours ?

Admiral Earle. As I understand it, the German Navy uses a

powder similar to the English, but the German Army uses a powder

similar to ours. In Germany the navy uses one type of powder, and

the army uses another type.

Senator Penrose. What is the reason for that—using one kind of

powder in the navy and another kind in the army?

Admiral Earle. The only reason I can see for it is one against it.

Senator Penrose. Yes.

Admiral Earle. They can not explain it themselves. In talking

with the officers of different countries, they have no explanation to

make, except that they wish they were like our country, where we

use the same powder, and the English officers freely admit that they

would like to use our powder.

The Acting Chairman. The reason you gave was that their naval

guns had been constructed for the use of the other type of powder ?
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Admiral Earle. Yes; they would have to change the powder

chamber, in which the combustion takes place.

Senator Harding. I do not know that there is anything more

for us to get. You have gotten what caused it, and you have

gotten the cure for it. You stated that commissioned officers have

charge of the making of the ammunition, but that the inspection is

done by civilians. Do the navies of the foreign governments, in

their ordnance departments, have civilian inspectors for their am

munition ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Are you sure of that?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. Understand, Senator, the officer goes

around and checks up his inspectors, and sees that his measurements

and the different measuring instruments are accurate, checking them

up as often as possible.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. I think you stated that you had not suf

ficient officers in the Navy to make these inspections.

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Do you believe it would be better to

have officers make those inspections, rather than civilians?

Admiral Earle. I think the present method is very satisfactory,

Senator. I do not think we could spare naval officers for that sort

of duty.

Senator Smith of Maryland. That is divided, as I understand it,

between an officer and a civilian ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. He has men of whom he is perfectly

sure. They are civilians that are just as loyal to the Navy as any

naval officer is.

Senator Harding. You have developed these civilians in that line,

and they have specialized on that particular line of work ?

Admiral Earle. Absolutely.

Secretary Daniels. After passing a civil-service examination.

Senator Harding. You do appoint officers to inspect your armor

plate?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; but we have civilians inspecting armor plate

in the same manner.

The Acting Chairman. I understand that the civilians are simply

watching the processes of manufacture, to see that the proper ma

terials go in?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. And then when the test comes, to take 3

out of the 200, that that test is made by naval officers ?

Admiral Earle. Yes; the final ballistic test is made by naval

officers.

The Acting Chairman. By the best experts you have?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. But you could not have a naval officer at

every place where shells are manufactured to watch the entire pro

cedure?

Admiral Earle. We could not spare them.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I would like to have that telegram

read—the latter part of it.

The Acting Chairman. The committee may see this telegram.
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Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you any objection to reading it

into the record ? I want to ask the admiral a question.

The Acting Chairman. All except the latter part.

Senator Frelinghuysen. All right ; let the committee see it. Ad

miral, you stated that you believed that this ammunition was as

perfect as could be procured ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you believe with 11 premature ex

plosions, 4 of them in the gun, that that ammunition was perfect ?

Admiral Earle. Oh, no.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Then your setatement was incorrect, was

it not?

Admiral Earle. No; I said it was as perfect as we knew how to

make ammunition. That is what I meant to imply, Mr. Senator—

that it was not old ammunition and that it was ammunition which

we had every reason to believe was perfect, and I believe that we

have found the cause of the trouble.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, you think the powder

was as good as could be made?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; absolutely.

The Acting Chairman. And the shell was as good as could be

made?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the cartridge case?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. And you have inspected the gun, and you

think the gun was as good as could be made ?

Admiral Earle. Absolutely.

The Acting Chairman. And the trouble, you think, grew out of

the brass mouth cup, which produced the premature explosions, and

also killed these two nurses?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you believe that with the elimination '

of that mouth cup the 6-inch gun, with its shells and its cartridge

cases and ammunition, will function as well as any that could be

made?

Admiral Earle. I believe it is one of the best guns in the world

to-day of its size and power.

The Acting Chairman. Now, I wish you would put in the record

what are the batteries of the Oklahoma and the Pennsylvania.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The battery of the Pennsylvania is twelve 14-inch 45-caliber guns,

twenty-one 5-inch 51-caliber guns, and 3-inch anti-aircraft guns;

that of the Oklahoma is ten 14-inch 45-caliber guns, twenty-one

5-inch 51-caliber guns, and two 3-inch anti-aircraft guns.

Senator Penrose. Admiral, would it have been possible for any

ill-disposed person, on any of these ships where these explosions

have occurred, to have tampered with this ammunition in any way?

Admiral Earle. I believe absolutely not.

Senator Penrose. It was safeguarded in the magazine, and no

one could get at it?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Penrose. And when it was transferred from the magazine

to the gun, it was
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Admiral Earle. Under the charge of the Navy all the time.

Senator Poindexter. Was it under guard while being transported

on barges?

Admiral Earle. They were on Naval barges.

Senator Poindexter. From the arsenal to the ship?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Penrose. But supposing some ill-disposed person had

been on this thip, would he have had an opportunity to tamper with

this ammunition, under the conditions of its safeguarding ?

Admiral Earle. The lieutenant stated that he had a guard on the

ammunition at all times; and to tamper with ammunition in such a

way as to make it have that effect would be very dangerous, Mr.

Senator, and I doubt if anybody would dare to try it. The only way

that I see that he could tamper with it at all would be to take this

fuse and unscrew it a little bit, and I would not dare to do that, un

less I was behind a piece of armor plate, the way we do it in the

magazines.

Senator Penrose. No one could get into the magazines ?

Admiral Earle. No ; they are kept locked and guarded all the time.

The Acting Chairman. The requirements of the Navy are such

that you are bound to accumulate ammunition?

Admiral Earle. We must; yes.

The Acting Chairman. After it is manufactured, it is inspected,

and 3 out of 200 are taken, and then it is put in a magazine, and then

it is inspected at frequent intervals, as you have stated?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. It is subjected to four tests a year, until it

is all disposed of?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. And these tests will develop whether it has

deteriorated in any respect?

Admiral Earle. Whether it has deteriorated in the slightest de

gree. The very best knowledge of chemical science is applied in

these tests.

The Acting Chairman. The powder is thoroughly tested and put

in a magazine, and as long as it is used at all it is tested four times

a year?

Admiral Earle. No, sir ; I said more than that. I said every fort

night. There is one inspection every day, but that is visual.

Senator Penrose. I move that the committee adjourn. Mr. Chair

man.

The Acting Chairman. To what time?

Senator Penrose. Are we not through?

Senator Poindexter. Have you made arrangements to have any

witnesses of these accidents testify at the hearings?

Admiral Earle. Those are all at sea, but their certified testimony

is here.

Secretary Daniels. Before you came in, Senator, we put in the

record the testimony of the board of investigation, and also the

medical board.

Senator Poindexter. I mean the officers and crews that were in

charge of the guns at the time of the accident.

Secretary Daniels. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. They are at sea. you say?
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Admiral Eable. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. Would it be convenient to have them or any

of them present later at the hearing?

Secretary Daniels. When they return, of course, if you desire.

Senator Smith of Maryland. Have you not their testimony ?

Secretary Daniels. Ali of their sworn testimony is in this record.

The Acting Chairman. The Senator can read that testimony and

see whether it is sufficiently full. The inquiry was ordered as soon

as this boat came in.

Secretary Daniels. The next morning.

The Acting Chairman. And their sworn testimony was taken

down by Admiral Usher.

Senator Poindexter. Here is a telegram, signed " MacDougall,"

addressed to the Office of Naval Intelligence, and marked " secret,"

but I understand it has been agreed by the committee that it be put

in the record, and it says :

Received, Washington, D. O., 11.16 p. m., March 27, 1917. The St. Louis flred

45 shells at a target; 4 shells exploded 100 yards from the gun and 9 shells

exploded inside the guns. Not any of the shells exploded when they hit the

target. The rifling of all guns is damaged ; many are scored 3 by 5 by J of

an inch or more deep. Guns may be safe for good shell, but not accurate. In

my opinion it is wrong to expect the ship to defend herself successfully. No

submarines repulsed.

The latter part of the telegram I will not read. Is that approved

by the department—that statement, Admiral Earle?

Admiral Earle. No, sir ; that statement was disapproved most de

cidedly. He says they were not safe. We found they were safe—

the guns. We found that every shell exploded when it hit the target,

by questioning Lieut. Knauss. We have a record of the fuses in those

shells of close to 100 per cent, which is a better record than we have

gotten from any other fuse in the Navy.

The Acting Chairman. That was from the naval attache at Lon

don, who was not on the boat?

Admiral Earle. He was not on the boat at all.

The Acting Chairman. And it was simply a statement he got?

Admiral Earle. Simply a statement by Lieut. Knauss.

The Acting Chairman. You have filed here a report of the officer

who was in charge of the guns on the St. Louis?

Admiral Earle. Yes; we have it somewhere.

The Acting Chairman. That has been filed in the record?

Secretary Daniels. If it has not. it will be.

The Acting Chairman. The officer made his report, as I under

stand, when he got to London ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. In substance, while there seem to be con

flicting statements, I understand that the admiral has just stated to

the contrary—that in his opinion the ammunition was not good, and

he has shown that he believed it not good by abandoning the brass

cup. That is a mere matter of argument, though. I am not saying

that in order to attach blame to anybody, but in order to get the

facts.

The Acting Chairman. As I understood the admiral, he said it

was all right, except the mouth cup, and that if that is eliminated the

gun will be all right.
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Senator Poindexter. Of course, it was all right except that it

killed two nurses. It is like these surgical operations that are so

good, but they kill the patient.

Senator Penrose. The patient dies of a weak constitution.

Senator Poindexter. Yes. I do not say this intending to criti

cize anybody or in a hostile spirit, and I do not object to the state

ment that everything was done that could have been done, but I just

want to call your attention to the fact that the circumstances in the

case do not bear out the conclusion that everything was all right.

Senator Phelan. "Was it the cup that caused those accidents?

Admiral Earle. We attribute it to that. We may be wrong still,

Senator, but, as I say, I believe we are right.

The Acting Chairman. Those sixteen experiments that you made

indicated that the trouble was with the mouth cup ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. In the 6-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. When the gun crew returns, and before the

conclusion of the inquiry, I would like to have them called, and also

the president of the International Steamship Co.

The Acting Chairman. Who is the President? Mr. Franklin?

Senator Poindexter. Yes, Mr. Franklin; and also the president

of the company that owns the Mongolia.

The Acting Chairman. Give me the names of them and I will

telegraph them to come here next week.

Senator Poindexter. I think it was put in the record, but there

seems to be some uncertainty about the date of the manufacture of

the gun on the Mongolia.

Admiral Earle. I want to get that exact.

Senator Poindexter. You will furnish that?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. It was stated in the testimony of the Secre

tary that there was some injury to the lining of that gun, caused by

the firing at the time the two nurses were killed. What was the in

jury and the cause of that injury to the lining of the gun?

Secretary Daniels. I think the injury was very slight.

Admiral Earle. Just a scratch in the bore.

Secretary Daniels. It did not amount to anything.

Admiral Earle. A spot 1 inch by half an inch on the upper side, 1

foot from the powder chamber, was cut out on the rifling; in other

words, just a scratch. What I mean to say, Senator, when I say

this ammunition is good—one minute—and say that I consider

it not as good as it ought to be, is that when it was put on board the

St. Louis we had every reason to believe it was of the very best in the

world; in other words, there is no old ammunition put on the armed

liners, and no old guns, despite the fact that we were suddenly called

upon to supply the liners; they gave us no time to do it; in fact, they

did not notify us ahead of time, or anything of that kind, but simply

wanted us to rush them on. In fact, Mr. Franklin wanted us to put

(i-inch-30 guns on board and trust to luck that they were good, but

we would not do that.

Senator Poindexter. I am not criticizing. I think the Navy,

under the circumstances and with the handicaps, did remarkably

well in the speed with which they armed the ships.
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Admiral Earle. Even without the handicap, I think we did abso

lutely correctly in every respect, and I am willing to stand on it that

the ammunition is the best known, and it is the type used in foreign

navies.

Senator Poindexter. If it is the best, why are you abandoning

part of it?

Admiral Earle. Because we learn things from day to day. This

accident has developed something that we are quite glad to learn.

In other words, it has proved of great value to the Bureau of

Ordnance.

Senator Harding. It is very apparent, from the hearing, that there

was never an opportunity before to have spectators about the firing

who might be reached by this extraordinary action of the cap, as

we had never had these on merchant vessels before, and previously

the gunners had been behind shields that are erected to protect them

from the enemy; so this extraordinary accident has developed

something, and I am very much interested to hear the admiral say

they have proven that to be the weakness in the ammunition.

Senator Poindexter. I agree with you, entirely.

Senator Penrose. Are 6-inch guns used on the battleships now?

Admiral Earle. On all the battleships, up to and including the

Georgia class.

Senator Penrose. You are gradually giving them up ?

Admiral Earle. The new battleships have not the 6-inch guns; but

that is for an entirely different reason; not from the fact that the

gun is not good.

Senator Phelan. The ordinary test ought to show the danger of

premature explosions, without respect to the danger to spectators

or the men behind shields:

Senator Poindexter. The ordinary tests are not made under the same

conditions or with the same material that is used in firing guns on

ships.

Admiral Earle. We used everything the same at first, you see,

when the first report came from the St. Louis. We supposed it was

due to the shell, so we went to work and tested out everything we

could think of in regard to the shell.

Senator Harding. It will clear it up for Senator Phelan, who was

not present, if it is explained that the brass cup is only used at sea,

in order to keep the powder dry. When they make their tests at the

testing grounds they use another sort of cup.

Senator Phelan. Oh.

The Acting Chairman. The proving ground at Indianhead is

not a very large expanse of land, and these copper mouth cups would

go so far over that they had to abandon them to prevent hitting

anything.

Senator Phelan. Then it was an improper test. To test a thing

under one condition and to use it under another is an improper test.

The Acting Chairman. This ammunition was manufactured for

battleships, and they have never had any trouble with it on a battle

ship in all the time they have used these 6-inch guns, but when they

put them on a merchant ship, the conditions changed to some extent,

and they did not have the slightest idea that that copper mouth cup

would be a boomerang.
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Senator Phelan. But they never used the copper or brass mouth

cup when they were testing the thing ?

Senator Harding. No.

Senator Phelan. And now they have discovered, for the first time,

that the copper mouth cup is an important item in the value of a

gun?

Admiral Earle. This accident suggested that, and we have since

made these tests.

Senator Phelan. But not until the St. Louis accident did they

know of any premature explosions of this ammunition at sea?

Admiral Earle. That was the first record we had, Mr. Senator.

Senator Penrose. It would not look as if these 6-inch guns had

been fired a great deal until this year.

Admiral Earle. They have been fired in target practice.

Senator Penrose. But not with the cup on ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. You say what you call " service practice "

is when the black powder is put in the shell ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. That is. the shell explodes?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. There is a rumor that two American de

stroyers have been lost recently in British waters through defective

ammunition.

Secretary Daniels. None has been lost at all.

Senator Poindexter. I am glad to know that.

Admiral Earle. I had not heard that.

Secretary Daniels. Some of my good brother editors lose one about

every day, or three or four, and sometimes the whole fleet.

Senator Poindexter. I am sure you are glad of the opportunity to

make that statement—I mean, that statement that none has been lost.

Secretary Daniels. No; none has been lost.

The Acting Chairman. These crews have directions to practice

every day?

Admiral Earle. Not every day, but to practice before they get

over there.

The Acting Chairman. And out of the 200 ships that you have

armed, these two and the other two where there were some premature

explosions are the only complaints you have had ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. The only adverse reports ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Now, what have been the reports with

reference to the other 196 ?

Admiral Earle. I will just read from one officer, who had some

thing interesting to say [reading] :

As to the guns themselves, they functioned perfectly at practice, and the

French officers who saw them marveled at their date of manufacture—1913—

saying that their ships were then being armed with a slightly remodeled gun of

the vintage of 1878 ; this for the simple reason that there were no other guns to

be had.

A day or two after this Mongolia accident happened I was called

up by a gentleman from New York, whom I do not know at all, stat

ing that he had just returned from France on a French liner, and that
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exactly the same accident had happened on board that ship, except

that the brass mouth cup had not killed anybody.

Senator Poindexter. The French use a brass mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What is the difference between this brass

mouth cup that was used on the Mongolia, of which a fragment is

here, and the one that is exhibited in evidence?

Admiral Earle. So far as we know, there is absolutely no differ

ence. They are all made at the Washington Navy Yard—made out

of brass.

Senator Poindexter. There seems to be a little button on the piece

from the Mongolia that does not appear on the other one.

Admiral Earle. I think I can explain that. You see, the recess in

the fuse, Senator?

Senator Poindexter. Yes.

Admiral Earle. Well, this is what happened : You see, when the

powder pressure pushes that thing up it tears right on through.

Senator Poindexter. It was blow* in?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; blown right in from the pressure of the gas.

Senator Poindexter. Was the cup as deep as this one?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; the skirt has come off. This cap looks as

if only a part of it came off. This part [indicating] apparently did

not come out at all. At least, it did not come back. It went in the

water.

Senator Penrose. What occurs to me is that at Indianhead they

are afraid to fire this cap, because it hits houses and everything.

Secretary Daniels. Yes; but' that is in front of the gun.

Senator Penrose. But it is also a principle of the motion of the

missile, that it comes back occasionally like a boomerang.

Senator Harding. I should think they would not fire those, as a

matter of economy. There is no need of it.

Senator Penrose. But it was stated that one reason was that they

hit object in front of the guns.

Admiral Earle. That was one reason, and economy was another

reason. I was there, stationed at the Proving Ground in 1901, and

we had so many near accidents, from a quarter of a mile to 100 yards

or 50 feet aw'ay from the gun, that we decided to abandon their use

at Indianhead, feeling that they had no connection with the powder

charge, the pressure, the range, or anything else.

Senator Phelan. But what did you substitute?

Admiral Earle. We just loaded them ; put in a wad and a wooden

cap.

Senator Poindexter. Senator Frelinghuysen inquired whether or

not you used this ammunition in action on your naval vessels.

Admiral Earle. We are just shifting from a brass mouth cup to

others—wood or cork now.

Senator Poindexter. But prior to that you did use them ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. How many years has it been in use?

Admiral Earle. Twenty years that I know of.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever hear of another accident

from the use of them prior to this on battleships?

Admiral Earle. Prior to these accidents on the Mongolia and

the St. Louis, I had never heard of an accident; but two or three days
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later I was told that one officer remembered that a piece of mouth

cup had come back on the Wisconsin and hit a man and cut him, and

another officer stated that he had heard of a case where a piece of a

mouth cup had cut an oar off in a boat that was to one side—cut it in

two, just like a knife. Those are the only two instances that I have

heard of, and I have heard of them since the Mongolia accident.

Senator Poindexter. There is no official record of them in the

Navy?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; I have looked them up, but did not find

any.

Senator Poindexter. Did the shell which was fired from the Mon

golia when the accident occurred strike the target?

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir; it struck near it.

Senator Poindexter. Did it explode at the proper time?

Admiral Earle. The officer in command said he did not know.

It is very hard to tell whether these shells explode or not. They are

loaded with black powder, which explodes with a whitish smoke,

which is very much like the spray thrown up by the shell hitting

the water.

Senator Poindexter. Would it explode by striking the water

and not hitting the target?

Admiral Earle. It should; usually, but not always.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any further questions?

Senator Penrose. I move that the committee adjourn.

The Acting Chairman. If there are no further questions the com

mittee will stand adjourned now until another meeting. I will call

another meeting when we can get other witnesses to testify.

(Whereupon, at 12.30 o'clock p. m., the committee adjourned sub

ject to the call of the chairman.)
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MONDAY, JUNE 11, 1917.

United States Senate,

Committee on Naval Affairs,

Washington, D. C.

The committee met pursuant to call at 10 orclock a. m., in the com

mittee room, Capitol, Senator Claude A. Swanson, presiding.

Present: Senators Swanson (acting chairman), Phelan, Broussard,

Trammel, Harding, Page, Poindexter, and Hale.

Also present. Senator Freylinghuysen.

The Acting Chairman. If there is no objection, I think the com

mittee will proceed to examine witnesses, and the Senators not pres

ent can read the printed testimony.

We have here this morning the experts from the proving ground,

and the inspectors, the Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, Capt.

Straus, and Capt. Twining, and while this investigation is going on

it is impossible to have any tests made for receiving ammunition

at the proving ground, on account of the officers being away and in

attendance on this hearing. These inspectors are receiving muni

tions every day, and I hope the members of the committee will stay

with me, if necessary, all night, in order to get through with this

matter and release these officers for duty.

Senator Poindexter. If we have a little more order in the hear

ing—call a witness and allow him to complete his statement, and

wait until he has finished before cross-examination—I think we will

economize in time.

The Acting Chairman. T recognize that is a good suggestion; but

you know how hard it is to control Senators, both on the floor and

in committee.

Senator Page. We have a meeting in the Committee on Agriculture,

which is a very important meeting, and I am urged to be there.

The Acting Chairman. If there is no objection, those who are

interested in this investigation will remain here and allow these

officers to testify. It is of the utmost importance that they be allowed

to return to their duties.

Senator Page. I agree with you, Mr. Chairman.

The. Acting Chairman. I wish to have read a letter which 1

received from Senator Frelinghuysen. addressed to me as acting

chairman of the committee, which. I suspect, he desires the com

mittee to know the contents of, and. without objection. I will include

that letter in the hearings.

Senator Frelinghitysen. You are going to follow the line of

inquiry suggested therein ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

77
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Senator Frelinghuysen. Then I do not think there is any need

of reading it, unless you wish to.

The Acting Chairman. Very well; that will be included in the

hearing without reading. Here is a letter I have written to the Navy

Department, which was written as soon as I received the letter from

Senator Frelinghuysen, which, also, I should like to have included.

I should like to include in the hearings also a letter which I wrote

to Senator Frelinghuysen, on May 30, 1917, asking him to furnish me

the names of witnesses, etc., and also a letter, of June 6, which I

addressed to Senator Frelinghuysen, in reply to a letter received by

me on that date, complaining of his inability to get the testimony at

the last hearing, in which I told him where the testimony was to be

obtained, and that it would be submitted to him just as soon as the

Secretary of the Navy and Admiral Earle had examined it to dis

cover whether the stenographer had reported them correctly.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I note that the report of Lieut. Knauss

is not included in the testimony.

The Acting Chairman. Everything he has reported to the depart

ment will be included. I have also here a letter, of June 8, from

Senator Frelinghuysen. suggesting the names of witnesses he would

like to have summoned; and I should like to say that I have tele

graphed Mr. John Kirby, Hotel McAlpin, New York City, and the

manager of Semple & Co., manufacturers of fuses, requesting them

to be here at 10 o'clock Wednesday morning and give testimony.

Senator Poindexter. Who is that ?

The Acting Chairman. Mr. John Kirby, Hotel McAlpin, New

York City. It is included in the letter.

(The letters referred to are here printed in full as follows:)

United States Senate,

Washington, D. C, June 8, 1917.

Hon. Claude A. Swanson,

Acting Chairman Committee on Naval Affairs,

Washington, D. C.

My Dear Senator : On May 28, 1917, the Senate passed a resolution submitted

by me to the following effect :

" Resolved, That the Naval Affairs Committee of the Senate be directed to

make a careful and searching inquiry into the causes of the accidents on ship

board, due to defective ammunition or otherwise, with a view to preventing

similar occurrences hereafter."

You very courteously advised me, May 30, 1917, that the Committee on Naval

Affairs would meet Saturday, June 2, to inaugurate said investigation. In

your letter you asked me, inter alia, to suggest the names of any witnesses I

might " desire summoned before the committee to testify or give such infor

mation as they may possess."

I replied June 1, 1917 :

" I have no statement to make further than I made in my remarks on the

Senate floor.

" I feel the Senate Committee on Naval Affairs will make a searching inquiry

into the accident of the Mongolia and of the bursting of the shells on the St.

Louis.

" My object of the inquiry has been not to cast any aspersions on any

officials or any department. If the Navy has defective shells or has any de

fective ammunition, we should ascertain why they had it and how they can

best get rid of it."

You will observe that I was not willing to put myself in the position of a

prosecutor or inquisitor.

Subsequently, however, in conversation with you, I suggested the calling of

the officers and gun crews of the Mongolia and the St. Louis, and others, as
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witnesses. You replied that the summoning of these men was not practicable,

no appropriation having been made to defray the expenses incident to the taking

.of such evidence.

Your committee met on the 2d instant and heard the Secretary of the Navy

and Admiral Earle. Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance. Besides their testimony,

which was practically a repetition of certain public statements and official re

ports previously made by them, there was little testimony adduced other than

copies of statements made and testimony previously given by officers in charge

of the gun crews who manned the St. Louis and the Mongolia.

Since the adjournment of the inquiry, I have repeatedly endeavored, without

success, to procure a copy of the testimony taken last Saturday. Several

times since then a messenger from my office has called upon the clerk of the

Committee on Naval Affairs for said testimony, but he only succeeded in elicit

ing the information that the same had been submitted to the Secretary of the

Navy and to Admiral Earle for correction and approval. I have just received

your letter of the 6th instant advising that I shall have access to the testimony

as soon as returned by the Navy Department.

However, having been present during the taking of the testimony, I recall

its import, and do not hesitate to say that thus far it does not strike me that

the " careful and searching inquiry into the causes of the recent accidents on

shipboard," specified in my resolution, is being made.

So far as concerns the absence of the necessary funds to call outside wit

nesses, I beg to suggest that this can easily be remedied by the presentation in

the Senate of a resolution authorizing such expenditure, which, naturally, will

be very slight and all together insignificant when compared with the value of

the information sought to be obtained in its bearing upon future accidents in

volving possible loss of life and other disasters.

The testimony thus far produced does not determine how the accident to the

guns of the St. Louis and the Mongolia occurred. Furthermore, there are dis

crepancies which should be explained.

Of 45 shells fired on the first voyage of the St. Louis, in target practice, 12,

being defective, exploded prematurely. This was over 25 per cent.

Admiral Earle.s report sets forth that 89 of these same shells removed from

the St. Louis, were subsequently fired at the proving ground and that only two

of them proved to be defective—2 per cent, in other words. Is there any

explainable reason for this striking difference?

There was one striking discrepancy in the testimony presented, which should

be cleared up. I think. Admiral Earle says :

" On the return of the St. Louis from her first trip, about April 9, 1917, all,

such shells were removed."

On the other hand he says :

" Later on. one of the shells exploded prematurely, as well as one of the same

caliber on both the Mongolia and the St. Louis.

On this point N. W. Pickering. United States Navy, reported, May 20, 1917, to

Admiral Earle:

" Replacement guns were installed on the St. Louis. During her second trip

gun No. 520, history similar to that above outlined for Nos. 517, 518, and 519,

was similarly damaged and removed from the St. Louis on May 14, 1917."

From this it would appear that "all such shells" of the class which proved

defective were not removed from the St. Louis, as Admiral Earle reported, at

the conclusion of the first voyage, but some were allowed to remain on board,

one of them damaging gun No. 520 on her second voyage.

I beg to call your attention to another discrepancy in the case of the accident

on the Mongolia May 20. 1917. whereby two Red Cross nurses lost their lives.

In this case the rebound of the brass cup is said to have caused the two

deaths in question and not any defect in the shell itself. On this point the

Secretary of the Navy said, in his statement to the press May 22, 1917 :

" On the third shot the brass-mouth cup struck the water peculiarly, hoom-

eranged directly back to the ship, struck the stanchion near where the nurses

were sitting, and broke."

But the testimony of Lieut. Seymour, in command of the gun crew on the

Mongolia, was of a different character. He said under oath :

" The brass cup broke into fragments when the gun was fired, and it was

curried outside the gun. apparently maintaining a rotary motion which had

been given it by the rifling of the gun. This centrifugal force which had been

imparted to the fragments was sufficient to carry them out at right- angles a

distance of about 175 feet."
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The Secretary's statement indicated that the brass cup rebounded from the

waves, struck the stanchion of the vessel, ami broke there, killing the two

nurses. Lieut. Seymour, an eyewitness of the occurrence, said the fragments

came from the mouth of the gun. resulting, presumably, from an explosion of

some sort within the piece. If such were not the case, how was the gun

" slightly scarred inside the bore." as Lieut. Seymour testified?

I merely cite these discrepancies to show that the investigation has been too

general in character and consequently too inconclusive. Should they not be

cleared up and more precise information secured explaining the causes of these

accidents?

But entirely aside from these particular accidents, I strongly urge that the

committee take such steps, through the calling of competent witnesses, as will

show that the ammunition provided for our guns, both on naval and merchant-

marine ships, is not equally defective with that which caused the accidents

referred to. At least, I think a proper attempt should be made to satisfy the

very natural and very earnest anxiety of the general public on this point.

It is not sufficient for the Secretary of the Navy, or the Chief of the Bureau

of Ordnance, to assert their belief that the ammunition is all right. The country

should be assured that adequate precaution has been taken in the past, and

is now being taken, to carefully scrutinize and test shells, fuses, powder, etc.

We are aware that certain foreign nations who have ordered ammunition in

this country have expert inspectors here to pass judgment upon the articles

manufactured for them. It is reasonably certain that more or less material is

rejected.

How thorough is the inspection of'similar supplies manufactured by and for

the United States Government? To what extent are shells, fuses, etc., rejected?

I think the country would like to have some assurance on these important

points. The accidents on the St. Louis. Mongolia, and other ships have naturally

made them rather dubious. I think this element of distrust should be elimi

nated from the public mind, if possible.

To this end, therefore, I suggest that those in charge of the proving ground,

as well as the inspectors there stationed during the past two years at least, be

called to testify before your committee concerning the methods pursued by

them, the proportion of defective material found, etc. Furthermore, I have

no doubt the files of the Navy Department contain reports from those in charge

of the proving ground, as well as letters to contractors, showing the quantity

of defective ammunition, etc. I flunk it especially advisable that such letters

written in December, 1915, and January and later months of 1916, be produced.

Possibly they may show numerous defective fuses, which, it seems to me, may

be the cause of many more " prematures " than thin shells.

It 1ms been asserted that inspections at the proving ground are made by

civilians. Is this the practice of foreign nations? Or, in other countries, are

experts assigned to such important work? For instance, the representatives

now in America of these governments, passing judgment upon munitions manu

factured here, are they not army and navy officers, possessing technical knowl

edge and wide experience?

In the selection of civilian inspectors by our Navy Department, are they

appointed as a result of political influence, or, following civil-service examina

tion? If the latter, what steps are taken to determine the peculiar fitness of

applicants for this important work? These are facts which should be clearly-

brought out, I think.

I would also urge that a list be secured of companies contracting for the

supply of ammunition for the Navy during the past few years. Is the Raleigh

Iron Works, Raleigh, N. C. among these? Did the latter furnish any shells

which were rejected by the inspectors, and were any such rejected shells after

wards accepted by the Navy Department? I hope detailed inquiry will be made

by your commitee upon this point.

When were contracts entered into with Semple & Co. for the manufacture

of fuses? Were the requisitions or specifications, after July, 1915, of such a

character that only Semple & Uo. could supply the material asked for? To

what extent did the fuses supplied by them prove ineffective when tested on

the proving ground? Who. representing the Government, supervised and

scrutinized the work of production by Semple & Co.? Was there any period

when the work done by the latter firm was not under supervision by expert

Government inspectors?

I would suggest that your committee obtain specific information upon these

points, such as copies of requisitions before and after July, 1915 ; names of
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Government inspectors on duty at the Semple works, with dates ; reports of

said inspection, as well as officials at the proving ground, who tested the Semple

fuses, etc., and reports of defective and rejected material delivered by that

establishment.

The above, I think, would be more informative and convincing than general

statements made by the Secretary of the Navy or the Chief of the Bureau of

Ordnance.

While dictating the above, the case of the Philadelphia has been brought

to my attention. Upon this ship, I am informed, 60 per cent of the shells

fired proved to be " prematures." If this is a fact—and I do not claim to

have any definite knowledge on the subject—it is a disconcerting one, con

cerning which the country should have the fullest details, and I trust your

committee will demand the same.

Though the accident on the Mongolia is more pathetic, by reason of the loss

of life involved, the case of the Philadelphia is the most ominous of any

brought to my attention. It is not pleasant to contemplate the fate of the ship,

her passengers and crew, had she encountered an enemy submarine with such

inadequate equipment for defending herself.

I trust your committee may deem it the part of wisdom to so broaden the

scope of your inquiry as to assure the public, beyond the shadow of doubt, that

our Navy is entering the great struggle for civilization now in progress in

Europe without the appalling handicap of defective ammunition.

It was largely with a view to bringing about a pacification of the public

mind on this point that I introduced my resolution in the original instance,

and now renew my request that you make your inquiry " careful and search

ing," with a view to preventing future and greater disasters on American

ships.

Believing, as set forth in my remarks in the Senate, that the fullest measure

of publicity is desirable in such matters—where no jeopardizing of the Na

tion's interests are involved—and, in justice to myself as the author of the

resolution in question, I shall reserve the right to have a copy of this letter

inserted in the Congressional Record for the information of the public.

J. S. Frelinghuysen.

P. S.—Since dictating the above, the copy of the testimony taken by your

committee last Saturday, June 2, has come to hand. Please accept my thanks-

for your courtesy in the premises.

J. S. F.

June 9, 1917.

My Dear Mr. Secretary : I inclose you herewith a copy of a letter I received

from Senator Frelinghuysen, which I ask you to read, and to please- furnish

the Naval Committee all the information desired by him in this communica

tion. I hope you will have a thorough search made in the department to get

all the data, letters, and correspondence that he is particularly desirous of

seeing. You note in his letter that he did not think the inquiry made at the

last investigation was sufficiently searching, although he was present and was

given every opportunity to ask any questions he might desire.

I desire that you and Admiral Earle appear before the committee on next

Monday morning at 10 o'clock so that Senator Frelinghuysen may be given

every opportunity to ask any questions and learn from you and Admiral Earle-

such information as he may desire. I hope you will also have there Monday

the officers which I have previously requested you to have present at this

occasion, to be examined by the Committee on Naval Affairs. I am.

Yours, very truly,

Claiije A. Swanson.

Hon. Josephus Daniels,

Secretary of the Navy.

May 30, 1917.

Hon. Joseph Sherman Frelinghuysen. *

United States Senate.

My Dear Senator: The Committee on Naval Affairs of the Senate, to which'

was referred Senate resolution 71. Introduced by you, will meet on Saturday

morning, June 2, at 10 a. m., for the purpose of commencing this investigation.

The committee will be glad to receive suggestions from you regarding this

investigation and to receive any information you may possess in. connection with.

105186—17 6
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the matter therein directed to be investigated and to have the names of any

witnesses you may desire summoned before the committee to testify or give

such information as they may possess. You can furnish me or the clerk of the

committee the names of such witnesses or parties as you may desire summoned,

and they will be promptly procured. The committee will also be glad to hear

any statement you may desire to make with regard to the matter.

Very truly, yours,

Claude A. Swanson,

Acting Chairman Committee on Naval Affairs of the Senate.

June 6, 1917.

Hon. J. S. Frelinghuysen,

United States Senate.

My Dear Senator : I am just in receipt of your letter of tills date, which

I have noted.

The testimony before the Committee on Naval Affairs was submitted at in

direction to Secretary Daniels and Admiral Earie for them to read and see if

the stenographer had correctly reported their testimony. I requested the

clerk to tell them to do this at once and return the testimony to the Naval

Committee. As soon as it is returned it will be furnished to you and such

other Senators as desire to look it over before it is printed.

Very truly, yours,

Clai'de A. Swanson.

(Personal.)

Uniteo States Senate,

Washington, D. C, June S, 1911.

My Dear Senator : In addition to the witnesses which you were requested

to call in accordance with the letter I have sent you, I beg to suggest the

names of Mr. John Kirby, care of Hotel McAlpin, New York City, or care of

Mr. Lincoln, managing editor New York World, New York ; the manager of

Semple & Co., manufacturers of fuses which were used on the Mongolia and

St. Louis, or some one directly in charge of the manufacture of these fuses

and who knows about the specifications of the Government and the transaction

with Semple & Co. ; also officers and gun crew of the Mongolia, St. Louis, and

I'hiladelphia.

Very truly, yours,

J. S. Frelinghuysen,

United States Senate.

Hon. Claude A. Swanson,

Acting Chairman Naval Affairs Committee, United States Senate.

The Acting Chairman. Senator Frelinghuysen said the examina

tion the other day was not sufficiently searching. I have requested

Secretary Daniels and Admiral Earle to appear here and answer

any questions suggested by Senator Frelinghuysen, and to come pre

pared to give him any information he may desire, or any information

desired by any member of the committee, and as Secretary Daniels

wishes to leave in a few minutes, if the committee desires to ask him

any additional questions, it is suggested that he be asked them now.

Senator Poindexter. There are one or two questions I should like

to ask the Secretary or Admiral Earle.

The Acting Chairman. Secretary Daniels will be glad to furnish

any information he has.

STATEMENT OF HON. JOSEPHUS DANIELS, THE SECRETARY OF

THE NAVY—Resumed.

Senator Poindexter. Senator Frelinghuysen has made some mem

oranda and handed them to me. He says that the Department of

State, in a Washington dispatch, dated June 6, 191,7, announced an

-\
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encounter between an American armed ship, the Silver Shell and a

(rerman submarine; that after a fight said to have lasted an hour

and a half, in which time the submarine fired 35 shots and the steam

ship 25, the submarine turned end up and then disappeared.

Secretary Daniels. We have no report on that.

Senator Poindexter. I have not finished the question, and I should

be very much obliged if you would listen to it. It states here, " It

is remarkable that the steamship should have survived these 35

shots." I would like to have any suggestion or comment from you

as to why it was that this ship, the Silver Shell, armed by the Navy,

with Navy guns and ammunition, had to be engaged in a fight for

an hour and a half and fire 25 shots before it hit the target, which

in this case was a submarine.

Secretary Daniels. We have had no official report of that at all.

Until that comes in I can not, of course, give an answer. As soon

as that report from the officer in charge is received I shall furnish

it to the committee.

Senator Poindexter. You do not know whether these facts are as

reported in the press ?

Secretary Daniels. No; I do not. We will have a full report

from the officer.

Senator Poindexter. What is your opinion as to that sort of tar

get practice; do you think a ship would survive very often if it

took an hour and a half before it made a hit? .

Secretary Daniels. That is not the kind of target practice we

have in the Navy, and I shall be very much surprised if that is the

case. I can not discuss a report of that kind, presuming it is true,

until we have the report from the officer in charge.

Senator Phelan. Is it safe to presume

Secretary Daniels. Admiral Earle suggests that the submarine

was shooting all the time, and it must have been exceedingly poor

target practice on its part. We generally find the first reports that

come in of these encounters very much exaggerated, and therefore

we have issued orders to the commanders to send in reports as soon

as possible.

Senator Poindexter. I understood that you did have a report.

That report, I understand, is taken from the newspapers, and nobody

appreciates any more than I do the necessity of better information

than that, but the newspapers reported that—it seems to me it con

tained statements given out from the department about recognition

of the services of this officer.

Secretary Daniels. I would not, of course, act upon the incident

until I received the official report.

The Acting Chairman. How many shots were fired, according to

that report, from the submarine?

Senator Poindexter. This is not a newspaper report—I thought

possibly it was based on newspaper information—but is a State

Department report.

The Acting Chairman. How many shots were fired by the sub

marine ?

Senator Poindexter. According to this memorandum, which pur

ports to emanate from the Department of State, under date of

June 6, the submarine fired 35 shots and the Silver Shell fired 25.

The Acting Chairman. Twenty-five ?
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Senator Poindexter. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Twenty-five shots from the Silver Shell

made a hit and 35 from the submarine did not.

Senator Poindexter. No ; it does not say that 25 shots made a hit.

The Acting Chairman. It made a hit out of the 25, and the

submarine did not out of 35.

Senator Poindexter. It looks like a marvelous escape of the ship,

inasmuch as it had to withstand 35 shots from the submarine. It

certainly would impress anyone as ineffective work on the part of

the submarine and the ship.

Secretary Daniels. If you will read the report of the Jutland

battle, you will find that a very low percentage of hits were made

by either side in firing thousands of rounds. They made very few

hits, although firing at dreadnaughts and battle cruisers, not at

submarines. But I would like to reserve comment about the gun

nery until I get the official report.

Senator Poindexter. Do you think it would be all right, if that

is true ?

The Acting Chairman. If that is true it shows the American gun

nery was superior.

Admiral Earle. It shows that the American guns and gunners are

about as good as any.

The Acting Chairman. Is that one hit out of 25 shots considered

good ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; remarkable in the case of a target of

that kind and with the rough sea running at the time. It shows

perfectly remarkable skill on the part of the gunners.

Senator Broussard. What was the target—what was the size?

Admiral Earle. Apparently 6 by 4 feet.

Senator Poindexter. What is that that is 6 by 4 feet ?

Admiral Earle. The conning tower of the submarine, which is ap

parently all they saw.

Senator Poindexter. Of course you do not know that, do you ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. A submarine is 150 feet long, is it not?

The Acting Chairman. In a great battle, if 1 shot out of 25 made

a hit, the fleet that averaged that percentage of hits would be very

apt to destroy the other fleet in a battle ?

Admiral Earle. That is a very good percentage.

• Senator Poindexter. I admit I do not know very much about that.

I am surprised to know that.

Senator Phelan. You give the judgment to the merchant ship in

this case ?

Senator Poindexter. Apparently they won the fight, but I would

not like to take very many chances of winning a fight under those

circumstances, where I had to submit myself to 35 shots from a sub

marine before I hit the submarine.

Here is another report, which I think is a newspaper report, in a

fight between a German submarine and the armed ship Virginian; in

which 42 shots were fired—have you the official report on that?

Secretary Daniels. No.

Admiral Earle. That is the first time I have heard anything

about that.

N
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Secretary Daniels. As soon as these reports come in I shall fur

nish them.

Senator Beoussard. What are the opportunities for the State De

partment to get this sort of information as compared with your own

department ?

Secretary Daniels. Most of this information is sent through the

State Department code.

Senator Broussard. They are merely rumors which have been

gathered ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; frequently. Our consuls abroad, of

course, notify the State Department at once of any such news received.

Complete later reports very often differ in important details from

the first news ferwarded.

Senator Broussard. They send the best information they can get

from some one on the ship?

Secretary Daniels. Yes ; and it may be entirely accurate, but until

I get the official report from the officer on the ship I do not feel I

have sufficient authentic information to comment on it.

Senator Broussard. I was merely curious to know the methods by

which they secured this information.

Secretary Daniels. They probably get it from someone on the ship

who gave it to a consul.

Senator Broussard. They are liable to be exaggerated in their in

formation ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; it is possible.

Senator Phelan. Your report will show the reason for the firing

of such a large number of shots, whether due to bad marksmanship

or not ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes. When we get the report we will know

whether the gun functioned well, and whether the ammunition was

good or poor.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I do not want to keep the Secretary any

longer. I think that the object of this inquiry is there are two ques

tions which should be cleared up to the satisfaction of the committee.

The first is—the resolution provided for an inquiry along those

lines—to investigate the cause of the killing of the two nurses on the

Mongolia, and that, I think, as far as the Navy Department is con

cerned, has practically been cleared up, unless the Secretary and the

admiral have any further information on the subject. I think they

are as desirous of ascertaining the real reason for it as we are, but it

still seems to be somewhat of a matter of conjecture exactly how it

happened. But I think it has been proven that the then method of

capping shells is unwise by reason of the fact that it has been aban

doned. The other question is the question of the condition of the

shells now used by the Navy, whether they are defective or not, and

whether there are any more defective shells, and why they are de

fective. Now, along that line, with reference to the St. Louis, there

is a report concerning the St. Louis that of 14 shells, 9 shells exploded

inside the gun and 3 or 4 outside of the gun. I think the question

that I want to ask—and I think the committee ought to ask—is

whether a report of that character, showing defective shells does not

cause the Secretary to believe that there is a serious defect in this

class of ammunition?
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Secretary Daniels. I should like to say, Senator, that I do not,

and as to the details and particulars of the ammunition we have, how

it is produced, and how it is inspected, I should like to have Admiral

Earle and Capt. Strauss, Capt. Twining, and these other officers who

can go into this subject more fully and more technically than I can,

give their statements.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I am not a prosecuting officer.

Secretary Daniels. My opinion is that we have the best ammuni

tion of any Navy in the world, and while nothing is perfect, the ex

perts charged with this work have produced as good ammunition, as

good shells, as good torpedoes, and, in the main, better materials than

any Navy in the world has to-day; and as to the technicalities, I am

frank to say I am not an expert, and that I rely upon the experts of

the department for guidance in such matters.

Senator Frelinghuysen. AVell, do you believe, Mr. Secretary, that

the premature explosions on these various vessels are due to the fuse,

or is that a technical question?

Secretary Daniels. That is a technical question. As I said in my

hearings the other day, I do not account for it. These gentlemen have

been studying it ever since the accident occured. They have been

making experiments at Indianhead, and are doing everything they

can to ascertain the cause.

Senator Phelan. I understand from the testimony at the last

meeting that the age of the powder does not affect the effectiveness of

the shell.

Secretary Daniels. The powder had been put into these shells just

a few months before they were fired.

Senator Phelan. It Was stated there was some powder 18 months

old which was used, and I think the testimony was that it did not

affect its effectiveness.

Admiral Earle. The oldest powder we have is an index made in

1903—an 8-inch powder—which is perfectly good to-day. That is

the oldest we have.

r Senator Phelan. That is 14 years old?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; and it is perfectly good to-day.

The Acting Chairman. Criticism was made to the committee,

both by Senator Frelinghuysen and Senator Poindexter, that the

examination was entirely too desultory, and that we should com

plete one witness's testimony, at a time, before proceeding with an

other and if there is no objection we will finish with Secretary

Daniels. .
Senator Frelinghuysen. I have no other questions to ask.

The Acting Chairman. I sent you a copy of this letter of Sena

tor Frelinghuysen, and asked you to furnish all the data therein re

quested, and be prepared to furnish all the information that he asks

in this letter.

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Now, on page 5, Senator Frelinghuysen

savs [reading] :

I think it especially advisable that such letters written in December, 1915,

and Sarv ami later months of 1916. he produced. Possibly they may show

numerous defective fuses, which, it seems to me, may he the cause of many

more "prematures" than thin shells.

Have you got that correspondence?
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Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. If you are going into that testimony, I

think it bears on that also, and I think that all ought to be taken up,

all at one time.

The Acting Chairman. Refers to what?

Senator Frelinghuysen. These letters.

The Acting Chairman. We will take that up when we finish with

this.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That relates to this, does it not. Mr.

Secretary ?

Secretary Daniels. You asked certain questions which show that

you have heard something.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I do not think I am called upon to state

what

The Acting Chairman. Can the Senator give the names of the

parties who gave him this information?

Senator Frelinghuysen. I will give it to the committee.

The Acting Chairman. We will receive that in executive session.

Have you those letters?

Secretary Daniels. Admiral Earle and the officers of the Ord

nance Bureau here have all the letters referred to in Senator Fre-

linghuysen's letter. We will put into the hearings such as the com

mittee, in its executive session, think ought to be inserted! I leave

that entirely with the committee.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I understand they will be taken up in

executive session.

The Acting Chairman. Yes. Please read all letters of January,

1915, and other months.

Admiral Earle. It is a large bunch of letters.

The Acting Chairman. AVell, the committee will look them over.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I think the Admiral ought to explain

them.

The Acting Chairman. Is there anything in them that would be

of any aid or assistance to the enemy, if known to the public ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; I think we are very proud of what is in

those letters.

The Acting Chairman (reading) :

It has been asserted that Inspections at fhc proving ground are made by

civilians. Is this the practice of foreign nations? Or. in other countries, are

experts assigned to such important work? For instance, the representatives

now in America of these governments, passing judgment upon munitions manu

factured here, are they not army and navy officers, possessing technical knowl

edge and wide experience?

Secretary Daniels. Navy officers are in charge of all inspections.

There are civilian subinspectors, appointed through the civil service,

who are under the officers charged with the work of inspection. We

have not nearly enough officers to do all the inspection work, but all

civilians work under the direction of an officer, who is in charge.

The Acting Chairman. How short was the Navy of officers before

you had this increase from 54,000 to 150,000?

Secretary Daniels. Approximately 2,000.

The Acting Chairman. Have you the civil-service rules under

which these appointments are made?

Secretary Daniels. All appointments are made under the civil-

service rules; no appointment is made otherwise.

x
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The Acting Chairman. It was stated at the last hearing this was

done, but I requested Admiral Earle to get the civil-service rules and

examinations under which it was done.

Secretary Daniels. All appointments are under the civil-service

rules ; no other appointment is made in the Navy except in the case of

enlisted men. Admiral Earle will explain the foreign practice.

The Acting Chairman (reading) :

In the selection of civilian inspectors by our Navy Department, are they

appointed as a result of political influence or following civil-service examina

tion?

Secretary Daniels. All are appointed through the civil service.

When the candidates are certified to the Navy Department by the

Civil Service Commission the Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance has

entire control of the selection of eligibles, and never has political

influence been invoked or followed or given in connection with any of

these appointments.

The Acting Chairman. Have you ever sought, in the inspection

of munition plants, to use any political influence through these ap

pointments?

Senator Frelinghtjtsen. Is that part of my inquiry ?

The Acting Chairman. No.

Senator FRELiNGHirrsEN. Will you so state?

Secretary Daniels. Never.

The Acting Chairman (reading) :

What steps are taken to determine the peculiar fitness of applicants for this

important work? These are facts which should be clearly brought out, I think.

Secretary Daniels. They have to show their fitness by an exami

nation.

The Acting Chairman. Is the examination thorough, to test their

fitness?

Secretary Daniels. The examination is such as has been prescribed

by the Bureau of Ordnance and the Civil Service Commission, and

the examination requires experience as well as knowledge.

The Acting Chairman. There is another question in this letter

that I would like for you to answer. I will read it from the letter :

I would also urge that a list be secured of companies contracting for the sup

ply of ammunition for the Navy during the past few years.

Have you got that list?

Secretary Daniels. Commander Hqlmes has that list, and will

file it.

(The list referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full, as follows:)

Companies making projectiles for the Navy since 1910:

Midvale Steel Co., Crucible Steel Co.. Washington Steel & Ordnance Co.,

Bethlehem Steel Co., American & British Manufacturing Co., E. W. Bliss Co.,

Ingersoll-Rand Co., Ilarrisburg Pipe & Pipe Bending Co., American Car &

Foundry Co., Providence Engineering Works, Cleveland Crane and Engineering

Co., Bridgeport Projectile Co., Edward Valve & Manufacturing Co., Linderman

Steel & Machine Co.. Poole Engineering & Machine Works, Worthington Pump

& Machinery Corporation, Piatt Iron Works Co., American Clay Machinery Co.,

Tredegar Co., Birmingham Machine & Foundry Co., Mobile Stove & Pulley

Co., Raleigh Iron Works Co., Union Tool Co.. Hadfield's (Ltd.), Hardie-Tynes

Co., Westinghouse Electric Manufacturing Co., and Scovill Manufacturing Co.
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The Acting Chairman. Reading again from the questions con

tained in this letter—

Is the Raleigh Iron Works, Raleigh, N. C, among these? Dirt the latter

furnish any shells which wore rejected by the inspectors, and were any such

rejected shells afterwards accepted by the Navy Department? I hope detailed

inquiry will be made by your committee upon this point.

Senator Page. You are reading from the letter from Senator

Frelinghuysen to you?

The Acting Chairman. To me, as acting chairman.

Secretary Daniels. No ammunition has been furnished by the

Raleigh Iron Works. Two years or more ago we advertised for bids

for shells for target practice, and when the bids came in the Raleigh

Iron Works was the lowest bidder by many thousands—very much

lower than any other bidder. I talked with the president of that

company and said to him, " Of course, as you are the lowest bidder,

your are entitled to the contract, because, prima facie, any man who

\s the lowest bidder and can furnish the goods always gets the con

tract in the Navy Department." He afterwards brought to Wash

ington the manufacturer of the materials and machines that are

required for making the target shells. This gentleman assured me

that he had purchased and put into the plant the identical ma

chinery that other manufacturers had installed and that he could

make the shells as well as anybody else could make them. Being

the lowest bidder, the Raleigh Iron Works was awarded the contract.

We had an inspector at Raleigh who tested the output.

The Acting Chairman. Is that inspector here to-day ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes, sir. Lieut. Connor, who was the in

spector, is here to-day. As to the details and all the facts about

that I should be glad if you would examine Commander Holmes

and Lieut. Connor.

The Acting Chairman. Did you try to use any influence, as Sec

retary of the Navy, to have this contract awarded directly or indi

rectly to this Raleigh concern ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is not implied in my letter. I hope

you will note that exception.

Secretary Daniels. It is the only case during my incumbency in

which I have sent for the lowest bidder and made certain that he had

the right kind of machinery before we awarded the contract. Of

course. I used no influence at all. I did not know he was going to

bid until he reached Washington to submit his proposition.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. May I ask a question, Mr. Chairman?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What shells did the Raleigh Iron Works

make?

Secretary Daniels. Commander Holmes, what shells did the

Raleigh Iron Works make?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Will he gh7e the information?

Secretary Dand:ls. Yes. I do not know what they were, except

that they were target-practice shells.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Are they different from the other shells?

Secretary Daniels. Yes. They are a much cheaper shell. I should

rather have Admiral Earle, Admiral Strauss, and Admiral Twining

explain the difference between the target shells and the shells used in

battle.
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Senator Page. They are made much more inexpensive to save the

Government money ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Those are used to test the accuracy of the

gunners in shooting, in target practice?

Secretary Daniels. That is the purpose of them. They carry no

bursting charge.

The Acting Chairman. " Was there any period when the work"—

[reading from the letter] " was there any period when the work done

by the latter firm was not under supervision by expert Government

inspectors " ?

Secretary Daniels. By the Raleigh Iron Works?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Secretary Daniels. Never to my knowledge. We have had an in

spector there all the time. »

The Acting Chairman. Reading from the letter—.

I would suggest that your committee obtain specific information upon these

points, such as copies of requisitions before and after July, 1915: names of

Government inspectors on duty nt the Semple Works, with dates; reports of

said inspection as well as officials at the proving ground who tested the Semple

fuses, etc. ; and reports of defective and rejected material delivered by that

establishment.

Have you that?

Secretary Daniels. Admiral Earle and his assistants here have all

the information regarding that. They will testify regarding it, as

they are more familiar with the details than I.

The Acting Chairman (reading) :

While dictating the above, the case of the Philadelphia has been brought to

my attention. Upon this ship, I am informed, 60 per cent of the shells fired

proved to be " premature." If this is a fact—and I do not claim to have any

definite knowledge on the subject—it is a disconcerting one, concerning which

the country should have the fullest details, and I trust your committee will

demand the same.

Have you those reports?

Secretary Daniels. Yes; Admiral Earle will furnish them.

The Acting Chairman (continuing reading) :

I trust your committee—

may deem it the part of wisdom to so broaden the scope of your inquiry as to

assure the public, beyond the shadow of doubt, that our Navy is entering the

great struggle for civilization now in progress in Europe, without the appalling

handicap of defective ammunition.

Secretary Daniels. As I said before, I believe we have the best

ammunition, or ammunition as good as that of any other navy in the

world, and I am certain that the officers and the inspectors charged

with the inspection of these ordnance supplies have never failed in

any particular in the performance of their duties. I do not recall

that any such failure has been brought to my attention in the past

four years.

The Acting Chairman. Who has charge of the ammunition in the

Navy Department, its purchase, testing, and its preservation?

Secretary Daniels. The Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance and the

officers under him.

The Acting Chairman. To whom are the reports made—mate

rial, proofs, defective material, if any is found; when it is put in
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the magazines as being proper for use—to whom are these reports

made?

Secretary Daniels. To the Bureau of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. Who has been Chief of the Bureau of

Ordnance since you have been Secretary of the Navy?

Secretary Daniels. Capt. Twining, who is here this morning

and who is now in command of an important division of the fleet,

was chief of the bureau when I was appointed and continued to be

until he urged me that he should go to sea. I regretfully changed

his assignment to that duty. Then I appointed Admiral Strauss.

When I appoint an officer Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance—and I

have appointed two—it has been my policy to designate the ablest

man for that duty in the Navy, the man who is the most expert on

ordnance, and when Admiral Twining went to sea I discussed with

Admiral Fletcher, recently commander in chief of the fleet and an

acknowledged authority on ordnance, and with a dozen other offi

cers the question of who was the ablest ordnance officer in the Navy.

Without exception—in fact, only two or three men were suggested

for consideration—they said Admiral Strauss was the fittest man

for the place. I appointed him and he demonstrated his great ability

and usefulness. He was chief for three years. He is here this morn

ing, and I hope you gentlemen will hear him and Capt. Twining.

The Acting Chairman. When he was Chief of Ordnance, to what

extent did you leave these matters pertaining to munitions, fuses,

shells, etc., to his judgment?

Secretary Daniels. As to the character of the fuses or shells I

always followed the recommendations of the Bureau of Ordnance.

We discussed always very fully prices in connection with the con

tracts for making shells. We always discussed them before awards

were made, and we were, I think, very diligent in trying to get fair

prices; but when it came to the character of the shell or fuse to be

selected, I always approved the recommendations of the Bureau of

Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. What has been the complaint to you in

reference to your specifications being too rigid or too loose in re

quirements regarding shells?

Secretary Daniels. Some of the manufacturers have been insistent

that our specifications were too high—made it unduly difficult to com

ply with them. That has been charged with reference to shells

particularly; but the heads of the bureau have always held that we

were entitled to the best; that their specifications always could be,

and ought to be, carried out. I have always sustained them.

The Acting Chairman. Now, the reports in connection with de

fective shells and correspondence asked for by Senator Freling-

huysen have been compiled and obtained from the department and

are here?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Freylinghuysen. May I suggest that the Naval Affairs

Committee is making this investigation, and I simply suggested that

you call for this information so that you might make the report.

It was a suggestion to the chairman of the committee. I do not want

the responsibility placed on my shoulders of conducting this investi

gation, and I submitted it to you in order that, in your wisdom,

you might decide to ask for it or not. I am perfectly willing to go
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on and do my share of the inquiry. I only wanted to know the facts.

But I hope, and I am very much gratified, that these things are

cleared up.

The Acting Chairman. I wish to say, in this connection, that I

have no desire to put the Senator in the attitude of prosecuting this

inquiry, but I am determined that this investigation shall be thorough

and searching, and I have asked him, by letters and interviews, to

furnish all the information he has received, and that we should be

glad to receive any suggestions from him, as I want everybody to

be satisfied at the beginning of this war that the munitions furnished

the Navy are either good or defective. If the munitions are de

fective they ought to be remedied, and I want any member of the

committee who knows of any witness or has any information—I in

vite them to furnish the names of the witnesses or give the informa

tion they have, and I shall be glad to have the witnesses summoned,

and this hearing continued until this investigation has been most

thoroughly completed.

To continue, Mr. Secretary, after Admiral Strauss's time expired,

under the rule of the department which requires an officer to go to

sea after three years or four years

Secretary Daniels. There is not any positive rule, but under the

new law an officer is not promoted to the grade of rear admiral unless

he has had a sufficient amount of sea service. It becomes necessary,

therefore, for the officer to go to sea if he is to have a fair oppor

tunity to advance to the higher grades, which he ought to have. I

urged Capt. Strauss to stay in the department longer than he felt

he should stay

The Acting Chairman. After his time ceased as Chief of the

Bureau of Ordnance, whom did you then select?

Secretary Daniels. I appointed Admiral Earle.

The Acting Chairman. What was the circumstance pertaining to

his appointment and the reasons that induced you to appoint him ?

Secretary Daniels. While Admiral Strauss was in the bureau he

had recommended Admiral Earle for appointment as inspector of

ordnance in charge of the proving ground at Indianhead. a very

important post. His recommendation was approved. Admiral

Earle had given all his life ashore to ordnance work. He had been

inspector of ordnance at Indianhead and elsewhere before; he had

been head of the ordnance department at Annapolis; he had been

inspector of powder, and was regarded in the service as one of our

ablest ordnance experts. He was appointed chief of bureau for that

reason, just as Admiral Twining and Admiral Strauss had been

appointed before him.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any other question any other

member of the committee wants to ask the Secretary ?

Senator Broijssard. I should like to ask a question to clear up one

phase of this matter. I do not want to interfere with any arrange

ment you have, Mr. Chairman, but I want to refer back to the con

tract with the Baleigh Iron Works for furnishing ammunition for

target practice. Did that ammunition consist of the complete shell?

Secretary Daniels. Just the shell.

Senator Broussard. Mr. Secretary, you mentioned the fact you

sent for the party to find out if the machinery had been set into his
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plant before the contract was awarded. Was that machinery in

place or was it merely contracted for ?

Secretary Daniels. It was not. I knew, living in the city of

Raleigh, that this company had not made any shells for the Govern

ment, and because the plant was located in my home town I was

particularly anxious not to make any contract with any firm there

that could not carry it out perfectly. The young man who owns

the factory enjoys a high standing in his community, and I sent for

him, and said, " You are the lowest bidder for these shells ; very

much the lowest bidder ; have you the machinery to make the shells ?

Are you certain you can do it well? " He answered that if he had

not the machinery and was not in a position to make them he would

not have submitted the bid. He brought down the gentleman from

whom he purchased his machinery, and his machinery, as I under

stand from Admiral Strauss, was of the same character used by the

other manufacturers.

Admiral Strauss. Yes; he brought a representative of the manu

facturing company which was manufacturing a large amount of

machinery for other firms to prove that he could furnish the shells.

Secretary Daniels. They told me he could make the shells in San

Francisco, Raleigh, or anywhere else as well as the Bethlehem Co.

Senator Brotjssard. The machinery was not in the plant, but con

tracted for?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

There is a statement in Senator Frelinghuysen's letter about the

Semple fuses. I wish to state in this connection that we believe we

have the best fuses of any navy in the world. I trust that you will

ask Admiral Twining and Admiral Strauss and Admiral Earle why

we use these particular fuses. I have heard that manufacturers of

other fuses have busied themselves with making gossip about the

fuses we have in the Navy, and I think it is of paramount impor

tance that the country should know we have really the best fuses it

is practicable to obtain.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you refer, in mentioning gossip, to

the letters that I sent to you, or do I understand the committee desires

to discuss that in executive session, Mr. Chairman ?

Secretary Daniels. Well, I think they are worse than gossip. I

think they are treasonable.

Senator FREHNGiiursEN. To what do you refer when you refer to

gossip in connection with the fuses?

Secretary Daniels. Several people who thought they could make

fuses——

Senator Frelinghuysen. You do not believe that these letters are-

gossip ?

Secretary Daniels. No. Those letters are from a spy or from a

traitor or some party in communication with one.

Senator Frelinghuysen. May I ask to have the Secretary read

the letter? [Handing letter to the clerk of the committee.]

The Acting Chairman (reading) :

June 9, 1917. .

Dear Mr. Secretary : I herewith inclose copies of three letters which I have-

received from a person in another city who desires his name withheld.

Inasmuch as the person makes certain charges and claims to give certain

information of grave moment I feel in all fairness that you should fie informed.
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I have neither instigated nor inspired these letters. I do not know the person

who has written them. However, I feel that the correspondence he mentioned

should be produced. I did not attach any importance to the letters until the

last one was received, when I thought it well to bring all three to your

attention.

Yours, very truly.

J. S. Fkklinghuysen, U. S. S.

The Hon. Josephus Daniels,

Secretary of the Navy, Navy Department.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I desire to say that I felt that the Secre

tary should see those letters and that we should act on his advice,

and he suggests that the committee consider the letters, and I will

say that whatever the committee determines with respect to the

letters I am perfectly willing

The Acting Chairman. Do I understand the man withholds his

name?

Senator Frelinghuysen. The man does not withhold his name.

The Acting Chairman. Does the man desire to have his name

withheld ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. He asks that the name be withheld, but

I do not care to protect him if the committee wants the name.

Secretary Daniels. As the Senator introduced these letters, and

as I will not be in the executive session, I desire to say, as Secretary

•of the Navy, that I earnestly hope the committee will compel the man

who wrote the letters to come before it. This thing of a man writing

anonymous letters making charges against responsible officials, that

they have neglected their duty, and conveying the impression that

our Ordnance Department for years has been inefficient and incom

petent—I think that if he has not signed his own name that a

detective ought to be put upon his tracks and he ought to be found

out and compelled to come before this committee and disclose all

he knows. I say this for this reason: Evidently the man who wrote

that letter is either an employee in the Navy Department at Indian

Head or at some place in the Navy or some spy is employed in the

Navy who is furnishing that confidential information, for which he

ought to be put in the penitentiary. I shall insist, gentlemen, that

this man be summoned if he can be located; that he be put under

oath; that his testimony be brought forward and he be confronted

with the officers of this department. I think it is a great outrage

for a man to write letters reflecting upon the very basic defenses of

our Nation and ask that his name be withheld—and Senator Fre

linghuysen, of course, knew nothing of the man at all—the maji is

himself a spy or he has gotten information from a dishonorable

person, who, if he is now in the Navy Department, must be put out

and punished under the laws.

That, of course, does not affect at all the facts about these shells.

We intend to have the best shells there are, even if a spy can show

us they ought to be improved; but for a man to hide behind an

anonymous name or request that his name be not disclosed when he

makes such charges, and shows by his letters that he has access to

confidential files of the Navy Department, raises a very serious ques

tion. We do not know who is about us. We have been very careful

to retain no one in the Navy about whom we had any suspicion. I

did not think there was a man in the Navy Department who, know

ing anything that could be improved, would not come to Admiral
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Earle or myself and tell us about it. That is the spirit of the

Navy. Ninety-nine men out of a hundred, if they think a thing may

be improved, will come to Admiral Earle or some other officer in the

Department, or to me. There is no clerk or enlisted man in the Navy

who can not come to me with any statement. Last week I had a man

come from the fleet complaining about the action of an officer. I

heard his statement, as if he had been an officer, and I investigated

it fully. He was an humble Filipino on a ship. There is no man in

this Navy who has a grievance who can not have a hearing before the

Secretary. But the important thing is that there is some one in the

Navy who is a spy, located either in the Department or at Indian-

head, or at some other place, who should be required to come before

the committee and give his real name and give the source of his in

formation, so that we may know about it. Gentlemen, it is a very

serious matter.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I wish distinctly to be recorded in the

record that in no way have I revealed the purport of these letters.

My letter simply states that I turned them over to the Secretary of

the Navy. The Secretary of the Navy has seen fit to give his im

pressions regarding these letters, and therefore I am prevented,

possibly, from discussing them because I have felt that it was my

duty to present these letters to the committee in charge of the inves

tigation, after they had been submitted to the directing head of the

Navy, apd not, in any way, give my impressions of them. I feel that

that is as far as I can go. I knew nothing of the letters until they

were called to my attention by my secretary, and I read them, and

.while I do not understand that they criticize any official of the de

partment, they make certain statements regarding the ammunition,

and I think the Secretary is in error in regard to any charges being

made in the letters. I have no desire, however, to protect anybody

except I—I will change that—I have no desire to protect anybody.

If there is a spy in the Navy Department, I want him searched. I

want a search made, and I want him found out. I know nothing of

this man. He signs himself, and the letters are dated from a distant

city. I wired to that city in his name, saying that it was necessary

that he should be identified, and asked for his name and address. A

telegram came back, " Not known." I immediately turned the letters

over to the Secretary and you now have his views. They are at the

disposal of the committee.

Secretary Daniels. We have all the letters referred to by Senator

Frelinghuysen. There are in them grave charges of incompetency on

the part of inspectors and there were charges against officers of the

line. The gravity of the matter is that some one has had access to

confidential files in the Bureau of Ordnance. Of course no informa

tion is regarded as confidential by this department when it comes to

this committee. Everything is open to the Naval Affairs Committee.

This man knows the contents of a confidential telegram. Therefore

he must certainly himself be a spy or we have a traitor somewhere in

the Navy.

Senator Fremnghuysen. I want the Secretary to realize that this

came into my possession in the mail, and I am not trying to seek

information from anyone in the department or from any spies of that

character.
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Secretary Daniels. I thoroughly understand that the Senator

never heard of this man.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I do not know who he is.

Secretary Daniels. It is evident, however, that, if a telegram sent

to him is returned with the statement that they could not find the

sender, he is not a responsible man. But I want those letters put m

the hands of a secret-service man. I want to send to the city where

they were postmarked, and want to find him, because he is either

employed by the Navy or has an associate—a traitor—who is em

ployed by the Navy Department. It is our duty to get rid of him

and put him in the penitentiary and make an example of him.

Senator Phelan. You are resentful because you believe the state

ments are false ?

Secretary Daniels. I am resentful

Senator Phelan. You are resentful because the statements are

false?

Secretary Daniels. Some are false and some are true.

Senator Phelan. You are resentful that the secrets of the depart

ment are revealed ?

Secretary Daniels. I am resentful; and I think that .

Senator Page. Suppose this information had been sent to the Sen

ator after he had moved the resolution, to put him in possession of

information which this man dared not give directly—sent in good

faith. Is there a possibility of that ?

Secretary Daniels. There is a possibility of that ; and as soon as

I saw Senator Frelinghuysen's letter I took it up at once with the

Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance. I said to him, " I see here a paper

referred to in this anonymous letter "

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is not an anonymous letter.

Secretan' Daniels. As far as I am concerned, it Is an unknown

writer.

Senator Frelinghuysen. As far as I am concerned and know, hw

is an unknown writer.

Secretary Daniels. You gave the letter to me without any name.

Senator Frelinghuysen. But I said I will submit the letter to

the committee'.

Secretary Daniels. I said, " I wish you to go into this letter as

fully and completely as if it were from a responsible man, and see

if there is anything going on that is wrong, and, if there is, let us get

at it and remedy it."

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, the information and all

the letters and everything called for to be investigated in this letter

have been, or will be, furnished by Admiral Earle and the other offi

cers of the Navy ?

Secretary Daniels. It is all here.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I would suggest that the letters be read

in open session, inasmuch as there has been so much said about them.

The Acting Chairman. I have no objection.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Has the Secretary any objection?

Secretary Daniels. None at all.

Senator Phelan. These letters are signed by somebody whose

identity is not known or can not be ascertained ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. He does not give the street address.

Senator Page. They are dated " Detroit. Mich."



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 97

Senator Frelinghoysen. It might be well for the committee to

take the letters and then decide whether they will give them out to

the public.

Secretary Daniels. There is no reason, of course, why the letters

should not be published; but there are many letters in the Navy

Department that should not be published. There are some so con

fidential I would not disclose them to anyone but the Naval Affairs

Committee.

The Acting Chairman. What you resent is this man himself, or

someone in the Navy, has access to some correspondence there and to

other matters which might be confidential ?

Secretary Daniels. Yes.

Senator Page. Is there internal evidence in these letters that the

man writes from knowledge that may be

Secretary Daniels. As to a number of the letters he says, " Let

ter No. so and so—3906, M 47 "—which is evidence that he has been

in the Bureau of Ordnance, or at Indianhead, or some place where

there are files of letters, and that he has extracted these letters. He.

has also quoted a confidential cablegram, to have obtained the con

tents of which he must have been in the department itself or else

have had an associate there.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Where is that in the letter? I did not

notice that, Mr. Secretary?

Admiral Earle. It is in the last letter.

(At this point the committee went into executive session, and after

remaining in executive session until 1.30 o'clock p. m., a recess was

taken until 2.30 o'clock p. m.)

AFTER RECESS.

The committee reassembled at 2.30 o'clock p. m., pursuant to the

taking of the recess.

The Acting Chairman. The committee will be in order.

The committee has decided that it will investigate fully and

thoroughly all the matters contained in the letters given Senator

Frelinghuysen and which he delivered to the committee, but at pres

ent we will withhold the name of the person who wrote the letters.

The committee will endeavor to obtain that party to appear before

the committee and testify to every matter that he may know pertain

ing to the subject of his letters and the matter that is now under

investigation in the resolution which has been sent to the committee

for investigation.

Admiral Earle, will you please come before the committee at this

time?

STATEMENT OF REAR ADMIRAL RALPH EARLE—Resumed.

The Acting Chairman. Admiral Earle, when you were last here,

you were testifying regarding the cause of the accidents on the St.

Louis and Mongolia in reference to premature explosions of shells.

What conclusion have you reached as to the cause of these premature

explosions of shells and what remedies, if any, have been adopted

to obviate the trouble that existed in connection with the premature

explosions of the shells?

10518&—17 7
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Admiral Earle. The conclusion we have now reached, Mr. Chair

man, is that by removing the mouth cup from the cartridge case we

will not be likely to have any further trouble. Orders directing this

have been issued.

The Acting Chairman. The only trouble, as I understand, that

you had in connection with the premature explosion of shells on any

of the merchant ships that have been armed by the Navy, has been in

connection with the 6-inch guns?

Admiral Earle. That is all we know of.

The Acting Chairman. Have you received any reports of prema

ture explosion of shells or of any difficulty with the guns or ammuni

tion in any other than the 6-inch guns?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, you use the same am

munition—meaning powder, the same shells, same fuses, etc., on all

of the other guns as you do in the 6-inch guns—practically?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; the same type and the same type of

powder.

The Acting Chairman. And the only trouble you have had,

coming from reports concerning the guns, is in the use of the 6-inch

gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, the 6-inch gun is the

only one where this copper mouthpiece is used ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Please explain the reason you reached the

conclusion that the mouthpiece was the occasion of these premature

explosions.

Admiral Earle. Immediately after the St. Louis incident, we

fired at the proving ground a series of 89 shots, under the same con

ditions that existed on the St. Louis with the exception that the brass

mouth cup was not used.

Senator Page. The same size guns?

Admiral Earle. The same size guns, yes, sir; and these 89 shells

were the shells remaining from the St. Louis ammunition—in other

words, they were taken from the St. Louis.

The Acting Chairman. And all but two were found

Admiral Earle. And two out of the 89 broke up prematurely.

For what reason, we do not know.

The Acting Chairman. But the other 87

Admiral Earle. The two that broke up broke up at pressures

higher than were used on the St. Louis. Later, when we learned of

the accident on the Mongolia—in the investigation of that accident—

we fired 24 rounds at the proving ground using the brass mouth cup

and there obtained about 25 per cent of premature bursts.

Senator Page. Those had the brass mouth cups?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Page. Before you proceed further, would that lead you

to more definitely conclude that it was the use of this cup

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; those 24 rounds are the rounds that led

us to conclude that it was the cup.

Senator Page. When you were first before us at the first meeting

of this committee, you did not then feel that it was the cups that

were responsible for this trouble.
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.Admiral Earle. I think I so stated, Mr. Senator. We had only

fired 16 rounds at the time I was before the committee last, and since

then we have fired 8 more.

Senator Page. You changed your views from the shells you fired

since ?

Admiral Earle. When I was here before I think I stated that I

was under the impression that it was the brass mouth cup. At the

time I was before the committee, I had only fired 16 shots^ but since

then we have fired 8 more. Six rounds out of the 8 exploded pre

maturely. That is an average of 25 per cent, which was what we

obtained on the St. Louis.

Senator Page. How did it happen that the six rounds happened

to be confined—that the six premature discharges happened to be

confined to the eight rounds?

Admiral Earle. Not to the 8 rounds. It was 6 out of 24 rounds.

Senator Page. They were next throughout the

Admiral Earle. I can tell the rounds which exploded prema

turely.

Admiral Earle. They were mingled all around.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; this is the way they exploded—6, 7, 12,

15, 20, and 23 prematurely burst.

The Acting Chairman. Those rounds exploded prematurely ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have you had such experience of this kind,

as to the number of premature explosions

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. But you had had the same conditions—

you had had explosions when you used the caps

Admiral Earle. Never to my knowledge, except the ones on the

St. Louis, sir.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, you recently, at the

proving ground, had not used the copper mouth cup or cap as some

call it, on account of the complaint that had been made by people

who lived in front of these guns where the experiments were made,

and the shells were tested without the use of the mouth cup, not

having any idea that the mouth cup would ever produce any trouble

or have any rebound or back action, as it seemed to have in the case

of the Mongolia.

Senator Page. In the case of the 24 rounds, they used this cap on

all of them?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Let me see if I get it clear. In the case of

the 89 rounds tested from the ammunition on the St. Louis, no copper

mouth cup was used, and out of the 89 rounds 87 functioned perfectly

and 2 were defective?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the two that were defective were

shells made in 1900, which were somewhat thinner than the present

shell.

Admiral Earle. One was and one was not thinner than the present

shells; thinner than the armor-piercing present shell.

The Acting Chairman. As soon as you ascertained they were

thinner than the present ammunition, orders were issued not to put

them on the armed liners.
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Admiral Earle. No, sir; we gave those instructions when we re

ceived the cablegram from London.

The Acting Chairman. The Philadelphia had left port; and con

sequently that order did not apply to that, as I understand

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. That part, I understood, had all been gone

over. That did not reach the defect at all.

The Acting Chairman. The mouth cup ?

Senator Poindexter. Yes. None of these shells tested out in the

lot of 89 were fired with a brass mouth cup.

The Acting Chairman. I stated that. None of them were fired

with the brass mouth cup, but two out of the 89 did have premature

explosions; and it was the conclusion which was reached at that

time that it was because of the thinness of the shell.

Admiral Earle. At that time.

The Acting Chairman. Subsequently you made an examination

with, first, 16 shells, using the brass mouth cup, which had not been

previously used, and 4 of them, you stated, burst prematurely, like on

the St. Louis; and subsequently to that you used 8 more rounds, and

2 more of them produced premature explosions—using the mouth

cup—and consequently you reached the conclusion that the mouth

cup was the occasion of the premature explosions.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, this mouth cup is used

on the 6-inch gun entirely.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And in the guns larger than the 6-inch

gun you put in, first, the shell, and then the powder in bags, and you

do not have the cartridge separated as in the 6-inch gun.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have you had any trouble, or, rather,

reports regarding any other guns except the 6-inch guns as to prema

ture explosions of the shells?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now, will you please state to the com

mittee the present method of examining shells, fuses, and powder,

to guarantee their efficiency and good action, for issue and use in

the Navy ? First take up the shells.

Admiral Earle. Do you want me to repeat that? I have it al

ready in the testimony of the last hearing.

Senator Page. I wish you would speak especially about the fuses.

"We have had that under consideration.

The Acting Chairman. As to shells, what is the process by which

the Government tests the efficiency of the shells ?

Admiral Earle. After we award a contract, which is the result

of competitive bidding, to a certain firm, there are assigned to that

firm suitable inspectors. They inspect the shell in every process,

from the casting of the ingot and machining right down to the final

measurements. From this lot, 200 in some cases, 300 in others,

and 500 in others, there are selected from 3 to 5 shells, as the speci

fications require, and they are sent to the Indianhead Proving

Ground, and there they are given a firing test ; and if they pass the

firing test, the lot represented by these shells is accepted.
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Senator Page. Give us the firing test.

Admiral Earle. I will have to get the specifications. I put them

in the testimony, I think.

Senator Page. If it interferes with your line of testimony, I will

not press the matter.

Admiral Earle. On the fragmentation test, projectiles will be

burst, using service bursting charge and service fuse.

Senator Page. I did not catch that.

Admiral Earle. On the fragmentation test, at the proving ground,

projectiles will be burst, using service bursting charge and service

fuse. The projectile must break up in a satisfactory manner, and the

fuse must not blow out.

On the flight or ranging test projectiles will be brought to exact

weight by blind loading with a suitable material and will be fired

with a range with service velocity. The projectiles must give smooth

flights and must not break up, upset, or strip their bands in flight.

Under favorable conditions the dispersion and ranges of the projec

tiles fired for flight shall not at any range differ greatly from those

of standard projectiles already in service. In all cases the dispersion

shall be such as not to affect the value of the projectiles for service.

On plate tests projectiles shall be brought to weight by blind load

ing with a suitable material and shall be fired against a plate as indi

cated in the table which is furnished. The plate shall be firmly se

cured but shall not be backed. In the test against plate the pro

jectile to be successful must pass through the plate unbroken and be

recovered in a condition for effective bursting. In the case of the

6-inch shell this plate is 2 inches thick, and the velocity is 1,000 foot-

seconds. Of course, there is a different velocity for every caliber of

shell, sir.

The Acting Chairman. When those tests are made, reports are

made to the Bureau of Ordnance?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. At the proving ground *

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And are these tests made by civilians or by

naval officers?

Admiral Earle. These three tests are all made by naval officers—

commissioned officers.

The Acting Chairman. And they make a report if they do not

measure up to the requirements?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; and there is no civilian concerned in the

ballistic test.

The Acting Chairman. When they are tested and approved, what

is done with the shells then?

Admiral Earle. We send a notice to the contractor that they are

accepted and send him shipment orders to send the shells to certain

magazines, and they are then put in stock in the magazines, and when

the bureau calls for a certain number of 6-inch shells to be prepared

the officer at the magazine takes the shells and loads and fuses them

unci issues them.

The Acting Chairman. Are any shells ever put in the magazines

except those tested and approved at the testing ground?
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Admiral Earle. Never to anybody's knowledge that I ever heard

of or talked to. There is no defective shell that we know of that ever

got into a magazine.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand your previous testimony,

the shells that were put on the merchant-marine vessels were taken

from the magazines?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And no shells were put on those merchant

ships except those shells in the magazines?

Admiral Earle. None except those that had passed the tests.

The Acting Chairman. And included in the magazine?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now, in regard to testing your powder to

see that that is in proper condition for use in war

Admiral Earle. When the powder is manufactured there is an

inspector placed at the factory to inspect everything, even the sodium

nitrate from which the acid is made, and every operation in the

manufacture of the powder is watched absolutely. After the powder

is issued for service there are a certain number of tests applied regu

larly—one a daily test, another a fortnightly test, and another a

quarterly test, and another a semiannual test.

The Acting Chairman. Your daily tests, your fortnightly tests,

and semiannual tests are made to ascertain definitely that the powder

is in proper condition to use?

Admiral Earle. In the same condition in which it left the factory.

Senator Harding. I do not desire to delay things: but all this has

already gone into the record, because I personally heard it given by

the admiral.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; I remember giving it.

The Acting Chairman. It was in there, but I

Senator Harding. The admiral has stated he has given this testi

mony.

The Acting Chairman. But Senator Frelinghuysen was not here.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I was, and I have read the testimony.

The Acting Chairman. I did not know whether you were here at

the former hearing or not.

Now, Admiral, you are requested to furnish the committee memo

randa indicating where the powder, guns, and shells were taken, day

by day. Have you furnished that to the committee ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; that is in the record, every bit of it.

The Acting Chairman. None of these matters contained in the

questions in this letter occurred under your administration while

you were chief ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; but many of the things contained in the

letter to you have not been answered this morning, and I would

like to answer them.

Senator Poindexter. What letter is that ?

The Acting Chairman. The letter, a copy of which——•

Admiral Earle. It has gone in the testimony.

Senator Poindexter. Referring to a letter—what letter is that?

The Acting Chairman. The letter of Senator Frelinghuysen. He

mentions a discrepancy, that he indicates, in your testimony. What

have you to say in reference to that?
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Admiral Earle. It is stated that there are discrepancies in my

testimony. I can not find them. I have read it over. In his letter

Senator Frelinghuysen says [reading] :

Admiral Earle's report sets forth that 89 of these same shells removed from

the St. Louis were subsequently fired at the proving ground, and that only 2 of

them proved to be defective—2 per cent, in other words. Is there any explain

able reason for this startling difference?

The only reason that we have thus far been able to give is the

fact that these rounds were fired without the mouth cup. I know

of not other reason, sir. That the rounds were defective appears to

me to be a wrong statement, as the shells were not, so far as we

know.

On the return of the St. Louis from her first trip, about April 9, 1917, all such

shells were removed.

That is a fact, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What shells do you mean you removed?

Admiral Earle. All that were made prior to 1900.

The Acting Chairman. You did not remove the shells that had the

mouth cup, because you did not realize at that time the mouth cup

was the cause of the trouble ?

Admiral Earle. These were the shells. The mouth cups, of course,

were in the cases.

The Acting Chairman. You did not remove the mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. No, sir. On the other hand he says [reading].

" Later on one of the shells exploded prematurely, as well as one of the same

caliber on both the Mongolia and the St. Paul.

There is no discrepancy in that statement. The shell that exploded

prematurely was made after 1900. The shells made prior to 1900

were removed, but despite that fact there were shells that burst

prematurely.

Senator Poindexter. On the St. Louis?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; they were all removed, but " later on one

of the shells exploded prematurely, as well as one of the same caliber

on both the Mongolia and the St. Paul." That is the fact.

Senator Poindexter. Is that with the brass mouth cup or with

out it?

Admiral Earle. With the brass mouth cup.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The discrepancy to which I referred

was in the testimony given by the admiral and the statement made

by Lieut. Pickering. It is contained there in that statement.

The Acting Chairman. Just ask the question, Senator.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Concerning the St. Louis affair, and

the discrepancy in the testimony of Admiral Earle, Admiral Earle

testified the ammunition was as good and the shells were as good as

could be made to-day in the manufacturers' art ; that there were no

defective shells or defective fuses or powder issued to the armed

liners. That is what I referred to. Now, this statement is made in

spite of the fact, regarding the St. Louis, there were over 25 per cent

proved defective, prematurely exploding, nine exploding in the guns

and three exploding outside of the guns. The officer in charge of
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the guard or guns on the St. Louis, under date of March 30, 1917,

reports as follows [reading] :

Nine shells exploded in guns ; three exploded or broke in fragments at ranges

between one and two hundred yards. The Interval between shell breaking and

discharge of gun was too short to accurately note a second detonation. * * *

In view of the above, the guns and ammunition aboard this vessel were not

considered in condition for service.

That was the discrepancy that I referred to, and I think it ap

pears in the testimony.

Admiral Earle. That seems to hinge on the words " defective

ammunition." We issued the very best ammunition we had, sir, as I

stated.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I think that has been cleared up, Mr.

Chairman, in the admission of the admiral that the brass cups—that

the fault was found in the brass sleeve, which was discovered after

this report was made.

The Acting Chairman. In reference to the fuses, were the fuses

the same on all the different types of guns—the 6-inch and other

guns?

Admiral Earle. We have a great many different kinds of fuses,

Senator.

The Acting Chairman. Are the fuses a different type entirely for

the 6-inch gun ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir. The fuses used in the 6-inch gun are

what we call medium caliber.

The Acting Chairman. Have you tested, since these occurrences

or premature explosions, your fuses, with a view to ascertaining

whether there was any defect in the fuses; and if so, what conclusion

was reached in reference to the fuses ?

Admiral Earle. The only conclusion reached in reference to the

fuses was that the fuses were excellent and the best that could be

obtained.

Senator Page. You have stated in all your testimony that you have

never found any defective fuses—or have you said so ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; at the tests at Indianhead, we have

not always had all of the fuses pass perfectly, but we can not expect

that. Out of this particular lot that was placed on the St. Louis, I

believe that we did have a perfect record—a 100 per cent record. I

am certain of that.

The Acting Chairman. You mean the fuses on the St. Louis?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; in other words, the ammunition we gave

the armed liners we took great care to put it up, to insure that it

was good and suitable—we took more care than we would have taken

ordinarily, because we were issuing the ammunition to merchantmen.

We had just put the ammunition up recently, and tested it immedi

ately after it was assembled. We tried to be extra careful on ac

count of the fact that we were issuing the ammunition to armed

liners, and we used every test that we could think of—the officers at

the proving ground and everywhere else—to assure ourselves that the

ammunition was of the best quality ; and yet unfortunately, we have

found a defect in it, and a very grave defect.

The Acting Chairman. Please state what that is.
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Admiral Earle. That defect is that the presence of the brass

mouth cup, in some manner, contributes to about 25 per cent prema

ture shell bursts.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any other matter contained in the

letter, that is especially within your knowledge or acquaintance, that

you have not answered—either in the letter from Senator Freling-

huysen or the letter from the party whose name is withheld ?

Admiral Earle. There is one think I would like to mention. It

was brought up here that we used civilian inspectors in inspecting

ordnance and there seemed to be some objection to it. The state

ment was made that the English did not do it, and other nations did

not do it. But I would like to say, from my personal knowledge,

that one factory in this country making munitions for England, has

stationed there 1 English officer and 30 civilian inspectors. We have

no such proportion in our service and never have had.

The Acting Chairman. That is, munitions made in this country

for the English Government.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; 1 English officer, whose name is Col.

Joffre, with 30 civilians. Our practice is, we have 35 officers, 18

clerks, and 133 subinspectors—civilians—employed on the inspec

tions. We have to add another 100 civilians at once.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any other matter that you wish

to testify to in reference to this investigation ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; there is another matter that is vital,

I think, to the understanding of the public in regard to this accident.

The young officers attached to these armed liners have stated in their

opinion that the guns were ruined because the rifling was scored.

Such absolutely is not the case. The only danger that could be as

signed, was the fact that we did have premature bursts, and 25 per

cent is, of course, a very disastrous thing; but notwithstanding, the

guns were perfectly good and shot accurately and did not need re

placement, except for the moral effect on the officers there, and also

because we did not want to increase the scoring in the gun rifling.

They were not rendered useless or ruined.

The Acting Chairman. Were they new guns or old guns ?

Admiral Earle. They were very new guns, as the dates show.

The Acting Chairman. Any other matter you wish to testify to?

Senator Frelinghtjysen. I think, if I may be permitted to inter

rupt you there, that something should be cleared up.

The Acting Chairman. As soon as he has finished we will go

into that.

Admiral Earle. I do not think there is anything else that I have

not explained.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I have the following report

Admiral Earle. Is this the last report on the Philadelphia, Sena

tor?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes, sir. Lieut. Vassler was one of the

officers on the St. Louis, was he not?

Admiral Earle. I think he was on the second trip, sir. They

had one premature burst.

Senator Frelinghuysen. He testifies about several of the shells

bursting and gouging out the gun and recommends that a new 6-inch

gun be installed in place of the one now mounted on board, and that



106 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

reliable ammunition be supplied for the same before the ship sails

on the next voyage. Now, that statement is incorrect ; the gun was

not damaged ?

Admiral Eakle. No, sir; the gun was damaged, but not ruined.

It could be used, and used successfully.

Senator Frelinghotsen. You mean it was not put out of com

mission ?

Admiral Earle. I mean it was not put out of commission. We

do not like to have a gun with a gouge in the rifling, but we do

shoot them day after day with a gouge in them.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Now, on the Philadelphia report

The Acting Chairman. In that case was the mouthpiece in the

gun—the copper mouthpiece?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. That was in that shell?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; all that ammunition in which we have

had premature bursts on the liners had that metal mouth cup. We

have never had a case on board the merchantmen without that being

present.

Senator Frelinghuysen. About the Philadelphia, when did you

get the report on the Philadelphia?

Admiral Earle. As I remember the date, I got it on June 4.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You filed that report with the com

mittee ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What was the character of the guns on

the Philadelphia, where they had six shots, and I believe four pre

maturely exploded ?

Admiral Earle. Nine shots and five prematurely exploded.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Nine shots and five prematurely ex

ploded ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; that was exactly the same ammunition.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Was that a 6-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. With the copper mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; brass mouth cup.

Senator Frelinghuysen. May I ask a further question, with the

chairman's permission ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In the report of Lieut. Rufus King,

on the steamship Philadelphia, dated May 31, 1917. At sea, speak

ing of his experience in firing certain rounds of the ammunition in

the guns, he says [reading] :

As this vessel and the other ships of this line carry the mails, important

official papers, and officers of the military, naval, and diplomatic services of

the United States and the allied Governments and must constantly navigate

through the areas where the enemy submarines are operating, it is considered

necessary that they be supplied with the best possible battery to fight sub

marine attack and assure their safe passage between the United States and

England. And, as the battery of this vessel is now in bad condition, owing to

the scoring of the rifling of the guns and will require replacing, it is deemed

advisable that if any change in the battery is authorized it be made during

this stay in New York.

He goes on and speaks of the damage to the guns. Now, is Lieut.

King a reliable officer.
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Admiral Earle. Yes ; he is reliable.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Do you disapprove this report of his ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; I removed the guns and did exactly as

he requested, but I do not coincide with his views that the guns are

ruined.

The Acting Chairman. Did you reline the guns ?

Admiral Earle. I will reline them before issuing them for service

again; but as to that ammunition, we did not put that ammunition

on there purposely to damage the gun. As I stated, we tried to put

on the best we had.

Senator Frelinghutsen. The point I make is that you had reports

on four vessels

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And that these guns were damaged, and

there are official reports from your lieutenants ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Who claimed that the guns are damaged

and incapacitated—the 6-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. You take three of the officers and you

say you disapprove of their reports? You say that the guns were

not made ineffective ?

Admiral Earle. Exactly.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Well, of course, you are an authority,

as an expert, and if that is so

Admiral Earle. Well, Senator, I will only state that I am say

ing that because we have fired the guns, and the first officer who

made that report, Lieut. Knauss, on the St. Louis, kept on firing

the guns on the return trip and he said everything went all right.

Senator Trammell. Do they say in those reports that the guns are

absolutely ruined and incapacitated for service, or merely damaged?

Admiral Earle. They imply that they are ruined.

The Acting Chairman. What tests did you give the guns when

they were brought back to ascertain whether or not the guns were

defective ?

Admiral Earle. We made no further tests. We simply sent them

to the gun factory and ordered them to take the tubes out and retube

them.

The Acting Chairman. Reline them is what you call it.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; we had no time to do anything else.

Senator Frelinghutsen. This report of Lieut. Miles does not

state that there is anything the matter with the guns, and Lieut.

King relieves him on May 5 and finds the ammunition defective and

imperfect. I presume that these mishaps did not occur until Lieut.

King fired the guns.

Admiral Earle. The only point I make about that, Mr. Senator,

is that he found the ammunition defective by actually shooting it.

Neither he nor I could tell it was defective when it was put on

board.

Senator Poindexter. What does he mean by this :

Passing ships furnish an excellent tnrpet for drill purposes, ninl not a day

passed that we were not able to hold this drill.

He does not mean that he fired at every ship that went by ?



108 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

Admiral Earle. No, sir; they trained the gun pointers by keeping

the guns pointed on them.

Senator Poindexter. After these tests that Senator Swanson re

ferred to, of the fuses, did you make any tests of fuses, other than

the firing of them in the guns at the proving ground ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Page. That is the best possible test you can make ?

Admiral Earle. That is the best we know or, sir.

Senator Poindexter. How many merchant ships have been armed,

Admiral ?

Admiral Earle. Since April 1

Senator Poindexter. Since the United States has started in to arm

ships?

Admiral Earle. Since April 1—we have armed 52 big liners, 3

coast guard cutters, 17 steam yachts, 4 lighthouse tenders

Senator Poindexter. How many altogether?

Admiral Earle. Three hundred and sixty-nine.

Senator Poindexter. How many of those were armed with the 6-

inch gun?

Admiral Earle. I had that when I was here last time. That is the

last record.

Senator Poindexter. That is, only with 6-inch guns?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. How many reports of accidents or premature

explosions have you received?

Admiral Earle. One on the St. Louis, one on the St. Louis the

second trip, one on the Philadelphia—that is three—and one on the

St. Paul. Four ships have had trouble. The Mongolia did not

have any trouble.

Senator Poindexter. The Mongolia did not have any trouble?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; just this mouth cup.

Senator Poindexter. That was some trouble—the St. Louis, the

Philadelphia, St. Paul, and Mongolia. That is all?

Admiral Earle. That is all I can remember. I had the figures

here before.

Senator Poindexter. Were each one of those armed with 6-inch

guns?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Each one

Admiral Earle. The armament was different on all of them.

Some had 4 and 6 inch guns and some had 3-inch and 6-inch guns.

Senator Poindexter. But there was a 6-inch gun on each ?

Admiral Earle. There was a 6-inch gun in the battery.

Senator Page. They were the 6-inch guns, were they not, Admiral,

or both?

Admiral Earle. They were the 6-inch guns

Senator Poindexter. I want to know whether the accidents all

occurred in the use of the 6-inch guns.

Admiral Earle. We have never had any accidents on any other

gun on the merchantmen. I can not say that there have not been.

Using ammunition and explosives, we expect to have accidents, but

I say I have not heard of any.

The Acting Chairman. Have any reports come to you of any ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir ; but, of course, we are bound to have them.
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The Acting Chairman. These reports that you referred to—the

St. Louis, St. Paul, Mongolia, and Philadelphia—are the only ones

that involve this question of premature explosion of shells or damage

done in the firing of them, to the gun or the people on the ship ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was the exact relative position of

the guns and the two nurses at the time of the accident on the Mon

golia?

Admiral Earle. The gun was mounted in the very extreme stern

of the ship. The nurses were on a hurricane deck—a promenade deck

of the Mongolia, 175 feet forward, I believe, of the gun, and 16 feet

above it. They were firing at a target over here [indicating], the ship

going this way [indicating]. The gun was trained 45° forward of

the beam.

Lieut. Commander Caskey. One point only forward of the beam.

Senator Poindexter. One point forward of the beam. The beam

would be vertical to the line of the ship ?

Senator Harding. It would be at right angles.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. And one point would be 11 degrees in

this direction [indicating]. Here is a diagram of the ship with the

gun [exhibiting].

Senator Poindexter. That is the report—that it was only one

point forward?

Lieut. Commander Caskey. Yes, sir; 11 degrees.

Senator Poindexter. What conclusion has the department come

to as to the exact manner in which these nurses were killed? Of

course, I understand that it is universally agreed that they were

killed by portions of this brass mouth cup, but as to the course of

the flight after it left the gun, have vou reached anv conclusion on

that?

Admiral Earle. So far as we are concerned, there is no mystery.

We have been firing those mouth cups, and they go usually to the

right—out and around to the right.

Senator Poindexter. You think it was a perfectly natural result

that the nurses were killed ?

Admiral Earle. I mean it is not an unusual action of the cartridge

and cup. There was no unusual action of the brass cup, as far as I

can make myself believe.

Senator Poindexter. That is quite significant, if they are firing

these things, knowing they are going to have those results in those

circumstances. Is it your opinion that the brass cup struck the

water and rebounded or had its course deflected in that way ?

Admiral Earle. That was in the original statement, but we got

that over the telephone ; and it seems now nobody saw it hit the water

and nobody saw it in the air, and all they saw was where it hit the

stanchion, and now we think probably it did not hit the water.

Senator Poindexter. If that is a perfectly natural result, one to

be expected from the firing of this ammunition with the brass cups,

that they will go at right angles to the gun or approximately in that

direction, was there any special warning given by the officers and

men in charge to the men to have the people below the decks when

they were firing?

Admiral Earle. If Ave suspected anything of the kind, we might

have, but we would certainly have changed the ammunition, if we
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expected any fatalities or hits to occur from the brass cups. We

would not have issued the ammunition if we had suspected that,

and certainly would not have issued ammunition with any restriction

on its use, because such ammunition would not be proper to use.

Senator Poindexter. What was the report from the St. Paul%

Admiral Earle. One shell burst in the gun.

Senator Harding. I do not know that this is at all important, but

there were two nurses killed, were there not?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Harding. And the brass cup struck a stanchion ?

Admiral Earle. So the court of inquiry says.

Senator Harding. That implies, necessarily, that there were two

fragments.

Admiral Earle. The cup broke up into three pieces, sir.

Senator Harding. Is it not rather unusual that a piece of brass of

this type will break in contact with a stanchion or anything of that

sort?

Admiral Earle. I should not think so.

Senator Harding. You think it is likely to break ?

Admiral Earle. I can not see how it would help doing it, forced

out, as it is, with great violence.

Senator Harding. Would not the tendency be to crumple ?

Admiral Earle. It does crumple and break.

Senator Harding. Is this the one [exhibiting] ?.

Lieut. Commander Casket. Yes, sir; and here is the fragment

taken out of the heart of one of the women [exhibiting] .

Senator Poindexter. I will ask you, Admiral, if it is the consen

sus of opinion of ordnance men in the Navy, that these accidents

were caused by the use of the brass cup?

Admiral Earle. Every one of my officers connected with the

bureau has been forced to that conclusion ; yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. How many merchant ships have been armed

since you came to that conclusion with the 6-inch gun and ammu

nition ?

Admiral Earle. We have not put a 6-inch gun on the merchant

ships since we came to that conclusion.

Senator Poindexter. Do you use fixed ammunition and the brass

cup in any gun except the 6-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. That is all.

Senator Poindexter. Then you have not had any opportunity since

you reached this conclusion to observe, in actual use, aboard ship,

the result of the change that was made.

Admiral Earle. No, sir ; only the proving ground tests.

Senator Harding. What kind of gun did the Silver Shell carry ?

Admiral Earle. Two 4-inch 40 caliber guns and fired at the sub

marine at 7,000 yards away, and they did remarkable shooting to hit

her. That is a remarkable record. That gun is not supposed to go

much above that.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Are you quite sure she was hit?

Admiral Earle. Well, the testimony seems to be quite conclusive

on that fact, sir; at least I am taking it as true from what the

French officers say, when they hit a submarine, that is the way she

acts. They say they are sure she is lost when she does what that

newspaper report says.
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Senator Poikdexter. Prior to the use of these guns—I under

stand the only ones about which there is any question now are the

six-inch guns, using fixed ammunition.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Prior to the use of them as armament on the

merchant vessels, had you ever tested them under the actual con

ditions under which they were then used ?

Admiral Earle. They have been fired right along, under actual

conditions.

Senator Poindexter. With the brass cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Where were they fired?

Admiral Earle. In service and fired occasionally down at the prov

ing ground.

Senator Poindexter. With the brass cup?

Admiral Earle. Not always, but we fired with the brass mouth

cup when we were testing the cartridge cases, to give the cartridge

case a fair show.

Senator Poindexter. I mean under the exact conditions.

Admiral Earle. No, sir; I do not believe that we have used the

shell and the particular fuses and the particular mouth cup together.

Senator Poindexter. Anywhere?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Not even on board ship?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; the fuses were new and just issued.

Senator Poindexter. The fact is that this condition was an en

tirely new one, as far as the actual conditions were concerned?

Admiral Earle. As far as we were concerned

Senator Poindexter. As far as the actual firing of the guns, with

the entire ammunition, and all its complement, after you had armed

the merchant ships in this present emergency ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; that is correct.

Senator Poindexter. Are you quite sure that there have been no

premature explosions other than what is the usual occurrence in

any of the other guns on the merchant vessels, than the 6-inch gun ?

Admiral Earle. Every merchantman, as soon as it returns to port,

the officer in charge of it sends in a report for our information, as

to the action of the ordnance material on board, so as to let us know,

and so far there has been nothing in any of those reports that in

dicates anything but satisfactory working of the ammunition. There

have been faults found with the water getting into the training gear,

and all that, but such things you can not help.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any other questions any one

wishes to ask Admiral Earle?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you a report on the guns on the

Virginian?

Admiral Earle. Is she ah American vessel?

Senator Frelinghuysen. I do not know whether she is or not.

Lieut. Commander Caskey. We have not gotten a report yet.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What is she armed with ?

Admiral Earle. I can not say, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. There were 42 shots fired, according to

the newspaper reports.

Admiral Earle. Is she an American ship—the Virginian?
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Senator Frelinghtjysen. She probably is an oil tanker—a Texas

Co. oil tanker, I think. I do not known about that.

Admiral Earle. That was May 30. On her return we will have a

report.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know why the Japanese and other

navies use a zinc mouth cup instead of a brass one ?

Admiral Earle. I do not know.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know whether the French Navy has

had the same experience that ours has had in the use of the brass

mouth cup ?

Admiral Earle. Only that one incident that I told you of two

weeks ago, in which an armed liner was engaged in target practice,

and the brass mouth cup returned and hit the ship. It was a French

liner. It did not kill anybody, but it came on the deck of the ship.

Senator Poindexter. As to the effect of the brass cup in causing

premature explosions of the shell, do you know what the experience

of the French has been in that connection ?

Admiral Earle. I do not think the French have as effective tracer

shell as we have, but I have heard nothing of any prematures. We

would not be in a position to get that.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any further questions?

(No response.)

The Acting Chairman. You are excused, Admiral Earle. We

will next hear Captain Twining.

STATEMENT OF CAPTAIN M. C. TWINING, UNITED STATES NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. Admiral, what position do you occupy in

the Navy, at present ?

Capt. Twining. Captain in the Navy; at present in command of

one of the squadrons in the patrol fleet of the Atlantic fleet.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy?

Capt. Twining. Nearly 32 years.

The Acting Chairman. Were you ever Chief of the Bureau of

Ordnance ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What years?

Capt. Twining. From the 25th of May, 1911, to the 9th of Octo

ber, 1913.

The Acting Chairman. What was the method, at that time, pur

sued to insure the efficiency of your powder, guns, shells, and other

material in the munitions line that was used and accumulated for

the Navy ?

Capt. Twining. The powder was made in accordance with ap

proved specifications and all the processes of manufacture were care

fully watched by either commissioned officers of the Navy or by

civilians attached to the powder factory for such powder as was

made in our own factory, and by civilian inspectors employed at the

works of private companies engaged in manufacturing powder.

The Acting Chairman. While you were Chief of the Bureau of

Ordnance, was the utmost care taken to insure the efficiency of all

munitions of this kind and character ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony, and pos

sibly have read the accounts of premature explosions of shells in
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connection with the 6-inch guns on the various ships. Will you

state to the committee what vour impression is as to the cause of

that !

Capt. Twining. From what I have seen in the newspapers, and

heard to-day, I judge, from the two different kinds of accidents that

have occurred—one was the accident on the Mongolia, which caused

the death of two nurses, which was entirely due to the mouth cup

coming back from the cartridge case after the gun was fired ; in the

other case—in the case of the St. Louis, which is the only one I

know of—it appeared that the shell was either broken up or burst

in the gun. They are two different kinds. A shell may break up

due to insufficient strength to stand the powder pressure against it,

and I think Admiral Earle may have thought that in the case of the

two shells made before 1900, which were made to stand a less chamber

pressure than the pressure we use to-day. When the shell bursts in

the gun it is due to premature action of the fuse, and knowing what

I know about the testing of the Semple fuse, I am positive that

could not occur unless something—as is shown in the case of the

mouth cup there [indicating]—something has struck the base of

the fuse and acted as a plunger in a way to cause the fuse to explode.

Of course, personally, I have had very little experience in seeing

fuses fired, but when I was chief of the bureau I saw the reports

of the firing of very many Semple fuses and very many types of

fuses, and I have never known of one to act that way.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever test any of these 6-inch

guns with the mouth cup—where they tested with the copper mouth

cap while you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was your experience with the 6-inch

shells with the mouth cup ?

Capt. Tavining. I have often known of a very great many cases

where the mouth cup has fragmented. I never know of a case where

any fragments came back to the gun. I never knew of a case where

they went off at right angles to the gun. Of course that may have

occurred and not have been noticed.

The Acting Chairman. Was the mouth cup used in testing these

shells while you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance?

Capt. Twining. I could not say, when the shell tests were being

conducted, whether the mouth cup was used on the cartridge case or

not. The shells themselves are tested in connection with the car

tridge cases, but I should imagine that at the proving ground they

might probably leave it off. because the primary function of the mouth

cup is to keep moisture out of the powder, and where, as in the case

of firing the powder at once as they do at the proving ground, it is

not necessary to use the mouth cup. I suppose those cups have not

been used in the shell tests.

The Acting Chairman. You use them ordinarily in testing the

cartridge case, but not the shell?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir: I might also say if they were used in

testing shells it would probably be a shell blind-loaded that had no

powder in it.

The Acting Chairman. That is not a service shell ?

1051S6—17 S
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Capt. Twining. A service shell is given some tests for penetration,

and, in the proving ground, in testing, a shell for penetration, as

Admiral Earle read in the specifications, they are not loaded, because

we could not afford to have shells going through the armor plate and

bursting and the fragments flying over the place.

The Acting Chairman. In regard to the fuses used by the Ameri

can Navy, what is your judgment as to their efficiency in comparison

to other navies and in comparison to what the Government could

otherwise get?

Capt. Twining. The Semple fuse was adopted while I was Chief of

the Bureau of Ordnance. It was adopted because it was better than

any one of three others that we had under consideration.

The Acting Chairman. It was adopted while you were chief of

the bureau?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; it is a detonating fuse, and was adopted as

our sole fuse. Up to that time we had been using the Maxim ruse. ~

Senator Poindexter. Is that same fuse used in all guns ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir ; but different sizes. We had the Maxim

fuse up to the time that certain defects developed and we dropped it.

We also tested the Bofors, being the one that Admiral Strauss spoke

of this morning, but we did not find it as satisfactory as this one.

The Acting Chairman. Do you think that is as good a fuse as

used by the other nations?

Capt. Twining. I think it is better than we knew of three or four

years ago.

The Acting Chairman. And is this Government the only one

using that fuse?

Capt. Twining. As far as I know Mr. Semple does not furnish it

to any other government. I think the Bethlehem Co. had a con

tract to supply munitions for the Argentine battleships and they

asked Mr. Semple to supply the fuses, but he said he would not

unless he got authority from the Navy Department, which he did

not get.

The Acting Chairman. Have you made any investigation to ascer

tain whether the price paid by the Navy Department for this fuse at

that time was reasonable ? :

Capt. Twining. Nothing except in an experimental way.

The Acting Chairman. What was the price in comparison to

other fuses of lesser efficiency?

Capt. Twining. They cost less than the Maxim fuse which we

had been using before that. We never got' far enough to get the

price of any other fuses used.

The Acting Chairman. Your experiment showed it was better

than the Maxim fuse and cost less money?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What do those other fuses cost ?

Capt. Twining. I do not remember now. I could not tell you

that.

Admiral Strauss. $5.25, I think, is the price.

Lieut. Commander Caskey. $5.45. This fuse is the medium caliber

tracer fuse.

Capt. Twining. Something like that.

The Acting Chairman. What was the system of accumulating

ammunition while you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance?
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As I understand the ammunition was accepted and put in the maga

zine and it was considered satisfactory for any purpose—the shell,

fuses, and cartridges.

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; there was, at one time in the specifica

tions a provision that projectiles that had been submitted, under

a contract for armor-piercing shells, if they failed to pass the test

and were rejected, might be taken over by the Government for target

practice shells at a very much less price. That is the only case

where I know of material having been accepted after being rejected,

not because it was defective but because it would not do certain work

in penetrating armor.

The Acting Chairman. What is the difference between a target-

practice shell and a service shell?

Capt. Twining. The service shell is of two or three kinds. The

armor-piercing shell is made of very hard steel so as to penetrate

armor. Those shells cost—the 12 or 14 inch shell—up to $500 apiece.

The target-practice shell, for the same caliber of gun, would cost

something like 5 or 6 cents a pound. For a 1,400-pound shell you

would have to pay something like $70 or less. It is of cast iron

and the other is a highly treated steel.

The Acting Chairman. The target-practice shell is for the pur

pose of testing the accuracy of the shooting?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; to give the men practice in firing. At

the proving ground they are used for proving powder and proving

the guns, and there a slug is sometimes used—simply a piece of

wrought iron of the proper weight. The target-practice projectile

is, in all respects, in exterior dimensions, the same as the armor-

piercing shell except it is made of cast iron.

The Acting Chairman. What is your judgment as to the powder

used by the United States Government, as to its efficiency and value

in comparison to other powders used by other nations?

Capt. Twining. I do not think there is anybody in the world who

has a better powder. I do not think there is anybody, except those

using our own powder who has as good powder.

The Acting Chairman. Has it been subjected to every possible

test as to strength ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was the method used by you when

you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance to see that the powder

did not deteriorate?

Capt. Twining. From the moment the powder is made at our pow

der factory, or at the Dupont Works, or elsewhere it is assigned an

index number and a record is kept at the Ordnance Bureau of the

disposition of every pound of the powder. Some of it may go to the

ships or to St. Juliens magazine, and periodical tests are made

daily, weekly, quarterly, and semiannual tests, and if any powder

fails to pass those tests that is immediately reported to the Bureau

of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. What tests do you make to show that the

conditions there are equal to conditions encountered if the powder

was stored on board a battleship ?

Capt. Twining. We actually make the tests of powder as stored

on the battleships. Periodically it is subjected to tests to see whether
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or not it has lost its stability. Our power is made of gun cotton

and that is not a chemically perpetually stable article. It will event

ually break down.

The Acting Chairman. When it breaks down what will it do?

Capt. Twining. It is taken back to the proving ground and re

worked and made into new powder.

The Acting Chairman. And when it is reworked is it as good as

the original powder?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. In regard to the guns, what has been the

system in the Navy to insure good guns while you were Chief of the

Bureau of Ordnance?

Capt. Twining. Every gun that is made is sent to the proving

ground and tested by firing at least five rounds, of which three, as I

remember, are of service pressure, which varies all the way from 7

to 17 tons in the chamber and two rounds are fired with a pressure

of 20 tons. Most guns stand that without deformation or damage.

The Acting Chairman. Is that test as severe as it would be in

the case of use on board a battleship ?

Capt. Twining. Except in the case of abnormal conditions, or in

the case of accidents. The pressure in the guns would never

exceed 20 tons. We have had a case of guns being damaged due to

powder acting in an abnormal way and developing either a higher

pressure in the chamber than it should or at some place along the

bore.

The Acting Chairman. In the manufacture of shells and fuses,

what was the process of inspection that existed in the Navy Depart

ment when you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance ?

Capt. Twining. We had subinspectors at all the plants and works

where material of that kind was being manufactured, whose busi

ness it was to make the necessary measurements and see that all the

parts—take the fuses, for example—that all the parts were made

according to the drawings. They had gauges, and they had no

discretion in the matter. If a part did not gauge correctly it was

thrown out. Then, in the assembling, they had to see that the

things were properly assembled. The final judgment in the accept-1

a nee of material rested on the naval officer who was in charge of the

inspection.

The Acting Chairman. You had a naval officer at each of the

places?

Capt. Twining. Yes; but sometimes he had two or three places

to cover and would not be at one of them at all times.

The Acting Chairman. He was over the civilian subinspectors?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; but the civilian subinspectors did not

have any discretion in accepting any portion of the material to be

accepted. The commissioned officer might waive some objections

if he thought it proper. All firing tests are made at the proving

ground. Of the different lots of fuses a certain number of them

are tested and accepted and sent for the firing tests, and the same

obtained with the cartridge case and the shells.

The Acting Chairman. That was under the control of the naval

officers entirely?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; with civilian assistants.
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The Acting Chairman. These reports were made to your bureau.

By whom was the final acceptance made ?

Capt. Twining. By me on their reports.

The Acting Chairman. When this was accepted, as I understand,

the munitions are then put in the magazines?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

Senator Harding. If my memory is correct, I want to bring up

something that apparently is a discrepancy. As I remember, some

one stated that the powder was beyond deterioration—that it lasted

a great many years. Did I get that correct ? I understood Admiral

Twining to say

Capt. Twining. I was speaking of the chemical compound of the

powder. This guncotton is known to be a chemical compound that

is not supposed to last forever. We began, some 10 years ago, to

add to this another chemical which is called a stabilizer, which has

increased the life of the powder from 3 to 15 years or more. Ad

miral Earle can give you better information on that. It is a fact

we have improved the life of the powder in this way.

Senator Poindexter. Is there any difference in that regard be

tween the large-grained powder you use in the firing charge and

the black powder that you use in the shell ?

Capt. Twining. The black powder, of course, is particularly

stable. It will never deteriorate except to lose strength, somewhat.

Shells are not loaded now with black powder. Beginning with the

6-inch shell, and working up, they are all loaded with a very high

explosive known as D powder. It is an inert powder. You can not

fire it except by detonating it.

The Acting Chairman. The civilian inspectors who were ap

pointed while you were Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance—were

they appointed as the result of a civil-service examination or by the

Bureau ?

Capt. Twining. As the result of a civil-service examination. The

Civil Service Commission holds an examination to establish the eligi

ble list. When we want an inspector, we send to the commission,

and they send back three names, the highest on the list, and we have

to select one of the first three. That is the general rule in securing

men from the Civil Service Commission.

Senator Phelan. What was the character of the men you secured?

Capt. Twining. My experience with them is they are very compe

tent men of high character and very faithful. I never knew any of

them that I could not trust.

Senator Phelan. What was their compensation?

Capt. Twining. All the way from $3.50 to $5 and $6 a day.

Senator Phelan. Were they permanently employed?

Capt. Twining. No, sir; but practically permanently employed

because they were employed as long as the work lasted, and as a rule

when work goes out at one place they are transferred to another.

Senator Harding. As bearing on the fuse question, Captain, some

one made the statement the other day that it was possible, in the dis

charge of the ammunition or of the powder, the brass cap is blown

off and might jam the shell in such a way as to crack the base of it,

and therefore account for the premature explosion. Does that seem

to you a possibility?
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Capt. Twining. No, sir ; I do not think that could happen.

The Acting Chairman. How would you think that the mouth cup

or copper mouth cap, as some call it, would operate to produce these

premature explosions ?

Capt. Twining. Only by acting—in giving a blow to the base of

the projectile, being driven against the base of the projectile, not by

a steady pressure, but a,sudden impulse, striking the base of the pro

jectile and striking the head of the fuse.

The Acting Chairman. Would that produce a crack in it?

Capt. Twining. There being a little depression—I think there is

one there now [indicating on one of the exhibits]—that depression

in there, the pressure of the powder might force some of the mouth

cup in there and act as a plunger and start the operation of the fuse.

The Acting Chairman. The report that we have, and the evidence

is that none of these premature explosions reported to the depart

ment occurred on anything except the 6-inch guns, and when the 6-

inch gun has been fired without the mouth cup, out of 89 that were

fired, 87 functioned perfectly, and 2 did not. What is the impression

you would derive from that, as to the premature explosions?

Capt. Twining. I should suppose it was due to the action of the

mouth cup in connection with that particular shell, and possibly in

connection with the fuse. The fact that two that were fired without

the mouth cup burst prematurely indicated they were not premature

explosions, but the bursting up was because the walls were not

strong enough to bear the pressure.

The Acting Chairman. Have you been using guns, shells, and

ammunition recently in the Navy?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have the results been satisfactory or not?

Capt. Twining. Satisfactory, sir. Since I left the Bureau of

Ordnance, I have not seen any defective action of any ordnance; in

the way of ammunition, I mean.

The Acting Chairman. What opportunity have you had to judge

of the character of the guns, ammunition, powder, fuses, etc., fur

nished since then?

Capt. Twining. I have seen the firing of several ships at target

practice. I have conducted the firing from some ships I have been

on myself.

The Acting Chairman. Have you had any experience with the

6-inch guns fired since then with the copper cup?

Capt. Twining. No, sir. I do not know whether it has been

Senator Poindexter. Since—when does that relate to?

Capt. Twining. I have not seen that particular type of gun fired

for probably seven or eight years. That particular type of gun is not

furnished or mounted on our later ships. I think the Alabama, the

Illinois, and the Wisconsin were the last battleships that had that

type of gun. One or two cruisers had it—the Baltimore and one or

two others. There has been very little experience in firing that gun

lately.

The Acting Chairman. Why was the 6-inch gun abandoned?

Capt. Twining. We developed a higher caliber. We adopted a

longer 6-inch gun—longer than the 24-foot. It made up the interme

diary battery of guns for a number of years and the main battery of
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the armored cruisers, but when we came to the dreadnaught battle

ships we dropped to the 5-inch in order to get more guns. I think

there are no more guns of that type on any of the newer ships.

The Acting Chairman. Have you any statement you would like to

make, further than this, Admiral?

Capt. Twining. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did you ever use the 6-inch gun with fixed

ammunition, with the brass mouth cup, under actual firing condi

tions ?

Capt. Twining. No, sir; I have been an umpire on board ships at

target practice, firing those guns, but I never did that firing on a ship '

I was attached to.

Senator Poindexter. Was that when they were loaded—using

loaded projectiles?

Capt. Twining. Not what we call the service projectile, loaded and

fused. In those days we did not have a special target-practice pro

jectile the same as we have now, but they were blind-loaded shells—

what is called common shell; not the explosive armor-piercing shell,

but light shells intended to be used against light armor.

Senator Poindexter. Did you have any brass cup?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; but not a fuse for the purpose of ex

ploding.

Senator Poindexter. Did they explode on contact?

Capt. Twining. They were not intended to explode. They were

intended for target practice.

Senator Poindexter. They had no explosives in them?

Capt. Twining. No, sir; they were loaded with sand.

Senator Poindexter. So there was no opportunity there, really, to

try out the question of the safety of this ammunition used on board

these merchant ships: the conditions were not the same?

Capt. Twining. Never to my knowledge. I do not know whether

any of those guns had been fired with a live shell, with a fused shell.

It has been the practice for a number of years past to have, at any

rate, a target practice each year (we have two or three forms of prac

tice), using the service ammunition for the very purpose of testing

out the ammunition to see if it is in good condition, but that practice

has come in since the older battleships went into the reserve, and I do

not think we have had any opportunity to test that ammunition in

that way.

Senator Poindexter. In regard to the Semple fuses, have you seen

them used in actual firing tests?

Capt. Twining. In tests: yes. sir.

Senator Poindexter. On board ships or at the proving ground?

Capt. Twining. Both. Well, in firing on board ship only from

our experimental ship, the Tallahassee. Perhaps you were present,

Senator, when we did some of the firing.

Senator Poindexter. Yes.

Capt. Twining. Those were Semple fuses.

Senator Poindexter. What was your conclusion as to the reliabil

ity of those fuses?

Capt. Twining. I have never had any reason to believe there was

anything unreliable about them. but. on the contrary, found they

always functioned with a great percentage of satisfaction.
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Senator Poindexter. There was some statement put into the rec

ord here about one occasion where from 60 to 100 per cent of the

tracers proved to be defective. It was claimed that was at a time

when there was a change being made in the power and the pressure

that was exerted in the test. Do you know anything about that ?

Capt. Twining. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did that occur while you were Chief of the

Bureau of Ordnance?

Capt. Twining. If it did, I have lost recollection of it now. I

have had reports from ships that the tracers did not work, but no

such percentage as that.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Do you believe the 6-inch gun is an effec

tive arm for protecting ships from submarines?

Capt. Twining. I do not think the 6-inch 10-caliber gun is as

effective as some others we have. We do not consider it the best gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is a heavy gun, and if the ship rolls it

is very hard to manage?

Capt. Twining. I do not think there is much difficulty about that.

The men are experts in the handling of guns.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you believe that nine shells bursting

inside a gun would incapacitate it and make it ineffective?

Capt. Twining. Nine shells bursting in one gun?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.

Capt. Twining. I think it might. I do not think it necessarily

would.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What is the difference between practice

shells and service shells?

Capt. Twining. Practice shells are made of cast iron, of the same

shape and weight as the service shells, but have no charge in them

and are made of cheap material.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Admiral Earle, in this letter it speaks of

target . shells. Were there two types of shells issued to the Phila

delphia?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. One for target practice and the other

for service?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. One is less expensive. That is the idea.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In this letter. Admiral, this lieutenant,

who speaks of this gun being damaged, says [reading] :

From observation of the action of the shells, the fuses would appear to be

faulty, but it may be that the projectiles are weak and break up on discharge

of the powder, causing their bursting charges to be fired. The shells show

old red paint in spots where the gray paint has worn off, which leads to the

belief that they are all target shells loaded and fused.

In View of what has been stated above, it is recommended that, whether a

6-inch battery is to be retained on this vessel' or not, the present supply of

service shell (6-inch F. S. common shell L. & F. fitted with tracer fuses) be

removed and replaced by new shell, high explosive, if available, for whatever

battery is installed.

Now, as I understand it, those are forged shells which were probably

used in testing, with sand, but they were taken, in view of the fact

that their tensile strength was all right, and practically reloaded

with new powder and a Semple fuse placed in them, and they were

issued with this ammunition. Is there any deterioration or any

effectiveness by reason of the fact that those were old target shells?
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Capt. Twining. No, sir ; they were not old target shells. The F. S.

shell means they were forged steel shell. It is not an armor-piercing

shell, but of high quality.

Senator Frelinguhysen. He speaks of red paint. Is not that a

target shell ?

Capt. Twining. No, sir; that is put on there to keep them from

corroding.

Admiral Earle. Those were all shells of the best quality.

Capt. Twining. Those shells would be all right.

Senator Phelan. You still use that artificial device for determin

ing marksmanship on board ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir ; we have a number of devices, one being

to fire with a small 0.22 caliber rifle, which has a dotter, an electrical

device which just makes dots, and then a check telescope, by which

officers can watch the pointing. That is what Senator Poindexter

asked about when he stated about the firing on the ships—simply

pointing on the ships. There is one thing, Senator Frelinghuysen,

that I wish to speak of. You spoke about the report the young man

made, to the effect that the action of the shell showed that the fuse

had acted badly. It is very difficult from watching the firing to de

tect what causes the trouble. It is very difficult to determine the

cause. Everybody likes to have a theory in regard to these matters,

but when actually tested out, they are generally found to be unsound.

You can not place very much faith on what an officer may say on

snap judgment.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The report of the officer on the Phila

delphia seems to be very full and complete, and he does not express

much opinion. He just simply gives the facts.

Capt. Twining. The fact he says he thought the fuses were de

fective, or the breaking up of a shell—you can not ascertain that

without seeing the gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Can the average lieutenant—there are

three who have testified in their reports that the guns were damaged

and scored—can the average lieutenant state whether a gun is dam

aged or scored?

Capt. Twining. They can tell whether it is scored, but not whether

it is damaged. The average person can not.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You mean to say that the average lieu

tenant in the United States Navy can not tell whether a gun has

become ineffective because its rifling has been scored.

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir; I say that exactly. No one can tell

without having the metal removed. It is not a matter of judgment.

It is a question only to be determined by an actual inspection of the

metal after it is removed from the gun.

The Acting Chairman. You obtain that by measurements ?

Capt. Twining. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any further questions? There

appear to be none. We thank you very much, Admiral. Capt.

Strauss will now be heard.

STATEMENT OF CAPT. JOSEPH STRAUSS, UNITED STATES NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. What position have you at present in the

Navy?

Capt, Strauss. I am captain of the Nevada.
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The Acting Chairman. During what years were you Chief of the

Bureau of Ordnance?

Capt. Strauss. From October, 1913, to December, 1916.

The Acting Chairman. Prior to that time, what experience had

you had in connection with ordnance?

Capt. Strauss. Well, I had spent three years in the Bureau of

Ordnance on design work and nearly a year at the Washington Navy

Yard in charge of the designing section ; over three years as inspector

of ordnance at the proving ground; and two years again as inspector

of ordnance, when I was in command of the Montgomery torpedo

experimental ship.

The Acting Chairman. While you were Chief of the Bureau of

Ordnance, please let the committee know what was the policy; what

was done to insure, for the Navy, good guns, good fuses, good shells,

and good powder, and everything appertaining to ordnance that

you have to furnish the Navy.

Capt. Strauss. In the first place, specifications were prepared,

which were based upon our own experience and knowledge of the

requirements and possibilities. Contracts were let to the lowest bid

der who could show satisfactory proof that he could produce the

required material, and the manufacture was begun under the general

charge of a commissioned officer, as inspector, assisted by skilled

subinspectors. Do you wish the details for each kind?

The Acting Chairman. Not too full ; but just enough to give the

country every assurance that every precaution is being taken.

Capt. Strauss. Starting with the powder, the most careful. speci

fications, inspections, and tests, both chemical and ballistical, are

made. The specifications were based on our own experience in the

manufacture of powder at Indianhead, the place where we have been

manufacturing powder now for 15 years. The ballistic tests were

made at the proving ground and the charges and pressures deter

mined very carefully. The stability tests were not only made at each

stage of manufacture, when the gun cotton was produced which went

into the powder, but were carried on after the powder was dried, both

at the proving ground and on board ship, and is to-day. The stabil

ity test on board ship is checked by a sample of every indexed powder

going afloat or stored in the magazines by a sample kept under sur

veillance at the proving ground at a temperature higher than that to

which it is subjected on board ship, so that even under those adverse

circumstances, if the powder shows signs of deterioration at the sur

veillance magazine at Indianhead. we can take action in respect to

the powder on board ship or in foreign magazine?.

The Acting Chairman. What is the process in connection with

the testing of fuses?

Capt. Strauss. The fuses are manufactured under the supervision

of our own people and are sent to the proving ground for actual

test. The principal test is the safety test, the test for proper ex

plosion upon striking a target, and another one is that the fuse will

not blow out when the explosion takes place; in other words, render

the explosion negative as far as breaking up the shell is concerned.

The shells are made under the supervision of our inspectors on

specifications based upon our own experience. They are tested at

the proving ground for flight, for resistance to breaking up in the

gun under pressure, and for fragmentation ; that is, they shall break
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up properly when the explosive charge is ignited, and for true flight.

Then we have primers which are tested for sensitiveness and for

safety.

We have guns which are tested for pressure 25 per cent in excess

of the maximum pressure they may expect to have afloat. For in

stance, with a pressure of 17 tons, which is the maximum we employ,

the proof pressure would be 21 or 22 tons.

The Acting Chairman. After you have made all those tests for

this ammunition, and it goes into the magazine, is any put in there

until it has gone through the tests?

Capt. Strauss. Nothing is sent to the magazine until it has passed

all the tests under the Bureau of Ordance.

The Acting Chairman. Then it is understood if an oflicer orders

ammunition out of a magazine he has assurance that it is proper

and has been tested ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir ; none other is kept in the magazine.

The Acting Chairman. In reference to fuses, what do you know

about the Semple fuses in comparison to other fuses?

Capt. Strauss. The struggle to get a good detonating fuse has

been a long one. Mr. Hudson Maxim invented a fuse, and after

several years of experiments with the bureau's assistance, it was

thought to be pretty good, and we adopted it, but found out after

wards it was faulty. In the meantime Mr. Semple became interested

in the question of producing a detonating fuse, and did produce one

that was so much better than the Maxim fuse that we discarded the

Maxim fuse entirely and adopted his but we had tried other fuses.

We tried a fuse manufactured in England and known as the Strange

fuse, and a Swedish fuse, known as the Bofors, and of all those the

Semple fuse is undoubtedly superior.

The Acting Chairman. Was that conclusion reached after prac

tical and repeated tests?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was the price paid for the Semple

fuse in comparison with the others?

Capt. Strauss. We paid about $5.50 for the Semple fuse, and I

think the price fixed for the Strand fuse was about $7.50. I do not

remember how much the Maxim fuse cost, but I am inclined to think

perhaps double that. The Bofors fuse, we did not get to the point of

getting a price, from the fact that we did not want to

Lieut. Commander Caskey. It was about double the price.

The Acting Chairman. What is your judgment as to the relative

merit of the fuses used by the American Navy in comparison to those

used by other navies?

Capt. Strauss. I think we are very fortunate in having a better

fuse than any other navy, but, of course, I could only speak about

it with reference to the German fuse, from the fact that we do know,

from reports of engagements between the Germans and the English,

that they have had a great many fuse failures. The German fuses

have failed to explode the shell.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony here in ref

erence to these premature explosions on the 6-inch shell? What is

your judgment as to the cause of these premature explosions?

Capt. Strauss. Well. I accept the judgment of the officers of the

bureau. I just came here to-day and have not investigated for my
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self. I have not had a chance to form an individual judgment as to

what did it, but I am inclined to think the view here expressed by

Admiral Earle is the correct one. It is borne out by the circum

stances surrounding the tests.

The Acting Chairman. What are the circumstances that cause

you to reach that conclusion ?

Capt. Strauss. The 6-inch cartridge case gun is quite an old affair

in the United States Navy. They have been fired many times with

out any kind of trouble with it, that I have ever heard. I am not

sure whether the Indiana had the 6-inch cartridge-case gun or not.

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

Capt. Strauss. Those guns were actually in use in the battle of

Santiago. In other words, many rounds of that ammunition were

fired there with no casualties that I am aware of. We had them on

three ships, the Indiana, Massachusetts, and Oregon, two of which

were engaged in that battle. We had eight of those guns, and they

must have fired a great many rounds without casualty. Since that

date they have been inactive because the guns have been superseded

by much more powerful guns, and their increased power was largely

gotten by increasing the powder charge. The powder charge became

so big they could no longer handle it in a case, and they used the

open-bag system and discarded the case. In other words, the gun

has outgrown any possibility of using the cartridge case, even if we

wished to.

The Acting Chairman. It is only the old gun that uses them?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have you had any experiments in which

The Actin Chairman. While you were at Indianhead ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; I think it is not an exaggeration to say

we have fired thousands of rounds.

The Actin Chairman. While you were at Indianhead ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have you known of any accidents, where

they have rebounded ?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir ; not as far as I know of, did we have any

mouth cup come to the rear of the gun.

The Acting Chairman. When did you stop using the mouth cup

in the experiments ?

Capt. Strauss. We have stopped using these guns actively afloat.

Then the tests of the powder, etc., ceased. That was about, I should

say, a dozen years ago.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever have any reason to believe

that the mouth cup would rebound and produce an accident like this ?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir; of course anything could happen, but

where the contingency is so tremendously remote that you can not

foretell it, you can not provide against it.

Senator Harding. There was, was there not, an unofficial report

of that happening during the Spanish-American War?

Capt. Strauss. I was not aware of that, Senator—the mouth cup

coming back ?

Senator Harding. Yes, sir.

Capt. Strauss. I have never heard of that.

The Acting Chairman. There was one case, the Wisconsin, where

it came back.
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Senator Harding. I understood there was one on the ship named

Prairie. Have you a ship named that ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; but I do not think she has this kind of

gun.

The Acting Chairman. You say these shells were used in the bat

tle of Santiago, and that you heard of no complaints from the use

of them ?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Were you Chief of the Bureau of Ord-

nace when a contract was made with the Raleigh Iron Works, of

Raleigh, N. C. ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Will you please give the committee all

the information you have about that as to the nature of the shells,

the tests, etc. ?

Capt. Strauss. We advertised for a target practice shell, inviting

bidders to bid on them. At that time we had been getting these

shells principally from Richmond, Va.

Senator Poindexter. The Tredegar Works?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; they had manufactured them for some

years, very successfully, and then we have had them from some firms

North. I think, at that time, we had a contract at Mobile with the

Mobile Stove & Pulley Works. These shells can not be considered

ammunition because they are not used in warfare. They are merely

used to practice the men in target practice and therefore they are

made in the simplest and cheapest way possible, usually of cast iron.

The bid of the Raleigh Iron Works was lower- than any other bid we

received, and, under the law, if it were demonstrated that they could

manufacture the shell, we had to give them the contract. The head

of the concern, Mr. Harding, came to Washington and urged that he

be given the contract, and he was accompanied by a representative of

a very large machine tool manufacturing company, who assured the

bureau that he would deliver suitable machinery to manufacture these

shells on time. The work consisted merely of casting in the foundry

and banding. We inquired where he was going to get the iron to

assure us that we had same reasonable expectation of having the con

tract fulfilled, and the cantract was given him. He began to deliver

shells. He had some trouble with having them accepted, and some

were rejected, but he finally did deliver shells which were acceptable

and went into our stock of target practice material.

The Acting Chairman. To what extent did the fuses supplied by

them prove ineffective when tested on the firing ground?

Capt. Strauss. They never made any fuses.

The Acting Chairman. They made no fuses?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Were there any inspectors at the Raleigh

Iron Works to inspect these shells?

Capt. Strauss. Yes. sir ; we had a commissioned officer of the Navy

always there to inspect them.

The Acting Chairman. During the entire process of manu

facture?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Did they later furnish any shells which

were rejected by the inspector?
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Capt. Strauss. No. sir; I do not recall any acceptation after the

inspector rejected them.

The Acting Chairman. Were any accepted which did not meet

the required tests at the proving ground?

Capt. Strauss. None were accepted which did not go through the

required test. I want to say here—because it is pertinent to the mat

ter—that you can not test every shell of a lot. As a matter of fact,

we test, of these target projectiles, up to recently at least, three out

of a hundred. We must rely on that test for the integrity of the

other 97, and we do not accept anything that has not undergone the

test that is provided for.

The Acting Chairman. What is your judgment as to the character

of the ordnance, ammunition, fuses, guns, etc., now possessed by the

American Navy in comparison to other navies?

Capt. Strauss. We think we have as good as the best. I am in

clined to think our powder is the best. There are two other first-

class powers that have the same powder we have. The other powers,

I think, have inferior powder. I think our shell are the best, and our

armor, and I think our guns are, although the Krupp Co. advertise

their ability to furnish guns that are better than ours, but they had

an agent in this country, and when it came to a show-down with this

gun he was not so anxious to supply them.

Senator Poindexter. Did they offer to supply them to our Navy ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; he said he would just like to sell one

sample gun. I said, "All right ; what will it do ? " He began to

back water on that.

Senator Poindexter. I notice that the Kaiser, according to the

newspaper reports—I think it was one of his official written state

ments after the battle of Jutland—did a great deal of boasting about

the superiority of the Krupp gun over the Whitworth gun, the Eng

lish gun. What is your judgment about that?

Capt. Strauss. It would be hard to judge of boasts. They have

always claimed that their gun was the finest, and that everything

else they have is the best. We have no means of determining that

without an actual trial of the gun.

The Acting Chairman. What do you know of the Whitworth

gun?

Capt. Strauss. You mean the Vickers?

The Acting Chairman. He said Whitworth. I supposed they

were large guns made by Whitworth in England.

Capt. Strauss. He has been out of the business for years.

The Acting Chairman. Maybe the Kaiser did not know that.

Senator Harding. Maybe that is the reason they are superior.

Capt. Strauss. I do not think Whitworth has made any guns for

20 years. At one time Whitworth was a great name in the manufac

ture of guns.

Senator Harding. A matter has arisen which is very interesting to

me relative to fuses. Were you familiar with the Government's ex

periments in making a detonating fuse, the one that is used to explode

the shell after piercing the armor?

Capt. Strauss. Yes. sir.

Senator Harding. Did you find that more expensive to manufac

ture by the Government than what you were paying for them?
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Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir ;. and in regard to that I will say that these

orders for fuses, as for all war material, mount up to large sums, and

to check the question of whether the price charged by Semple was a

proper one, we had 100 fuses manufactured at a torpedo station,

where they have an abundance of machinery for such work. I think

the 100 fuses cost about, as was to be expected, $25 apiece.

Lieut. Commander Casket. Yes, sir; just about that.

Capt. Strauss. That merely furnished the torpedo station an op

portunity to estimate how much the fuses would cost at the torpedo

station if they would provide themselves with proper labor and time-

saving tools, and their estimate showed that the price we were paying

to Semple was a very fair and just one, and we did not pursue the

matter any further.

Senator Harding. You did not think the Government could manu

facture any cheaper than the private manufacturer?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir ; not from that test.

Senator Harding. Another question was raised, and that is of the

protection of the designer of this particular fuse or the inventor, if

you please. Do you think it a prudent policy to encourage a man to

give his exclusive services to the Government?

Capt. Strauss. I do, in that Mr. Semple is a most painstaking and

highly informed engineer, and he has interested himself in producing

just such things. He is the inventor of the tracer which has been

found so valuable that it has been adopted by all the navies of the

world. That is a very small thing, as big as your thumb, that the

shells carry, which makes the shell carry a light from the time it

leaves the gun until it strikes the target. He invented that and pat

ented it and sells it to us and to anybody. The fuse he invented he

did not patent, but kept it a secret and gave us a monopoly of its

purchase.

Senator Harding. Did you ever make any experiments in making

the high-explosive fuse which you now submit to competitive bids?

Capt. Strauss. You mean the medium caliber fuse.

Senator Harding. Did you ever experiment in making that?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; we have manufactured them and had

other people manufacture them. The problem of the medium fuse

or the ignition fuse is not a difficult one, and we have thrown the

purchase of such fuses open to competitive bidding, but Semple has

underbid his competitors in that respect, and he is now making all

ignition fuses for the Navy.

Lieut. Commander Casket. Not now. He has less than 25 per

cent.

Capt. Strauss. I am speaking of the time when I left the bureau.

Senator Harding. When you made the Government experiments

did you find the private manufacturer made them cheaper than the

Government ?

Capt. Strauss. I do not believe we went heavily into the manu

facture of ignition fuses—at least not in my time. We made some,

perhaps, in Admiral Twining's time.

Capt. Twining. It was before my time.

Senator Harding. You had well established the fact that the de

tonating fuse is made at a fair price and more cheaply than the

Government could make them.
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Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is the price paid for them in com

parison to other fuses that are

Capt. Strauss. The detonating fuse ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes—the price.

Capt. Strauss. The price I stated. The only other comparison

I can give is the Maxim fuse which we used to have, which, I think,

cost perhaps double the Strange fuse, which costs perhaps 40 or

50 per cent more than the Semple fuse.

The Acting Chairman. In the letter which we have not made

public, it is stated that in July, 1915, the specifications were made

of such a character in regard to the fuses that only the Semple Co.

could supply the material asked for. State whether, since 1915, these

fuses have been open to competition.

Capt. Strauss. They have been open to competition.

The Acting Chairman. Even taking the detonating fuses that

Semple furnishes, and the Government has the exclusive use of—

have you ever offered others who could furnish the fuses an oppor

tunity to furnish them ?

Capt. Strauss. We sent abroad and obtained one or two other

fuses we knew of ; that is, the Swedish fuse and the English fuse, and

we kept for years, under test, the experimental fuse manufactured

by Mr. Watson, of Philadelphia, and we not only tested his fuse at

a great expense, but we assisted him financially in producing a fuse

in order that we would have more than one source of supply, but

Watson never met with any degree of success with his invention.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it—see if I clearly un

derstand the situation—these fuses were advertised for, with certain

specifications, which will accomplish certain results ; penetrate armor

so far, without exploding, and anybody that has a device or fuse that

can accomplish that, has an opportunity to have it proven and

tested?

Capt. Strauss. We would be glad to hear from them.

The Acting Chairman. And consequently, there is no monopoly,

except this is the only fuse that measures up to the specifications

and will give the result you desire ?

Capt. Strauss. That is correct.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any other statement you wish to

make ?

Capt. Strauss. No. sir. I think Senator Poindexter was inter

ested in this scoring of guns—or maybe it was Senator Freling-

huysen.

Senator Poindexter. I know just what you refer to. I do not

know, however, whether I asked the question or not. I was not

specially interested in that, but I should be glad to hear any state

ments you may care to make on the subject.

Capt. Strauss. Well, it is just as Admiral Twining says, that the

average, naval officer is not in a position to judge whether a gun

has been irreparably damaged or not. because it had a part of the

bore gouged out. and it is a subject of careful examination after

wards to determine that. In support of that position that I take,

I want to say that we have, at Indianhead, fired a great many

rounds from guns that have had metal gouged out from the bore.

\
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The Acting Chairman. You ascertain this by measurements, as

Admiral Twining stated ''.

Capt. Strauss. Yes. sir: if the tangential strength has been im

paired or the depth of the gouge is sufficient to do that, we ascertain

that and determine whether it is safe to fire a gun. We prefer to have

guns perfect in all respects, but we would not discard a gun because

it had a part gouged out.

Senator Poindexter. I want to say that I do not regard that as one

of the very important matters that have been brought out in his

hearing. I suppose that any naval officer contends it is not a good

thing to have these scores in the gun. They all admit they are a

bad thing to have, and Admiral Earle very properly replaced a gun

that was damaged in that way.

Another thing was admitted by everybody, and it seems to me

should be eliminated from this inquiry, and that is these premature

explosions that occurred on the St. Louis were not desirable things;

that that character of firing, in those circumstances, could not be

effective in the case of firing at an enemy's submarine.

I might add here—it is rather irrelevant—but I would like to

say that the Navy has shown great efficiency and remarkable energy

in arming these merchant ships to the extent they have done, and in

the time they have done it. I am not disposed to blame anybody.

Personally, Admiral Earle has used ammunition evidently that has

been approved by the Navy for a great many years, but, all of that

being true, there is no reason why we should not inquire into it. and

I think the Admiral and the Navy deserve to be complimented for

recognizing the defects and discarding them promptly, as they did,

in the case of the brass caps. But there is now a question or two

that I would like to ask you, Admiral Strauss, on that point, in re

gard to those brass caps. I understood you to say that you had seen

them used a great many times under actual firing conditions.

Capt. Strauss. No, sir ; I have fired a great number of them myself

at Indianhead, in testing cartridge cases and never had one come

back and injure anyone.

Senartor Poindeoster. It was not, then, with loaded projectiles in

the gun at the time.

Capt. Strauss. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. There was no opportunity to determine the

effect of it on premature explosions?

Capt. Strauss. We did make certain fuse tests—that is. from the

6-inch 40-caliber guns—in those days, when I first went to the prov

ing ground, and under those circumstances, without anything hap

pening, and I repeat that that same outfit went through the Battle

of Santiago without anything going wrong.

Senator Poindexter. In the Battle of Santiago were these 6-inch

cartridge-case ammunitions fired with loaded propectiles?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. And brass caps ?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. With the 6-inch guns?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What caliber of gun?

Capt. Strauss. Forty caliber.

1051X0—17 9
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Senator Poindexter. What ships were they on?

Capt. Strauss. The Indiana, Massachusetts, and Oregon. The

Massachusetts was not in the engagement, but I do not doubt that she

must have fired, in their shooting along the Cuban coast, many shots,

too.

Senator Poindexter. That is quite interesting, for this reason :

Were there any premature explosions or accidents at that time with

this ammunition?

Capt. Strauss. If there were. I have never heard of them. I do

not know.

Senator Poindexter. How do you reconcile that circumstance,

which would seem to be a good test under the best conditions in the

world for a test—use in battle—that there were no premature explo

sions and no untoward circumstances? I understand you have proved

now, to the conclusion of the department, that this ammunition—I

mean by ammunition the shells, cap, projectile, and all used, under

actual service conditions

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir; I think they are correct.

Senator Poindexter. If they are correct, why was it no accident

occurred in the Battle of Santiago?

Capt. Strauss. Because they are using different fuses than they

were using at Santiago.

Senator Poindexter. The fuse is the cause of it.

Capt. Strauss. The new fuse, combined with that brass cap,

makes a bad combination, if that theory is correct, and I believe it is.

Senator Poindexter. There was some testimony—I will not take

the trouble and time to find it in the record—the other day. I under

stand that this matter is new, and that opinions are being developed

and changed, and very properly. There was some statement made by

Admiral Earle in explaining the manner in which these brass caps

might cause premature explosions, that they caused a jam in the bore

of the gun.

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. That would be quite a different operation

from the hammer action against the fuse, would it not?

Capt. Strauss. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. According to your theory, the fact there were

no accidents with a different kind of fuse, I infer that probably this

was the cause of it

Capt. Strauss. Very likely. I have not had a chance to form any

judgment for myself, but it is a very live problem, which people hav

ing experience in the Bureau of Ordnance have worked on, and I am

inclined to accept their views without examination.

Senator Poindexter. What was the difference, in its bearing on

this question, between the fuses used in these guns in the battle of

Santiago and on board the St. Louis, Mongolia, and Philadelphia?

Capt. Strauss. Well, it is quite a different fuse.

Senator Poindexter. Was the fuse used at that time anything

similar in appearance to this?

Capt. Strauss. Somewhat ; but it had no tracer element.

Senator Poindexter. And consequently no likelihood of a powder

explosion from pressure on this portion here or this partition?

Capt. Strauss. No, sir.
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Senator Poindexter. Now, I just want to say this, in order that

anybody reading the record here may not suppose that everybody

agrees with the idea that Senator Harding hinted at—and I do not

know whether he meant that as a general proposition, or to confine it

only to the manufacture of fuses—that the Government could not

manufacture anything cheaper than private manufacturers. I think

that is rather irrelevant, but I want to say that the Government is

manufacturing a great many things in the Navy Yard here very much

cheaper than the private manufacturers can manufacture them.

The Acting Chairman. I hope we will not go into that in this

investigation.

Senator Harding. If we do we will not be able to call any better

witness than Senator Poindexter.

Senator Poindexter. I am not a witness at all. I just want to

make that observation.

The Acting Chairman. I hope we will not get into that diversion.

Senator Harding. You will not with me.

Senator Poindexter. When was the Semple fuse developed?

Capt. Strauss. I should say about 1910. Admiral Twining can

give you a more exact date than that. It was in existence when I

came to the bureau in 1913; 1910, was it not, Admiral?

Capt. Twining. The date of the discarding of the Maxim fuse in

favor of the Semple fuse was some time late in 1911 or early in 1912.

Senator Poindexter. Do you know, Admiral, what advantages the

zinc mouth cup has over the brass mouth cup?

Admiral Stratjss. No; I do not know why they should substitute

zinc for brass. Zinc is a little cheaper. I think the material for a

zinc mouth cup would probably cost about one-third what a brass

mouth cup would cost.

Senator Poindexter. Were the powder charges used in these cases

that are under investigation the same as those used in the tests at

Indianhead in the 6-inch guns?

Admiral Strauss. Admiral Earle can answer that.

Admiral Earle. Yes, Senator.

Senator Poindexter. They were, were they?

Admiral Earle. Except that when we could not get the premature

bursts we increased the charge, made it bigger, so that there would be

a little more pressure so as to break the shell up.

Senator Poindexter. That is, in the tests at Indianhead?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. You made it bigger than the charge used on

board of ships?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. I have not any further questions.

The Acting Chairman. Admiral, Admiral Earle has stated that

he determined to substitute a wooden piece for this copper mouth

cup, and that he thinks that will obviate any difficulty that was oc

casioned by the use of that copper mouth cup. Do you think that

would accomplish good results?

Admiral Strauss. Did he say wood?

Senator Harding. I understood Admiral Earle to say they were

going to put a cork piece in.

The Acting Chairman. Cork or wooden. Put the word

" cork " in.
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Admiral Eakle. It is compressed cork or fiber, both of which we

are experimenting with.

Admiral Strauss. I think fiber might serve, but I have some

doubt that wood or compressed cork would answer, and I base that

on experience with wood.

Senator Harding. Would not a fiber cover admit of moisture?

Admiral Strauss. They can shellac it. you know, and cover that

with paint.

The Acting Chairman. I think his idea was to shellac it and

cover it with paint and other material.

Admiral Earle. Cover it with Ceballine paint.

Senator Poindexter. Do you use a mouth cup in fixed ammunition

of small bore ?

Admiral Strauss. The projectile itself closes the case.

Senator Poindexter. This is the only bore of gun in which this

brass mouth cup is used, is it ?

Admiral Strauss. It is the only one. It is so very large that it

is impossible for any man to handle the case and the projectile as

cne piece of fixed ammunition. That was the case with the 5-inch,

so that to-day the 4-inch is the largest size fixed ammunition that

we have.

Lieut. Casket. The 5-inch 40, Admiral, has a fixed cartridge—

the old type.

Admiral Strauss. I am speaking of the modern manufacture of

to-day. The 4-inch is the largest that we produce.

Senator Poindexter. Is there a mouth cup used in that?

Admiral Strauss. No mouth cup. The ammunition is really

fixed, and closes the mouth of the case, just as it does in a revolver

projectile.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, the 6-inch is the only

gun in which the projectile is separated?

Admiral Strauss. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. The gun is larger than this [indicating],

and the shell is put in the gun first?

Admiral Strauss. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. The 5-inch gun is loaded that way now,

is it?

Admiral Strauss. Yes; the shell first, and a bag of powder.

The Acting Chairman. The other shells are like a cartridge in a

revolver—they consist of one piece ?

Admiral Strauss. Yes; the 4-inch, the 3-inch, the 1-pounders, and

6-pounders are made just like a rifle cartridge in one piece. The

5-inch 40 is also made in one piece, but that [indicating] never was

made in one piece ; it was made in two pieces.

Senator Poindexter. How is the propelling charge of powder

exploded in the guns, when it is put in in a bag ?

Admiral Strauss. They have a primer going through the breech

plug, and there is a stream of black powder right on the base of the

charge.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any questions you gentlemen

desire to ask the admiral? (No response.) Thank you very much,

Admiral Strauss.

Now, we would like to examine Commander Lackey, the present

inspector at the proving ground.
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STATEMENT OF COMMANDER HENRY E. LACKEY, INSPECTOR AT

THE PROVING GROUND, INDIAN HEAD, MD.

The Acting Chairman. Commander, what position have you at

present in the Navy?

Commander Lackey. Commander in the Navy; inspector of ord

nance in charge at Indian Head Proving Ground ; in charge of the

smokeless powder factory.

The Acting Chairman. What is the system you have there now in

testing shells, say, first?

Commander Lackey. The shells are supplied under the specifica

tions of the Bureau of Ordnance, and the tests of the same are drawn

up. We receive a notice from the inspector—a copy of a notice from

the inspectors of ordnance at the various manufacturing plants,

stating that certain shells have been selected for test. The original

of that letter goes to the bureau and is forwarded to us, either in the

original or a copy, directing that this test take place in accordance

with the specifications. These shells are numbered, selected by the

inspector for various characteristics of hardness or chemical con

tent, or something of that kind ; he has some particular reason, and

his endeavor is to pick those which are considered the poorest of the

lot they represent. If it is a large caliber or any other caliber,

and the manufacturers wish to be represented at the test, they are

notified of the date the test is set for, and all preparations are made

ready for that time, when they can be on the scene. In the case of

large shells it is usual to pick the poorest one we can for plate work;

that is, we want to pick the weakest shells possible for the work.

Out of those selected a certain number have to pierce armor plate and

be recovered in the sand behind the plate in an effective condition

for bursting; that is, the point must be gone, but the cavity must

not be exposed, and, if filled with the regulation filler, it must show

an effective burst.

The Acting Chairman. That is, it must explode after it gets

through the armor?

Commander Lackey. It must be in condition to do that.' Owing

to the limited space we have at Indian Head we have not been ex

ploding them. Other shells are fired down the range for what they

call flight tests—to see that they do not tumble, strip their bands, or

perform an erratic flight. They have to range a certain distance

and to fall within specified limits, which are set by the shell that have

been considered standard before that. A smaller shell is fired

through tin plate, which represents the plate used in the manufac

ture of torpedo boats, which is to find out if the fuse is sensitive

enough to cause an explosion with the slight retardation on the very

thin plate, at high velocity.

The Acting Chairman. After these tests are made, you send your

report to the Bureau of Ordnance?

Commander Lackey. Yes ; direct to the Bureau of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. And on that report made by you the shells

are either accepted or rejected?

Commander Lackey. On our report and nothing else.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of any shells having been

accepted that did not measure up to the tests or the requirements of

the Bureau of Ordnance?
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Commander Lackey. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have any ever been accepted while you

were there?

Commander Lackey. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And how long have you been there?

Commander Lackey. Since the 2d of January of this year.

The Acting Chairman. Did you make the test on the 89 shells

that were taken from the St. Louis?

Commander Lackey. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Please state to the committee the result of

that test and what was done.

Commander Lackey. We first received orders, shortly before

April 21, immediately after the firing on the St. Louis, to test a cer

tain number. We got hold of 20 of these shells—10 at the Ameri

can Ordnance Co. and 10 at the United States Projectile Co.—and

they were fired at pressures ranging from 25 per cent to 30 per

cent below and above service pressure. Of those 20, all func

tioned perfectly on their first impact with the water in the river.

That was telephoned up, and a special report made of it to the

bureau. So far those shells seemed perfectly satisfactory, but were

not fired in connection with the brass mouth cup. We then received

a large number from the St. Louis, and of those we 'fired 76. Of

those 76 we had two premature explosions. Two broke up; one

of them was—in fact, both of them were manufactured prior to

1900, and one we had difficulty in identifying, and the other one was

what we call a large high-capacity shell with a comparatively thin

wall, both being of cast steel and not of forged steel; and we then

came to the conclusion, as I believed at that time, that it was due to

the faulty shell, as we had out of 76. just two premature explosions.

Then, later we had the records of the proving ground searched, and

from the period of 1897 to 1912, during the heaviest 6-inch firing

after 1912, since which Admiral Earle stated very little of this work

has been done, and during that time there were but four cases of

6-inch shells breaking up. When later reports came in, after the

ammunition had been replaced on those ships, we had orders to fire

16, and later 8 of those and six or 25 per cent gave premature results.

All of those latter ones were fired with the mouth cup.

The Acting Chairman. Which had the mouth cup on them? The

last 24?

Commander Lackey. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And how many premature explosions did

you have?

Commander Lackey. Six.

The Acting Chairman. That is, out of the 24?

Commander Lackey. Yes ; six, or 25 per cent.

The Acting Chairman. And what conclusion did you reach from

those two tests?

Commander Lackey. Then the conclusion reached was that a

combination of the new fuse with the mouth cup was what was caus

ing the damage, as the same fuse, shell, powder cartridge case, and

gun had been used previously, with the exception of the mouth cup,

when only 2 out of 96 had gone off prematurely.

Senator Harding. Were your proving guns injured any by these

premature explosions?
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Commander Lackey. Not materially, sir; they were slightly

scored, but I presume the scoring was no worse or was less than

what was reported by the various officers on the merchant ships

afloat. We did not have time to send the gun back to the Washing

ton yard for accurate measurement. We simply turned down the

compression band on the shell and passed it through, using the shell

as a guage, and as it went through smoothly and we were able to

pass it through by hand, we continued to fire the gun, and have not

found that it lost any accuracy.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any other statement you wish to

make to the commitee regarding this matter ?

Commander Lackey. There is just one thing, sir, which I do not

think has been brought out—not to-day. May I have that mouth

cup [indicating]—the broken piece? It may be a simple thing, but

it may enlighten the committee. You understand that this [exhibit

ing] has been fired in the reverse ; you can tell that easily, the letter

ing being backwards on the shell.

Senator Poindexter. How is that?

Commander Lackey. In firing, the pressure breaks this off at some

bearing point, ragged, as you see, and turns or curls that up against

the base of the shell. You can see the lettering there is backwards

[exhibiting] .

Senator Poindexter. Yes.

Commander Lackey. Now, to start a shell in the rifling requires in

the neighborhood of 4 tons per square inch pressure. This evidently

lets go at something higher than that, and when it lets go it lets go

quickly, and there is where the hammer goes that they were speaking

of here to-day.

Senator Poindexter. And you entertain the belief that that occa

sioned the premature explosion?

Commander Lackey. Yes, sir. This happens no doubt with this

type of fuse in every firing of the gun, but, from some cause, it is

not sufficient to result in a premature explosion on every one.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony here of the

various Chiefs of the Bureau of Ordnance, in reference to the tests

made of powder and fuses and cartridges, and so forth ?

Commander Lackey. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And their statements are correct?

Commander Lackey. Absolutely.

The Acting Chairman. And you agree with them in every respect,

do you?

Commander Lackey. Absolutely, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Taking this exhibit here, marked " B," how

do you account for that being twisted back again toward the breech

of the gun ? It is first bent toward the muzzle of the gun, with the

force of the explosion, and then a portion of it is bent back again.

Commander Lackey. That struck an awning stanchion—an iron

support of an awning on the ship—the Mongolia. I have another

one here, of which I have a photograph, which I set up purposely,

as it looked so much like that, when that came from the Mongolia.

[Exhibiting photograph.] That one on the left struck what we call

a screen pole at Indianhead. and was picked up about 40 feet in

front of the gun, which made an exhibit extremely like this one
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which did the unfortunate killing aboard the Mongolia. This larger

one is simply a picture of this one [indicating].

Senator Poindexter. Where was this one fired that you now hold

in your hand?

Commander Lackey. At Indianhead, and I had it identified;

and it fell in the water, and at low tide we picked it up.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any other questions that any

Senator wishes to ask Commander Lackey? [No response.] Thank

you, very much, Commander. The three warrant officers that were

on the St. Louis are waiting out here, and if it be the pleasure of the

committee, I think we ought to hear them now. They have been

out there all day.

Senator Harding. Yes; let us not keep them waiting.

The Acting Chairman. Lieut. Knauss is in Europe with the fleet.

He w'as the commander of the gun crew on the St. Louis. It is, of

course, impossible to have him here, so I have asked the Secretary

of the Navy to bring before the committee all the warrant and gun

officers who were on the 'S'i'. Louis, and they are now here. We will

hear Mr. W. E. Myers.

STATEMENT OF GUNNER'S MATE WALTER E. MYERS.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Myers, this is the Naval Affairs Com

mittee, which is investigating the premature explosion of shells on

the St. Louis. You were on the St. L,ouis?

Mr. Myers. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And there were some premature explo

sions of shells?

Mr. Myers. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was your position on the St. Louis?

Mr. Myers. I was the gunner's mate at the batteries.

The Acting Chairman. What position did you say you held?

Mr. Myers. Gunner's mate at the batteries.

The Acting Chairman. What were your duties?

Mr. Myers. I had general supervision of the guns; I had to look

out for their condition and one thing and another, and to supply the

ammunition, and I also had charge of the after gun.

The Acting Chairman. Tell the committee, as far as you may

know, what occurred. How many shots did you fire on the St. Louis

at targent practice?

Mr. Myers. Well, Ave fired, I believe, 45 or 48 shots at target prac

tice, and out of the 45 there were about 12, I think, exploded in the

bore of the gun, and a few more might have exploded outside

of the gun—some within about 500 yards of the ship, and others

perhaps farther away.

The Acting Chairman. What was the caliber of the guns in which

these premature explosions occurred?

Mr. Myers. I think it was a Mark 9 gun, 35-caliber.

The Acting Chairman. A 6-inch gun?

Mr. Myers. Yes; a 6-inch gun.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have charge of one of these guns?

Mr. Myers. Yes; I had the after gun.

The Acting Chairman. Were there any premature explosions with

your gun?
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Mr. Myers. There was on all the guns.

The Acting Chairman. How many were there on the gun that

you had?

Mr. Myers. I can not say exactly how many there were, but per

haps four or five.

The Acting Chairman. Was that the only target practice you

had?

Mr. Myers. That is all. We had target practice on two different

days. On the second day out we fired three shots per gun, and later

on we fired the rest of it. We fired at an iceberg about the third day

out.

Senator Poindexter. A pretty good-sized iceberg, was it '.

Mr. Myers. Yes, sir; pretty good size.

Senator Poindexter. Did you hit it?

Mr. Myers. We hit it after about the fourth shot.

The Acting Chairman. How far was the iceberg from the ship ?

Mr. Myers. I should judge we commenced firing at her about

four thousand yards, and one gun commenced firing at six thousand

yards, and we worked on to about fourteen hundred.

The Acting Chairman. And how many times did you hit the

iceberg?

Mr. Myers. Well, No. 2 gun, I believe, hit it twice, and No. 3 gun

hit it twice, and I don't know about No. 1.

Coxswain Janac. One shot hit it with parts of the shell.

Mr. Myers. Yes; parts of the shell; the shell exploded over the

iceberg, in the same manner as shrapnel.

Senator Harding. You did not have a real target ?

Mr. Myers. We made a target, but it sunk ; it turned over on us.

Senator Harding. I mean, a live target.

Mr. Myers. Oh, no ; we did not see anything.

The Acting Chairman. Did you see what became of these copper-

mouth cups when the guns were fired ?

Mr. Myers. No: I did not see anything of them. The shell went

into a million pieces, I guess, when it left the water.

The Acting Chairman. Did you see any traces of the mouth cup

anywhere ?

Mr. Myers. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Or any indication as to what direction

it went ?

Coxswain Janac. Sometimes you could not even trace the shell;

you could not see it hit any place.

Mr. Myers. The first shell that blew up I thought the rotating

band had come off. I did not think the shell exploded, and that

possibly it might have been the cup. The cup might have flown out

to one side.

The Acting Chairman. You thought

Mr. Myers. I thought the rotating band had been torn off as the

shell was going through the rifle.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have that idea from something

you saw ?

Mr. Myers. Yes; something I saw to one side of the shell.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever shoot any of these 6-inch

guns before ?

Mr. Myers. Not this kind ; I never used that mark of a gun before.
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The Acting Chairman. You never used one of those guns with

the shell and cartridge divided?

Mr. Myers. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you shot your gun how many times?

Mr. Myers. Well, we fired about 18 shots on the after gun

altogether.

The Acting Chairman. And how many premature explosions oc

curred in those 18 shots?

Mr. Myers. There were about four or five. I can not say ac

curately, because I kept no exact account of it. We made out a state

ment afterwards, when we were in Liverpool, and they turned that in.

The Acting Chairman. Who was your commander?

Mr. Myers. Lieut. Knauss.

The Acting Chairman. Did he read his report to you?

Mr. Myers. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. You did not see his report?

Mr. Myers. No, sir. I helped him make his report up; that is,

about the scores and the rifling torn, and one thing and another ; but

he did not show me his completed report.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know about the substance of

what it was?

Mr. Myers. Well, I have an idea that there were certain scores

in the rifling or the bore of the gun.

The Acting Chairman. Have you any idea what caused these

premature explosions? What is vour idea as to what occasioned

them?

Mr. Myers. Well, I do not know. It might have been the fuse,

and it might have been the protection cap. We can not tell. The

fact that the shell blew up quite a distance from the ship: and then

again they would blow up in the gun, makes me think it might have

been the fuse.

The Acting Chairman. Now, take the explosion on your ship.

Describe how far the shell went. Were they all in the gun—the one

that you had control of?

Mr. Myers. No ; they were not all in the gun. Some of them were

quite a distance from the ship, and some of them were in the gun. I

am absolutely certain that several of them were in the gun, by the

way the bore was scored. In one gun I took a file and filed it right

near the muzzle; it was gouged out, and I had to file it out there.

The Acting Chairman. You did not see any submarines?

Mr. Myers. No; we did not see any submarines.

The Acting Chairman. Considering the premature explosions you

had, and the mental shocks you had, what kind of record do you

think you made in shooting?

Mr. Myers. You mean, if we had seen a submarine?

' The Acting Chairman. Oh, no. I mean what was the record in

shooting, outside of the explosions?

Mr. Myers. Outside of the explosions. I think it was pretty good.

Outside of the explosions, it was good. Of course, you could not tell

which shell was going to explode.

The Acting Chairman. Exclusive of the premature explosions,

you think you made a pretty good record from the number of hits

for the number of shots?

Mr. Myers. I do, yes, sir. I think we had good pointers.
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The Acting Chairman. We take a pride in the accuracy of our

gunners, and we want to say that you did make a very good record.

Now, have you given any serious thought to what occasioned these

premature explosions?

Mr. Myers. Well, the only thing that I ever laid it to was the fuse,

all the time.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever think of the mouth cup in

reference to it; affecting the fuse ?

Mr. Myers. Well, I have not paid much attention to that. Of

course, some of them, they do not protect it enough, I know, and

others do, having the cups.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever have any premature explo

sions on any other guns, except the 6-inch gun ?

Mr. Myers. I could not say as to that. Well, I have only been a

shipmate in a secondary battery of guns—6-inch, and 5-inch3 and

3-inch.

The Acting Chairman. You have fired other guns, but they were

not 6-inch guns?

Mr. Myers. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. With the same fuse that this 6-inch gun

has, practically?

Mr. Myers. Practically the same.

The Acting Chairman. And you have had no explosions prema

turely on those guns ?

Mr. Myers. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Does any Senator wish to ask the witness

any questions?

Senator Poindexter. What guns were they—the other guns besides

6-inch guns that you fired?

Mr. Myers. Well, 6-inch guns were the only guns we had on the

St. Louis.

Senator Poindexter. Yes, but you had been on other ships where

they had a secondary battery of 5-inch guns?

Mr. Myers. Yes ; we have 5-inch guns on the Arizona.

Senator Poindexter. Have you fired those guns and been present

when they were fired?

Mr. Myers. Yes; I have been present while they were fired; we

fired some a few days ago.

Senator Poindexter. Are there any other small caliber of guns?

Mr. Myers. Yes ; 3-inch ; that is fixed ammunition, with shell and

cartridge in one piece.

Senator Poindexter. J)id you ever have any premature explosions

in either the 5-inch or 3-inch guns?

Mr. Myers. That is the first explosion I have seen or the only

one since I have been in the Navy.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy ?

Mr. Myers. Eleven years.

Senator Poindexter. How many of these shells that prematurely

exploded went off inside of the gun ?

Mr. Myers. Well, I should judge out of all that we fired, there

were about 12. I am not absolutely certain of that.

Senator Poindexter. And how many exploded outside of the gun

and before they reached the target?
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Mr. Myers. There were four or five, but I am not certain of the

number. I think there is a record of that somewhere.

Senator Poindexter. What indications were there of the explosion

of the shell, either inside or outside the gun? When it exploded

inside, for instance, how did you know it ?

Mr. Myers. Well, it scattered out ; it looked like bird shot all over

the water, as soon as it left the muzzle, and as it exploded a distance

from the gun, we coidd see it ; it would blow up in the air. We saw

one shot that blew up directly over the iceberg, just exactly as though

it were a time fuse.

Senator Poindexter. What sort of smoke was given out when the

shell exploded? Black or white smoke?

Mr. Myers. Why, I did not notice much as to the smoke. It was

just a puff.

Senator Poindexter. How far from the guns were these other

shells, when they exploded prematurely outside of the guns?

Mr. Myers. I could not say exactly how far they were. We fired

at that iceberg, and there was one that blew up over that. At that

time I think it was about 2,000 yards—one shot from the No. 2 gun.

Senator Poindexter. Did any of them explode outside of the gun

close by the muzzle, shortly after they had left the gun ?

Mr. Myers. There were one or two that blew up very close to the

ship.

Senator Poindexter. That is all I have to ask.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Mr. Myers. Now,

Mr. Span, will you come around ?

STATEMENT OF BOATSWAIN'S MATE FRANK SPAN.

The Acting Chairman. What is your full name?

Mr. Span. Frank Span.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy?

Mr. Span. Eleven and a half years.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position in the

Navy?

Mr. Span. Boatswain's mate, first class.

The Acting Chairman. What are the duties of your position?

What do you do?

Mr. Span. I take charge of a gun's crew. I was in charge of the

party at that time, with the senior petty officer present; I was re

sponsible for the discipline.

The Acting Chairman. Now, tell what occurred. Did you have

charge of one of the gun crews or the whole party ?

Mr. Span. One crew.

The Acting Chairman. One crew ?

Mr. Span. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Now, tell us what occurred in the firing

of your gun ; how many shots you fired, and what was the nature of

these shots, and if there were any premature explosions of the shells.

Mr. Span. Well, I fired about, all told, it must have been between

15 and 18 rounds on No. 1 gun. I did not pay any attention to the

shell or anything like that, but the gun was scored up on the inside,

and there was one shell that I noticed particularly, because it ex

ploded over the berg, and a piece of it hit the ice, and the rest of it
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hit all around in the water, and that was at a range of 6,000 yards—

6.200. That was one of our last shells we fired out of that gun;

and, outside of that, I could not say any more.

The Acting Chairman. How many exploded in the gun?

Mr. Span. Some must have, from the way it was scored, but I do

not know how many.

The Acting Chairman. How many do you think?

Mr. Span. I would not say; I never paid any attention to that.

The Acting Chairman. AVhat do you think it was that occasioned

these premature explosions?

Mr. Span. That is something that I can not fathom out myself. I

was the man who was closing the plug and loading and firing the gun.

Outside of that I do not know much.

The Acting Chairman. Was care taken of the gun, so that there

could not be any tampering with it at all ?

Mr. Span. Oh, yes; the gun was fired properly, and we had sen

tries over the guns all the time—armed men—from the first day' we

stepped aboard until we left, continually watching them. We had a

guard watching them at all times.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever shoot these 6-inch guns be

fore that trip?

Mr. Span. Not that type.

The Acting Chairman. You have fired other guns in the Navy

frequently, and seen them fired?

Mr. Span. Oh, yes.

The Acting Chairman. To what extent have you had premature

bursting of shells?

Mr. Span. That is something new for me. I never saw anything

like that before.

The Acting Chairman. This is the only time in your experience of

11 years in the Navv that vou have seen any premature explosion -ef

shells?

Mr. Span. Yes ; what they call a premature explosion. This is the

first time I ever saw anything like that.

The Acting Chairman. Do you want to ask any questions, Senator

Poindexter ?

Senator Poindexter. No: I have nothing.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Mr. Span. Now,

Mr. Janac.

STATEMENT OF COXSWAIN VICTOR JANAC.

The Acting Chairman. What is your full name?

Mr. Janac Victor Janac.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy ?

Mr. Janac Nine years.

The Acting Chairman. Were you in the gun crew on the St.

Louis?

Mr. Janac Yes, sir ; I had No. 2 gun.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position in the Navy ?

Mr. Janac I am a coxswain.

The Acting Chairman. What are the duties of your position ?

Mr. Janac I am in this man's division on the ship [indicating].

The Acting Chairman. Can you tell us what you saw and what

occurred in the firing on the St. Louis?
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Mr. Janac I had one premature explosion inside of the gun, be

cause I saw the pieces drop in the water about 500 yards off, and then

there was another one burst right directly over the iceberg. It was a

good shot, but it was just as Mr. Myers said—as if it were set with a

time fuse.

The Acting Chairman. Have you given any thought or reached

any conclusion as to what caused these premature explosions ?

Mr. Janac No, sir; I have not.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever shoot one of these 6-inch

guns of this type before?

Mr. Janac Not of this type ; no, sir.

The Acting Chairman. But you have fired other guns in the

Navy?

Mr. Janac Oh, yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Did you ever have or see any premature

explosions outside of these?

Mr. Janac This is the first I ever saw.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy?

Mr. Janac Nine years.

The Acting Chairman. You think you made a pretty good record

there, not counting these premature explosions?

Mr. Janac One shot was fine. It could not have been any better.

The Acting Chairman. It could not have been any better?

Mr. Janac If it had been a submarine, she would have gone down.

The Acting Chairman. That was fired from your gun?

Mr. Janac Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you would have been pleased and

praised as much as Clark is now if that had been a submarine.

Mr. Janac It was fine.

The Acting Chairman. Who were the other officers? Were there

any other warrant officers on the St. Louis, except you three?

Mr Janac Just we three, and Lieut. Knauss.

The Acting Chairman. And you three, with Lieut. Knauss, had

control of the guns entirely ?

Mr. Janac Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you gave directions as to the loading

and shooting and everything?

Mr. Janac Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Was any damage done on the ship by the

premature explosions?

Mr. Janac No, sir ; not that I know of. We looked all around the

mounts and tested everything, but there was nothing wrong around

there.

Senator Poindexter. What appearance did the explosions have—

the premature explosions outside of the guns, when they exploded

prematurely after they left the gun?

Mr. Janac Well, I could not tell you as to those. The ones that

exploded at about 500 yards, you could not tell, but the ones that

exploded in the gun, you could tell very distinctly ; it was more of a

cracking sound; I noticed that.

Senator Poindexter. It was a different report ?

Mr. Janac Yes, sir. The first shot that we fired went out and

landed in the water, and the next was a kind of a dull sound, and
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the second one, when we had the premature explosion inside, was

more of a bursting and cracking sound.

Senator Poindexter. That is all.

Senator Harding. You had none of these evidences of the brass cap

or cartridge shell ?

Mr. Janac. No, sir.

Senator Harding. That is all.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Mr. Janac. Now,

Lieut. Lothrop.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. CUMMINGS L. LOTHROP, UNITED STATES

NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. Lieut. Lothrop, how long have you been

in the Navy?

Lieut. Lothrop. Twelve years, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position in the

Navy ? /

Lieut. Lothrop. Lieutenant (junior grade) ; assistant proof officer,

naval proving ground, Indianhead, Md.

The Acting Chairman. Were you present at the proving ground

when they tested the shells that came from the St. Louis?

Lieut. Lothrop. I was present, sir, but I did not do the testing.

Lieut. Kirk did that actual firing, sir.

The Acting Chairman. He did the actual firing?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. But you saw the tests?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the report on it?

Lieut. Lothrop. I saw some of it, and I heard the report.

The Acting Chairman. You heard the report of Commander

Lackey in reference to it?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Does your recollection of it and version of

it accord with his?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes; just the same, sir. I did do the second firing

of 24 rounds—that is, the last firing.

The Acting Chairman. Will you tell us about that? Why was

that firing done? Was that to try to ascertain the cause of the

premature explosions of these shells in the 6-inch guns?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir ; when the last trouble happened

The Acting Chairman. By the " last trouble," you mean the

Mongolia trouble?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir. In thinking it over, it appeared that

the mouth cup had something to do with the trouble, and we wanted

to find out by actual test whether the shell fired with a mouth cup in

a cartridge case would give different results from the first firing,

which was without the mouth cup ; so we fired 24 rounds ; 21 of those

rounds were with the mouth cup, and 3 without the mouth cup. Out

of 21, 6 rounds, all of which had the mouth cup, gave premature

explosions.

The Acting Chairman. How about the three without the mouth

cup?
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Lieut. Lothrop. They were the same as the previous tiring, sir.

There were no prematures. It is very easy to tell a premature, espe

cially at the proving ground, because when a gun is fired and there is

no premature, and yo*u look at the muzzle of the gun you see a light

brown-colored smoke from the smokeless powder, which soon dissi

pates, but if there is a premature explosion, there is a large white

cloud of smoke, which does not blow away rapidly, and which can

not be mistaken. I was sitting on the hill behind the guns, and

could see just where the premature took place. It is noted in the

report whether it was right at the muzzle or just before the muzzle.

Senator Poindexter. How many did you fire without- the brass

cup?

Lieut. Lothrop. I personally fired three without the brass cup.

Senator Poindexter. I mean how many were fired in the tests at

the proving ground?

Lieut. Lothrop. At the proving ground, 78.

Senator Poindexter. Without the brass cup ?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. And out of that there were only two prema

ture explosions?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. And how many were fired with the brass

cup?

Lieut. Lothrop. I fired 21 with the brass cup, and out of those 21

there were 6 prematures.

Senator Poindexter. Were those all that were fired with the brass

cup in that test?

Lieut. Lothrop. That is all.

Senator Poindexter. Just those 21 that you fired ?

Lieut. Lothrop. The 21 I fired; yes, sir. I fired 24, but I fired

3 without the mouth cup ; 21 were with the mouth cup.

Senator Poindexter. And 6 of those 21 prematurely exploded?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now. what conclusion have you reached as

to the cause of the premature explosions in the 6-inch gun?

Lieut. Lothrop. Well, sir, we fired 78 shells without a mouth cup,

and we got 2 prematures. We fired 21 shells with a mouth cup, and

we got 6 prematures. Undoubtedly, in some way, it is due to the

mouth cup. Apparently it is due to a hammer blow of the

mouth cup on the fuse, but just how I do not know, and I do not think

anybody else actually knows. It is theory.

The Acting Chairman. But you are satisfied that in some way this

copper mouth cup operates on the fuse?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. At times and a great many times, as has

been evidenced here, so as to produce a premature explosion ?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir. If the mouth cup is taken out. I believe

the prematures will stop. sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did all of these cartridges or shells in car

tridges that were provided for these 6-inch guns on board of the

merchant vessels have the tracers in the fuses?

Lieut. Lothrop. I believe so, sir. That is from hearsay. I have

no official knowledge of it.
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Senator Poindexter. Have you ever experimented with the same

ammunition, and brass cup included, shells, and so forth, with the

exception of and leaving out the tracers in the fuses ?

Lieut. Lothrop. No, sir; we have not taken the tracers out of the

fuses and fired them. Is that what you mean, sir?

Senator Poindexter. Well, not exactly taken them out, but I did

not know but what you had fuses that did not have the tracers in

them?

Lieut. Lothrop. We fired four of those, sir.

Senator Poindexter. And what was the result?

Lieut. Lothrop. We got one premature out of the four.

Senator Poindexter. Would the hammer blow that you speak of

on the tracer cavity account for that explosion?

Lieut. Lothrop. In the fuses which we tried, instead of having a

cavity like this [indicating] there are two small holes which are used

for screwing in the fuses, instead of having this cross piece for a reg

ister fit, and it is possible that the mouth cup might blow in those

two holes in the same way, and transmit a hammer blow directly to

the bottom of that cavity, and that blow would be transmitted

through the body of the fuse to the plunger, possibly.

Senator Poindexter. You mean the piece of brass would go clear

through there, but it would be just a compression of the explosion ?

Lieut. Lothrop. The sudden giving away of the brass on the

mouth cup would allow the pressure of the gas to strike quickly ; not

the actual blow from the brass itself.

The Acting Chairman. These tracers are on all the other shells,

the same as on the 6-inch shell, are they not—on the fuse ?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir; it is standard practice to fit shells with

tracers.

The Acting Chairman. And you do not have prematures very

much, except where there is a combination of those ?

Lieut. Lothrop. I have never seen a premature before I went to

the proving ground, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Where you have a combination of this

mouth cup and these

Lieut. Lothrop. And the tracer fuse.

The Acting Chairman. Yes; and the tracer fuse.

Lieut. Lothhop. Yes ; I have never seen a premature, except in this

firing, which we have had as the result of the inquiry, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Are there any further questions, Senator?

Senator Poindexter. You have seen a good deal of firing of 6-inch

guns?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir. I have had several batteries of 6-inch

guns, but never of just this type.

Senator Poindexter. What was the type ?

Lieut. Lothrop. They were 6-inch 50 guns; not 6-inch forties.

Senator Poindexter. The same character of ammunition?

Lieut. Lothrop. No, sir; they used powder bags.

Senator Poindexter. How about other small caliber guns—5-inch

and 4-inch; have you witnessed the firing of those?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir; I have seen quite a bit of them.

Senator Poindexter. Do they use a different kind of ammunition

from that used in these 6-inch 40 guns?

1051 86—17 10
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Lieut. Lothrop. This 0-inch 40 gun is the only one that has that

mouth cup, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What has been your observation of prema

ture explosions or accidents from the brass cup—but you had no

brass cup on those guns ?

Lieut. Lothrop. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. But as to premature explosions on these

other small caliber guns-

Lieut. Lothrop. I have never seen one, sir. I never saw a prema

ture at all until I actually fired those 6-inch 40 guns.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony given by

the various chiefs of the Bureau of Ordnance. Since you have been

at Indianhead have all of those provisions for testing ammunition

been complied with ?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Is there a rigid inspection and test there

now?

Lieut. Lothrop. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of any ammunition that has

been accepted that has not come up to the test !

Lieut. Lothrop. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Lieutenant. Now

Lieut. Kirk.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. ALLAN G. KIEK, UNITED STATES NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy,

Lieutenant ?

Lieut. Kirk. Twelve years, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position ?

Lieut. Kirk. I am the proof officer at Indianhead.

The Acting Chairman. What are the duties of the proof officer?

Lieut. Kirk. I have charge of the functioning of the materiel

bought by the Government under the specifications prescribed by the

Bureau of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony of Admiral

Earle and others who have been Chiefs of the Bureau of Ordnance

regarding the regulations, inspection requirements, and tests made

of ammunition of all kinds at the Indianhead Proving Grounds.

Are those requirements rigidly observed there ?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir; very rigidly.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of any ammunition that

has been accepted, of any kind, that did not measure up to the tests

made there ?

Lieut. Kirk. No, sir ; I do not know of any at all.

The Acting Chairman. Were you present when the tests were

made of these shells?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir: I made the first test.

The Acting Chairman. Now, tell us about the first test.

Lieut. Kirk. The ammunition was received at the proving ground,

and I personally examined every shell.

The Acting Chairman. Where was that test made?

Lieut. Kirk. At the proving ground.

The Acting Chairman. Under your direction ?
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Lieut. Kirk. In obedience to orders from the Bureau of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. From Admiral Earle?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes; Admiral Earle.

The Acting Chairman. And it was made with a view of ascer

taining the cause of the premature explosions on the St. Louis?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir ; that was the purpose of the test.

The Acting Chairman. And that was so understood?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now, tell us what was done to make this

test and to ascertain the cause of the explosions?

Lieut. Kirk. First of all we examined every shell very carefully

so as to be able to identify it if anything went wrong, and then we

began filing the shells with charges designed to give service pressure;

that is, the pressure which was actually upon them in the guns on the

St. Louis, on board ship, when she fired. As no prematures occurred

at that chamber pressure, the charge was increased to give a pressure

in excess of that. We fired in all some 89 rounds, and out of that

number we got two premature explosions. I saw them, watching

from behind armor plate the muzzle of the gun, and it was unmis

takable. As Lieut. Lothrop just said, you could see the white cloud

of smoke in front of the gun.

The Acting Chairman. You did not use any copper-mouth cups

in making these tests ?

Lieut. Kirk. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Why did you not use them?

Lieut. Kirk. We were first interested in testing the shells to see

which ones were giving prematures, and mouth cups have not been

used at the proving ground lately.

The Acting Chairman. What conclusions did you reach at that

test?

Lieut. Kirk. From the first test we only got 2 prematures out of

some 89 rounds, and we concluded at that time, as we knew exactly

which shell had burst, and one was a thin-bore shell and one an old

shell, that that was the cause.

Senator Harding. Were all of these 89 shells fired at service pres

sure?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes ; and a few were in excess of service pressure.

Senator Harding. The two which bursted were at service pressure

or at higher pressure?

Lieut. Kirk. They were at service pressure.

The Acting Chairman. Then, you had reached the conclusion

from those two shells, that possibly that was the cause of the trouble?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And orders were issued that those shells

should not be used any longer on these merchant vessels?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What other tests did you make?

Lieut. Kirk. The second firing was conducted by Lieut. Lothrop.

It was the test in which he got (i prematures out of 24 rounds, and

I was present during part of that firing and saw some of it, but some

of the rest of it I did not see.

The Acting Chairman. You heard his testimony in reference to it,

and you can vouch for the accuracy of it?

Lieut. Kirk. Yes, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. Are there any other questions?

Senator Harding. I have nothing further.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Lieutenant. Now,

Lieut. Connor.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. EDWARD H. CONNOR, UNITED STATES

NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy,

Lieutenant ?

Lieut. Connor. Thirteen years.

Lieut. Casket. About those two prematures, one of those was at a

pressure, I think, in excess of service pressure.

The Acting Chairman. What is your business, Lieutenant?

Lieut. Connor. I am a lieutenant in the Navy and an inspector of

ordnance materiel at the Washington Steel & Ordnance Co.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony here in ref

erence to the inspection of materiel that is being furnished to the

Government ?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Will you state to the committee what you

inspectors do there to ascertain that the materiel is good and meas

ures up to the specifications?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir. In my office I have one civilian who is a

subinspector, and he measures all the materiel, and he has no dis

cretion in the acceptance of materiel that does not come strictly with

in the specifications, and anything that he rejects, then I go over the

matter thoroughly, and if it is not within my province to act on it I

take it up with the bureau and get approval of any action from them ;

but there are a great many things that are coming up that may be

covered by past correspondence, and sometimes we know that it is all

right. Of necessity, there is considerable latitude in the manufac

ture, because a machinist can not work to exact dimensions. Now, we

hold them right up on the materiel ; the materiel that is furnished is

always absolutely right, and of course the shells, after I pass on them,

they go down to Indianhead and are tested according to the tests you

have heard described here to-day.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony here in

reference to them, and you vouch for its accuracy and that the tests

are complied with?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir; absolutely.

Senator Harding. What variation is allowed in the circumference

of these shells?

Lieut. Connor. We allow minus five-thousandths of an inch;

nothing plus. For instance, we work on the 14-inch shells, which

we are making at present over here—the diameter of the bearing

surface is 13.985 and they can go down to five-thousandths below

that, but occasionally they go down two-thousandths of an inch

below that five-thousandths, but that is only in the case of a very,

very few shells, and that would not have any effect on the materiel.

Senator Harding. Is that same variation allowed in the small

shells?

Lieut. Connor. I am not sure of that. I have not manufactured

anything smaller than a 5-inch target shell, and that tolerance was



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 149

allowed there. Now, in connection with the number of shells that

are put up for inspection, it might be of some interest. On that

target work in Raleigh, they had about—I figured out that they

manufactured about

The Acting Chairman Before you get to that,- were you the

inspector at the Raleigh Iron Works?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Furnishing these target shells?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir; I did the service of the commissioned

officer and the subinspector, too.

The Acting Chairman. What was the character of the shells that

they contracted to furnish the Government?

Lieut. Connor. Purely cast-iron target shells.

The Acting Chairman. Not used for anything else except target

practice ?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. How long were you there?

Lieut. Connor. I was there nearly a year.

The Acting Chairman. How long was their contract?

Lieut. Connor. That contract started—was let the 30th of No

vember, 1914, and they were still making them when I left, but they

had nearly finished; they began to have a little trouble in passing

some 5-inch shells the month I left.

The Acting Chairman. They had nearly completed the contract

when you left?

Lieut. Connor. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. What were your insructions there for in

spection of those shells ? Were they any different from what you had

anywhere else?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir; absolutely alike. I had the book of speci

fications, and I made them live up to the letter of the law ; that is,

except where there is a possibility that in the dimensions they might

want a change, and that would be taken up with the bureau and

approved by them before I would change it.

The Acting Chairman. Were those shells for target purposes

thoroughly inspected by you?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir; every one of them.

The Acting Chairman. Were any accepted that had not passed

the inspection?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. None such was accepted?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir. My initials had to go on them. You see

they had my initials on them so that they could follow them up

later.

The Acting Chairman. Your initials are put on the shells?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the initials of the person who tests

them at the proving ground, also?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir. You see, those shells at Raleigh, they

would take 500, and I picked three, I think it was—three out of

500; selected them from the records of my office, which showed that

they were the least likely to do the best work—that is, with all fair

ness to the contractor. Of course, if the contractor wanted to with
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draw a number of shells that might be wrong, why, that was his priv

ilege, and I would throw out everything like that.

The Acting Chairman. There was a suggestion that the shells

made by the Raleigh Iron Works were not inspected, and that a

regular naval inspector was not there; is that true?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir; it it not true.

The Acting Chairman. You were there and made a thorough and

efficient inspection?

Lieut. Connor. Yes, sir.

Senator Harding. Is this target shell ever finished for explosion

purposes, too?

Lieut. Connor. No, sir; it is purely for general proficiency in

marksmanship, but I understand they do use some in the proving

guns at Indianhead.

Senator Harding. All testing of fuses is done on the steel shells?

Lieut. Connor. I have not had anything to do with that testing

of fuses. That is Mr. Kirk. The only duties I have at Indian-

head—I go down there when they test the armor-piercing shells

that this company across the river is making.

The Acting Chairman. I understand the fuses are regularly in

spected by an inspector, who inspects them during their making

as to material and dimensions?

Senator Harding. I was wondering if the fuses were ever sub

jected to target test ?

The Acting Chairman. I think they they select so many of them

and test them as they do everything else.

Lieut. Caskey. Yes; they are tested in service ammunition, and

never in target ammunition.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you, Lieutenant, very much. Now,

Lieut. Commander Holmes.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. COMMANDER RALSTON S. HOLMES,

UNITED STATES NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. What is your position, Commander, and

how long have you been in the Navy ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Eighteen years.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. I have charge of the armor and pro

jectile division of the Bureau of Ordnance.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the testimony of the va

rious officers who have been chiefs of the Bureau of Ordnance, re

garding inspection, and you concur in the statements made by them

as to the thoroughness of it and the effectiveness of it?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Absolutely.

The Acting Chairman. There is no question that all ammunition

that goes into the magazines has been thoroughly inspected and tested

before it is sent there ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. No, sir; no question at all.

The Acting Chairman. And every precaution is taken to ascer

tain that it is of the very best material and construction, and that

it measures up to the specifications ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Will you tell the committee in reference

to the contract for the shells furnished by the Raleigh Iron Works?
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Lieut. Commander Holmes. On October 21, 1914, the Raleigh Iron

Works bid on 5-inch, 6-inch, 7-inch, and 8-inch target projectiles,

in competition with other bidders. In each case the Raleigh Iron

Works Co. was the low bidder, and was awarded the following con

tracts : Two thousand five hundred 8-inch shell, two thousand 7-inch

shell, three thousand 6-inch shell, four thousand five hundred 5-inch

shell.

On August 25, 1915, the Bethlehem Steel Co. was low bidder on

5-inch target shell, and obtained permission from the Navy Depart

ment to sublet the shell to the Raleigh Iron Works. The Raleigh

Iron Works, therefore, made 8,000 shell as subcontractor to the

Bethlehem Steel Co.

On August 2, 1916, the Raleigh Iron Works was low bidder on

6-inch and 8-inch target shell, and were awarded 1,000 8-inch and

2,500 6-inch shell.

On May 23. 1917, the Raleigh Iron Works was low bidder on

6-inch and 8-inch target shell, and was awarded 2,000 8-inch shell

and 4,000 6-inch shell.

All these projectiles were divided, for a ballistic test at the prov

ing ground, into lots of 500 shells each. Three shells from each

lot were selected by the inspector at the works of the contractor, and

were fired at service pressure and velocity at the proving ground,

in comparison with standard projectiles which had already proved

satisfactory.

The first contract of 4,500 5-inch shell was subsequently increased,

as allowed by the specifications, by 20 per cent. This contract, there

fore covered 5,400 shells; that is, 10 lots of 500 each, and 1 lot of

400. Of these 11 lots of projectiles, 10 lots passed tests at the prov

ing ground on the first fest, and were accepted. Lot No. 9 was re

jected, because three projectiles broke up on test. The contractor

was allowed a retest of three additional projectiles, as covered by

the specifications, and while none- of those broke up, the dispersion

was excessive, and the lot was finally rejected. These projectiles had

been made with cast-iron base plugs. The company obtained per

mission to resubmit this lot for a third test, the projectiles being

fitted with forged-steel base plugs. On this test one projectile broke

up, and the lot was rejected and the contract was closed out with

4,900 projectiles instead of 5,400. The projectiles in this rejected

lot were never delivered to the Government.

On the subcontract from the Bethlehem Steel Co., for 8,000 5-inch

projectiles, the first lot was accepted on first test, in accordance with

the specifications. Lot No. 2 was rejected on account of bad ranging,

though none broke up. On retest of Lot No. 2, allowed by the

specifications, two projectiles broke up, and the lot was rejected.

Senator Harding. What do you mean by "bad ranging"?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. A projectile should range so many

yards; the projectile has a certain velocity, and the gun is elevated

a certain number of degrees, and the projectile should go so far.

If the projectile goes much farther or a much less distance, why,

it is bad ranging.

Senator Harding. And that is due to the milling of the projectile?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. It may be due to some defect in the

shell which can not be- seen, but if the shell is solid metal and is in

accordance with the dimensions required, why, it is impossible to
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have bad ranging. It is only if there is some defect or something

wrong in the dimensions of the shell, or some cavity or blowhole in

the metal, perhaps, which destroys the balance of the shell, that bad

ranging can result; or it might result if the rotating band should

strip off the shell, or if the shell should tumble; that is, go end

over end.

On the first test of lot No. 3, one projectile broke up, and the con

tractor was allowed a second test, on which test none broke up. The

lot was rejected, however, on account of bad ranging on the second

test.

Lots Nos. 4, 5,' and 6 were rejected on first test because of bad

ranging, but were accepted on second test.

Lots Nos. 7 to 16, inclusive, except lot No. 14, were satisfactory

and accepted on first test.

Lot No. 14 was rejected on first test because one projectile broke

up, arid was finally rejected on second test because one projectile

broke up.

In May, 1917, the bureau had a call for a great number of 5-inch

target projectiles for use with reduced charges and pressures, for

training crews on battleships. The bureau then sent to the Raleigh

Iron Works for 10 projectiles from each of these rejected lots, Nos.

2, 3, and 14. These 30 projectiles were ranged at the proving ground

at the pressure and velocity to be used in this battleship firing, and

none broke up. The bureau then purchased these three lots, or 1,500

projectiles, for issue to the battleships for this particular practice.

On the second contract the Raleigh Co., on account of the projec

tiles of lots Nos. 2 and 3 breaking up, changed its design, and no

further trouble was experienced until lot No. 14. The bureau in

structed the magazines not to issue to any ship for full-charge prac

tice any Raleigh shells except those of the new design. The pro

jectiles of the old design were issued only for reduced-charge prac

tice. In view of the breaking up of some of those projectiles and the

fact that it is a rather peculiarly shaped projectile and is fired in a

very high-powered gun, the bureau, in July, 1916, determined that

hereafter those projectiles, or projectiles of that type, should be made

of forged steel, while the Raleigh shells were made of cast iron. The

bureau is now purchasing nothing but forged-steel target shells for

the 5-inch guns.

In regard to the other Raleigh contracts of 1914, the contract for

three thousand 6-inch shells was increased to three thousand five hun

dred 6-inch shells, making seven lots. All lots but lot No. 4 were

accepted on the first test, in accordance with the specifications. On

lot No. 4 one projectile broke up, but on retest none broke up, and the

lot was accepted. All five lots of 6-inch projectiles furnished on the

contract of September 16, 1916, were accepted on first test. No tests

have been made on the award of shells made on May 25, 1917, but of

the contract of two thousand 7-inch projectiles of November 30, 1914,

which was increased to 2,400, making five lots, all lots were accepted

on first test, in accordance with the specifications.

On the contract of November 30, 1914, for two thousand five hun

dred 8-inch target projectiles, which was increased to 3,000 projec

tiles, making six lots, all but lot No. 5 were accepted on first test. In

lot No. 5 one projectile broke, but none broke on retest. and the lot

was accepted.
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No other 8-inch projectiles made by the Raleigh Iron Works have

been tested. The bureau has never had any report from the fleet of

any Raleigh Iron Works projectiles breaking up except these 5-inch

projectiles. The 6-inch and 8-inch projectiles have given no trouble

whatsoever.

The Acting Chairman. Now, what about the 5-inch projectiles and

the trouble in reference to them?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. The 5-inch projectiles were all ac

cepted in accordance with the specifications, except the four lots that

I have mentioned, one of which is still at the Raleigh Iron Works,

as far as I know.

The Acting Chairman. What is the trouble, or have you heard of

any trouble in the fleet in reference to the 5-inch projectiles ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. The 5-inch projectiles have been

breaking up occasionally at target practice, and it was as a result of

these reports that we concluded it would be safer to make the 5-inch

projectile of forged steel, which we are now doing. The last of the

Raleigh Works' 5-inch shells are now being used for this practice on

the battleships.

The Acting Chairman. The 5-inch projectiles measured up to the

specifications of the department?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, absolutely.

The Acting Chairman. These specifications were the same for the

Raleigh Iron Works as they were for the other companies?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Has the inspection been as rigorous and as

thorough in connection with the Raleigh Iron Works as with the

other contractors?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir. It is a rather peculiar thing

that the Raleigh Iron Works is the only company I know of at which

a commissioned officer actually inspected every shell. There was not

a subinspector that inspected a single projectile, but Mr. Connor,

who has testified here, inspected every shell himself.

The Acting Chairman. So a commissioned officer was sent there

to inspect them thoroughly?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Which was an unusually thorough inspec

tion?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of any shells that did not

measure up to the test or pass the inspection that were accepted, dif

ferent from the specifications?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. These three lots that I told you about,

which were accepted for this special practice on the battleships, had

been rejected on the specifications of the department when they were

fired at full pressure and service velocity, but on a retest of 10 pro

jectiles from each lot, at a reduced pressure, no projectiles broke up,

and we took those projectiles for this particular purpose, because the

pressure and velocity at which they were used on the ships were iden

tical with that used at the proving ground, and we fired 30 projec

tiles, and none broke up.

The Acting Chairman. Now, Commander Holmes, what other

matter regarding this investigation, having read the resolution and

heard the testimonv——
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Lieut. Commander Holmes. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman (continuing). Would you like to make a

statement in reference to?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. My particular job in the bureau is

propectiles; and when this accident occurred I went into the history

of all the projectiles that had been on the St. Louis very carefully,

and went into the specifications under which they had been manufac

tured, and I could find nothing in those projectiles to show that they

were any worse than the projectiles we are buying to-day of the

same kind ; and we gave a good deal of thought to this matter, and I

have thought out a variety of tests, some of which we have made

and others of which we want to make on these propectiles, and I

firmly believe that the cause of the premature explosions was due to

some combination between the brass mouth cup and the fuse. I do

not believe that the action of the mouth cup in any way causes the

projectile to break up, but I believe that the action of the mouth cup

causes the projectile in some way to burst, due to premature fuse

action.

The Acting Chairman. Have you ever heard of any trouble in

any of the other guns by premature explosions except the 6-inch

guns?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. No, sir; I never heard of any prema

ture explosions before.

The Acting Chairman. Have you read the letter that we have

been considering here to-day with reference to some suggestion

Lieut. Commander Holmes. I have seen the letter from Senator

Frelinghuysen.

The Acting Chairman. Are any of these matters contained in this

letter inclosed by him things that you can testify in reference to ?

Lieut. Commander Holmes. No, sir; those letters cover fuses, I

think, almost entirely, and I have nothing to do with fuses at all.

Senator Harding. I am very much interested, but I really can not

stay any longer.

The Acting Chairman. Go ahead, Senator. We have just one

more witness. Now. Lieut. Caskey.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. GARDNER L. CASKEY, UNITED STATES

NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. Lieutenant, how long have you been in the

Navy?

Lieut. Caskey. I have been in the Navy 14 years.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position in the

Navy?

Lieut. Caskey. I am a lieutenant in the Navy on duty in the

Bureau of Ordnance of the Navy Department, and have been since

October, 1914, right after the beginning of the war. My duties

in the bureau relate to everything in connection with the procuring

of explosives and primers and fuses and ammunition containers;

also everything in connection with the preparation of ammunition

at naval magazines.

The Acting Chairman. Now, will you tell us what you may know-

in reference to the fuses that have been discussed here?
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Lieut. Caskey. Yes, sir. In connection with this inquiry into the

accidents on board the steamships St. Louis, Mongolia, and other

armed liners, which were equipped with these 6-inch 40 caliber guns,

the ammunition for all of these guns was prepared at the St. Juliens

Creek ammunition depot late in 1916, and they were all fused with

the same type of fuse, known as the Semple medium caliber tracer

fuse, mark 4, supplied under a contract of August, 1915. The four

lots of fuses which entered into all this 6-inch 40 caliber ammunition,

which has given the trouble, have been identified as lots Nos. 8, 44,

45, and 48 of that contract of August, 1915, and if you please,

Senator, we could put into the record the report of the test of the

fuses that entered into this ammunition.

The Acting Chairman. Put that in right here.

Lieut. Caskey. Yes ; they all gave perfect tests, in accordance with

the specifications.

(The report referred to is here printed in full, as follows:)

Rd.

Shell.

P. S. V. Plate. X. Action.
Fragmen

Caliber. Lot. Kind. Filler.

tation.

e 5-inch.

...do ..

EWB-1-12. . . . Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

BP 15.12

14.73

15.07

12.64

13.76

3098

3098

3121

20506

2050e

{-inch

...do

...do..

A-inch

...do

6 feet behind.. Excellent.

Do.f do BP 8 feet behind. .do

L...
...do .. do PBTNT Do.

4-inch.

...do..

Beth. 15-12....do BP Right behind.do Good.

Do.i BP

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md'., April 25, 1916.

From : Naval Proving Ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject : Semple Mark IV medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 7 and 8, contract

August 16, 1915.

1. Puses representing these lots have been tested.

2. Drop test of each was satisfactory.

3. Flight tests from 5"/51 guns at 16.79 tons, 3.180 f. s. (lot 7) and 18.44

tons, 3,413 f. s. (lot 8) were safe.

Both were reported to have burst on impact.

4. Tracers fired in 4" L. P. shell at about 15 tons, 2,900 f. s. were observed as

follows :

Lot 8:

A, 12

B, 11

C, 12

D,12

5. Plate firing was as follows :

Lot 8.

Round h2 lot 9. was unsteady in flight ; hole in cardboard on far velocity

screen 4 by 4.8 Inches.

6. Acceptance of both lots is recommended.

J. F. Hellweg.

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., September 15, 1916.

From : Naval Proving Ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject: Lots 41 to 48 (inclusive) Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, con

tract, August 16, 1915.

1. Fuses representing these lots have been tested.

2. Drop test was satisfactory, for each lot.
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3. Flight test was combined with tracer firing, the third shell of each lot

being loaded with BP: all shell flighted safely.

4. Tracers were fired in the 3"/50 gun and were observed as follows :

Rd. P. Eye. Biuoculars.

Lot U.

11.40 14.6 sec 15.4

b... 14. Oe

14. Oe

15.73

16.3

c i... l

d 15.7

Lot 4-i.

11.54

14. Oe

11. Oe

15. 59

11. t

b 15.0 sec 15.1

c i

d 16.4

Lot 48.

11. 8e

14. ne

14. Oe

15. 6e

17.1 sec 17.2

b 16.2 sec 17.0

di....

17. 3

1 Did not function.

5. Plate firing was as follows :

Rd.

Shell.

Gun. Make. Kind.

Filler. P. S. V.

 

Lot

44.

e

f

&::::

i

Lot

¥.
e

f....

£::::
i

Lot

48.

e

i

£::::
i

4"40

4"40

5"51

5"51

5"51

4"40

4"40

5"51

5"51

5"51

4"40

4"40

5"51

5"51

5"51

Beth-2.12.

do

EWB-1-1912.do

....do

Beth-2.12...

....do

EWB-1-1912

....do

....do

Beth-2.12....

....do

EWB-1-1912.

....do

....do

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

BP-TNT...

BP-TNT...

BP

BP

BP

BP-TNT...

BP-TNT...

BP

BP

BP

BP-TNT...

BP-TNT...

BP

BP

BP

11.12

11.08

14.49

14.60

13.57

11.44

11.72

13.34

13.62

15.27

11.26

11.79

13.18

13.18

13.39

1950e

1950e

30406

30406

2930

1950e

19506

2930

2943

2943

A inch

..do..

| inch.

..do..

...do..

19506 A inch. .

19506 ...do....

2943 finch...

2930 ...do....

2943 ...do....

4 feet behind .

do

12 feet behind

8 feet behind.do

Do.

Do.

Do.

Do.

Do.

12. By the specifications, lots 42, 44, 45, and 48 have passed acceptable tests

and are therefore recommended for acceptance.

Ralph Earle.

Lieut. Caskey. During the last hearing, about two weeks ago, a

request was made that the bureau insert in the record a memorandum

regarding the tests of all the fuses during that year, and I believe

that memorandum is now in the record.

It should be stated in this connection thai, this ammunition was

recently prepared; that the fuses that were placed in this ammuni

tion were the latest and best type and conformed with our latest

specifications, which are considerably in advance of and more severe

than previous specifications. It should also be stated not only that

the particular lots which entered into this ammunition gave a perfect
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test in accordance with the specifications, but that the test of the

entire contract is considered exceptionally good.

The Acting Chairman. Have you with you a memorandum of all

the letters, and so forth, that were requested by Senator Freling-

huysen in a letter inclosed to the Secretary of the Navy ?

Lieut. Caskey. I have, sir. The correspondence is all here.

The Acting Chairman. Will you file that with the reporter?

Lieut. Caskey. If I may go through it and check it to make sure

that there is nothing in here that should not be made public, on

account of its confidential nature, that might be of assistance to an

enemy.

The Acting Chairman. Let us check it right now.

Lieut. Caskey. I mean to say that I will insert it in the record

when it comes over to me for revision.

The Acting Chairman. Unless there is something that would give

information to the enemy

Lieut. Caskey. We will insert the letters intact, as asked for ; yes.

sir.

(The correspondence and documents referred to are here printed

in full, as follows:)

United States Senate,

Washington, D. C, June 9, 1917.

Dear Mr. Secretary : I inclose herewith copies of three letters which I have

received from a person in another city who desires his name withheld.

Inasmuch as the person makes certain charges and claims to give certain

Information of grave moment, I feel, in all fairness that you should be

informed. I have neither instigated nor inspired these letters. I do not

know the person who has written them. However, I feel that the corre

spondence he mentioned should he produced. I did not attach any importance

to the letters until the last one was received, when I thought it well to bring

all three to your attention.

Tours, very truly, J. S. Frelinghuysen,

United States Senator.

Hon. Josepus Daniels,

Secretary of the Navy, Nary Department.

Detroit, Mich., May 26, 1911.

Senator Frelinghuysen,

United States Senate, Washington, D. C.

Sir: I notice by the Washington Times that there is to be an investigation

on the St. Louis and Mongolia accidents.

It appears to me that placing the blame on the shell does not solve the

problem for the following reasons :

It appears from the papers that a number of shell were fired at the naval

proving ground from shell which had been on the St. Louis and that one ex

ploded in the gun and one outside of the gun a short distance away. Every

one blames the shell and nobody blames the fuse. If I am a manufacturer of

fuses, and I have a contract with the United States Government for making

fuses, I send some of them to the United States Government for test ; they are

tested, and in firing in a 6-inch shell there is a premature explosion in the

shell in the gun, the shell breaking up, the blame is on the fuse and not on the

shell. Supposing some of the fuses are accepted which passes a test of, say,

three out of five, and some of them are too sensitive or have not the cup prop

erly fitted or which might have the firing pin of the plunger not sufficiently

recessed, which in this case would explode the fuse and shell on shock giving

prematures. Suppose some such fuses were accepted and shipped to maga

zines and afterwards issued to ships such as the St. Louis or Mongolia, the

shell fused with these fuses are fired and the shell explodes in the gun. the

blame is on the shell.
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There are two ways of looking at the situation. To get at the real trouble

there is only one kind of a fuse for these shell, the kind the St. Louis and

Manchuria and Mongolia used. If you insist on having the reports of the

Government proving ground of all fuses of this kind which were tested and

accepted, and where they were shipped during the years 1915 and 1916, in

clusive, you will find the solution. This letter is written trusting you will not

disclose name of writer and that it may assist you in a solution of the cause

of the accidents and give some light on fuse situation.

Very respectfully,

Detroit, Mich.. June 3, 1917.

Sik: I see by the Tribune that there was an investigation into the nurse,s

death.

It may be interesting to look up the reports from the Government proving

ground. The fuses used in the shell were the first nied. cal. fuses used in the

G" 40 cal. shell, and were of the contract 180 of April 26, 1915, and were not

finished until fall of 1916.

See N. P. G. letter 2818-4-2, 12/27/15 ; 2818-4-2, 12/28/15 ; also 29740/263,

of December, 1915 ; fuses accepted, three lots ; 6,000 went to St. Juliens Maga

zine; fuses had prematures in 4"/50 IX gun.

See tests of lots 6, 7, and 8 ; lots accepted ; lot 6 gave two prematures in 4" gun.

See letter 30933/1/24/16 to the company ; also N. P. G. letter 2818-4-2, 1/18/16 ;

lot 9 failed completely in 5"/51 gun.

Contract 71 of 8/16/15, lots 1 and 2, accepted (6,000 fuses). One fuse out of

every four of each lot failed, which means that 1,500 out of the 6,000 would be

no good. Contract called for 180,000. See 30933/. 3/8/15 ; 30,000 of contract

went to St. Juliens Magazine.

See 30933/, 5/29/16, about lots 9 and 13 ; fuses accepted ; No. 13 had pre

matures in 4" shell against 5/16" plate, N. P. G., 28/8-4-2, 5/18/16. See N. P. G.,

2818-4-2, 5/19/16, 2818^-2, 5/23/16, 30933/, 5/26/16, to the company ; may clear

the situation completely ; may explain the prematures in guns.

It will be seen that fuses which gave prematures in guns were accepted and

loaded in shell of St. Louis, Mongolia, etc. Use data if necessary, but please

keep my name strictly confidential. I may write you later in reference to fuses

in large caliber shell which will explode shell before it has a chance to pass

through the plate or armor, so please keep my name secret.

Very respectfully,

Senator Prei.inghuysen,

Washington, 1). V.

Detroit, Mich., June S. 1917.

Sir: Since I wrote you last I suppose you heard of the trouble the Phila

delphia had with her ammunition over 60 per cent prematures. Apart from

the Mongolia this was the worst of all. according to the commander of the

armed guard.

The fault lies with the fuse and can not be put on the shell. The fuses manu

factured by Semple & Co., including these tracers Mk. IV, are inferior work

manship, and the thickness of the walls between the fuse cavity and tracer

cavity is not sufficient to withstand the heavy pressure or blow caused by

the mouth cup striking the tracer end of fuse when the gun is fired. The firing

pin is not sufficiently housed to withstand the shock, but is forced up against

the cup by the shock of discharge causing the premature. The fuse should

only arm in flight.

During the period of manufacturing of these fuses under consideration there

was no naval inspector of ordnance to supervise the work of loading of fuses

or inspection of material at Semple.s Works. This resulted in poor material,

poor workmanship, poor loading, and faulty primer caps. Standardization anil

uniformity in manufacturing of fuses were unknown.

Time after time it had happened that material which had been giving excellent

results ballistically had all of a sudden gone bad, and after an investigation at

a loss to the Government of thousands of dollars, in which Semple was given

the free use of the proving ground while other contractors had to pay, it was

found that there were serious defects in the assembly of the fuse parts, which
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showed lack of care in supervision, and scores of erratic performances are ou

the record due to improper manufacturing of fuse parts.

The Government had to rely on reports furnished by the Semple company,

and in almost all cases these reports have been found to be worthless. Tear

after year practice after practice reports from the fleet show failures in target

tracers never less than 60 per cent and often 100 per cent.

A fuse which fails on drop test and is accepted might do the same thing on

a ship and blow up the vessel. Had an enemy submarine appeared the Phila

delphia would have been at its mercy. The whole battery of 6"/40 guns were

ruined.

Previous to July, 1915, all fuse makers had an opportunity to bid, but in

July, 1915, a clause was inserted in the requisition for med. cal. tracer fuses,

which threw all this work to Semple & Co.. blocking competition. You can prove

this by calling for the requisitions prior to July, 1915, and since. Even if a

bidder was low he was thrown out on some technicality.

Respectfully,

Senator Frelinghuysen.

MEMORANDUM OF THE NAVY DEPARTMENT, BUREAU OF ORDNANCE, WITH

REGARD TO CORRESPONDENCE SUBMITTED TO NAVAL COMMITTEE BT

SENATOR FRELINGHUYSEN REGARDING SEMPLE FUSES.

1. The fuses used in the 6"/40—k~i reserve battery ammunition

which was later issued to the armed liners, were Semple Mark IV,

medium caliber tracer fuses of lots 8, 44, 45, and 48 of contract of

August, 1915. These lots of fuses gave a perfect test in accordance

with the specifications and copies of the proving ground reports

thereon have been inserted in the records. An abstract of the per

formance of all of the fuses of this contract which were tested at

Indianhead during 1916 has already been inserted in the record.

2. With reference to letter dated June 3, which contains certain

data as to numbers and dates of proving ground and Bureau of

Ordnance letters relating to fuses.

3. First. It is stated that the fuses used in this 6"/40 ammunition

were furnished under contract 180 of April 26, 1915, and that this

contract was not completed until the fall of 1916. Both statements

are incorrect. The fuses in this ammunition were furnished under

contract of August 16; 1915, and the contract of April, 1915. was

completed in March, 1916.

4. Second. In December of 1915, two prematures were experienced

in firing Mark IV, medium caliber tracer fuses, lot 3, contract April,

1915, in a 4"/50, Mark IX-2 gun. This gun was a special type with

especially steep rifling and only 10 were manufactured. The fuses

in question proved to be entirely satisfactory for use in other ammu

nition and were accepted for such use only, and were ordered plainly

marked " Not -to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition." Copies of

letters mentioned regarding this matter are appended, as well as a

number of other letters pertaining thereto. Later it was determined

that these fuses were safe in the standard 4"/50 Mark IX gun with

standard rifling, and further that the fuses would be safe in the guns

with the steep rifling after the guns had been fired a number of

rounds. As all of the steep rifling guns mentioned in service have

now been fired at several target practices, the trouble has corrected

itself. The prematures were regarded as due to the peculiar, non

standard rifling of the gun and not to the fuse.
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Sewukley, Pa., December 23, 1915.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Navy Department, Washington, D. C.

Sins : We are pleased to note that increased strength of retardation springs

answers the premature question in the new 4-inch guu, and we think this is

the correct way to remedy the trouble.

We will scrap all our weaker springs and at once adopt the new spring for

the Mark IV medium-caliber tracer fuse. Only lots 1 to 5, inclusive of this

mark will have the old weak springs.

Respectfully,

John B. Semple & Co.

J. B. Semple, President.

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., December 27, 1915.

From : Proving ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject : Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 3, 4, and 5. contract April,

1915.

References (a) N. P. G., #2818-4-2, 2912-2, of December 22, 1915.

1. Tracer fuses representing these lots have been tested.

2. Drop.—On drop test of all three lots the tracer cup was started out. This

same feature has been commented on in report of minor caliber tracer fuses, lots

16 and 17, contract April, 1915. It is believed that tracers should be crimped

in a little more securely, if this can be done without risk of failure to function.

The magazine cover of lot 5 fuse was pulled away from its base nearly all

around, spilling the magazine contents. Evidently the crimping of the stock

over this part is none too good. All three lots met the specification requirements

on drop.

3. Fragmentation in plate firing was uniformly successful, so test in chamber

was omitted.

4. Plate firing was proceeded with next, with results as follows :

 

Lot. Round. Caliber. Lot. Kind.
Pres

sure.
e.v. Plate. Acted.

Fragmen

tation.

3

3

3

3

a

b

c

d

5-inch.

..do....

..do....

A. & B.2-13... Com. .

..do....

..do....

..do....

15. 37

15.10

15.32

14.28

3,069

3,105

3,160

1 2, 783

j-lnch... Good.

Do.

Do.

do ...do do

do ...do do

4-inch. D.S. 28-00 About 200 feet out

side j?un.

Close outside gun. .3 e

a

b

c

d

e

a

b

..do.... N. G. F. L.P.. F.S... 15.19

15.10

15.10

14.74

14.33

14.74

14.34

14.91

t 2, 783

3. 099

3,099

3,092

2,795

2,771

3,083

3,098

J-inch. . .

...do ....

4 5-inch.

..do....

..do....

A.& B.2-13... Com. .

..do....

..do....

..do....

..do....

..do....

..do....

Do.

A do do

4

4

4

5

5

do ...do do Do.

Good.1-inch.

..do....

D.S. 28-00 A-inch. .

...do

Right behind

do 5feet behind Do.

Fair.

Excellent.

5-inch.

..do....

A. & B.2-13...do J-inch. . .

...do

10 feet behind

5

5

c

d

..do....

4-inch.

do ..do....

..do....

15.30

14.64

3,083

2,771

...do

25 feet behind

(about).

Good.

Fair.D.S. 28-00 A-inch.. 6 feet behind

i Estimated muzzle velocity.

Round e, lot 3, was fired with BP-D shell filler; all other rounds with BP

only.

5. In view of the two prematures obtained in the 4-inch 50-caliber with these

fuses, and another with a minor caliber fuse, separately reported, round e of

lot 5 was not fired.

6. In accordance with telephone instructions from the bureau (Lieut. Oaskey)

all remaining fuses were fired in loaded shell at service velocity in the 5-inch

51-caliber gun to determine whether any prematures are to be expected in that

caliber with these fuses. This was combined with tracer test with following

results :

\
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DEC. 18, 1P15.

Lot. Filler. Naked eye.

Visible. Reported by C hicamuxen to-

Bum down to Burst on

Observer A. Observer B.

water. impact.

3 BP 11.8 10 1 Yes Yes.

3 BP 13

15

12 Yes No.

i Br : 16 Yes Yes.

4 BP... 14 1 16 Yes Yes.

Yes.

No.

BP...

1 17BP... 14.2 Yes

PET. 21, 1P15.

:i BP-D 9

9

Yes Yes.

:i BP Yes

3 BP 10 No No.

4 BP-D No Yes.

1 BP 6 1 Yes Yes.

4 BP 1 Yes

4 BP 1 16 No No.

BP-D 17 Yes Yes.

•.. BP-D | 20 Yes

BP-D 1 I8 Yes... Yes.

:. BP-D 1 19 Yes.

All were at about 3, ISO foot-seconds, 15 tons.

7. Tracers.—Oil both nights the sunset glow was gone before tiring, Tint there

was a bright moon behind the observers. It is seen that (1) all tracers func

tioned: (2) most of them burned over 20 seconds; (3) under the conditions of

test they could be seen 16 to 20 seconds with binoculars, but only 6 to 15 with

naked eye.

8. On a dark night these tracers will undoubtedly be visible to the naked eye

over 14 seconds, but it is believed that times in excess of about 15 seconds can

well be sacrificed to increased brightness. Their performance on test is con

sidered unsatisfactory.

9. Flight.—The safe flight of 9 fired in test at plate and 17 fired down the

range, 26 in all, established beyond reasonable doubt that these fuses are all safe

in the 5-inch 51 -caliber gun at 3,150 f. s. The action in flight of two of lot 3

fuses is sufficient reason to believe all fuses so far made on this contract to be

unsafe in this 4-inch gun. It is possible that this conclusion applies with equal

force to other medium caliber fuses. This general subject will be treated in

separate report.

10. Separate report has been made of the firing of one of each of these lots in

6-inch A. I,. shell through 43-inch S. T. S. plate with satisfactory results. (Ref

erence a.) There is no reason to believe that flight in 6-inch will be unsafe.

11. These fuses are thus shown to be excellent in every way except the minor

fault of too light crimping, and the serious ones (a) tracers not bright enough,

and (6) unsafe flight from 4-inch 50 caliber.

12. Rejection is recommended.

J. P. Hei.i.weg.

Naval Pkoving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., December 28, 1915.

From : Proving ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject : Semple medium caliber tracer fuses with stronger plunger springs.

Reference (a) N. P. O., #2818-4-2. of December 27. 1915: (bl N. P. G.,

#2818-4-1, of December 27. 1915; (c) N. P. G.. #2818-4-0: 2818-5, of December

27, 1915; (d) Bu. O. telegram, #29740/259 (F2), of December 21. 1915, to J. b.

Semple & Co.

1. References a and b report action in flight of fuses from 4-inch 50-caliber

Mark IX model 2 gun No. 489. Reference c discusses the probable cause.

105186—17- -11
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2. Five Semple experimental medium caliber tracer fuses were fitted with

plunger springs of increased strength with a view to give safe flight from the

4-inch 50-caliber gun with 1/22.5 muzzle pitch. Mr. Kramer, who brought them

to the proving ground, said that these new springs were of steel piano wire and

would bear a dead load of 10 plungers. If the deductions made in reference e

are correct this strength of spring should give safe flight.

3. These five fuses have been fired from 4-inch 50-caliber Mark IX model 2

gun No. 489 with the following results :

Round. Lot.

Shell.

Pressure.
Striking

velocity.
Plate.

Act

ed.

Fragmenta

tion.

Kind. Shape.

a

b

Com. . ..

...do...

...do

BN 14.62 2,759 A-inch o

8

6

Good.

Do.

Do.

do BN 14.93

14. .59

14.31

14.93

2, 770 ...do

do BN

BN

LP

2,770 ...do

(1 do ...do i 2, 831 Do.

e NFO-Exp F. S 2, 793 A-inch. . . 5 Do.

i Estimated muzzle velocity.

4. On round tl the .shell may have wobbled, as it cut an unusually wide swath

through the first velocity screen. It passed through the second screen high and

to the right of where it had been aimed, cutting the screen frame equivalent to

about 3 or 4 inches of pine. The shell burst not far behind this screen, probably

within 30 feet.

5. It is unfortunate that this experiment should have been complicated by this

unexplained performance, but it is believed that on this round the fuse did not

act before striking this screen frame. It is accordingly believed that these fuses

will give safe flight from this gun.

6. It. is conclusively shown that this strengthening of the spring has not mate

rially affected the sensitiveness or the quickness of these fuses in the 4-inch. If

is, of course, hoped that this will be equally true in the 5-inch.

J. F. Heixweg.

Naval Proving Ground,

Indinnhcad, Md.. December 29, 1917.

From : Proving ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject: Effect of pitch or rifling upon fuse action.

Reference: (a) N. P. G. No. 2818-4-1 of December 1. 1915.

(6) N. P. G. No. 2818-4-1 of December 27, 1915

(c) N. P. G. No. 2818-4-2 of December 27, 1915.

1. Reference (a) reported the successful firing of a Semple minor-caliber fuse

of recent manufacture from 4-inch 50-caliber, mark mod. 2. gun No. 289, at about

15.5 tons, 2,900 f. s., in L. P. shell. Reference (6) reported the action in

flight a short distance outside the gun, of another fuse of the same lot fired in

the same way. except that the pressure was 14.81 tons and estimated muzzle

velocity 2,783 f. s.

2. Reference (r) reported the action in flight, one a short distance outside the

gun and one about 200 feet from the gun, of two medium-caliber test fuses of

Semple lot 3, contract April, 1915. So far as is now known at the proving

ground this is the first instance of a Semple medium-caliber tracer fuse acting in

flight.

3. To investigate the probable cause of these prematures it is necessary to

analyze the forces acting upon the fuse parts in flight after leaving the gun.

The motions of the projectile are:

(1) Continued acceleration until through the blast; then

(2) Retardation due to air resistance;

(3) Revolution about the fore and aft axis, the speed of which revolution

is not sensibly decreased during the early part of flight ;

t4) Wobble of the fore and aft axis about the center of gravity of the pro

jectile ;

(5) Helical movement of the center of gravity of the projectile about the

mean trajectory.
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4. Motions (4) and (5) operate to move the central plunger of a central base

fuse (or nose fuse) out of the mean trajectory and to increase the centrifugal

force upon it. In their effect upon the plunger (3), (4), and (5) are inter

related, so that their combined effect is conveniently classed as centrifugal

wobble.

5. The forces acting upon the fuse plunger when the projectile leaves the

blast of the gun, and thereafter during its flight, are, then—

( 1 ) Retardation, which tends to move it forward ; and

(2) Centrifugal wobble, which presses it out against the wall of the

plunger compartment.

6. The force of retardation can be accurately computed. It is, of course,

greatest with high velocities, light projectiles, and blunt heads. Its approxi

mate value for some naval guns at the instant of leaving the blast is :

Caliber.
Muzzle

velocity.
S! Form.

Retarda

tion.

1-pnunder

3-pounder

6-pounder

3-inch

2,0t10

2,200

2,240

2,700

2,800

2,(100

2,300

3,150

2,800

1.05

3.3

6

13

B.N.

B.N.

B.N.

B.N.

B.N.

T.. P.

B.N.

L. P.

L. P.

32

111

18

18

4-inch

4-inch

5-inch

5-inch

6-inch. . . .

:«

:i:t

50

50

105

13.5

".6

8.3

11

5.6

These retardations are in terms of gravity ; that is, inertia operates to pull

forward with a force equal to this number of times gravity. In the 4-inch.

2,900 f. s., L. P., a plunger weighing 1 ounce is pulled forward with a force of

9.6 ounces.

7. The force of retardation on the fuse plunger must be largely counteracted

by the friction due to centrifugal wobble. Otherwise all Semple fuses so far

made for the Navy, and most other fuses, would act on retardation in the

smaller calibers. Considering only the late Semple fuses, all have very sensi

tive caps and sharp firing pins. In the minor caliber fuse there is no arrange

ment to prevent the plunger from moving forward against the cap on retarda

tion. In medium and major caliber fuses a spring is provided for this purpose,

but the ones tested at the proving ground have been so weak that a dead load

of three or four times the plunger weight would permit the firing pin to reach

the cap. Evidently when they do not act in flight, the difference between this

figure of three or four and the computed retardation force is accounted for by

centrifugal wobble.

8. Increased steadiness of flight is obtained by increasing the steepness of

pitch of rifling (other factors being equal). Four-inch 50-callber Mark IX

guns with muzzle pitch of 1/31.17 have shown unsteady flight of four-caliber,

long-point shell at 2,900 f. s. almost from the beginning of their life. A muzzle

pitch of 1/25 is known to give steady flight even with such long projectile^, and

the standard pitch for 4-inch 50-caliber 2,900 f. s. guns was accordingly changed

to 1/25. Through error, some guns of this caliber made by the American &

British Manufacturing Co. were given a final pitch of about 1/22.5. No. 489,

the proving ground station gun from which recent 4-inch fuse firings at high

velocity had been done, is one of these.

9. Increased steadiness of flight will reduce motions (4) and (5), detailed in

paragraph 3. So with this pitch of 1/22.5, although the speed of revolution Is

increased, the unusually steady flight evidently reduces the total force of re

tardation and permits the plunger to move forward in flight with enough force

to fire the cap.

10. In these guns, then, a stronger plunger spring is required. Test of

Semple medium caliber fuses with springs of strength increased to bear a dead

load of ten plungers showed safe flight in this gun. So far as shown by the few

rounds fired, a complete solution for these guns is to fuse their ammunition

with fuses having stronger springs. This belief, and the action of such fuses

in other guns, will be more thoroughly investigated during test of future lots

of medium caliber fuses on the current contract.

11. No data has been obtained to show—
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(a) Whether earlier Semple fuses or other ignition fuses will give safe Might

in the 4-Inch 50-caliber gun (2,900 f. s.— ) with 1/22.5 muzzle pitch.

(6) Whether such fuses will give safe flight in the 4-inch 50-caliber 2,900 1. s.

gun with 1/25 or 1/27 muzzle pitch.

12. In view of fhe fact that there are some 4-inch destroyer guns with muzzle

pitch of 1/22.5, and that in war the ammunition, and even the guns themselves,

may be interchanged, the only safe procedure seems to be to fuse all service

ammunition of this caliber with fuses that will be safe in the 1/22.5 guns.

13. In case these 1/22.5 guns are eliminated, it will be necessary to determine

what fuses will give safe flight from 4-inch 50-caliber 2.900 f. s. guns with 1/25

muzzle pitch, and to use only such fuses in 4-inch destroyer ammunition.

J. F. Hellweg.

January 3, 1916.

Subject: Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 3, 4, and 5, contract April,

1915.

Reference: (a) Company,s letter of December 23, 1915.

(b) Proving ground letter No. 2818-4-2, December 27, 1915.

(c) Proving ground letter No. 2818-4-2, December 28, 1915.

Inclosures: (A) Copy of reference (6).

Herewith: (B) Copy of reference (c).

Sirs : 1. The above-mentioned inclosures are forwarded for the information

of the company. The attention of the company is invited to paragraph 2 of

inclosure (A). The attention of the company is further invited to the lack of

brightness experienced in the tracer test of these fuses. Although the fuses

passed the specifications in this respect, they do not appear as bright as current

lots of minor caliber tracer fuses, nor as bright as recent lots of medium-caliber

tracer fuses. This question is one of considerable concern to the bureau, as it

is anticipated to use these fuses in the important torpedo defense ammunition

of new construction.

2. The bureau waives the defect experienced with these fuses in the 4"/50

Mark IX gun. and accepts these three lots of fuses for shipment to the naval

magazine, St. Juliens Creek. Shipping instructions are being sent to the inspec

tor through the Bureau of Supplies and Accounts in the usual manner. Before

shipment the packing boxes containing these fuses should be plainly stenciled

" Not to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition."

3. According to the limited test reported in inclosure (B), the substitution

of a stronger spring in the medium-caliber fuses will eliminate the possibility

of prematures in the 4"/50 Mark IX gun, and the bureau notes, reference (a).

that the company will immediately adopt the new stronger spring for all

medium-caliber tracer fuses to be furnished in the future.

Respectfully,

J. Strauss, Chief of Bureau.

J. B. Semple & Co.,

Seuyicklet), Pa.

Direct : Copy to Naval Inspector of Ordnance Munhall. Naval Proving Ground.

January 3. 1916.

From: Bureau of Ordnance.

To : Naval Magazine, St. Juliens Creek.

Naval Magazine. Fort Mifflin.

Subject: Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, Mark IV.

Reference: (a) St. Juliens Creek Magazine store card No. 1465, white, December

18, 1915.

(fi) Fort Mifflin Magazine store card No. 1465, white, December 3,

1915.

1. Recent tests at the proving ground have indicated that occasional prema

tures may be experienced in the 4"/50 Mark IX gun with the Semple medium

caliber tracer fuses Mark IV already issued to service. This defect will be

corrected by the company in future lots of fuses of this mark to be delivered by

substituting a stronger retardation spring between the plunger and the percus

sion cap.
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2. The Naval magazine, St. Juliens Creek, is requested to plainly stencil the

packing boxes containing 6,000 of these fuses shown on reference (a) "Not to

be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition." Three more lots of these fuses have

been ordered shipped to the St. Juliens Creek Magazine, and the packing boxes

containing these lots will be plainly stenciled with this caution prior to ship

ment. It Is expected that these fuses will be used in 5"/51 ammunition, for

which they have been found entirely suitable, but pending their use they should

be carried on the store card with a note to indicate that they are not to be

used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition.

3. Naval magazine, Fort Mifflin.—The above also applies to 2590 Mark IV

medium-caliber tracer fuses, lot 12, shown on reference (6), and the bureau

requests that the magazine follow the instructions given above regarding carry--

ing these fuses separately on the store card with an appropriate note to indicate

that they are not to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition. The bureau un

derstands that the remainder of the fuses of lot 12 and all of lot 11 have been

used in 5"/40 ammunition for the advance base. These fuses are entirely sat

isfactory for this purpose.

G. L. Caskey,

(By direction.)

Copy to naval proving ground.

5. Third. Similarly lot 6 of the contract of April, 1915, gave two

prematures in the 4"/50 Mark IX-2 gun with steep rifling and were

likewise accepted with the proviso that they were not to be used in

4"/50 Mark IX ammunition. Copies of correspondence in this con

nection are appended hereto. The same remarks apply to these

prematures as to the prematures in lot 3. The correspondence re

garding lot 9 is also contained in the attached letters; this lot failed

on the original test in the o"/50 gun and failed on retest and was

rejected.

IDispatch.]

Navy Department. Ordnance,

Washington, January 11, 1916.

J. B. Semple & Co..

Sewickley, Pa.:

After eight successful rounds in flight test, 4-inch gun last lots mediiuu-

caliber fuses gave two prematures in firing against plate test is being con

cluded in accordance with specifications. This defect should be remedied before

proceeding with the loading of further lots medium-caliber fuses.

Strauss.

John B. Semple & Co..

Sewicklcy, Pa.. January 11, 1916.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Nary Department , Washington, D. U.

Sirs : We have your telegram about prematures in 4-inch gun with our me

dium-caliber tracer fuse.

Will you please let us know about how far out from the gun muzzle the pre

mature bursts occurred?

If they both occurred close to the gun, will you please fire three or four of

the fuses in loaded 6-pounder shell at full service pressure, to see if the trouble

could be caused by the starting shock?

We will hold up future lots until we have located the trouble. On looking

into our supply of British T. N. T., we find that after loading all the lead holes

for the complete order of tracer detonators, there will not be enough for booster

charges for one lot as we had expected. We will therefore have to wait for

the supply from Indianhead.

Respectfully, John B. Semple & Co.,

J. B. Semple, President.

Copy to inspector at Munhall, Pa.
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January 17, 1916.

Subject : Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 6, 7, 8, and 9, contract April,

1915.

SiB8 : 1. Medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 7 and 8, gave satisfactory test in

accordance with the specifications. Lot 6 gave two prematures in the 4-inch

gun when fired against plate, and it appears therefore that this defect has not

yet been corrected in these fuses.

2. The bureau accepts these three lots of fuses for use in 5"/51 ammunition

and is issuing instructions for their shipment to the Naval Magazine, Iona

Island. Packing boxes containing these three lots of fuses should be plainly

stenciled "Not to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition."

3. As soon as the defect which causes prematures in the 4"/50 Mark IX gun

is straightened out, the bureau will assign a new mark, " Mark V," to the

medium-caliber fuses and will issue instructions to all magazines that the

Mark IV fuses are not to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition.

4. The fuses of lot 9 gave two complete failures to act in 5-inch projectiles

'against plate and this lot is therefore rejected. Formal report of proof will be

forwarded to the company for information as soon as received from the proving

ground.

Respectfully, J. Strauss, Chief of Bureau.

J. B. Semple,

Sewickley, Pa.

Via naval inspector of ordnance, Munhall, Pa.

Copy to Naval inspector of ordnance, Munhall, Pa.

Naval Proving Ground.

Naval Magazine, Iona Island.

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., January 18, 1916.

From : Naval Proving Ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject : Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 6, 7, 8, and 9, contract April

26, 1915.

1. Fuses representative of these lots have been tested.

2. Drop test of each was satisfactory.

3. Fragmentation test was not made, as all fired at plate gave proper frag

mentation.

4. Tracers were fired in 5-inch and 4-inch, with results as follows :

 

I.ot.
Cali

ber.

Esti

mated

muzzle

velocity.

Esti

mated

pressure.

Traced.

burn to

water.

Saw
Burst on

Water.
Naked Binocu-

eye. lars.

6 5-inch.

5-inch.

4-inch .

4-inch.

.5-inch .

5-inch.

4-inch.

1-inch .

5-inch.

5-inch.

4-inch.

4-inch.

5-inch.

5-inch.

4-inch.

4-inch.

3,150

3,150

2,900

2,900

3,150

3, 150

2,900

2,900

3, 150

3,150

2,900

2.900

3,150

3,150

2,900

2,900

14.5

14.5

15.0

15.0

14.5

14.5

15.0

15.0

14.5

14.5

15.0

15.0

14.5

14.5

15.0

15.0

16

6 21 Yes Yes.

6... 15

18

15

14

16

17

14

14

11

14

16

16

14

7

No.

6... Yes.

7... Yes.

7 21 Yes . . Yes.

7 ?

7... No.

8 21

21

Yes

Yes

No.

8 Yes.

8 Yes.

8 No.

Yes.9 20

19

Yes

No9 Yes.

9 Yes.

9 No.

5. Flight test was combined with tracer test, all sixteen rounds being loaded

with BP. All flighted safely. The column " Burst on water " is as reported

by the Chicamuen lookout.
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6. Plate firing was as follows :

Lot. Round.

Shell.

Pres

sure.

Striking

velocity.
Plate. Acted.

Fragmen

Caliber. Uit. Kind.

tation.

6 a 5-inch. A. & n., 2-13. Com. . 15.07 3,011 |-inch. 14 feet behind . Oood.

8 b 5-inch. do ...do.. 15.10 3,092 1-inch. 8 leet behind . . Excellent.

B c 5-inch. do ...do.. 15.19 3,092 i-inch. do Do.

6 d 4-inch. D. 8., 45-99. .. ...do.. 16.60 Muzzle veloc

ity 2,800C.

Burst just out

side gun.

Good.

6 c 4-inch. N. G. F. exp.. ...do.. 15.19 do do Do.

a

b

5-inch.

5-inch.

A. ifc li., 2-13..do ...do..

...do..

15.10

15. 05

3,089 j-inch.

I-inch.

27 feet behind .

8 feet behind . .

Do.

7 3,092 Poor.

7 0 5-inch. do ...do.. 14.95 3,092 |-inch. do Good.

d

e

D. S.. 45-99. .. ...do..

...do..

16.00

15.99

2,839 (l)

(i)

12 feet behind .

8 feet behind . .

Do.

7 4-inch do 2,831 Do.

x a 5-inch. A. & U., 2-13. ...do.. 14.89 3,092 i-inch.

|-inch.

do Excellent.

s b 5-inch. do ...do.. 15.00 3,092 do Do.

X c

4-inch.

do ...do.. 14.61 3,090 i-inch. do Good.

s d D. S., 45-99. .. ...do.. 22.97 2,958 A-infh do Do.

8 e 4-inch. do ...do.. 14.57 2,831 A-ineh

|-inch.

do Do.

9 a 5-inch. A. & B., 2-13. ...do.. 14.59 3,090e Broke up on

back plate.

u b .5-inch. do ...do.. 14. 98 3,090e i-inch.

f-inch.

do

H c .5-inch. do ...do.. 14.72 3,090e 8 feet behind . . Fair.

y d 4-inch. 0. P.exp F.S... 16.07 .ft-inch 5 feet behind . . Poor.

y e 4-inch. U.S., 45-99. .. Com . . 17.66 2,958 A-inch do Good.

' Struck frame of far velocity screen, equivalent to about 2 inches pine, and burst about 12 feet behind it.

» Struck frame same as round "d." Did not act on it, but went through TVinch plate and burst 8 feet

behind plate.

7. The premature action on rounds " d " and " e ", lot 6, is evidently of the

same nature as the similar actions in test of earlier lots of this contract. If

these four lots are exactly similar in manufacture, it would appear that in

this type of 4-inch gun at this period of its life about one round in twelve of

these fuses will burst in flight. With newer guns a larger proportion of pre

matures is to be expected. This gun (No. 489) has now been fired about 60

rounds, and both blunt and long point shell are beginning to give slightly

unsteady flight from it. Round " d," lot 6, was blunt-nose shell; round "e"

long point. Evidently the plunger spring used In these fuses is still not strong

enough for the guns with 1/22.5 muzzle pitch.

8. S. P. 175 and S. P. 671, used in this 4"/50 firing, showed "jumpy"

pressures and velocities on several rounds, notably round " d." lot 8. No

undesirable fuse actions, however, are attributable thereto.

9. The slow action of round " a," lot 7, and the failures on rounds " a " and

" b." lot 9, are apparently due to variations in manufacture, as conditions were

uniform for all 5-inch rounds. The one slow action on lot 7 does not, however,

fail the lot.

10. Lot 6 is recommended for rejection, because of prematures.

11. Lots 7 and 8 are recommended for acceptance. It is recommended, how

ever, that they be not used in 4"/50 ammunition.

12. Lot 9 is recommended for rejection because of failures at plate.

J. P. Hellweo.

January 24, 1916.

Subject: Medium caliber tracer fuses, lots 6, 7, 8, and 9, contract April, 1915.

Inclosure herewith: (A) Oopy of proving ground letter No. 2818-4-2, January

18, 1915.

Sirs : 1. The above-mentioned inclosure is forwarded for the information of

the company.

2. The particular attention of the company is invited to the prematures

given in lot 6 In the 4-inch firing against plate. This defect must be definitely

corrected before beginning deliveries on the new contract. In the meantime

the bureau has accepted lots 6, 7, and 8 subject to the proviso that they are

not to be used in 4"/50 Mark IX ammunition.

3. The further attention of the company is directed to the two failures given

by lot 9 in the 5-inch firing against plate. This lot has been rejected. In
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accordance with the request of Mr. Semple, the bureau is willing to authorize

a retest of this lot. Seven fuses should he forwarded to the proving ground

for the retest. and all will be fired In a ft"/'A gun against plate. If all fuses

function satisfactorily, the lot will be accepted. Otherwise it will be finally

rejected.

Respectfully.

Chas. B. McVay, Jr.. Chief of Bureau.

J. B. Semple & Co.,

Seiciekley, Pa.

Copy to naval inspector of ordnance. Munhall. I'a.

naval proving ground.

John 15. Semple & Co.,

fteiriekley. Pa., January 25, 1916.

Bureau of Ordnance.

Nary Department, Washington. 1). C.

Sirs : Relative to recent prematures of our medium-caliber tracer fuses in

4-inch gun, but not in any other guns, we would say that we have carefully

tested out this medium-caliber cap for explosion by shocks by placing over the

face of the cap socket In which the cap is crimped a small piece of steel five-

eighths inch square by one-eighth inch thick and firing against it a .22-caliber

long bullet. The shock to the cap is sufficient to bend the crown of the cap to

the rear by inertia. Twenty-five tests were made and none of the caps was

exploded. We therefore think the cause of the prematures is not in the starting

shock due to firing, and we think the caps are quite safe.

We are preparing to submit the next lot of medium-caliber tracer fuses with

stronger springs, and hope this will prevent prematures.

Respectfully.

John B. Semple & Co..

J. B. Semple, President.

Copy to inspector at Munhall.

January 26. 1916.

Bureau of Ordnance.

Navy Department. Washington, I). C:

As a postscript to my letter of to-day and relative to the sensitiveness, after

long flight, of our medium-caliber fuses, lots 6 to 9, inclusive, which have the

heavy retardation springs, it will be noted that seven out of eight burst on

water impact after long flight, and that both fuses of lot 9 burst on water.

It is also interesting to note that the 4-inch fuses, which gave no failures to

burst on thin plate, had 50 per cent of failure to hurst on water impact at long

range.

John K. Semple & Co..

fteirirkley. Pa., January 26, 1916.

Bureau of Ordnance.

Nary Department. Washington, I). ('.

Sirs: Referriug to lots 9 and 13 uiedium-cal'ber tracer fuses, In. which

failures occurred, we have begun to suspect that the cause lies in the heavy

retardation springs, with which we tried, but did not succeed, to prevent pre

matures in the Mark IX 4-inch gun.

We believe these heavy springs cause the fuses to be just a trifle too in

sensitive for the 5-inch shell wheu tested at the short range across the valley,

and before the shell has a chance to steady down in flight.

It also seems to us that the 4-inch Mark IX fuses will need even a stronger

retardation spring.

It therefore may become necessary to make a special Mark V fuse for the

4-inch shell, and return to the old weaker construction used in lots 1, 2, 3, 4,

5, and 14 Mark IV fuses for 5-!nch shell.

It is regretted that a retest of lot 9 (and possibly of lot 13) can not be made

at a longer range.

We are proceeding to supply lot 15. or rather lot 1 on the next contract, with

a much stronger retardation spring in order to prevent prematures in the

4-inch gun, but greatly fear that this will cause the fuse to be too insensitive
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for the 5-inch gun, and if this proves to be the case, will the bureau please

consider separating the fuses for the two different shell and giving mark to

the 4-inch fuse.

Respectfully,

John B. Semple & Co..

.T. B. Semple, President.

Copy to inspector at Munhall. .

January 31, 1916.

Subject: Medium-caliber tracer fuses, lot 9, rejection of.

Sirs : 1. The first round on the retest of medium-caliber tracer fuses, lot 9,

in 5-:nch shell, against plate failed, and this lot of fuses has accordingly been

finally rejected without further firing.

2. Should the company so desire, the bureau is willing to consider the ques

tion of reloading this lot of fuses, but it is suggested that this matter be held

up pending the results of test of lot 14 (which have the light springs) in 4-:nch

and 5-inch guns this week.

Respectfully.

J. Strauss, Chiefof Bureau.

J. B. Semple & Co., Sewickley, Pa.

Copy to naval inspector of ordnance, Munhall.

Naval proving ground.

6. Fourth. The statement that one out of four of lots 1 and 2 of

contract 71 of August, 1915, failed is not correct. These fuses passed

test in accordance with the specifications and were accepted. Copy

of reports of test is attached. One tracer failure for each lot is

allowed by the specifications; there were no fuse failures.

..Lot. Round.

Traced. Chicamuxen lookout reported.

Naked eye. Binoculars. Saw tracer. Burst on water.

1 a

1)

c

d

a

b

No Yes.

16 16

17

17

16

No No.

16 Yes Yes.

14 No Yes.

2 15 No Yes.

No Yes.

hr
d°

15 16

17

Yes.. Yes.

16 Yes Yes.

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., March 1O, 1916.

From : Naval proving ground.

To: Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject: Semple medium caliber tracer fuses, lots 1 arid 2, contract August 10.

1915.

1. Fuses representing these lots have been tested.

2. Drop test of both lots was satisfactory.

3. Flight tesfc was combined with tracer test, all (tracer) eight rounds being

loaded with black powder. All were safe.

4. Tracers fired from 5"/51 gun at about 14.5 tons. 3,150 f. s. were observed

as follows :

All were bright.



170 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

Plate firing was :

 

Lot. Round.

Shell.

Filler. P. 8. V. Plate. Action.
Fragmenta

tion.

Cal. Lot. Kind.

Inih.

5

5

5

1nih.

1 e

1

Ewb-3-14. Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

BP

14.29

14.73

14.19

12.24

11.75

14. 54

14.13

14.41

11.89

11.93

3054 8 feet behind Excellent.

...do 3098

3054

20.-.s

do

f
...do

A

do Good.

Excellent.4

4

5

5

5

4

4

Ds-29-99 . .

-..doi

e

f

g

h

i

2050e

3098

3098

3054

A do Do.

2 Ewb-3-14. 8 feet behind Do.

...do do Do.

...do 10 feet behind Do.

Do.i), 29-yy

...do

2050e

2046

A

A

KiRht behind

do Do.

6. Acceptance is recommended.

J. F. Heixweg.

[Dispatch.]

Navy Department, Ordnance,

Washington, March 8, 1916.

J. B. Semple & Co., Sewickley, Pa.:

Medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 1 and 2, accepted for shipment. Hingham

magazine, one tracer out of four of each lot failed ; otherwise fuses gave

perfect test.

Strauss.

(Copy for naval Inspector of ordnance, Munhall, Pa.)

7. Fifth. Lot 9 gave one failure in the 4-inch gun on original

test against five-sixteenths-inch plate on original test and one simi

lar failure on retest. Eetest against three-eighths-inch plate gave

six successful rounds, and in view of this, taken together with the

perfect performance of this lot in the 5-inch/51 gun, the lot was

accepted. Lot 13 gave a premature in firing in the 5-inch gun

against plate. This was one of the three prematures experienced

during the year, as previously set forth in the record. As eight

other rounds of this lot had been fired safely, the premature was

adjudged to be due to a supersensitive cap, and the lot was ac

cepted. With the exceptional degree of sensitiveness and quickness

required by the specifications, a small percentage of prematures prob

ably can not be avoided, but it should be noted that in every case

the prematures have occurred outside the gun. All correspondence

mentioned is attached, except N. P. G. letter 2818-4-2 of May 19,

1916. No such letter exists so far as shown by the department's

files.

No. 2818-4-2

Naval Proving Ground,

Indianhead, lid., May 18, 1916.

From : Naval Proving Ground.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject : Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lot 9.

1. Fuses representing this contract have been tested.

2. Drop test was satisfactory.

3. Flight test in 5" L. P. shell, BP filler, at 13.83 tons, 3035 f. s. was

satisfactory.

4. Tracers, lred from 3"/50 at about 14.5 tons, 2700 f. s., were observed as

follows :

Naked eye : Round a, 15 ; round b, 14.6 ; round c, 14. All were bright
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5. Plate firing was as follows :

Rd.

Shell.

P. 8.V. Plate. X Action.
Fragmen

tation.

Cal. Make. Kind. Filler.

d 5"...

5"...

5"...

4"...

4"...

4"...

Ewb-1912...

Ewb-1912...

Ewb-1912...

Beth-1912. . .

Beth-1912...

Beth-1912...

Com.

Com.

Com.

Com.

Bp....

Bp-Tnt

Bp-Tnt

16.17

16.04

16.20

13.18

12.94

12.98

3,039

3,068

3,068

2,093

2,093

2,093

1" 8. behind.

1" 8. behind Do.

1 I" 8. behind Do

Bp A" Right behind . Do

h Bn-Tnt

$:;--

90

i Com. Br>-Tnt

Because of the poor impact on round h, this round was repeated round 1.

6. Because of failure round i, rejection is recommended.

J. F. Heixweg.

May 23, 1916.

Subject : Medium caliber tracer fuses, lots 9 to 13, inclusive. Acceptance of.

Sirs : The bureau accepts Semple medium caliber tracer fuses, lots 9 to 13,

inclusive.

Lots 10, 11, and 12 gave satisfactory test throughout.

In the retest of lot 9 the first round fired in 4" shell at low velocity against

5/16" plate failed similarly to the failure on original test. The succeeding

rounds (six) of this retest were fired in 4" shell at low velocity against 3/8"

plate and all were successful. Furthermore, the test of lot 13 in 4" shell at

low velocity against 5/16" plate gave one failure.

It is shown by these firings that these fuses are at their limits of sensitive

ness in the 4" shell at low velocity against 5/16" plate. This matter is very

important, as these velocities correspond to battle ranges. The bureau requests

that the company carefully investigate this matter with a view to slightly

Increasing the sensitiveness of the medium caliber tracer fuses being furnished

under current contracts if possible.

Respectfully, J. Strauss,

Chief of Bureau.

3. B. Semple & Co.,

Seioickley, Pa.

No. 2818-4-2

Navai, Proving Ground,

Indianhead, Md., May 2S, 1916.

From : Naval proving ground.

To: Bureau of Ordnance.

Subject: Semple medium caliber tracer fuses, lots 10, 11, 12, and 13. Contract

August 16, 1915.

1. Fuses representing these lots have been tested.

2.. Drop test of one of each lot was satisfactory.

3. Flight test was combined with tracer test. All tracer rounds being loaded

with black powder. All flighted safely. One lot 13 fuse acted in flight during

plate firing.

'4. Tracers fired from 5"/50 gun in long point shell at about 13.5 tons, 3,000

f. s., were observed as follows :

Naked

eye.

Binocu

lars.

Naked

eye.

Binocu

lars.

Lot 10: Lot 12:

13.3

15.3

16.1

16.0

17.0

17.0

15.5

16.0

16.7

16.0

b b 16.6

Lot 11: Lot 13:

17.0

15.8

16.1

16.3

17.0

17.0

17.0

16.3 16.3

b. b 15.9

16.3

16.0

16.5
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5. Plate firing was as follows :

LOT 10.

Rd. Cal. Make. Kind. Filler. P. S. V. Plate. X.' Action.
Fragmen

tation.

d 4"

4"

5"

5"

5"

Beth-1912...

Beth-1912...

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

Com. .

Com..

Com. .

Com. .

Com..

Bp-Tnt. 13. 27 2090e A" 5, behind

Bp 13.24 209ne — X" 1 5. behind

f Bp-Tnt. 14. 18 2904

15. 25 2956

15.22 3074

t"
8. behind Good.

g Bp 8, behind Excellent.

h Bp-Tnt.

1

.... 8' behind.... Excellent.

LOT 11.

Beth-1912. .

Beth-1912..

EWB-1912.

EWB-1912.

EWB-1912.

Com. .

Com. .

Com. .

Com. .

Com . .

Bp-Tnt.

Bp

Bp-Tnt.

Bp

Bp-Tnt.

13.31

13.41

14.78

15.00

15.29

2090e

2090e

2956

2904

A"

A"

5. behind..

5. behind..

8. behind..

8. behind..

8. behind. .

Excellent.

Good.

Excellent .

Fair.

Excellent.

d 4" Beth-1912...

Beth-1912. . .

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

Com. .

Com. .

Com..

Com..

Com. .

Bp-Tnt. 13.23

13.90

15.12

15.41

20900 8,behind Excellent.

... 4" Bp 2090e 5.behind

f 5" Bp-Tnt. 2956 8' behind Excellent,

Excellent.

Excellent.

g 5" Bp 3068

r
8.behind

h ... 5" Bp-Tnt. 14.74 3083 8" 8,behind....

Com . .

Com. .

Com. .

Com. .

Bp-Tnt. 13.20

13.41

15.22

14.71

2090e

2090e

2956

A"

A"

50

Bp

I.
Bp-Tnt.

Bp

Com.. Bp-Tnt. 15.59 3054 1"

3074

LOT 12.

LOT 13.

Beth-1912...

Beth-1912...

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

EWB-1912..

None I

Did not act. . 1

8.behind , Excellent,

Exploded in

flight.

8. behind Excellent.

1 X—% breaking into old impact.

6. The number of rounds fired with this type of fuse gives excellent assur

ance of the safety in flight of the type. The one premature, round h. lot 13.

may be due ((?) to an omission of the plunger spring in this fuse, or (b) a pos

sible very small percentage of prematures is to be expected from the type, as

if centrifugal wobble were inoperative once in a great many times, the plunger

being on center at the moment of retardation of the outside air.

7. Both because of this premature and because of the failure of this lot at

plate (round f), rejection of lot 13 is recommended.

8. Lots 10. 11, and 12 are recommended for acceptance.

J. F. Hei.lweg.

John B. Semple & Co..

Sewickley, Pa., May 25, 1916.

Bi,reau of Ordnance,

Navy Department, Washington, D. C.

Sirs: Referring to the bureau.s letter of May 23, 30933 (F2) -6/2, and fhe

occasional failure of our medium caliber fuse, when fired at low velocity in

4" gun.

We agree with the bureau that low velocity represents the flight of a shell

at " battle ranges." but only so far as its forward motion is concerned. We

believe that the rate of spinning at " battle ranges " is almost equal to the

R. P. M. at the muzzle. If this is correct it may have a very important bear

ing on the steadiness of the shell and on the action of the fuze.

Perhaps low velocities in a new Mark IX 4" gun might approach actual

movement of a shell at " battle range." However, we will look for means for

making the fuse more sensitive.

Respectfully,

John B. Semple & Co.,

J. B. Semple, President.



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 173

May 26, 1916.

Subject : Failure of medium caliber tracer fuses on drop test.

Sib : The bureau is in receipt of a report from the proving ground that dur

ing tests of medium caliber tracer fuses now on hand, one fuse of lot 21 ex

ploded on drop test. On investigation it is found that this failure is exactly

similar to the failures experienced with these fuses several months ago, in

that the face of the plunger struck the sensitive cap which was slightly pro

jecting above the cap seat.

The company understood at the time of the previous failures to avoid this

trouble by slightly countersingink the face of the plunger opposite the cap

seat so that the plunger face could not strike the cap. It now appears that

this very desirable precaution has been neglected and that the company is

submitting fuses which have a flush face to the plunger, introducing this

danger again.

The bureau desires that the company take steps to correct this matter at

once and submit report why the previous precaution, which was duly approved

by the bureau, tins been deviated from.

Respectfully.

E. S. Brandt,

Acting Chief of Bureau.

.1. B. Semple & Co.,

Setcickley, Pa.

John B. Semple & Co.,

finciclcley. Pa., May 27, 1916.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Navy Department, Washington, D. V.

Sirs: Your letter of May 26, 30933 ( P2 ) -6/2 is received. We note the failure

of one fuze of lot No. 21, medium caliber tracer fuze on drop test.

The crimping tool for these caps is made in one solid piece and the caps are

crimped under a power press, so that there is no chance of the cap being set

high. All the caps are set and crimped well below the surface and we are un

able with a hand tool to push any of them back flush with the surface.

Your letter reports that the cap " was slightly projecting above the cap seat."

While it would be blown into this position by the explosion of the cap itself, we

do not think it could have been high before.

As to the recessed face of the fuze plunger this recess is used only in the die

cast plunger blocks of relatively soft alloy and this recess is still maintained in

the detonating plungers, which are die case. On account of the greater start

ing shock we have been using for medium-caliber fuse plungers, hard-drawn

brass rod, although they cost three times as much as the die-cast blocks. There

are no burrs on the face of these brass blocks and the metal is too hard and

strong for the least possibility of its being deformed or squeezed up into the

cap seat, as was possible with the old soft die-cast blocks.

We do not believe that, in the case reported, the primer was struck at all.

But it is possible that a chip of the cap composition may have gotten under the

lip of the magazine cup and caused the ignition.

We have at once taken steps to guard more carefully against this possibility.

The bureau should remember that the medium caliber cap composition is the

most sensitive of the three cap compositions used by us.

In the past it has been our custom, and it is the custom of some small-arms

ammunition manufacturers, to leave the under surface of the cap composition

naked, except where the anvil covers it and to rely on its being held in place

by the gum arable in the composition.

We have long ago tried using a wad over the cap composition and under the

anvil face, but this reduces the sensitiveness of the cap to a prohibitive extent.

We are to-day covering the inner face of the cap composition of some of our

caps with a strong coating of shellac and will use these caps experimentally.

If we find they are satisfactory in shop tests, we will ask permission to make

firing tests to see that the caps are not too slow.

We have from time to time subjected our caps, after being crimped, to a very

severe jolting and shock tests and find the cap composition stays in place re

markably well ; nevertheless we are a little afraid of this point.

Will the bureau please send us the cap socket and fuse plungers from the

drop test of lot No. 21 for our examination?

Respectfully,

John B. Semple & Co.,

J. B. Semple, President.
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May 29, 1916.

.Subject : Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses, lots 9 to 13, inclusive. Report of

test.

Inclosures herewith : (A) Copy of P. G. letter 2818-4-2 of May 18, 1916. (Bur.

File 30933/116.) (B) Copy of P. G. letter 2818-4-2 of May 23, 1916. (Bur.

File 30933/129.)

Sies : The above-mentioned inclosures reporting test of medium-caliber tracer

fuses, lots 9 to 13, inclusive, are forwarded for the information of the company.

Attention is especially invited to the failures of lots 9 and 13 in 4" shell

against 5/16" plate at low velocity and to the premature experienced in lot 13.

Respectfully,

G. L. Caskey.

By direction of chief of bureau.

J. B. Semple & Co.,

Sewickley, Pa.

8. Sioith.—As testified to in the record, the statement that in July,

1915, the requisition or specifications were changed to throw all work

for medium-caliber fuses to the Semple Co. is exactly contrary to the

facts. For a number of years prior to July, 1915, orders for medium-

caliber fuses were placed outright with the Semple Co., as this firm

was the only one known to be in a position to furnish satisfactory

fuses of this type. In July, 1915, in view of the successful tests of

experimental fuses submitted by the Watson Ordnance Co., of Pitts

burgh, and the Watson Arms Co., of Philadelphia, bids were thrown

open to competition. The Semple Co. was the lowest bidder for the

tracer fuses complete by a substantial margin and received the con

tracts. Copies of the two requisitions prior to July 1, 1915, and of

the two requisitions subsequent to July 1, 1915, attached hereto,

show the difference in the orders. The specifications were not

changed in the slightest in July, 1915.

REQUISITION FOR SERVICES OR SUPPLIES (ON. SHORE).

NO. 175.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Bureau, April 9, 1915.

The following-named services or articles (which latter I hereby certify are

not in store in any unreserved stock or obtainable here under existing contracts)

are required under appropriation: 401. "Ordnance and ordnance stores, 1915,"

for fusing shell for issue to ship.

No. 1. 36.000 medium-caliber tracer fuses, estimate cost. $1.65 each $59,400

2. 100,000 minor-caliber tracer fuses, estimate cost, $0.88 each 88,000

Total 147, 400

To be manufactured in accordance with the attached " specifications for

medium-caliber tracer fuses," dated April 8, 1915.

To be inspected at the works of the company.

To be delivered f. o. b. works of the company within one year from date of

contract.

The Bureau of Ordnance to be authorized to accept an overrun of 20 per cent

if required by that bureau.

It is recommended that competition be waived and that the order for this

material he placed with John B. Semple & Co., of Sewickley, Pa. This company

is the only one in the country that has been able to furnish satisfactory tracer

fuses, and no other fuse will satisfy the requirements of the bureau.

Estimated price is very reasonable and is estimated at much less than the

cost of manufacturing similar fuses at Government plants, even provided

authority could be obtained for using the various patents involved.

This is a proprietary article and no other will answer requirements of the

service.

It is requested that competition be waived.
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REQUISITION FOR SERVICES OR SUPPLIES (ON SHORE).

No. 48.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Bureau, July 27, 1915.

The following-named services or articles (which latter I hereby certify are

not in store in any unreserved stock or obtainable here under existing contracts)

are required under appropriation: No. 421, "Ammunition, ships of the Navy,"

for fusing shell for issue to ships :

No. 1. 150,000 medium-caliber tracer fuses, estimated cost, $1.65 each $247, 500

To be manufactured in accordance with the specifications for medium-caliber

tracer fuses, dated April 8, 1915, copies of which may be obtained upon applica

tion to the Bureau of Ordnance. The Bureau of Ordnance may require the con

tractor to furnish four fuses per lot in addition to the number required by the

specifications for flight test, at the discretion of the bureau.

To be inspected at the works of the company.

To be delivered f. o. b. works of the company within one year from date of

contract.

The Bureau of Ordnance to be authorized to accept an overrun of 20 per

cent if required by that bureau.

In case a bidder is unable to furnish medium-caliber tracer fuses, bids for

furnishing simple ignition fuses will be considered. Such ignition fuses must

conform in general, as to dimensions and weight, with the standard medium-

caliber tracer fuses, and must be fitted with a tracer head for taking a Mark II,

model 1 tracer, as shown in sketch No. 2228, copies of which may be ob

tained upon application to the Buerau of Ordnance.

As the tracer is an essential element of the fuse, in considering bids a dif

ferential of 50 cents per fuse will be applied against fuses which do not

furnish the tracer, as this represents the cost to the Government of fitting such

fuses with a tracer.

The bureau recommends that competition on this requisition be limited to

the following parties, who are the only ones known to be in a position to furnish

satisfactory medium-caliber tracer fuses complying with the specifications :

(a) John B. Semple & Co., Sewickley, Pa.

(b) Watson Ordnance Co., House Building, Pittsburgh, Pa.

(r) C. P. Watson. % Hotel Penn, York, Pa.

Bids received on requisition No. S/8 of July 27, 1M5, for medium caliber tracer

fuses.

Bids.

Fuse

without

tracer.

Tracer

fuse com

plete.

1.335

1.10

1.835

 

1.60

'1.44

1 Award was made to the Semple Co., who was the lowest bidder on tracer fuses complete in ac

cordance with the specifications.

REQUISITION FOR SERVICES OI! SUPPLIES (ON SHORE I .

No. 11-1917.

Bureau of Okdnance.

The following-named services or articles (which latter I hereby certify are

not in store in any unreserved stock or obtainable here under existing con

tracts) are required under appropriation:

No. 421. "Ammunition for ships of the Navy," for fusing shell for issue to

ships.

Item 1. :?(iO,lH)(l medium-caliber tracer fuses, estimated cost $1.44 each- $518,400

To lie manufactured in accordance with the specifications for medium-caliber

tracer fuses, dated April 8. 1915, copies of which may be obtained upon applica

tion to the Bureau of Ordnance. The Bureau of Ordnance may require the con
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tractor to furnish four fuses per lot in addition to the number required by the

specifications for flight test, at tlw discretion of the bureau.

Prior to commencing work on the contract the contractor will be required to

submit 15 sample fuses of the type that he intends to supply on contract and

these sample fuses must give satisfactory test in accordance with the specifica

tions before work is proceeded with under the contract. Failure of the sample

fuses submitted to give satisfactory test will be sufficient cause for the depart

ment to cancel the contract.

To be inspected at the works of the company.

To be delivered f. o. b. works of the company ; deliveries to commence within

3 months from date of contract and to continue at a rate of not less than

30,000 fuses per month, all deliveries- to be completed within 15 months from

date of contract.

The Bureau of Ordnance to be authorized to accept an overrun of 10 per cent

if required by that bureau.

In case a bidder is unable to furnish medium caliber tracer fuses, bids for

furnishing simple ignition fuses will be considered. Such ignition fuses must

conform in general as to dimensions and weight with the standard medium

caliber tracer fuses and must be fitted with a tracer head for taking a Mark II,

Mod. 2 target tracer, as shown on sketch \.o. 2228. copies of which may be ob

tained upon application to the Bureau of Ordnance.

As the tracer is an essential element of the fuse, in considering the bids a

differential of 50 cents per fuse will be applied against fuses which do not

furnish the tracer as compared with fuses which do not furnish the tracer as this

represents the cost to the Government of fitting such fuses with the tracer.

REQUISITION FOR SERVICES OR SUPPLIES (ON SHORE).

No. 87.

Bureau of Ordnance,

Bureau, September 2,9, lOU/.

The following-named services or articles (which later I hereby certify are

not in store in any unreserved stock or obtainable here under existing contracts)

are required under appropriation: "Ordnance and Ordnance Stores, 1915,"

for fusing shell and use at target practice.

No. 1. 30.000 Semple medium-caliber tracer fuses. Estimated cost,

$1.65 each $49, 500

No. 2. 30,000 Semple minor-caliber tracer fuses. Estimated cost,

$0.88 each 26, 400

No. 3. 30,000 Semple target tracers. Estimated cost, $0.50 each 15,000

Total 90, 000

To be inspected at works of the company.

To be manufactured in accordance with the attached specifications.

Deliveries to be f. o. b. the works of the company within 10 months from

date of contract.

The Bureau of Ordnance to be authorized to accept an overrun of 20 per

cent if required by that bureau.

Note.—It is recommended that competition be waived and that the order for

this material be placed with J. B. Semple & Co., of Sewickley, Pa. This is a

proprietary article fully covered by patents and is not made by any other firm.

The tracer element is absolutely necessary for accurate firing, and J. B. Semple

is the only company which has been able to produce a satisfactory article.

The estimated price is considered reasonable and is the price at which this

material was furnished by this company prior to the present conditions abroad.

This is a proprietary article, ami no other will answer requirements of the

service.

It is requested that competition may be waived.

Lieut. Caskey. I would like to add that the point has been raised

whether these fuses were tested with this particular type of ammu

nition, and to state that before this particular lot of ammunition for

reserve batteries, which was afterwards issued to armed liners, was

made up, a small lot of the ammunition prepared with these fuses
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was forwarded to Indianhead and tested at pressures up to proof

pressure. The ammunition was perfect in every respect, but, unfor

tunately, this test was conducted under what was then the standard

proving-ground conditions, without the use of the mouth cup, and

so it did not disclose the trouble that we experienced later.

The Acting Chairman. You have got copies here of requisitions

before and after July 15, and all contracts made for the furnishing

of ammunition, as requested in this letter sent to Senator Freling-

huysen?

Lieut. Casket. Yes, sir; they will be inserted in the record. A

point is raised in some of this correspondence presented to the

committee regarding the inspection of the fuses at the Semple

Co.'s works. This company does not manufacture its own fuse

parts. They purchase these from outside contractors, and the

parts are inspected and gauged at the works of the subcontractor.

The inspection of this material is carried on largely by civilian in

spectors, similar to the mechanical gauging of other material for the

Ordnance Department of the Navy, which requires accurate measure

ment. After acceptance at the subcontractor's works, where it is

guaranteed free from flaws and imperfections of every sort, and to

be of proper material, conforming in every respect with the specifica

tions, and of accurate dimensions, the parts are shipped to the

Semple Co.'s plant, which is primarily an assembling and loading

plant. There the work of loading the fuses has for several years past

been under the personal supervision of a commissioned naval officer

stationed at Munhall near Pittsburgh. The Semple Co.'s plant is

just outside of Pittsburgh. At no time has there been a subinspector

stationed at the Semple Co.'s plant itself. The reason for this has

been the extremely confidential nature of much of the work per

formed there. Incident to the increase of work at the beginning of

the war, the inspector at Munhall was relieved of his inspection

duties at the Semple Co.'s plant at Sewickly, and a commissioned

officer of experience was detailed for the sole duty of inspecting the

material at the Semple Co.'s plant, and that is the present arrange

ment.

The Acting Chairman. The civil officer that did the inspection at

the place where the material was manufactured, was he under the

direction of a naval officer?

Lieut. Caskey. He was; yes, sir. The parts which entered into the

manufacture of these fuses were manufactured by the Hartford Ma

chine Screw Co., of Hartford, Conn., and were inspected by sub-

inspectors attached to the office of the naval inspector or ordnance, at

Bridgeport, Conn., and they were under the direct supervision of

that officer, who is a commissioned naval officer.

The charge is made in this correspondence of poor material, poor

workmanship, poor loading, and faulty primer caps. Nothing of the

sort has occurred.

The Acting Chairman. Have all of these been subjected to rigor

ous inspection and tests?

Lieut. Caskey. Absolutely. The charge is also made that mate

rial which had been giving excellent results ballistically, had, all of a

sudden, gone bad, and that after an investigation, at a loss to the.

Government of thousands of dollars, it was found there were serious

1051X6—u 12
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defects in the assembling of the fuse parts. That is not the case. Oc

casionally the contractor has run into difficulties of some sort in con

nection with the assembly of his primer caps, and these difficulties

have caused failures, usually quite unimportant in character, during

the tests at Indianhead ; but in all such cases the material has been

rejected, and the loss has fallen on the contractor, where it belonged.

The Government has suffered no loss in this connection.

The statement is further made that the Government had to rely on

reports furnished by the Semple Co. This is not correct. The only

reports that the Government had to rely on have been the reports

from its own inspectors and from the proving ground.

The Acting Chairman. From the proving ground from officers

who made the tests ?

Lieut. Casket. Yes; from officers who made the tests. The state

ment is made that previous to July, 1915, all fuse makers had an

opportunity to bid, but that in July, 1915, a clause was inserted in the

requisition or specifications which threw work to the Semple Co. The

contrary is true. Prior to the summer of 1915 for a number of years

contracts for this type of fuse were awarded outright to the Semple

Co., as they were the only ones known to be in a position to furnish

a satisfactory fuse of this character. In the summer of 1915 two

other manufacturers of fuses submitted fuses, which were found to

be acceptable, although not complying with the specifications, in

that they did not furnish a tracer element. The Bureau of Ord

nance made special arrangements, enabling these two companies to

bid on the next requirements for medium-caliber fuses, by which the

Government would furnish the tracer and these companies would be

allowed to bid on a plain fuse, without the tracer, but these fuses to

be adapted to take a tracer. In considering the bids it was under

stood that a company which furnished a tracer fuse complete would

be entitled to consideration to the extent of the cost to the Govern

ment of the tracer element against any company which did not fur

nish the tracer element. As a result, the contract of August, 1915,

for the fuses entering into this ammunition under discussion was the

first one for a number of years on which open-competitive bids were

obtained. The Semple Co. was the low bidder by a large margin on

the tracer fuse complete and secured the contract. This same pro

cedure was followed in a later contract for this same type of fuse, and

again the Semple Co. was the low bidder and obtained the contract.

Another statement is made in the letters presented to the committee

that year after year, practice after practice, reports from the fleet

show failures in target tracers—never less than 60 per cent and often

100 per cent. This statement is false. A few years ago the velocity

of the 5-inch 51-caliber gun, for certain forms of target practice, was

reduced from 3,150 foot-seconds to 2,300 foot-seconds, with a corre

sponding reduction in pressure. This reduction was made in order

to save the life of the guns in target practice, where high velocity was

not essential. One or more of these target practices for which a

reduced charge and velocity was adopted are conducted at night, with

ammunition which is fitted with night-target tracers. Immediately

after the charge was made the fleet did have considerable difficulty

with their ammunition, owing simply to the fact that the target

tracers which were in stock and which were supplied with the am

munition had been designed to function at full pressure and not to
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function at reduced pressures. The tracers were not at all at fault, as

they had fully complied with the specifications issued by the Govern

ment and up to that time had given complete satisfaction. The sud

den failure of the tracers was due to a change of conditions for which

they were not responsible. This matter was immediately taken up

with the Semple Co., and a target tracer has now been developed

which gives full satisfaction at either full or reduced pressure, and

this without any increase in cost to the Government, although the

requirements are extremely difficult to meet. The new target tracers

are now being supplied to the fleet, and in the recent firing no com

plaints have been made. On the contrary, it is understood that the

tracers have given excellent satisfaction. That covers it, I think,

Senator.

The Acting Chairman. What is your belief as to what occasioned

the premature explosions of these shells in the 6-inch guns?

Lieut. Caskey. I agree with the opinion expressed by Admiral

Earle and the other officers that there is some mutual action between

the mouth cup and the base or the fuse of the loaded and fused

projectile which causes this premature. This last firing was under

my direction, and I thought that the cause had been definitely ascer

tained to be the punching in of the tracer fuse by a blow from the

mouth cup until a premature was experienced on substituting a base

fuse which had no tracer cavity. This throws the matter in a little

doubt, but unquestionably the removal of the mouth cup from the

ammunition should entirely eliminate the trouble.

The Acting Chairman. The doubt expressed in your previous

answer is simply in reference to what kind of action the mouth cup

has upon the fuse or the projectile?

Lieut. Caskey. Exactly.

The Acting Chairman. You do not mean to imply that there is

any doubt in your mind as to the mouth cup being the cause of the

premature explosions?

Lieut. Caskey. Not at all. I am certain that the mouth cup is the

cause of the explosions, and that the removal of the mouth cup will

obviate all difficulty.

The Acting Chairman. What is your belief as to the efficiency

of the method suggested by Admiral Earle to obviate this difficulty?

Lieut. Caskey. Senator, we are now going into this matter, and

it should be stated that there are working on this problem the gen

eral inspector of ammunition depots, at Fort Mifflin, the inspector of

ordnance in charge of the ammunition depot at Iona Island, the

inspector of ordnance at the New York Navy Yard, the inspector of

powder for the east coast, the Washington Navy Yard, the naval

proving ground, and the bureau. We have interviewed at least a

dozen firms who are in a position to furnish substitute materiel of

some sort for this brass cup, and are daily receiving reports and

samples. I am not as yet prepared to state what the substitute will

be. but personally I am inclined to favor the proposition presented

by Commander Galbraith, at the Fort Mifflin ammunition depot, of

a disk of cork or cork composition which shall be placed in the mouth

of the cartridge case and sealed in with paint. This, however, may

not prove finally to be the best solution, and any solution we adopt

will be subjected to tests beforehand at the naval proving ground.
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The Acting Chairman. What are you using now temporarily in

place of the mouth cup?

Lieut. Caskey. In the meantime we are using temporarily in place

of the mouth cup in the ammunition for all of the armed liners a

wooden plug. This is not deemed quite satisfactory as a permanent

solution, because it is rather difficult to keep it dry over an extended

period of time, so as to permanently protect the powder, but for a

short period it should give entire satisfaction.

The Acting Chairman. You think it would give satisfaction on

these trips of the liners to Europe and back?

Lieut. Casket. I do; yes. sir.

The Acting Chairman. You do not think that the exposure that

the powder would be subjected to on such trips would result in de

terioration of any consequence?

Lieut. Casket. No, sir; not in the slightest.

The Acting Chairman. You will carefully furnish all the data,

letters, and memoranda that have been asked for ?

Lieut. Casket. Yes, sir; in connection with this correspondence

that was submitted to the committee; everything will be covered.

The Acting Chairman. The committee will stand adjourned now

until 10 o'clock Wednesday morning.

(Whereupon, at 7 o'clock p. m., the committee adjourned to meet

at 10 o'clock a. m., Wednesday, June 13, 1917.)
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WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13, 1917.

United States Senate,

Committee on Naval Affairs,

Washington, D. C.

The committee met pursuant to adjournment at 10 o'clock a. m., in

the committee room, Capitol, Senator Claude A. Swanson presiding.

Present: Senator Swanson (acting chairman), Smith (of Michi

gan) , Phelan, Broussard, Page, Poindexter, and Frelinghuysen.

The Acting Chairman. The committee will come to order. I

summoned to testify this morning Mr. John Kirby, of New York.

I have received a telegram from him which I will read [reading] :

Senator Claude Swanson,

Naval Affairs Committee, Senate Office Building.

Washington, D. C:

New York, June 12.

Tour request to testify before committee received. All information I had

concerning accident on St. Louis printed on first page of the New York World

a copy of which may be had at World,s Washington office. In view of this

appears to be waste of committee time and my time to go to Washington.

John Kirby.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I suggest that the clerk of the committee

procure that newspaper and place it in the' record.

The Acting Chairman. I have no objection to putting that in the

record, but I would like to see it first. I should not like any damag

ing comments in a newspaper article to go into the record, without

a chance to cross-examine the writer. It would not be proper to let

that article go into the record without the members of the commit

tee having an opportunity to cross-examine him if they so desired.

But, for the present, we will not insist on Mr. Kirby coming here

until we examine the article.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I asked the chairman to summon him as

a witness because I was told he was an eye witness; that he was on

board the St. Louis, and was an eye witness in the firing of the guns

on the St. Louis.

Senator Page. Does not the World state those facts?

Senator Frelinghuysen. I do not know. The statement was made

that he was an eye witness, and in order to have a witness on board

the ship summoned before this committee, I suggested his name to

the chairman.

The Acting Chairman. I think the committee should read the

article before inserting it, with a View to ascertaining whether it is

sufficient or whether it should be necessary to summon him.

Senator Page. It may be necessary to summon him. but until we

see the article I suggest we do not summon him.

181
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The Acting Chairman. I think that is wise. Mr. Semple is here

this morning, and will now make his statement.

STATEMENT OF MR. JOHN B. SEMPLE, PRESIDENT OF JOHN B.

SEMPLE & CO.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, will you please state your

full name and occupation ?

Mr. Semple. John B. Semple, president of John B. Semple & Co.,

manufacturers of tracers and fuses.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, have you a contract with the

Government for furnishing fuses?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; Ave have several.

The Acting Chairman. Have you copies of those contracts?

Mr. Semple. I have none here ; no, sir.

The Acting Chairman. I believe they were put in the record.

Lieut. Commander Caskey. The requisitions mentioned in the cor

respondence were put in the record, but not the current contracts.

The Acting Chairman. The Navy Department will file those. Is

there anything secret in them ?

Lieut. Commander Caskey. The specifications attached to them are

confidential. They should not go into the record, but the contracts

themselves, as to the amounts, etc., may go in.

The Acting Chairman. What is the nature of your contracts,

without disclosing the nature of your fuse, Mr. Semple?

Mr. Semple. Well, we manufacture fuses for the various sizes of

shell. Most of them are made with a tracer; that is, the tracer and

the fuse are combined.

The Acting Chairman. You are the inventor of the tracer in the

fuse?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir. .

Senator Page. Will you please explain what that tracer is and

what it does, in order that it may appear in the record ?

Mr. Semple. The tracer is simply a metal case which holds a pyro

technic compound which is ignited at the time of the firing and con

tinues buring during the flight of the projectile, so it may be seen at

night and you can tell where the shell is going, when it is difficult

to see the splash. It is not of any use in the day time except possibly

for incendiary purposes.

The Acting Chairman. There are two kinds of fuses that you

furnish the Government?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; the ignition fuse and the detonating fuse.

The Acting Chairman. In the ignition fuse, how is that contract

let? Do the specifications call for a certain kind of fuse to do certain

things ?

Mr. Semple. Yes ; specifications are put out for general bids.

The Acting Chairman. Have you ever received the contract meas

uring up to specifications except when you were the lowest bidder?

Mr. Semple. On this medium-caliber size that goes into the 4, 5,

and 6 inch shells, I do not think so. I can not remember having

received an award except where I was the lowest bidder.

The Acting Chairman. I think the bids were all filed.

Lieut. Commander Caskey. Yes, sir.



CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA. 183

Admiral Eable. They are all in the record.

The Acting Chairman. All those facts are in there ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. In regard to the inspection at your

plant

Mr. Semple. You understand in connection with the fuse—the

tracer fuse—we are the only makers of the tracers. Others have

tried it and have not yet been successful, unless it be the Krupps, in

Germany. They are not making them in France and England,

except our type.

The Acting Chairman. And you refuse to sell to other nations i

Mr. Semple. We do not now. except in the case of France. Eng

land and Russia obtained the right to manufacture several years

before the war—the tracer, I mean.

The Acting Chairman. The tracer?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. I think the tracer and its effect has been

fully explained to the committee by Admiral Strauss and others.

Now, regarding the inspection at your plant of the material you

furnished the Government, is that material inspected by Government

inspectors ?

Mr, Semple. Yes; by a commissioned officer.

The Acting Chairman. Please tell how it is inspected and how the

contract is complied with.

Mr. Semple. The inspector has full authority to see everything we

do, to inspect the material at any stage of manufacture, to allow it

to go on or to stop its manufacture at any stage in the manufacture.

He has general—in fact, he has absolute—power over its structure.

On account of having a number of trade secrets, as it were, we made

the request that only a commissioned officer be allowed to inspect our

material; and no civilian inspector is placed at our factory, as in

the case of some works. So our inspection has always been done by

a commissioned officer.

The Acting Chairman. Are you subject to tests at the proving

ground ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of any material being ac

cepted by the Government under your contracts which did not com

ply with the inspection of the officer or of the tests at the proving

ground ?

Mr. Semple. No ; I do not think so.

Senator Page. May I ask there, Do you know of any instances in

which the material furnished by you to the Government has ever

proved defective?

Mr. Semple. I do not know that you can say that. It is a difficult

thing to make 100 per cent perfect material, and that is practically

what we are required to do. Sometimes we do not make 100 per

cent, because of various little difficulties, which are usually corrected;

that is. we take the fuses apart and correct any defects. For instance,

the primer may become damp in our handling before loading, or

we may have subjected the tracer material to too much pressure, etc. ;

irregularities in manufacture over which we can not exercise a com

plete control.
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Senator Page. How low a percentage have you sometimes run,

that is, what per cent is defective? Have you knowledge as to that

matter ?

Mr. SEMrLE. No ; I have not. Our contracts have had to prove up

very well in per cent to all the foreign material to be accepted at all.

That is all I know. It is easier for us to sell to France and Austria,

and it is easier for us to sell to England before we made the deal

with them, and, as I say, to sell to Austria, which country had rather

severe tests. We did sell to them before the war, before any war

was contemplated, and we found it was much easier to sell to them

than it was to the United States.

The Acting Chairman. Have you, for instance, ever known of a

test that ran as low as 10 per cent defectives?

Mr. Semple. Possibly on tracers. I do not know of any on fuses,

but on tracers, yes. Now, as to that word " defective," we have to

pass a lot of different tests, and when they are finally accepted on the

first test the material goes through, it might have some that are over

10 per cent, but they say, " We reject this lot," and we take that lot

back and try to correct that particular part of it which has not met

the requirements. The fuse has four or five tests to pass. It must

fragment the shell and stand a drop test and stand a flight test and

not go off in flight. They are flighted over the range at Indian-

head for six or seven thousand yards, and then they must stand an

explosion against thin plate and often against heavy plate as well.

The specifications are drawn up quite rigidly, and it is very difficult

to get the material to pass unless it does give better than 10 per cent.

The Acting Chairman. When these are reported imperfect in some

certain respects, are they ever accepted before the imperfections are

removed by you and corrected?

Mr. Semple. Not if we can do it. Sometimes those things can not

be found out.

The Acting Chairman. Does the department insist that these de

fects be corrected—the inspectors and officers at the magazines?

Mr. Semple. Sometimes they do. For instance, there may be a

defect in the fuses for the 4 or 5 inch shell. They may pass in one

gun and not in another. They may pass that contract. It may be,

as I say, that the fuses will function in one of the guns and not in

both.

The Acting Chairman. They stated that one fuse they had there

was not good in one gun but good in a smaller gun, and that they

were accepted; and a memorandum should be made that they should

not be used except in the smaller gun. Is that what you allude to?

Mr. Semple. We have had thsit case occur—the case where the

rifling in the 4-inch gun was much quicker than before and the fuse

was giving bad action in that gun—but when they changed hack to

the old rifling the fuse worked all right again.

The Acting Chairman. Was the trouble with the fuse or the

gun?

Mr. Semple. Well, those fuses would work all right with the gun

of a different rifling, but the fuse had to have a stronger restraining

spring for that gun with that particular rifling.

The Acting Chairman. There is a difference in the restraining

spring in the different guns used?
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Mr. Semple. Every gun has its peculiarities. Sometimes you can

make a fuse that will run over a range of guns.

Senator Pace. You say every gun; you do not mean literally every

gun?

Mr. Semple. No. sir; every class of gun, I should say. For in

stance, the 4 or 5 or 6 inch guns. For instance, we began to make

tracers for guns that used powder bags. They did not give them

much trouble, but when they put them into the 6-inch 40-caliber guns

with the cartridge case we could not get the gas in there in order to

work the tracer, and we had to change the tracer.

The Acting Chairman. Did you furnish the fuse which was used

in the 6-inch gun in which these premature explosions occurred?

Mr. Semple. I do not know, sir, but I suppose we did, because we

supplied practically all of those fuses at that time.

The Acting Chairman. You are an expert, and we understand

your marvelous genius, as has been testified to in connection with

your shells, etc.. and, consequently, we should like to ask your

opinion as to the premature explosions in the 6-inch guns used on the

St. Louis, the St. Paul, the Philadelphia, and the Mongolia.

Senator Page. Before proceeding, will you ask him to qualify by

saying he is the inventor of this fuse and tracer?

The Acting Chairman. You are the inventor of these fuses?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; there is one patent that was gotten by my

partner, but it was the two of us together.

The Acting Chairman. We will not examine you about the de

tonating fuse, because that is a secret, and we had an executive ses

sion, and I think we were all satisfied on that, and we will not go into

that matter unless we have an executive session, because, as I under- .

stand, this Government has an absolute monopoly on that fuse.

Mr. Semple. We have refused to sell that to any other Government

unless the Navy Department gives us the authority.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Is there anything in writing to that

effect?

Mr. Semple. Well

Senator Frelinghuysen. Simply a verbal agreement that you

recognize it?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. The time may come when it may be

better to sell abroad. I do not admit that, but, at the same time, we

are doing it.

The Acting Chairman. You stated they asked you not to do it,

and you complied with their request?

Mr. Semple. Yes; we canceled orders with the Bethlehem Steel

Co. which were intended for one of the other countries.

Senator Page. You mentioned the exception of France.

Mr. Semple. That was a tracer. They used them in the anti-air

guns against Zeppelins.

The Acting Chairman. You have read the facts in connection

with these premature explosions?

Mr. Semple. No, sir : I have seen nothing but the newspapers.

The Acting Chairman. You know the composition of the 6-inch

shell? You are thoroughly acquainted with the mechanism of the

cartridge case, the copper mouth cup, the fuse, and the shell?
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Mr. Semple. No, sir; I do not know the distance between the end

of the brass mouth cup and the base of the projectile. I mean the

distance between those two points.

The Acting Chairman. The projectile that goes into the rifling is

put in independently, and then the cartridge case inserted afterwards.

Do you know what that distance is between the two, Admiral Earle?

Admiral Earle. It is about two inches and a half.

The Acting Chairman. Two and a half inches between the base of

the shell and the mouth cup?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is your impression as to the cause

of the premature explosions on the St. Louis, in which there was a

large percentage out of 45 shots—I think 9 exploded within the

gun and 4 prematures outside of the gun.

Mr. Semple. Nine and four out of forty-five ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Mr. Semple. I have not the slightest idea. I do not know. It is a

surprise to me to hear that, and I really do not know what caused it.

It certainly did not obtain at the proving ground when these fuses

were tested.

The Acting Chairman. You did not test those fuses with the cop

per mouth cup—or did you ?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. They were made for several different

sizes of guns. In fact, at the present time, we make them only for

the 4-inch and 5-inch guns. In those days they did not use high-

explosive in the other shell. They now use a high-explosive in the fl

inch shell and that takes the detonating fuse.

The Acting Chairman. What would be your impression from this

state of facts, as an expert—89 of these shells without this mouth cup

were tested with the fuses at the proving ground, and out of the 89,

87 functioned perfectly and 2 were premature in their explosion.

Then, 16 of these shells were taken and the copper mouth cup used,

and then, out of the 16 with the copper mouth cup, which you have

before you, there were 4 premature explosions.

Mr. Semple. You say the mouth cup was not used in the first case ?

The Acting Chairman. Copper mouth cups were not used in the

first case, but were used in the last case. As I understand, they were

the same fuses and the same shells.

Mr. Semple. Well

The Acting Chairman. There [indicating] is one of the shells.

There [exhibiting] is the copper mouth cup taken off the Mongolia..

That is one of the mouth cups that produced the prematures | exhib

iting].

Mr. Semple. This was not fired from the Mongolia, was it?

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is the horrible piece that killed one

of the nurses. It is extremely gruesome.

The Acting Chairman. I understand that this is the result of a

shot at the proving ground [exhibiting].

Mr. Semple. I notice it is turned inside out. As to what caused

the breaking up or the premature bursting of the shell I can not form

any opinion. I could guess at it, but you can all do that.

The Acting Chairman. What would be your guess? You are

simply giving evidence for the information of the Navy and the

public. If there are any mistakes we are desirous of correcting them.
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They are experimenting now with the matter, as I understand it. If

it is trouble with the shell they want to correct the shell, and if it is

trouble with the mouth cup they want to correct that, or if it is

trouble with the fuse that should be corrected.

Mr. Semplk. The mouth cup is used in the British Navy, but it is

not quite as heavy as this. Did they try any with just plugs in them

instead of the fuse ?

The Acting Chairman. They have tried them with plugs, did they

not?

Admiral Eable. May I may a statement here ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Admiral Eable. As a matter of interest in connection with this

matter, you remember we took the brass mouth cups out of as many

cartridge cases as we could get hold of between the time the Mongolia

arrived and left, which was one day. We sent a cable to London yes

terday to ascertain from the Mongolia whether or not they had had

any trouble with the 6-inch ammunition, the bureau having previously

directed the young officer to fire as much of the ammunition as he

possibly could. We received this cable this morning from the ambas

sador at London [reading] :

Confidential. 14387

Telegram In code.

Paraphrase.

97-wjs 12 Govt via Coin).

London.

Jtjne 12, 1917.

Navintel,

Washington:

Six-inch ammunition Mongolia satisfactory. 17212.

MacPougaix.

6.26 1 1. in.

Copies to Chief of Naval Operations.

Bureau of Ordnance.

File.

Beceived in Bureau Ordnance 10.20 a. m., June 13.

T. A. Keakney,

Comdr. U. S. N.

The only difference between that ammunition and the ammunition

he had on the St. Louis on her original trip was that the brass mouth

cup was omitted and its place was taken by a wooden plug.

Mr. Semplk. When you put in the wooden plug—it is quite a com

mon practice on the proving ground to do that—you put the wooden

plugs in more as a convenience. It may be that those fuses that were

tested at that time were tested with the wooden plugs.

Admiral Earle. I think they were.

Mr. Semple. That was quite a common practice.

The Acting Chairman. The testimony of the officers was that the

copper mouth cup in some way pressed against the fuse or produced

a fracture in the shell, or this cap here [exhibiting], operated by

immense pressure on the fuse, produced premature explosions. But,

if you could, we would like to have your opinion, independently of

the experts of the Navy. We would like to have your frank and

candid opinion as to how that operated, and what was the cause of

the premature explosions. I will also say that the information is

that they had no premature explosions except in the case of the

6-inch guns. The trouble has been with the 6-inch gun.
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Mr. Semple. I have known of projectiles with sand in them or a

steel plug in the base breaking up in flight, and. in those cases, they

did not have a mouth cup in there. Of course, a hammer blow might

do it.

The Acting Chairman. Will you tell the committee what your

impression is as to the cause of these premature explosions? That

is the state of facts that has been disclosed to the committee. As I

understand, taking, for instance, this mouth cup [exhibiting], it did

not have this indentation in it before the explosion. It was like this

one [exhibiting], and after the premature explosion it had this in

dentation.

Admiral Earle. After ever shot. This was not a premature.

One of them was, but this particular one was not.

Mr. Semple. I must say again. I do not know.

The Acting Chairman. You say you can guess. Give us your

guess.

Mr. Semple. It might be a hammer blow. There is a 2^-inch

drive between the two points. Now, when the powder begins to

ignite, the pressure rises, and there is a spread in the shell, just as

there is in the cartridge case. In firing there is produced a blow

which might be enough to crack it. It depends, of course, on the

character of steel in the projectile. There is a severe strain in fir

ing any projectile.

Senator Frelinghuysen. At this point I simply want to ask one

question. After 20 years of freedom from any such accidents of

this character in the Navy, as has been testified to here, what is your

theory in connection with the arming of a large number of merchant

ships, where three of them, I think, or more, armed with 6-inch guns,

suddenly have this defect appear collectively, with a large per

centage of failures in the ammunition; that after 20 years of free

dom from such experiences it suddenly appears at this time?

Mr. Semple. It might be due to a change, by the lengthening of

the cartridge case. The chamber of the guns might have been made

longer.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Then, Mr. Semple, you do not believe

it is entirely the mouth cup, but it might be due to a change in the

shell or a change in the casing?

Mr. Semple. I believe

Senator Frelinghuysen. Or to a change in the method or an in

crease in the density—if that is the word—of the explosion?

Mr. Semple. I am convinced, from what I hear, that the mouth

cup is the real cause, but whether there has been a change which

would give the mouth cup an opportunity to crack the shell, of

course, I do not know. As I say, we might find out whether the

cartridge case has been shortened. I know in one case, the 5-inch

51 -caliber gun, the cartridge case was shortened several inches.

Whether it is true in the 6-inch gun I do not know. I know from

my experience that nothing of this kind occurred at the proving

ground.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you ever seen the brass sleeve used

at the proving ground?

Mr. Semple. I have found lots of them. I notice that they are

turned inside out and have the marks of the projectile on the' face

the leaves of the cup being turned in.
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Senator Frelinghuysen. You have been present when the brass

cup was used at the proving ground ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Under what pressure are the tests made?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. They vary from a low pressure up

to an abnormal pressure.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The highest pressure you know of at the

proving ground is

Mr. Semple. Twenty tons. Assuming that 16 or thereabout is the

working pressure—they usually run over that.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I understood from Admiral Earle no

tests had been made of this brass cup at the proving ground, because

of the danger to the dwellings near by.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; the fragments might spread out and strike

houses near there. That is the reason, I understand, they use a

wooden test. I have found these brass mouth cups at the proving

ground.

Admiral Earle. We abandoned using the brass mouth cup for that

reason. Admiral Strauss testified we used them and are using them

at the proving ground, but never, as I remember, have we used this

combination—the 6-inch shell, the 6-inch medium caliber Semple

fuse, and the brass mouth cup.

Mr. Semple. I can not remember that8 combination being used

there.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Did you not state that 8 tons was the

highest pressure used there ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is immaterial, at any rate.

Admiral Earle. I think there is a little misunderstanding here. I

said the 8 tons' pressure was used in testing the 6-inch shells

through plates, because we wanted to make the tests as severe as pos

sible for the shells ; that if the shell satisfactorily passed through the

plate with the low velocity caused by that pressure, we used them in

the regular routine firing, which runs up to a pressure, with the 6-

inch gun, of 22 tons. But, as I say, the combination of the loaded

shell, the Hemple fuse, and the brass mouth cup, has never, to my

knowledge, been used at the proving ground until recently.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Now, as I understood you, you used a

brass mouth cup in testing the cartridge?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. When the cartridge case was received, that

was tested with a brass mouth cup, because that would test whether

that would bear the powder pressure or not, and then when you came

to test the shell, not having any idea that the mouth cup would at

all affect the shell, you usually used wooden plugs, because the powder

would not deteriorate and the wooden plugs were cheaper. You

abandoned the brass mouth cup, as I understand, because there was

complaint about the pieces hitting the houses in the neighborhood.

But the brass cup is used with the cartridge case?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And when you tested the shell you

Admiral Earle. We sometimes use a wooden disk and sometimes

only pasteboard wadding.
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The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, when that copper mouth cup

is substituted, by using wood or cork, so that the moisture does not

get into the powder, it is burned up by the explosion, and if the mouth

cup was the cause of the premature explosion, do you think that

would remedy it?

Mr. Semple. They seem to do the work very well. They are not

burned up, though, in the explosion.

The Acting Chairman. Is there anything in the change of the

fuse that you furnish now, and that you furnished when it was

formerly used in the 6-inch gun, that may have operated to produce

these premature explosions?

Mr. Semple. I think not.

The Acting Chairman. From your knowledge of the mecha

nism

Mr. Semple. No, sir; we are using a steel case now which is

stronger than the brass one.

The Acting Chairman. It is in evidence that the 6-inch guns were

used by three battleships in the battle of Santiago, and have been

used by the Navy repeatedly. There is some differences, I under

stand, in the fuses which were used at that time in the -6-inch gun and

the fuses now used. Do you know of the difference in the fuses used

at that time and now ?

Mr. Semple. The only fuses I saw used in the Spanish War were

what they called the old Navy' base fuses, which were direct-acting

shear-pin fuses.

The Acting Chairman. Is there any difference in the fuses fur

nished by yourself and those fuses which would cause that explosion?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; I think our fuses are safer because the old

Navy base fuse was armed in the early part of the shell's travel.

Our fuse is not armed until at or about the muzzle. It is believed to

be outside of the muzzle. Until the centrifugal force is greater than

the acceleration the fuse will not arm.

The Acting Chairman. The old fuse would arm

Mr. Semple. In the first 4 or 5 feet of the travel of the shell.

The Acting Chairman. The old fuse, you think, would be more

disposed to produce this trouble than the present fuses which you

furnish because of that difference?

Mr. Semple. Yes; for instance, because of the way the old fuse

armed, if a brick were set in the middle of the gun it would cause a

premature explosion, while ours would not.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Well, your belief is that the brass cup is

the cause of these premature explosions? '

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Why is it that some of the prematures

are in the gun and others at varied distances from the mouth, but all

of them premature?

Mr. Semple. If the shell is cracked by a hammer blow, if the crack

is large, the gas will enter quickly and the powder in the shell will

be ignited within the gun. If the crack is quite small, while the gas

rushes through the crack, the first rush of gas going through would

be cooled by the walls of metal so that possibly it would cause delay

in the ignition. After the first gases cool, the second gases warm up

the surface, and that would be the gas that would light the powder.

Senator Frelinghutsen. That would be due to an imperfect shell?
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Mr. Semple. Due to the difference in the size of the opening. A

large opening would cause the shell to burst quicker, and a small

opening, causing delay in the entrance of the gas, would bring about

a slower bursting.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You refer to the recess in the shell?

Mr. Semple. If the base of the shell is cracked by a hammer blow

by this mouth cup, if the crack is large, it ought to burst quickly.

Senator Frelinghttysen. That is a point that does not seem to be

cleared up; that by reason of this brass mouth cup these shells are

either cracked or the firing pin

Mr. Semple. Or the fuse exploded?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes. Now, why is it that with this

assemblage, this type of shell and the various parts, that no accident

of this character has happened in 20 years, although this brass sleeve

lias been used until these collective accidents on these vessels? That

is the thing, Mr. Semple, I think, that ought to be cleared up.

Mr. Semple. You understand, they fired several different charac

ters of shell, some made of forged steel and some not such good steel.

I do not know what the difference is.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It may be due to imperfections in the

shell or casing?

Mr. Semple. I would not call it an imperfection. It might stand

everything but the mouth cup.

Admiral Earle. If the shell cracks, as I explained, the same way

as Mr. Semple explains, even a slight crack would permit gas to

get in.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The point I make is, using thousands of

shells in testing and in the battle of Santiago, you used service

shells—.—

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. How is it. with 20 years' use of this

shell, that we find those numerous mishaps at one time in the Navy

and never before?

Admiral Earle. Do you want me to explain that?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.

Admiral Earle. The only difference between the 20 years of firing

and the firing that took place on the St. Louis and other armed mer

chantmen consisted of the fuse, which is a new type of fuse, a fuse

fitted with a tracer element, and which we have never happened to

have used much except in the G-inch guns, which used a powder bag

as a charge ; in other words, in the 6-inch gun we had

Senator Frelinghuysen. One minute. But, in the 6-inch gun,

with another type of fuse—not this type of fuse—you did not have

these accidents.

Admiral Earle. There is one example in our last test, the Watson

fuse. We had the same accident with the Watson fuse, which has no

tracer element, but

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, the only difference be

tween this shell and what was used in the battle of Santiago—see if

I can not make it clear—you had a different fuse; you had the Semple

fuse on the St. Louis and the old naval base fuse at Santiago. Now,

Mr. Semple has explained why he thought this fuse would be less

liable to produce an explosion than the fuse used in the battle of

Santiago. Mr. Semple had an idea that his fuse would produce a
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less amount of prematures. The only thing is that at Santiago they

did not have this tracer which is used at night. That is a recent in

vention since that time. Since then, I understand, these fuses have

been given a tracer, and this is the first time they have ever tested

the 6-inch gun with this method of firing, with a fuse and tracer, and

the mouth cup, and shell, and all together; and, if I make myself

clear, at the battle of Santiago, there was no tracer. That is, I

repeat, a recent invention which enables you to see at night the course

of the shell. It is not understood to what extent this mouth cup

ignites and produces the trouble. As I understand, this is the first

time their attention has been called to the results produced by these

three—four combinations, you may call them—the mouth cup, the

fuse, the tracer, and shell. Now, they have used these mouth cups

in testing those cartridges, as I understand. Then, when it came to

testing the shell they had previously used these wooden plugs at the

proving ground.

Do you see how the tracer could produce that with the mouth cup,

when the other fuse, without the tracer, did not have any premature

explosions?

Mr. Semple. Let me get my drawing before I start to answer.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Let me clear up this situation. The

Admiral states that this is the first time that this fuse has been used

in this assemblage of parts, and that it had never been tested before.

Am I right in that?

Admiral Eaele. I think you are.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Then it is your belief that the absence of

prematures in this type of ammunition heretofore has been due to

the fact that the old fuse was satisfactory, but that this fuse, in com

bination with the brass cup and possibly some other reasons, is the

cause of the premature explosion, and therefore it is due to the use

of this new fuse. Is that right?

Admiral Earle. I consider it due to this type of fuse in the combi

nation with the brass-mouth cup. Without the brass-mouth cup, that

is a far superior fuse to any fuse used during the Spanish-American

War or any fuse that the bureau has used or any fuse submitted to

test.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Then this question arises: You have as

sembled a fuse; you have assembled ammunition and placed it on

board these merchant liners which really has never been thoroughly

tested with service ammunition and given the other tests. Is that so?

Admiral Earle. That is so; yes, sir. If we could have foreseen,

as Admiral Strauss said yesterday, or predicted that that would make

any difference, we would not have put it on board the armed liners,

or put it anywhere, for that matter.

The Acting Chairman. What I understand is this : I understand

that Mr. Semple claims that this fuse is safer than the old fuse, even

in the 6-inch gun.

Admiral Earle. Decidedly safer.

The Acting Chairman. Because the explosion is delayed longer in

his fuse, if there is anything, wrong, than it is in the old fuse?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. The only difference between the old fuse

and the new fuse, so far as any addition being made for safety, as far

as that is concerned, is the tracer.
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Admiral Farle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. To what extent would the tracer aid in

having a premature explosion?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you assent to the statement made by

the chairman, that this is a safer fuse than any previous fuse used?

That was your statement, was it?

The Acting Chairman. As I understood it, he stated that the

Semple fuse used now is safer.

Mr. Semple. I compared it to only one fuse, which was the old

Navy base fuse, which Avas not considered gun sure. It was capable

of explosion in the bore of the gun.

The Acting Chairman. Why do you think your fuse is safer than

the other?

Mr. Semple. If I can get my drawing, I will be able to explain it

more clearly. One is a centrifugal fuse-

Senator Frelinghuysen. I want to follow up this inquiry, be

cause I think it will clear it up

Mr. Semple. Our fuse is a centrifugal fuse, which is operated by

rotation of the shell, but which can not operate while the velocity is

increasing. There is a portion of the fuse which is heavy, which

holds back the pin until it gets out of the gun, and then it starts to

function. The old type of fuse w8as set back just beyond the point

of maximum pressure in the gun, which is at or near the point of

maximum acceleration of the projectile, and that is well back of the

mouth of the gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The efficiency of a mechanical device is

established not by theories but by results. That is correct, is it not?

Mr. Semple. Yes ; it ,is a good thing if it works.

Senator Frelinghufsen. The results of these two fuses show 20

years of freedom from premature explosions under the previous

fuse or the fuses used previously in this type of ammunition, but

they show a very large percentage of prematures in the last three

months on these armed liners.

Mr. Semple. Under this combination

Senator Frelinghuysen. You have stated, Mr. Semple, that this

fuse is better than the other, and yet the testimony that has been

given here is that under the old fuse there have been no failures

practically with this ammunition, and suddenly this ammunition is

armed with that type of fuse, and in three months we have some

20 or 19 prematures—21 prematures, I think—a very high percentage,

in one or two instances, and a fatal accident on the Mongolia,

Mr. Semple. Well, in this case of the fatal accident I do not see

why you should say it had anything to do with the fuse.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Well, we will dismiss the accident on

board the Mongolia. But as I understand you say this fuse is safer

and you give the reason why it is safer—because it does not operate

until it gets enough force to begin to go around, which takes place

outside of the gun. If that is safer, the only difference between the

two fuses used is the fact this fuse had a tracer, and at Santiago did

not have a tracer. Please explain to us how the tracer could effect

or not a premature explosion.

Mr. Semple. The tracer is not in any way connected with the fuse.

There is a bore in here | indicating], and another bore begins about

lor.iso—17 13



194 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

here [indicating], and there is a solid wall of steel between the tracer

and the fuse. They are quite independent in their operation and

functioning, and neither has anything to do with the other, except

that they are held in the shell by the same base.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Could the mouth cup hit the tracer or

any gas get in there and have a tendency to produce any premature

explosion at all ?

Mr. Semple. I do not think so.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You do not think your tracer had any

thing to do with producing the premature explosions?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; it is cut off from the interior of the shell.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The tracer could not have anvthing to

do with it?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Then this is a superior fuse to what it

was heretofore, you say.

Mr. Semple. It is considered so.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is considered so and you state so, and

they used the mouth cup heretofore and did not have any accidents.

How do you explain the difference? What would be the occasion

of the prematures then ?

Mr. Semple. I was the chemist in the Firth-Sterling Steel Co. in

1893. At that time we were making forged steel shells for the Navy

and we were importing all the steel, the Swedish bar, and those pro

jectiles were exceedingly good. It may have been that in the battle

of Santiago they were firing the highest class of steel, which could

not break up with anything like a mouth cup. There may be a

difference in the projectiles. You can not get that kind of steel now.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is what we are trying to get at

now, the trouble with the projectiles.

Mr. Semple. I do not think there was anything wrong with the

projectiles, except I say they were then using the very highest grade

of steel.

The Acting Chairman. Has there been any change in the mouth

cup since then?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. I have not been acquainted with this

mouth cup longer than 8 or 10 years.

The Acting Chairman. If there is no objection, the committee will

now take a recess.

(Thereupon a recess was taken until 2.30 o'clock p. m. of the same

day.)

AFTER RECESS.

The committee reassembled at '2.30 o'clock p. m., pursuant to the

taking of the recess.

The Acting Chairman. When the committee adjourned. Mr.

Semple was testifying in reference to what he thought possibly oc

casioned the premature explosions in the 6-inch guns used on the

armed liners that have been previously indicated.

STATEMENT OF ME. JOHN B. SEMPLE—Resumed.

Mr. Semple. I did not feel that I was able to give any infor

mation. It is quite unusual. I have never seen anything like it be

fore. It evidently hinges on the use of the mouth cup. Whether it
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strikes the fuse a hammer blow or cracks the shell, I am not yet able

to explain.

The Acting Chairman. Why have we not had trouble with the

6-inch gun shooting with the mouth cup heretofore?

Mr. Semple. In the proving ground, on account of the pieces of

the metal disk breaking up and striking the machinery and houses,

they have usually used wooden disks.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, there is a charge that the

fuses manufactured by Semple & Co., including these tracers marked

" IV," are inferior workmanship and the thickness of the walls be

tween the fuse cavity and the tracer cavity is not sufficient to with

stand the heavy pressure or blows caused by the mouth cup striking

the tracer end of fuse when the gun is fired. What about that ?

Mr. Semple. That is what we were discussing. I have no data

on that at all. This steel wall between the bottom of the tracer

cavity and the fuse cavity has apparently been strong enough to

stand 20 tons pressure, or the highest pressure they are ever likely

to have to stand. How much of a hammer blow it will stand I have

no idea. The fact is we have had a great many of these plugs—

bigger than these plugs—and they were used in the proving ground

for general firing instead of the service shells. They were sold to

the Government cheaper than the service shell. I have never heard

of their going through.

Senator Page. Have they ever blown through, as far as you know ?

Admiral Earle. Never through that [indicating].

Mr. Semple. I never heard of it.

Senator Page. It has been safe, as far as you know, and he says

he knows it has been safe, and that settles that matter.

Mr. Semple. We have gone into that matter, and in testing I have

experimented with this particular proposition, and I have made

tests, running the hole a sixteenth of an inch farther down than the

regular practice ; and if that stood the test, I knew that a tenth of an

inch more would stand it.

Senator Page. What is the point you are trying to raise there ?

The Acting Chairman. I was just reading some charges that had

been made against the lack of efficiency in these fuses. It says :

The firing pin is not sufficiently housed to withstand the shock, but is forced

up against the cup by the shock of discharge, causing the prematures. The

fuse should only arm in flight.

Mr. Semple. This fuse [exhibiting] has been in an upset. This is

solid [indicating], and the firing pin is off to the side, and the cap

is in the center. The cap is set below the surface, and the firing pin

is set in such a position that if it is forced up it could not hit the

cap, because it is off on a line here [indicating]] . The cap, you will

see here [indicating], is in the center. I do not think that point is

well made.

Senator Paoe. How does it bring about contact?

Mr. Semple. I have no drawing here, but the firing pin rises by

centrifugal force, pulling out a lug here [indicating]. That brings

it in a central position, and it is ready to go forward and strike the

cap. As it is there [exhibiting], the firing pin is not in line, even

if it were not well housed. The lip of that slot has been upset. It is .

not in the original shape. It has to be pushed now with force past
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that point. I think there is another one here which is in better

condition. This is what I mean: The point is up, as you see [ex

hibiting]. That is held by centrifugal force; and if it is forced

into the sheath, you will hear it click. The cap is in the center, and

it could not be struck, whether this is well housed or not, because it

is not in alignment. That is one of the points of the fuse.

Senator Page. What do you call that particular part: what is the

technical name for it?

Mr. Semple. When it is in that position it is said to be armed.

That means it is cocked.

Senator Page. What is that?

Mr. Semple. That is the fuse plunger.

Senator Page. The centrifugal force brings that into shape where

it does the arming ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; by spinning it very fast, you can do it. It

has to spin a little less than the rotation of the shell. You can not

get it up either by jarring it or by hitting it with your hand.

Senator Frelinghutsen. May I have an opportunity to ask ques

tions.

The Acting Chairman. I shall finish in a minute and then turn

the witness over to you. It has been alleged that during the period

of manufacture of the fuses, which were furnished by your company

and used in these guns, there was no Navy inspector of ordnance to

supervise the work of the loading of the fuses or the inspection of the

material at your works. State whether or not that is true?

Mr. Semple. No; the inspector was there every few days. He

would come to me perhaps three times a week and stay as long as it

was necessary to inspect the work in its various conditions of manu

facture, and then go back to Homestead. When he inspected it he

put a mark on the material he inspected to show it had passed his

inspection. Whenever we had in the building only, say, three or four

lots, and they were going through, he kept track of those lots so that

he knew where they were. When they were finally finished he would

select out of the lots so many for test, and they were sealed up under

his supervision and marked by his own seal and sent off.

The Acting Chairman. Were they inspected as is usual for the

Navy to inspect work and material furnished the Navy by other

companies ?

Mr. Semple. As far as I know they were. There is not enough

work in our factory to keep a man living there. He came down

probably three times a week and would go through the plant and

see everything we were doing; and he would say, "When will you

be up to the point of putting in this or that " ; and I would tell him,

and he would be there, and we would have it there. It was his duty

to see, for instance, that this firing pin was in a safe position ; that

he could see while it was in the fuse case.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Is there any powder charge put in there ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; it is put in the powder magazine, which

goes down afterwards.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Did he inspect that, too?

Mr. Semple. No ; as a rule what he inspected was more for safety—

"that is, he would inspect in a general way—he would say, " Have you

all of these loaded?" And we would say, " Yes." He would say,

•'Well. I will select these," and if we had not looked after putting
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the powder in them he probably would get some of them in the lot,

sind the failure to put powder in one magazine might cause us to

lose the whole lot. Our apparatus is, in large measure, foolproof.

There was a hand that held a hundred, 10 and 10 of these cups, and

they were all filled in there; and there was a charging plate put

on top, and the powder filled in the holes and a slide was drawn,

so it would be very difficult to charge one without the other; and

when he would see the method we were pursuing and our apparatus,

it would be apparent that it would be improbable that we would make

any mistakes in getting the powder in.

The Acting Chairman. Who furnished the powder that was put

in the charges?

Mr. Semple. The du Pont Powder Co..

The Acting Chairman. AVas it black powder, or what was the

nature of the powder?

Mr. Semple. It was black powder. I do not think the Government

had anything to do with it. We bought the powder under certain

specifications, and we would see that it was in good shape and dry,

and in fact, always put it in a drying house before using it.

The Acting Chairman. When these were accepted, how many

were taken out in order to test them at the proving ground ?

Mr. Semple. He varied the numbers at different times. They

would take as high as 12 or 14 or 10.

The Acting Chairman. Out of what number?

Mr. Semple. I think the lots now in this size fuse run 3,000 to the

lot, and they have run at various times different numbers.

Senator Page. That is practically 1 out of 200.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. If there was any defect in that lot they

were rejected and subject to reinspection ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; and perhaps we would have to try to locate

the trouble.

The Acting Chairman. Were there any rejections?

Mr. Semple. Oh, yes.

Senator Smith of Michigan. What is the proportion, say, out of

3,000—what proportion would be rejected?

Mr. Semple. They would reject the whole lot.

Senator Smith of Michigan. They would reject the whole lot if

there was any defect in any one?

Mr. Semple. Yes. sir.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand they usually selected the

number they thought were the least perfect and subjected those to the

test under the presumption that if those passed the test, the others

would be good and selected the whole lot out of which they are taken ?

Senator Smith of Michigan. That is not necessarily so. They are

uniform, are they not ?

Mr. Semple. They are uniform, or they would not be in the lot.

Senator Smith of Michigan. In singling them out for tests, they

would test them at random, and take a fair proportion of that

quantity for test, but at the same time take them haphazard.

Mr. Semple. If he saw any that he did not like the looks of, per

haps the painting or anything of that kind, which would distinguish

them from their neighbors, he would select them.



198 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

Senator Smith of Michigan. The painting would not cut any

figure, would it ?

Mr. Semple. That is what I say you could see—any lot, they would

all look alike to you. He is at liberty to turn them over, and if he

sees any one with anything about it that he does not like the looks

of, he will take it for testing. As a rule, he selects them at random

through the lot. That was the general method, so as to get an average

of what the day's or several days' or weeks' production was.

Senator Smith of Michigan. An average test?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; just as you would sample the ore from a

mine.

Senator Page. If there were imperfect shells there, would that

result in disaster like that which has occurred on these battleships?

Mr. Semple. Well, you mean the accident or the premature explo

sions of the projectiles?

Senator Page. Either; the accident that killed these nurses, for

instance.

Mr. Semple. I think not. That had nothing to do with the fuse.

Senator Page. That could have nothing to do with your depart

ment, in your judgment?

Mr. Semple. If our fuse had acted badly at the muzzle of the gun,

the greatest angle I have seen of dispersion would not be over 40° to

either side of the gun. I have never seen any dispersion greater than

that.

Senator Page. We are trying to examine this witness with refer

ence to the accident that we have before us, and at the same time

trying to get, perhaps, any information that may be beneficial to the

department.

The Acting Chairman. There are two troubles ; one is the prema

ture explosion of the shells, and the second trouble we are also inves

tigating is the occasion of the death of the nurses on the Mongolia

by this mouth cup having a rebound or going at a certain angle and

killing these two nurses. As I understand, the shell that killed the

two nurses functioned perfectly. The shell—if I am mistaken, I

would like to know it—performed its function, but the cap did not.

There was a telephone message at first that it struck the water and

rebounded, but when the report of the officer came in it stated that

the mouth cup went out at right angles to the firing line, hitting a

post and breaking into fragments and killing the two nurses.

Senator Page. It went out of the muzzle of the gun ?

The Acting Chairman. It went at right angles to the line of fire.

Senator Page. Can you explain what caused that?

Mr. Semple. When it goes out of the gun it is rotating this way—

this is my own explanation—and it will hold that position [exhibit

ing] for a little bit, and slide right off the air. It banks, so to speak.

I have known cases where it struck right close to the gun ; gone up in

the air and not hit anything; in other words, like a boomerang.

The Acting Chairman. Do you know of many cases of that kind?

Mr. Semple. No, sir ; that was not my observation. I heard of it

from a man who is now dead ; but he told me he had known of the

boomerang effect of this mouth cup coming back to the gun. It had

probably stayed in the air all the time. The gun was fired at about

8° down the range.
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The Acting Chairman. Is it charged here that material which

has been giving excellent results ballistically had all of a sudden

gone bad, and after an investigation at a loss to the Government of

thousands of dollars in which Semple was given the free use of the

proving ground, while other contractors had to pay, it was found

that there were serious defects in the assembly of the fuse parts,

which showed lack of care in supervision and scores of erratic per

formances are on the records due to improper manufacturing of fuse

parts? What do you know in reference to that?

Mr. Semple. Well, we have the same trouble that almost anyone

else has. The shells that go to the proving ground are not always

perfect; neither are the armor or powder, and we have all the same

trouble. We are doing the best we can.

The Acting Chairman. To what extent did you have trouble in

reference to your fuses?

Mr. Semple. The specifications are rather high, and we have

trouble in meeting them all the time. Perhaps one time it is the

tracer and sometimes

The Acting Chairman. Has any been accepted from your com

pany and paid for that did not measure up to the specifications ?

Mr. Semple. Very little has been accepted that did not make the

specifications. Once in a while they would be in urgent need of

fuses and the tracer element did not perform. They would say,

Cl We will put them in guns that will not have any firing of that kind

to do." Perhaps the fuse would not make a good record in the 4-inch

gun, but would in the 5-inch gun, and they would be put in the 5-inch

gun.

The Acting Chairman. That was testified to last Monday. Do

you know of any other case? Tell us of the case in which you did

not measure up to the specifications, in which the material furnished

by you to the Government was accepted?

Mr. Semple. I could not give you that definitely. I can just state

in a general way that we have been held quite rigidly to the specifica

tions, and I think fully as rigidly as any other concern that I know

of—and there are other concerns that make fuses.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Have any fuses been accepted that did

not measure up to the specifications ?

Mr. Semple. Yes; I think very likely they have, for special pur

poses; that is, we have been instructed to mark the boxes or put all

those in certain lots and notify the bureau what lots they were, so

they would know where they go, and how to use them.

Senator Frelinghutsen. I can see that those are minor differences.

What he means is, were any fuses that were imperfect and would be

dangerous in use ; produce premature explosions and other accidents

in the Navy, and would not answer the purposes for which they were

designed—have any of them been accepted ?

Mr. Semple. Nothing that would be dangerous.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Were any accepted that would be dan

gerous because of the material furnished from your factory?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; I am certain they have not. War material

is all relative. It is not perfect. If anybody can make anything

more perfect than we, we would be glad to see them do it.

Senator Smith of Michigan. How essential is it that this powder

should be dry before it is put in the shell?
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Mr. Semple. It is not so essential. In fact, it would be much better

if it is damp.

Senator Smith of Michigan. What would be the effect if it were

damp?

Mr. Semple. A damp powder might make a slow fuse. As a rule,

we try to make this type of fuse as quick as possible. The idea is that

they are to be used against destroyers, and they have not very much

beam and the shell gets through rather quickly.

The Acting Chairman. It is alleged that the other contractors

paid for the use of the proving ground and you had them free: that

the Government incurred all the expenses, and charged the other

people.

Mr. Semple. I do not know about other companies. We have sup

plied a great many fuses for test material free. We never charge for

experimental lots, although we have been told that we could do it.

We never make a charge for that.

The Acting Chairman. Then, those experiments have not been

at the expense of the Government?

Mr. Semple. The Government has paid for the projectiles and

powder and the use of the gun, and I think it proposed to do that

with other products.

The Acttng Chairman. What has it done with your fuse? Has it

paid for the experiments with your fuses?

Mr. Semple. No; in fact we are now supplying fuses and, in addi

tion to that, we must supply 10 or 15 extra for tests, and those are

not paid for by the Government. But they are paid for by the Army.

The Army pays for them, but the Navy does not pay for them.

The Acting Chairman. The Navy does not pay for them ?

Mr. Semple. No. sir ; but the Army does.

Senator Frelinghutsen. May I ask a question?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Do you know whether other fuse manu

facturers do not furnish their fuses for test free of charge?

Mr. Semple. I suppose they do.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Do you know whether other fuse makers

are compelled to pay for the powder and shells and guns?

Mr. Semple. I do not know.

The Acting Chairman. Now, in accepting the products of your

factory, for ammunition purposes, it has been alleged that the Gov

ernment relies on reports furnished by Semple & Co. in reference to

their products, whether good or bad. Tell us about that.

Mr. Semple. That would be worthless.

The Acting Chairman. Did you furnish them on your own re

ports or the reports of their inspectors?

Mr. Semple. On their own inspections. They do not trust us that

far.

Senator Frelinghutsen. You categorically deny that.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; I do. May I ask who makes this charge ?

The Acting Chairman. These are simply suggestions. The com

mittee is asking the questions. We want to get this information.

Mr. Semple. They are rather strong allegations.

The Acting Chairman. We are simply investigating them and

want to ascertain the truth in connection with them. Have you

ever heard of any complaint of your fuses in reference to any guns
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except these 6-inch guns, which seem to have been the occasion of

the present premature explosions?

Mr. Semple. Yes: we had some premature explosions in a special

4-inch gun. We took the fuses and equipped them with stronger

springs. It seems that that is the answer to that particular problem,

but, in the meantime, I think it was found that that increased rifling

was what caused the trouble and caused the shell to fly differently

than under the old rifling. We have had a great deal of trouble

with that.

The Acting Chairman. The Government has accepted your fuses

after the severest tests in comparison to other fuses, has it not?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; we have had competitive tests with foreign

fuses and I do not know of any case where it was not accepted on its

own merits, rather than for any other reason.

The Acting Chairman. It is alleged here that previous to July,

1915, all fuse makers had an opportunity to bid, but in July, 1915,

a clause was inserted in the requisition for medium caliber tracer

fuses, which threw all this work to Semple & Co., blocking com

petition.

Mr. Semple. That is not quite a fair statement, because I hold pat

ents which give me the control of a tracer and fuse, combined in the

same piece, or held to the shell by the same piece. I offered to waive

that patent and to supply the bureau with tracers with the idea that

they would be able then to get bids on other fuses into which they

could put our tracers—in other words, I offered to make a tracer

fuse, using our competitor's fuse. That, of course, is not very good

business. Technically, I have the right to stand on my patent for a

fuse combined with the tracer.

The Acting Chairman. You waived the right of that patent and

offered to furnish the tracer independently and let them have free

competition for the fuse?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Th Acting Chairman. What was the result of that?

Mr. Semple. The result was that there were three competitors, I

believe—two others and ourselves—and we were the lowest bidder.

The Acting Chairman. That is, you were the lowest bidder with

the fuse and tracer combined ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. You offered, as I understand, to furnish

the Government the tracer at a specific price and they could get the

fuse from any other party in order to make the combination?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And when the bids were received, you

were the lowest bidder and it was awarded to you ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; I think that is correct.

The Acting Chairman. That offer is still open for the Govern

ment to use your tracer and get other fuses ? .

Mr. Semple. That depends on how I am treated. In time of war;

yes. If the Government can get other fuses better than mine, I will

supply the tracer.

The Actino Chairman. You will furnish the tracer, if they want

it.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. In case of war, you will abandon your

contract at any time for betterment?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir. In fact, I bought the fuse patents of Mr.

Gathmann, because he had some good ideas that I wanted to use, and

I paid him cash for them and used those ideas. I do not think he

could have gotten any money anywhere else for his fuse patents.

The Acting Chairman. Take those patents: Was his fuse, as an

entirety, as good as yours?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; but he had certain claims and certain con

structions, which construction was good.

The Acting Chairman. Certain parts of that fuse you thought

were superior to yours?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; and I wanted to use them.

The Acting Chairman. And other portions of yours you thought

were better, and you thought by a combination of yours and his, you

would make a better fuse?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Is that fuse furnished as a combination,

under the patent you obtained from him—do you furnish that now ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; in the detonators ; not in this fuse.

The Acting Chairman. We will not discuss the detonator. That

was explained in executive session. We have a monopoly of that, and

you refuse to sell that to any other government, and we do not wish

the specifications to get out.

Mr. Semple. I do not admit that, but that is practically the case.

The Acting Chairman. The United States is the only Nation to

which you sell that fuse now?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And you have refused to sell it to other

Governments without the consent of our Government?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Have you any other statement you wish

to make or suggestion to give in reference to this matter.?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. May I have permission to ask some ques

tions ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. How long have you been in the fuse

business, Mr. Semple?

Mr. Semple. Fifteen years.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Who are your competitors at the present

time ?

Mr. Semple. I do not know.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you any?

Mr. Semple. Oh, yes; there are some that are trying to get in.

There is the Watson Ordnance Co. I should not have said I do not

know. There is Mr. C. P. Watson, who used to be with the Watson

Ordnance Co. ; the Griggs Poole Engineering Co., making the Griggs

fuse. „

The Acting Chairman. Please state where these people are lo

cated.

Mr. Semple. The Griggs Poole Engineering Co. at Baltimore, the

Watson Co. at Pittsburgh, and Mr. Isham-—-

Senator Page. What Isham is that ?
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Mr. Semple. W. S. Isham.

Senator Page. Is that the one who has been before us so many

times in the past ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Page. Is he manufacturing a fuse ?

The Acting Chairman. He has been before the committee re

peatedly.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do these concerns make fuses for other

Governments ?

Mr. Semple. The Poole Engineering Co. has made some for the

Russian Government, small shells—1 pounders, I believe. Then, of

course, there are a lot of large detonators.

The Acting Chairman. We do not want to go into that.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is not a detonator fuse findicat-

ing]?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What do you call that?

Mr. Semple. A plain ignition fuse.

Senator Frelinghuysen. But it bursts on impact.

Mr. Semple. It is a percussion fuse.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And so are the other fuses—the Poole

Engineering percussion fuse and the Watson fuse?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The only difference is in the method of

ignition ?

Mr. Semple. More the safety method than anything else. The

safety arrangement of a fuse is really the distinctive feature of ft.

Of course, the detonating fuse has a different explosive.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You are the only firm that makes a fuse

with a tracer, are you not, or makes a tracer?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; we are the only firm that makes a tracer.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And therefore, by reason of the fact

that the Navy considers a shell with a tracer in connection with the

fuse more effective to observe the flight, you practically possess—I

will not say a monopoly—but you furnish only that class of fuses

in connection with the tracer ?

Mr. Semple. We are not the only ones. We waived that right.

We offered to supply tracers for other fuses.

The Acting Chairman. Let me ask one question before I forget

it. As to the price at which you offered that tracer to the Govern

ment, giving them an opportunity to get fuses and combine the

tracer with it, was the price you offered to the Government less or

more than you charged the foreign governments for the tracer you

furnished them?

Mr. Semple. Less.

The Acting Chairman. The price you offered this Government

was less than you would get from the other governments?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The shells use in the Navy previous to

these contracts with you were used without a tracer, were they not ?

Mr. Semple. Going back to the older projectiles?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; they had no tracer.

Senator Frelinghuysen. When did the tracer come into use?
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Mr. Semple. Along about 1903 or 1904.

Admiral Earle. 1901 or 1902.

Senator Frelinghutsen. The 6-inch guns, which had never been

tested, and among which there was such a large percentage of bursts,

had tracers, had they not ?

Mr Semple. They had this tracer fuse, I understand. I am not

sure of that, but I understand they had this tracer fuse. You are

speaking of recent ammunition?

Senator Frelinghutsen. Yes.

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; I understand so.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Did you make any other tests except at

the naval proving ground?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; we make our own tests at our own proving

ground. It is not much of a ground. We have a 1-pounder gun that

we fire there and make a great many tests that are very useful

Senator Frelinghutsen. You make fuses for other Governments?

Mr. Semple. We have made a few for the British submarine

chasers, but nothing in the last year.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Are the inspections the same as the

United States?

Mr. Semple. There are no inspections.

Senator Frelinghutsen. They accept them without inspection?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; the same way with the French tracer. They

are accepted without inspection.

Senator Frelinghutsen. You stated that the inspector was not at

hand at all times in your factory, but made his inspection by

taking one—may I say—from a class or group of fuses. Taking one

and testing it. Is that true ?

Mr. Semple. Not altogether. He did that, but also inspected the

groups, or the fuses in a group, from time to time, as they needed

them.

The Acting Chairman. Let us get that clear. The inspector must

pass on these before they go to the proving ground. He inspects them

to see whether they ought to be advanced to the proving ground or

not?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; he inspects every fuse.

The Acting Chairman. And if it is considered worthy to be se

lected for testing, he takes so many out of the group for testing at the

proving ground?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Are all the contracts which you received,

based on competition?

Mr. Semple. On these fuses, practically all are, but on the tracer

and detonators and things of that kind, those are proprietary articles.

Senator Frelinghutsen. For which you possess the patent?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir ; and the secrets as well.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Those are placed without competition?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir—no ; I could not say that. They are testing

detonators all the time.

Senator Frelinghutsen. With whom are you in competition ?

Mr. Semple. We had three. The last big competitive test was

down at the old San Marcos, and they had the Maxim fuse, for

which the Government had purchased the right of manufacture,
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and made them in the navy yard, and they had a foreign fuse—the

Firth fuse—made by the big projectile company over there.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Did they bid on these contracts?

Mr. Semple. I do not think they got as far as that. The test was

first to see if the fuses were sufficiently good. If they were as good

or better than ours, no doubt they would have bid.

Senator Frelinghutsen. But in this case the offer was placed

direct with you for these fuses, without competition ; is that correct!

Mr. Semple. I do not know whether they got any bids from the

other concerns or not.

Senator Frelinghutsen. I want to say in fairness—because the

Navy believes this is an effective fuse

The Acting Chairman. Let me see if I get this straight.

Mr. Semple. You are talking about detonators?

The Acting Chairman. They desire a fuse that will penetrate the

armor and go through a certain distance before it explodes, so that

this will be more destructive to the ship. They are willing to accept

any fuse that will accomplish that purpose?

Admiral Earle. That is it, exactly.

The Acting Chairman. And the specifications are that you pene

trate the armor and go through, and not explode until after pene

trating the armor and getting through, because they think that is

more destructive. As I understand, they fix up specifications of that

kind and will accept any fuse that meets those specifications, or do

they test them?

Mr. Semple. No, sir ; they test them.

Senator Frelinghutsen. You say you have bought the patents of

Mr. Gathman, the Gathman high-explosive fuse?

Mr. Semple. I do not know about the name. I am speaking about

the old gentleman.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Did you purchase his patents?

Mr. Semple. Yes.* sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Did you ever come in competition in the

Navy Department with that fuse?

Mr. Semple. That was before my time. He practically dropped it

before I started in. I came in competition with Mr. Isham and

Mr.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Can you state from your knowledge

whether the Gathman fuse has been manufactured in the past 10

years?

Mr. Semple. I have not heard of it, outside of the elements we use.

Senator Frelinghutsen. What is known as the Gathman high-

explosive shell and safety fuse

Mr. Semple. I do not know the name.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What fuse do the Germans use?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. I do not think any of us know. Mr.

Gathman repeatedly claimed to me that foreigners were using his

fuse, but I did not pay much attention to that statement, because

he included a big field.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What is the fuse used in the Big Bertha

or the Busy Bertha of the Germans?

Mr. Semple. I do not know, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What is the fuse used by the French

Mr. Semple. You mean the 75 millimeter?
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Admiral Earle. The 75 millimeter is the one they boast about.

Mr. Semple. That is a combined fuse. Its safety depends in carry

ing the dangerous element of the fuse outside of the projectile alto

gether until they get to the firing line. It is then screwed in.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is the principle of the Gathman

fuse, is it not?

Mr. Semple. I do not think so. The French do not use a safety

chamber. They simply keep the elements of the detonator outside

and screw it in. If it then did go off, they would probably lose their

gun. I understand they have lost a great many of their guns. The

Gathman fuse can explode inside of the gun without destroying the

gun.

Senator Feelinghuysen. In this connection, then, if the Govern

ment had been in possession of the Gathman fuse, explosions in the

guns would not have occurred, judging from your statement?

Mr. Semple. If those 6-inch shells had been loaded with detonat

ing fuses, and for any cause the cap or fulminate had gone off in

the fuse at the instant of firing, the shell would fly blind. If the base

had been crushed or opened by the action of the mouth cup, the

result would have been practically the same; that is, a premature

just outside of the gun.

Senator Feelinghuysen. You stated that the Gathman fuse was

a safety fuse and could not explode in the gun. You mean with that

exception, the splitting of the shell ?

Mr. Semple. That would be outside of the fuse.

Senator Feelinghuysen. Are you a chemist, Mr. Semple?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Feelinghuysen. How long will fuse powder last without

deterioration?

Mr. Semple. I do not know. I do not think anyone knows.

The Acting Chairman. Six months, three weeks, or how long?

Mr. Semple. Twenty years, I should say, if ptoperly put up. If

improperly put up, maybe not 20 days.

Senator Feelinghuysen. It is black powder, is it not?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Feelinghuysen. How long will high explosive last?

Mr. Semple. It ought to last 50 years—any old time. There is no

reason why it should not last.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Are your fuses uniform and interchange

able?

Mr. Semple. I do not think any are uniform. They are inter

changeable. What do you mean by interchangeable ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Can your fuses be used in all calibers of

shells?

Mr. Semple. We have a fuse for all calibers of shell—not the same

fuse. We have one fuse that is used for small shell, one for medium-

sized shell, and one for large shell.

Senator Frei.ingiiuvsen. Therefore in some shells this fuse is not

practical I

Mr. Semple. You could not get it into a 1 -pounder, and it would

not do for a high-explosive charged shell.

Senator Freungjittvsen. This is not a high-explosive shell, is it?

Mi.. Semite. You mean the 6-inch shell?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.
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Mr. Semple. I do not know just how to answer that. It is used as

a high-explosive shell and as a low-explosive shell. Some of the

6-inch shell are loaded with explosive D and carry a detonator and

others are loaded with black powder with a suitable ignition burster.

It depends on what the use is to be. If against battleships or armor,

they probably use a high-explosive charge. For submarines and tor

pedo boats they use probably a low-explosive charge. A low-explo

sive charge would be just as good or better than a high explosive.

Senator Frelinghuysen. But in the high-explosive charge this

use is not used or available?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; it would ignite it and cause a burst; though,

you understand, it is better than nothing; but it is not a detonating

fuse.

Senator Frelinghustsex. I am asking these questions as a layman

to secure information. Mr. Semple. and with deep appreciation of the

services you are rendering in coming here.

Mr. Skjiple. This fuse is capable of both uses. When this fuse

is used the smoke is black—jet black—and the fragments are com

paratively small. When this fuse [exhibiting] is used—a fuse like

this—the smoke is bright yellow and the fragments are larger. When

you get down to a shell that is not very large and has not very many

fragments anyhow, when you want to break up heavy machinery

that the destroyers carry, it might be advisable not to break up the

shall into small fragments. It has been used in high-explosive shells

without getting detonations.

The Acting Chairman. I think the evidence here is that the

shells were loaded with black powder. Is that the proper powder?

Mr. Semple. I think it is perfectly good. You should draw a line

between the different-sized shells when you come to consider what is

the proper powder to use. If it is an 8-inch shell, it is a high-explo

sive, but if a 5-inch shell it should have a low-explosive; but, as to

the 6-inch shell, it is about as good one way as the other.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You stated in your testimony this morn

ing that the Government requires 100 per cent efficiency.

Mr. Semple. They aim at 100 per cent, and try to get it.

Senator Frelinghuysen. What do the requisitions call for?

Mr. Semple. I do not mean the tracer element. I am talking about

the fuses.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Has the Government ever accepted fuses

not up to this standard?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; they will perhaps accept a lot of fuses

which are good in one shell and not in the other.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Does the requisition provide or state

what shell the fuse shall be manufactured for ?

Mr. Semple. Generally, yes ; though they might state " these fuses

are to be made for 4-inch or 5-inch shells," but it does not say they

will accept them for 5-inch if they fail on the 4-inch.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Do you know of the failure of your fuse

in a certain 4-inch gun ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir—you refer to the rifling?

Senator Frelinghuysen. The statement was made yesterday, that

under the specifications—what were the specifications in the requi

sitions for those fuses? Were they for 4-inch or 5-inch guns?

Mr. Semple. For 4-inch and 5-inch guns.
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Senator Frelinghuysen. For 4-inch and 5-inch guns?

.Mr. Semple. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. They failed in those guns?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; they failed in the 4-inch gun but not in

the 5-inch gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Were the requisitions for the 4-inch

gun?

Mr. Semple. They wanted them for both guns?

Senator Frelinghuysen. They were accepted by the Government?

Mr. Semple. Yes ; for the 5-inch gun. We were asked to be sure

to have those lots designated so they would know where they were,

so they could put them in the other shells.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The question is, Do the requisitions show

that they were requisitions for 4 and 5-inch guns ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. For both?

Mr. Semple. The bureau had the authority to reject them com

pletely if they wanted to, but they needed the material at that time.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I am asking about the facts in regard to

the requisition. What the bureau had the right to do, I am not ask

ing for. I ask the question again : Did the requisitions call for these

fuses for use in 4 and 5 inch guns?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Did they fail in certain 4-inch guns?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And did the Navy retain those fuses

after they failed in the 4-inch guns ?

Mr. Semple. I think they did, for the purpose that I spoke about.

The Acting Chairman. What was that purpose?

Mr. Semple. For use in the other gun, in the 5-inch gun. They

were perfectly good in that gun.

The Acting Chairman. You say they were good in the 5-inch gun

and not good in the 4-inch gun ?

Mr. Semple. In some of the 4-inch guns they were. They were

not good in that gun with that particular rifling, and we went to

work to remedy that defect, but in the meantime they changed that

rifling, which makes those fuses good, now, for that very gun.

The Acting Chairman. What was the difference in the 4-inch gun?

Mr. Semple. It had a quicker rifling.

The Acting Chairman. Explain how that affected that.

Mr. Semple. I do not like to do that. That was a surprise to us.

It probably was due to a much steadier flight of the projectile out

side of the muzzle, so that there was little or no side friction of the

plunger when it left the gun. There is a certain checking, and dur

ing the checking the plunger would go forward if it had no particu

lar side resistance. It is assumed when a shell goes out of a gun it

acts very much like a top when thrown down; in other words, it is

constantly seeking its sleeping center. It is not asleep by any means.

The Acting Chairman. In other words, it has a tendency to devi

ate from the direction at first, but finally goes in the direction that

it was intended ?

Mr. Semple. Yes. sir : and if the centrifugal force was sufficient to

keep that true just outside of the muzzle it is possible you might get
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an explosion of the cap, due to the moving forward of this pin when

it meets this resistance, because the spring in that particular fuse

in this gun was not strong enough to withstand that pressure. We

did find a stronger spring that did it all right. But then we dis

covered they were not going to continue that rifling, because the gun

with that rifling would not stand the number of rounds, so that our

efforts went for naught.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Was there a change in July, 1915, of the

specifications of the Navy Department that practically made yourself

the only establishment that could supply what was asked for ?

Mr. Semple. I do not think so.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You answer " no " to that ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Who had supplied the Government with

fuses before that time—do you know ? I am referring to July, 1915.

Mr. Semple. The Watson Ordnance Co. made some, Wilson-Chase,

Wilson-Lynch, and Merriam. I do not know who made the old Navy

base ; probably the Navy did.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Were the fuses previously supplied any

more effective than your fuses?

Mr. Semple. I do not think they were.

Senator Frelinghuysen. They were not as effective, in your

opinion ?

Mr. Semple. I do not think so.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. I think you stated this morning that your

fuse was safer than any other

Mr. Semple. I did not say any other. I said the old Navy base

fuse.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You stated that your fuse was safer than

the old Navy base fuse ?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir; in the matter of prematures in the bore of

the gun, and gave the reason.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And yet all the testimony tends to show

that this old base fuse caused no prematures, whereas, collectively,

in this 6-inch gun there was a large percentage of prematures and

bursting shells in the guns. How do you account for that ?

Mr. Semple. Well, I think that the records of- the battle of San

tiago could be pretty much thrown out. The observers were busy,

I think, with something else. The old Navy base fuses were much

less sensitive. They had a very heavy cap. The cap was much

heavier than our cap, and not so easily set off, and they would natu

rally stand a good deal more in the way of air retardation, but you

get back now to this question of the mouth cup, and this should not

really be considered in connection with the test of fuses. With my

fuse we had no regard to the mouth cup. We did not take these

mouth cups into consideration.

Senator Frelinghuysen. They were not in the requisitions?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; in fact the 4-inch guns do not use them.

The Acting Chairman. They are made in the Washington Navv

Yard?

Senator Frelinghuysen. The requisition only refers to the shells?

Mr. Semple. These were made for the 4 and 5 inch shells, and

neither of them carried mouth cups. We did not make them for the

105186—17 14
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6-inch shell, although there is no objection to using them. We knew

nothing about this hammer blow of the mouth cup, anyway.

The Acting Chairman. You state that you now possess the patents

or some of the patents of the Gathman fuse?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinohuysen. You purchased them from Mr. Gath

man?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Is that the man who just died?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. I have some questions that I wish to ask

Admiral f^arle. I want to thank Mr. Semple for his frankness and

fairness.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, have you any other statement

you wish to make?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Does any member of the committee desire

to ask Mr. Semple any other question?

Senator Poindexter. How long have you been in the business of

making fuses, Mr. Semple?

Mr. Semple. Fifteen years.

Senator Poindexter. Is that your principal business now?

Mr. Semple. My only business.

Senator Poindexter. What was your business before that?

Mr. Semple. I was a steel chemist, in metallurgy and in varnish.

Senator Poindexter. What professional education have you had?

Mr. Semple. I graduated as a chemist at Lehigh University in

1892.

Senator Poindexter. Have you formed any opinion as to the cause

of the premature explosions on the St. Louis and Philadelphia and

the accident on board the Mongolia?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Are you familiar with the details of those

accidents as they have been brought out here in this hearing?

Mr. Semple. I have heard something about them ; yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What is your opinion as to the cause of the

premature explosions on the St. Louis?

Mr. Semple. Well. I really am not in any position to give any first

hand opinion at all.

Senator Poindexter. Having been a fuse man as long as you have,

and with the reputation you have

Mr. Semple. There are a lot of other things that might have

caused it, such as a leaky shell.

Senator Poindexter. Yes; that is true. From what you have

learned of the accidents, what is your opinion?

Mr. Semple. As it seems to disappear when the mouth cup is

taken out, it looks as if it were due to some blow struck by the

mouth cup traveling over that 24-inch space in the gun.

Senator Poindexter. What 2i-inch fuse?

Mr. Semple. I understand that the base of the projectile, is about

2| inches from the base of this lid. You see. the projectile is rammed

home first; it is thrown into the rifle and it goes up as far as the

rotating band allows it to go in the rifle, and then the cartridge case is

put in afterwards. The whole cartridge would be too heavy, if made
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all in one, so the cartridge case is put in afterwards. It does not

reach the projectile by about that far.

Senator Poindexter. Is that on account of the choke of the gun

that prevents it?

Mr. Semple. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. Would that hammer blow be avoided if the

brass cup were plumb against the base of the projectile?

Mr. Semple. There is no doubt that it would be lessened, but I

do not know what the effect would be.

Senator Poindexter. Is this fuse here, with brass attached to one

end of it, a Gathmann fuse ?

Admiral Earle. No; I just put that there by accident, Senator.

Senator Poindexter. Is that the Gathmann fuse [indicating] ?

Mr. Semple. This is ours [indicating].

Senator Poindexter. Have vou a sample here of the Gathmann

fuse?

Mr. Semple. No.

Senator Poindexter. Is that fuse, of which I understand you ob

tained the patents, used in the Navy ?

Mr. Semple. I never saw one, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What?

Mr. Semple. I never saw one; I do not think it is manufactured.

Senator Poindexter. Did you own the patents?

The Acting Chairman. He does now.

Mr. Semple. I did not want them to make the Gathmann fuse; I

wanted them to make my own fuse, but I wanted to use one of the

features which was in the Gathmann patent.

The Acting Chairman. I do not know whether you were here,

Senator Poindexter, but he stated that he thought, as a whole, his

fuse was better than the Gathmann fuse, but that the Gathmann fuse

had several features that he thought were improvements on his, and

he bought those features and included thein with his, which he

thought improved his fuse.

Senator Poindexter. Then, you do not think the Gathmann fuse is

a better fuse than jours?

Mr. Semple. No. I do not mean that I want to praise up our fuse

at all, but I really do not think it is as good. It was developed for

entirely different purposes; it was developed for a large torpedo

shell. It was weak in its construction, and I do not think it was

very practical, but it had certain patented features which were ex

cellent, and he was the first in the United States to use the safety

chamber for holding a fulminate charge so that it could go off and

not give any trouble outside; and the patents that he had on that

subject were good, and they were the first.

Senator Page. How many years ago did you purchase that patent ?

Mr. Semple. About six or seven years ago; I do not remember

exactly.

Senator Page. Have you not been making fuses and selling them

to the Government for a much longer time than that?

Mr. Semple. Just a little longer. I discovered that I was infring

ing Mr. Gathmann, and I immediately proceeded to buy his patents—

probably six months. Those are detonating fuses that we are talking

about now. I have been making these fuses [indicating] and small

caliber fuses much longer.
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Senator Frelinghuysen. The detonating fuse is a safety fuse, is

it not?

Mr. Semple. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That will not explode in the gun?

Mr. Semple. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is all I have to ask.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you, very much, Mr. Semple, for

coming here and giving us the benefit of your knowledge.

Senator Page. I think we all agree about the character of your

evidence. You have impressed us as being candid in what you have

said, and I, for my part, am very much obliged to you, I am sure.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And I want to express my appreciation,

too.

The Acting Chairman. Admiral Earle, do you want to make a

further statement in regard to this matter ?

Admiral Earle. I would like to make a statement at the conclusion

of the whole hearing, if I may, but I understood the Senator had

some questions he wanted to ask me.

The Acting Chairman. Who else is here from the Navy Depart

ment who is desirous of making a statement in reference to this

matter ?

Admiral Earle. The officers who were brought here were only

brought in case you wished to call them.

The Acting Chairman. I have no desire to call any more.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I have just a few questions and I will

finish up, Mr. Chairman.

The Acting Chairman. Is any officer present from the Navy De

partment who desires to make any additional statement in reference

to the matters that we have been investigating?

(No response.)

Is there any Senator who desires to ask any officer, except Admiral

Earle, any other question in regard to the subject under investi

gation ?

(No response.)

Now, Admiral Earle, before Senator Frelinghuysen asks you, we

have here a sample of cork. Is that what you contemplate using as

a substitute for the copper mouth piece in the 6-inch gun?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. We have three samples here. I have

practically settled on this one [exhibiting], called " Suberac."

Senator Poindexter. What does that mean ?

Admiral Earle. That is a trade name, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now, please explain to the committee why

you have selected that and what you think its possible action will be

when the 6-inch gun is fired in service use ?

Admiral Earle. I expect that that will be blown into small bits, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Do you think that is arranged so it will

keep all of the moisture out of the powder?

Admiral Earle. Apparently it will do so; but it will require

months of tests to determine whether it does so satisfactorily or not.

The Acting Chairman. Do you think that can be availed of now

for immediate use ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. But as to whether it will keep the moisture

out for any extended length of time, when subjected to severe sea

tests, you can not state definitely?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What do you put on them to keep the

moisture out ?

Admiral Earle. We put what we call a cavity paint, or Cebaline

paint, which is very impervious to moisture.

The Acting Chairman. Now, Admiral, you have heard the various

witnesses testify, former chiefs of the Bureau of Ordnance, Mr. Sem-

ple, and others. As Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, what is your

present conviction as to the cause of these premature explosions in the

(5-inch guns?

Admiral Earle. My conviction is that it is caused in some manner

unknown to us, by an interaction between the brass mouth cup, the

fuse, and the shell.

The Acting Chairman. Do you think that the mouth cup is the

inciting cause of the action on the fuse and on the shell, so as to pro

duce this trouble ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; for the reason that without the mouth

cup we have not been able to reproduce the premature bursts; with

the mouth cup we have.

The Acting Chairman. Are the fuses that you use on the other

guns, and the powder and the construction of the shell, in comparison

with the amount of charge you have in them, similar to what you use

on the 6-inch gun ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Then, I understand, you have had no pre

mature explosions, except what would ordinarily occur, on any except

the 6-inch gun ?

Admiral Earle. Those are the only records we have, sir, of these

6-inch guns. . We may have had some in testing fuses made by dif

ferent manufacturers at the proving ground.

The Acting Chairman. But I mean on these ships—on these mer

chant ships and the naval ships—in practice and otherwise.

As I understand, the department has no reports of premature ex

plosions, except with the old 6-inch gun, where the cartridge is sepa

rated, like this, from the fuse?

Admiral Earle. We have had explosions on new 6-inch guns, and

we have had explosions on 12-inch guns and on 8-inch guns.

The Acting Chairman. What was the proportion of those? To

what extent?

Admiral Earle. It never went up into any such figures as these.

They are very rare.

The Acting Chairman. Are they any more than would be ordi

narily expected in the use of firearms and explosives?

Admiral Earle. Well, we consider that we have been freer from

them than other services while we have had them.

The Acting Chairman. You have heard the other evidence here

in reference to the matter. Is there any other statement that you

wish to make in regard to this matter? If so, the committee wili be

pleased to hear you.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I want to ask him some questions.
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The Acting Chairman. After he gets through with his statement?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Possibly he might want to include some

thing in his statement after I have asked him some questions.

The Acting Chairman. Very well.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I have just three question to ask you

regarding the statment you have just made in relation to your ex

perience with 6-inch shell and the brass cup. You have used the

mouth cup about 20 years, have you not, Admiral ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; to my knowledge.

Senator Frelinghuysen. With what fuse?

Admiral Earle. We have used it with the Merriam fuse, the Wil

son-Chase, the Wilson-Lynch. I believe, and the Watson, and the

Semple fuse. Those are all that I can recall. I may not be exactly

correct in regard to those.

Senator Frelinghuysen. There were no accidents, with the ex

ception of the Semple fuse?

Admiral Earle. So far as I know, there were not; but I hesitate

to make that statement, because I would have to look it up and it

would be a matter of long search.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In the assemblage of this type of am

munition, with the casing and the shell and the brass cup and the

Semple fuse, collectively, within three months there was a large per

centage of prematures, was there not?

Admiral Earle. Tremendous.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Did you test these shells at the proving

ground with this assemblage of parts, including the Semple fuse?

Admiral Earle. We did not, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Therefore, in summing up, you attribute

these accidents to the combination of the brass cup and the Semple

fuse?

Admiral Earle. Exactly.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Therefore you have abandoned the brass

cup and placed a composition of cork and other material, called

" Suberac " in its place, and retained the Semple fuse ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In order to overcome the difficulty ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. And, so far, the record shows that there

have been no accidents and no prematures?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Page. And how many trials have you made ?

Admiral Earle. We have asked the officer in command of the

Mongolia to let us know, and we just got a report from him this

morning, on his arrival at some port in Europe, that the ammunition

was perfectly satisfactory—that is, the 6-inch.

The Acting Chairman. That the ammunition is satisfactory with

this

Admiral Earle. With this wooden mouth cup.

The Acting Chairman. Have you got that report?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Will you file that with the committee?

Admiral Earle. Yes. sir. (See p. 193 of this record.)

Senator Poindexter. With a wooden mouth cup?
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Admiral Earle. Yes; wooden.

Senator Poindexter. And not the Suberac?

Admiral Earle. No.

The Acting Chairman. It would amount to practically the same

thing ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; I think so.

Senator Frelinghutsen. And you will make the same test with

the Suberac, will you?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Referring to the brass cup in the brass

case, driven in, did not that make practically a solid casing, espe

cially if there was corrosion, which, naturally, if too tight, would

burst in the gun, or was compelled to burst in the gun, to let the

charge out? By that I mean the cementing practically of that solid

brass cup with a shellac bath, to make it tighter.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. And moisture proof—did not that create

practically one solid shell, and, therefore, by reason of that arrange

ment, burst the shell prematurely ?

Admiral Earle. I do not think so, sir. That would have shown

in the pressures given in the gun, and we have taken those pressures

with that combination of the brass mouth cup and shell and every

thing complete at the proving ground.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Could not some other chemical have been

used, of an oily material, which would have aided in keeping out

the air, and at the same time have facilitated the withdrawal of the

cup, rather than its bursting or expanding when fired?

Admiral Earle. Undoubtedly another substitute would do it, sir,

but it has not occurred to us.

Senator Frelinghutsen. With the zinc cup used by Germany and

Japan, and other countries, which would be as rigid as this, would

not the contact of the zinc with the brass avoid adherence to the brass

case?

Admiral Earle. I do not think so, sir ; and since this question of

the zinc cup came up I have investigated the question of zinc or

brass a little further. We bought from the English Government at

the time of the Spanish War some 6-inch and 4.7-inch guns. The

4.7-inch guns we are getting ready to issue for service. The ammuni

tion for the 4.7-inch guns, when purchased, was put up with the

zinc cup, and we found that this zinc cup did not keep the powder

charge hermetically sealed. Therefore we substituted a brass cup;

but in view of this accident on the Mongolia before we shall issue this

ammunition—it is to go back to England ; to go on English merchant

men—we are going to substitute this [indicating].

The Acting Chairman. AVere there not reports in the department

about- the zinc cup not keeping the ammunition absolutely dry?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. How did you get that idea that it did

not keep it hermetically sealed?

Admiral Earle. That is just what the officers have said who have

been thrown with the ammunition.

Senator Frelinghuvsen. I think you stated that the wooden or

similar cup would keep out the moisture or air as well as the metal



216 CASUALTIES ABOARD STEAMSHIP MONGOLIA.

cup, but not for so long a time ; you said it would work all right for

a month ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. But they will not do for battleships, will

they, where they are away from their base for a month at a time ?

Admiral Earle. I certainly do not think it would, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Would it be practicable for the brass

loaded cases to be fitted with metal cups to keep them dry until ac

tually needed, and when the time arrived for their use to have the

metal cup withdrawn and the wooden or fiber cup substituted?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. There was some conflict in the testimony

regarding the question whether the brass cup on the Mongolia struck

the water and boomeranged back.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Lieut. Seymour, who commanded the

armed guard, says conclusively that the brass cup burst in the gun or

immediately at its mouth and came out in fragments, one of which

struck the stanchion. That is so, is it not ?

Admiral Earle. I did not get that idea from reading his testimony,

sir. The idea I got was that he did not know what happened. He

had given the order to fire a second shot from the forward gun, when

he was notified by the commanding officer of the Mongolia that he

had better stop firing, that he thought an accident had happened. He

went aft and found the accident that we all know about. He simply

gave it as his idea that this brass mouth cup had come out at right

angles in some way, hit a stanchion, and broke into three pieces.

Senator Poindexter. Where was the lieutenant stationed at the time

the accident occurred?

Admiral Earle. I believe he stated that he was aft by the gun.

Senator Poindexter. By the gun that fired ?

Admiral Earle. By the gun that fired.

Senator Poindexter. And that was on the stern, was it ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Were any orders issued to the lieutenants

or other officers, or

Admiral Earle. Lieut. Caskey says that I am wrong as to where

Lieut. Seymour was.

Lieut. Caskey. He was on the bridge with the captain and did not

even see the aft gun. He did not know anything had happened or

was wrong.

Admiral Earle. Then I was mistaken. Correct that.

Senator Poindexter. The only evidence here is the report from the

officer ?

Lieut. Caskey. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. And that is what that states?

Lieut. Caskey. Yes, sir.

Admiral Earle. Correct my statement.

The Acting Chairman. I had the understanding that there was

evidence that when you first telephoned over there the telephone com

munication given you was that it had hit the water and had this

rebound. That was what somebody telephoned from over there?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. Then, when the report of Lieut. Seymour

came in, that showed whether he saw it or not and that the cup went

out at right angles from the firing line ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Is that correct? That is the impression I

had derived from the testimony.

Admiral Earle. That is the impression I got.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That it did not hit the water and did not

boomerang?

Admiral Earle. Of course I got the impression also that the officer

who telephoned to me gave that as merely one of his suppositions—.

that it had hit the water—and we. took it as a possible explanation.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand it, that was first tele

phoned here, and on that Secretary Daniels gave out his first state

ment that it hit the water?

Admiral Earle Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And then, when the officer's report came

in some time afterwards, there was that difference?

Admiral Earle. Yes. Of course, the fact is no one can know, be

cause nobody say the brass mouth cup go. They saw the result.

Senator Poindexter. Were there any people injured besides the

two nurses who were killed?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. How many?

Admiral Earle. There was a third piece. The cup broke into three

pieces on hitting a stanchion, and, as I understand it, they found the

place where it hit the stanchion, and then they found these three

pieces, and that a Miss Mathewson had a slight cut on one arm,

down here [indicating.]

Senator Poindexter. What caused the deaths of the two nurses

who were killed?

Admiral Earle. A piece penetrated the heart of one and the brain

of the other.

Senator Poindexter. Small pieces?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; you have them right there—the pieces

that did it [indicating].

Senator Page. That is the piece that went into her heart [exhibit

ing it to Senator Poindexter] .

Senator Poindexter. Is that the piece ?

Senator Page. That is my understanding.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Admiral, were any orders issued to the

commanders of the armed guard to clear the decks when they com

menced target practice?

Admiral Earle. The bureau had given no such orders.

The Acting Chairman. Who would be responsible for the issuance

of such an order in the bureau ?

Admiral Earle. I do not believe anyone would have thought of

giving that order.

The Acting Chairman. Not who would have thought of it, but

from whom would such an order as that have emanated, if it had

been issued?

Admiral Earle. It would emanate from the Department of Opera

tions.
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The Acting Chairman. You furnish the ammunition, and then

another department controls the operations?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Has that order been given in any other

instances where target practice has been conducted during the time

target practice has been in effect ?

Admiral Earle. Practically all the young men that I have talked

to who have had command of armed guards have said that they had

given that order.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Before and since?

Admiral Earle. Before and since.

Senator Page. Senator Frelinghuysen, do you expect to complete

this to-night ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes: I only have a few more questions.

Aside from the ships Silver Shell and Virginian, both armed, which

are said to have fired a good many shells at submarines, ineffectively—

and it is important to learn how many of those were prematures,

and I assume you will give that information later—there are three

other cases that I desire to inquire about. First, the Kroonland in

May, I learned from the papers, had four torpedoes fired at her, though

none sunk her. Two hit her, however. How many shells did the

armed crew fire and how many were prematures ? In other words, in

spite of the fact that this ship had an armed guard, two submarines

were allowed to discharge at her both of their torpedoes. The ship,

therefore, was saved by good luck and bad marksmanship of the

Germans. How many, if any, of the shots fired by the United States

guard proved useless because of defective shells; that is, premature

explosions?

Admiral Earle. Senator, we have not the complete report at hand

from the Kroonland. I did not know it was going to be taken up ;

but I do know this, that the report was that the ammunition func

tioned perfectly. We have had no report from any source or from

any officer—and we have talked with them all—that any ammunition

acted in any other way than that in which it was designed to act,

when they have been in the neighborhood of or have been exchanging

shots with a submarine. Now, I would like to explain the astonishing

fact about the Kroonland, in that no one saw the submarine. The

captain of the Kroonland thinks that the submarine, in submerging,

grazed the bottom of the Kroonland; in other words, he thinks that

he went right over it. He also thinks that two German torpedoes

hit him, but that they did not explode ; but he also states that he did

not see the submarine.

Lieut. Emmet. There was a thick fog at the time.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The Southland, formerly the Vaterland—

not the big Vaterland, but another—was sunk on June 4. with a

United States gun crew on board, was it not?

Admiral Earle. I believe not. The Southland, as I understand it,

had no armed guard and no gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. The reports, I think, show that one

torpedo was fired, which did no damage—I mean, the newspaper

reports—and the gun crew then fired 10 shots without avail. Then

a second torpedo was fired, which sunk the ship. I think the testi-

money should contain a report of that.
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The Acting Chairman. Have you got that report of the

Southland?

Admiral Earle. No, sir. The Southland was an English steamer.

Lieut. Caskey. That was an English steamer; not ours.

Admiral Earle. I have not any way of getting at the report. I

saw the report in the papers. We had nothing to do with the arma

ment on the Southland.

The Acting Chairman. England has the same troubles that we

have, has she not?

Admiral Earle. I do not know anything about that.

Senator Poindexter. Have you information that they have had

premature explosions?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. If England has had the same trouble that

we have had, it would be very important to inquire into it.

Senator Frelingiicysen. Have you any information, Admiral, of

any premature explosions of any guns on ships armed by England?

Admiral Earle. We have not.

Senator Frelinghitysen. The Petrolite was an American steamer,

was it not?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It was announced in the papers of June

12th that she was sunk. Was she armed ?

Admiral Earle. She had two 4-inch-40 guns and an armed guard.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you any details as yet as to how

many shots were fired by her armed guard?

Admiral Earle. No, sir. Our impression, from the reports, is that

the Petrolite never saw the submarine.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You are going to call the gunner's mate

of the Virginian, are you not, Admiral ?

Admiral Earle. I will if you want to hear anything from him.

Senator Poindexter. Have you a report with regard to the Aztec,

as to the manner in which she was sunk?

Admiral Earle. A rough synopsis of it is that the Aztec was near-

ing the French coast about 9.30 one night—a pitch-dark, squally

night—and that the naval officer and the captain of the ship were on

the bridge. There was a dull shock, and a wall of water was all

that they saw. They believe that they struck a floating mine.

Senator Poindexter. They do believe that?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; they believe it, and everybody in the

service believes it.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In answer to a question by one of the

Senators of the Naval Affairs Committee, Admiral Earle, you gave

this reply, referring to the fuse :

This fuse now in use is far safer than any of which the Navy Department has

been given working drawings or samples for testing.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you in the Navy Department work

ing drawings of the Gathmann high explosive shell and safety fuse ?

Admiral Earle. That, I can not say, sir. I know that we have

tested—of course, this did not come up in my time, but I know the

practice is to accept fuses on what they actually do; not on what

somebody says they will do. We take anybody's fuse, when he shows
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us, by actual firing test, that it will do what he claims; but we have

never taken a fuse—and I do not think it is right to do so—unless

the claims have been substantiated by actual performances.

Senator Poindexter. If you will pardon an interruption, Senator

Frelinghuysen ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Certainly.

Senator Poindexter. I just wanted to ask why—of course, you can

just answer this in general terms—it is not feasible to use on ships

of the Navy the same general type of high explosive shells in big

guns that the Germans destroyed the forts in Belgium with ? That

is called a Gathmann gun, I understand. I do not know whether he

really invented the apparatus by which it is fired, or not.

Admiral Earle. As I understand it, his main claim was the use

of a high explosive shell, but, of course, that is something that it is

going to take a long time to explain—that is, the Navy Department's

belief and my belief in the premises. Of course, we in the Navy pre

fer to use an armor-piercing shell, as I stated to the House Com

mittee on Naval Affairs, because the armor-piercing shell we are

certain will get through practically everywhere, and it will detonate

inside the ship. We knew that the high-capacity shell or Gathmann

shell would detonate when it struck the outside of a ship, and go to

pieces: and its whole effect is, therefore, lost, just as if you throw an

egg up against a wall, it makes a big display, but it causes no dam

age.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Was it the Gathmann fuse that was used

by the Germans?

Admiral Earle. I can not say.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you not that information?

Admiral Earle. I have not.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Is it used in the French 75-millimeter

gun?

Admiral Earle. The only statement I have about the 75-millimeter

French gun is this, made to me by a French officer named Lieut. C.

Valabreque: On June 2, 1917, he stated that with their famous 75-

millimeter gun the French experienced a great number of premature

explosions of their shells, and intimated that this occurred in other

guns as well, which, however, he seemed to accept as the order of the

day, remarking " Of course, this was to be expected."

Senator Frelinghuysen. The Gathmann fuse would be effective in

the naval guns for bombardment of forts—that typ*e of shell—would

it not?

Admiral Earle. I do not really think so, sir.

The Acting Chairman. You think that where a wall is to be torn

down it would be more effective for the shell to penetrate a certain

distance and then explode than it would to explode against the wall ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. You see, sir, the armor-piercing shell

will explode anyway; it will do just about as much damage one place

as another, wherever it explodes, but you are sure to get it where you

want to get it; and you can not get the high-capacity shell to go

where you want it to go.

The Acting Chairman. How far does the armor-piercing shell

penetrate before it explodes?

Admiral Earle. We want to get through the armor, no matter

how thick it may be, if we possibly can.
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Senator Frelinghutsen. Have you any records or any history of

the effect of the German shell fire in the Navy Department? Has it.

been effective ?

Admiral Earle. We have as to certain actions in this war, but

merely 'naval actions.

Senator Frelinghuysen. It is conceded that the heavy 42-centi

meter gun is very destructive, is it not ?

Admiral Earle. No more so, sir, than any of ours.

Senator Frelinghutsen. Well, that is not quite an answer.

Admiral Earle. I would say no more than any gun of that caliber

would be expected to be. Now, I can give you only a few instances

of the action of the German fuses, if you care for that, sir.

Senator Frelinghutsen. I would suggest that you make it in your

statement. I will finish in just three more questions. Can you pro

duce the working drawings of the Gathmann shell and safety fuse

before this committee ?

Admiral Earle. Will you permit me to answer that after I go back

to the bureau ?

Senator Frelinghutsen. Yes.

Admiral Earle. Because I can not answer it here.

The Acting Chairman. If you have it there, you will insert it ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; and if I have not, I will say " No."

(The statement referred to was subsequently submitted and is here

printed in full, as follows:)

STATEMENT ON GATHMANN FUSE.

A search of the records of the Ordnance Bureau shows only one letter con

cerning the Gathmann fuse. This was in 1902, forwarded through the Army

Board on Ordnance and Fortification. There is no record of any test of the

Gathmann fuse by the Ordnance Bureau at this date or later.

Some time before the Spanish War, when the late Admiral Sampson was

chief of the bureau, an appropriation was made by Congress for a test of the

Gathmann fuse. The chief of bureau considered the fuse, at that time, so un

safe that a condition was made that the appropriation should contain a con

tingent allowance for the repair of damage which would result from the use

of this fuse. The test was finally made, and the shell detonated in the gun,

destroying it on the first test.

Historically, the development of the Gathmann fuse was carried on through

the Army Board on Ordnance and Fortification, due to the necessity at that time

of a fuse for detonating wet guncotton, which was to be used as a high ex

plosive for the Gathmann shell. This shell was based on the assumption that if

a shell loaded with a large quantity of high explosive were detonated against

an armor plate, it would shatter the plate and destroy it. To test the question, a

competitive test was conducted by the Army board between an 18-inch Gathmann

gun, throwing a 2,100-pound projectile, containing about 500 pounds of wet gun-

cotton, and an Army 12-inch gun, firing an armor-piercing shell weighing 1,046

pounds. The result of this test was claimed by the Army board conducting the

experiment to show that the effect of the high-explosive shell was no greater than

it would have been had the shell been filled with sand. The Gathmann shell

burst against the face of the plate, but failed to do more than dent it in the

earlier rounds, finally cracking it in two in the last round. This firmly estab

lished the superiority of the armor-piercing shell.

The contest between the so-called high-capacity shell and the armor-piercing

shell has continued from that date, notwithstanding this test. At the present

time, however, no navy in the world is using the high-capacity shell as an

offensive weapon against armor.

The development of a detonating fuse for high-explosive charges in armor-

piercing shell in the Navy occurred at a time when the Gathmann fuse had

become rather a negligible quantity and the Navy fuse developed successfully

along other lines.
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Later, sometime about 1907, when the Semple tracer fuse replaced the Watson

fuse, which had been in use for some time, Mr. Seraple found it necessary to

purchase the rights of the Gathmann fuse on the grounds that a certain principle

in the description or specification of the Gathmann fuse might prove to be

involved in his fuse.

Nothing has been found in the records of the Navy Department to indicate

in any way opposition to the introduction or trial of the Gathmann detonating

fuse, except the incident related, concerning the explosion of the gun during

the period of time in which the late Admiral Sampson was Chief of Bureau ;

although the reference made to the Gathmann fuse might indicate that a pro

posal had been made for the naval use of this fuse. The drawings of the

Gathmann fuse on file in the bureau show that it is a fuse which will not

function.

The Acting Chairman. Mr. Semple, could vou furnish us with

that?

Mr. Semple. No, sir; I do not think they are in existence any

where around.

Senator FreliInghuysen. Is it the policy of the department to use

every effort and every means to investigate all types and classes of

explosives, including fuses, and to give them a fair opportunity for

test ? In other words, to encourage them ?

Admiral Earle. It decidedly is, sir; and I would cite that occa

sionally the bureau might be accused of erring on the side of show

ing favoritism, because in many cases when the inventor of a fuse

did not have money enough or facilities enough to work out the fuse,

we have given him that help, and encouraged him. Now. only two

months ago, before awarding a contract for minor caliber fuses, we

held competitive tests at the Naval Proving Ground. Two of the

companies were not quite satisfied with the results of the first firings,

although the officers at the proving ground had made a recommenda

tion to the bureau that a certain one of these fuses—there Avere only

three under test, and one was a fuse manufactured by Mr. Semple—

they had made a recommendation that the Semple fuse be accepted.

However, in view of the fact that the manufacturers of the other two

fuses did not seem satisfied, and stated that, by making minor altera

tions in the fuse itself, they thought they could make their fuses

pass the test, we decided we would hold another test after the manu

facturers had had sufficient opportunity to make all the changes in

the fuses that they thought would give the results desired. We then

held that second test, and all parties have expressed themselves as

being satisfied with the decision of the bureau. They were all in

vited to be present, and we carried out our regulation test, and any

other tests that were desired.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You have heard of the Lewis gun. have

you not?

Admiral Earle. I have, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That was turned down here by America,

was it not?

Admiral Earle. Senator, I do not know whether I ought to get

into a discussion of the Lewis gun, sir; but when I became chief of

the bureau, we desired to get a large number of machine guns

quickly. I had heard of the Lewis gun, through the papers, and that

it had been turned down without test, in various ways: so I sent for

the president of the Savage Arms Co., and his operating manager,

and I asked them why it was that they did not produce a gun that

would satisfy the tests, and whether or not they could give us a gun
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that would be a satisfactory machine gun, based on the Lewis type—

which is a splendid method of operating? The superintendent told

me that they had never made a gun that would take our ammunition

and work with it, but that their guns would work perfectly with the

English ammunition. I said. " How soon will you make a gun and

chamber it for our ammunition?"

The Acting Chairman. You mean our powder?

Admiral Earle. Our cartridge. It is a rifle, you know.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. It is a rapid-fire gun.

Senator Poindexter. It is a .30 caliber.

Admiral Earle. The caliber is the same—the English and ours—

but our ammunition is more powerful. The bullet has a 2,700 foot-

seconds velocity, instead of 2,100 foot-seconds velocity, and the gun

is required to be of more rugged construction to stand it. The op

erating manager said he could do it inside of six weeks. At the end

of that time he did do it, and we gave it every test known for a

machine gun and found it absolutely satisfactory and placed an order

the day we finished the test for 5,000 guns. The war had broken out

in the interim, before we placed the order for the 5.000 guns.

Senator Poindexter. Before the war broke out?

A/hniral Earle. No, sir; the order was placed after the war broke

out, but the order for the experimental gun was placed before the

war broke out.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. Was not the patent for the Lewis gun

offered to the United States ?

Admiral Earle. I am not in position to say, because I do not know.

I think all of the Lewis gun negotiations took place in the War

Department, and this, I believe, was the first time that the Navy

Department had gone out of its way to get this gun.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. You know that it was turned down, do

you not?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; it was turned down.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. And you know that it was accepted by

the English Government?

Admiral Earle. Yes; it was accepted by the English Government.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. The United States Government took the

Benet-Mercie and the Vickers, did it not ?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Did the United States have an oppor

tunity to get the Gathmann fuse?

Admiral Earle. Undoubtedly they did, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I know nothing of this ; this information

has come to me to-day and I want the thing cleared up and the ques

tions answered. That is all I want.

Admiral Earle. A good deal of this is just my memory, now,

Senator.

Senator Frelingiiuysen. It has appeared here to-day in the testi

mony that there were certain mechanical parts of this gun that were

of great value.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. This "fuse," you mean?

Senator Frelingiiuysen. Yes, this fuse; and that Mr. Semple

knew of their mechanical value and adopted some of these inventions.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.
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Senator Frelinghuysen. And I wanted to develop as to whether

the proper tests had been made and the proper inquiry given to this

device, so that your department and the United States Government

could nave the benefit of the mechanical advantages of this invention.

Admiral Earle. Would you permit me to look that up, Senator,

and insert it in the record ?

(See under heading "Statement on Gathmann fuse," preceding.)

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.

Admiral Earle. Because I would have to answer now from

memory.

Senator Frelinghuysen. That is all I have to ask, Mr. Chairman,

except that I want to say that having read in the Washington

Evening Star of Monday, June 11, 1917, certain references to the

hearing before this committee, based upon information emanating

from the Secretary of the Navy, I felt called upon to furnish a state

ment to the press, explaining how certain letters came into my pos

session, the steps I have taken to learn the identity of the writer,

and the circumstances under which I had furnished copies of said

letters—withholding only the signature—to the Secretary of the

Navy. I desire to have a copy of my statement inserted in the record

of these proceedings. Do you wish it read ? .

The Acting Chairman. No ; that will be inserted, if you will hand

it to the reporter.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Yes.

(The statement above referred to is here printed in full, as

follows :)

In one of the afternoon papers I find the following paragraph :

" Either a spy or traitor has been divulging confidential information of the

Bureau of Ordnance, Secretary Daniels to-day told the Senate Naval Affairs

Committee."

It has not been my intention to make public certain information which has

come into my possession, but the course which Secretary Daniels has pursued

makes this necessary.

On May 25, 1917, I submitted to the Senate a resolution providing for " a

careful and searching inquiry into the causes of the recent accidents on ship

board, due to defective ammunition, or otherwise, with a view to preventing

similar occurrences hereafter."

This resolution was adopted by the Senate May 28, 1917. In accordance there

with the Naval Affairs Committee held a session on June 2. 1917, and another

to-day with a view to performing the function assigned to it.

Shortly after the announcement was made in the public press of the introduc

tion of my resolution, I received a communication, under the date line of De

troit, Mich., purporting to give certain data concerning defective ammunition,

and the inspection and testing thereof. Other communications followed from

the same source.

I did not know the identity of the writer, nor do I now. As his charges against

the Navy Department were serious, I finally, last Friday, sent him a telegram,

asking him to reveal his identity and the source of his information.

The Western Union Telegraph Co. advised me that the party addressed could

not be located.

The next day I addressed the following letter to the Secretary of the Navy :

June 9, 1917.

Dear Mr. Secretary : I inclose herewith copies of three letters which I have

received from a person in another city who desires his name withheld.

Inasmuch as the person makes certain charges and claims to give certain in

formation of grave moment, I feel, in all fairness to you, that you should be

informed.

I have neither instigated nor inspired these letters. I do not know the per

son who has written them. However, I feel that the correspondence he mentioned

"
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should be produced. I did not attach any importance to the letters until the

last one was received, when I thought it well to bring all three to your attention.

Yours, very truly.

J. S. Fkelinuhuysen,

United States Senate.

Hon. Josephus Daniels,

Secretary of the Nary, Xary Department.

With my letter to Mr. Daniels I submitted copies of the communications I

had received. Thus I made him fully acquainted in advance with the charges

made against the efficiency of his department, that he might be equipped to

answer them at the hearing before the Naval Affairs Committee to-day. In

other words, I did not care to take snap judgment against him, preferring to

treat, him with a degree of generosity which I would like to have shown myself

under similar circumstances.

At to-day.s hearing I presented the letters in question at an executive session

of the committee. Mr. Daniels, it seems, has given publicity to the matter and

has denounced as " either a spy or traitor " the writer of these letters.

This is a remarkable use of the words " spy " and " traitor." Whether or not

the information given by the party In question is correct or incorrect, signifi

cant or insignificant, is a matter to be determined by the Committee on Naval

Affairs.

One thing seems perfectly clear, however. The object sought to be obtained

by the writer of these letters, whoever he may be, has been the welfare of the

country, to the end that no more Red Cross nurses shall be killed by dangerous

ammunition and that there shall be no repetition of the St. Louis fiasco, where

25 per cent of the shells fired proved defective, or of the Philadelphia affair,

where 60 per cent of the shells fired exploded prematurely.

Whoever the writer of these letters may be, his purpose is to aid the American

and not the German cause. In the words of Patrick Henry, I can only say to

Mr. Daniels, " If that be treason, make the most of it."

These letters were written to me in confidence. I sent copies to the Secre

tary in confidence. They were submitted to the committee to-day in confidence.

Upon Mr. Daniels rests the responsibility of giving publicity to the affair.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I want to thank the admiral and to ex

press ray appreciation of his frankness and efficiency.

Senator Poindexter. What are the competent parts of this mouth

piece marked " Suberac " ?

Admiral Earle. They are ground cork and fiber, with a binder of

glycerin, put into a press and pressed into this shape under very high

pressure.

Senator Poindexter. Is it all cork, or is it part wood pulp ?

Admiral Earle. I think part of it is wood pulp and part of it is

cork.

Senator Poindexter. You do not know in what proportions ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Have you tried that in actual firing practice ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; we only obtained it this last week. We

are trying it, or are going to try it as soon as we can.

Senator Poindexter. You are going to subject it to actual firing

tests?

Admiral Earle. We have actually taken hold of it ; yes. It looks

to be the best thing that I have seen. We have looked at several.

Senator Poindexter. You stated awhile ago that, after all the

hearings and the information given by witnesses, and reports, you

had come to the conclusion that the accidents on board these ships

were caused in some way unknown to the Navy, by an interaction

between the brass mouth cup, the fuse, and the shell. I will ask you

if you will describe a little more specifically just how that inter

action took place.

105186—17 15
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Admiral Earle. This brass mouth cup is separated from this fuse

by a distance of about 2\ inches, provided the shell is home. Of

course, occasionally the shell is not home, and it may be right up

against it. But if the shell is properly home in the chamber there

should be that distance. I think that it is possible when the ex

plosion of the powder takes place it rips this brass mouth cup, appar

ently where it is not supported—nearly all of them go somewhere

along this line [indicating]. It also shows that when the brass mouth

cup hits the shell—the base of the shell—that in some cases a hole has

been punched out. Now, if that brass is punched out with great

force it may give the blow of a hammer to this tracer element of the

fuse; it may break that down, and even break down the partition be

tween the fuse and the tracer, and once that is done the shell must

burst.

Senator Poindexter. That would ignite the explosive in the shell,

would it?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; and then the shell would burst in the

gun.

Senator Frelinghuysen. But no tests were made of this combina

tion of parts previous to the issuance of this ammunition ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Now, you say that a thin shell, loaded with

high explosive, tends to explode on contact, striking on the outside

of a battleship, and would have the action of an egg thrown against

a hard surface.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. How do you account for the fact—I am ask

ing this purely for information ; there has been a good deal of contro

versy about it—but how do you account for the fact, if that is true,

that shells of that general type blew to pieces structures that were far

more formidable than the armor plate of a battleship ?

Admiral Earle. I do not know of that, sir. I have known of dif

ferent experiments, but I have not seen that they blew apart any

thing.

Senator Poindexter. There is not much dispute, is there, about

the manner in which the forts at Namur and Liege were destroyed?

Admiral Earle. They were destroyed by bursting shells.

Senator Poindexter. Bursting on the outside?

Admiral Earle. I do not know whether they burst on the outside

or whether they penetrated the thin roof of the fort.

Senator Poindexter. You do not know that?

Admiral Earle. Nobody knows that positively that I have talked

with. The shells used were high-explosive shells, of large caliber.

Senator Poindexter. Intended to explode on contact?

Admiral Earle. The object of every fuse is to try to delay the

action of these high explosives a little bit, and undoubtedly, in the

cases where the shell got through, the explosion wrecked the fort.

Senator Poindexter. You are not able to say whether they were

armor-piercing shells or high-explosive shells, exploding on contact

from the outside?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; I can not say whether they all exploded

outside, but my impression is. from reading, that those that did the

damage exploded inside, which was the case with the English battle

cruisers hit by the Germans during the Battle of Jutland.
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Senator Poindexter. The Germans used armor-piercing shells, did

they, in the Battle of Jutland ?

Admiral Earle. According to the English officers. They say that

they used absolutely none other, but that is the only information I

have.

Senator Poindexter. Is it not extremely important for us to know

what kind of shells were used by the Germans in destroying the Bel

gian forts ?

Admiral Earle. We do know that they were high-capacity shells,

and we do know that they were of several types—some of them, thin-

wall and some thick-wall shells. Now, just which type it was that

was successful, I do not know, because they were fired indiscrimi

nately, the same as we do on a battleship ; we do not know which ones

bit.

Senator Poindexter. You have none on the battleships that are

intended to explode upon contact ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; but we have just entered into a contract

for a large number of high-capacity 14-inch shells. Of course, there

is a difference of opinion as to their effectiveness.

Senator Poindexter. Tell us with reference to the contract made

for that type of shell.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir. The proportion we ordered was one-

tenth of the ammunition supply of the high-capacity type; that is,

nonarmor piercing. We expect them to be used indiscriminately,

as they come to hand.

Senator Poindexter. What fuse will you use with them ?

Admiral Earle. We are going to use a detonating fuse. We will

use whatever fuse turns out to be the best. Mr. Semple stated that

he had a monopoly in detonating fuses. Then, again, the point was

brought out that there were other fuses under consideration, which

is a fact. To-day we are manufacturing a fuse—in fact, ever since

the beginning of January we have manufactured fuses composed of

elements from different manufacturers, because we think that some

inventor has an idea that is valuable, we try them out at our expense,

because the inventor is not in a position to try them out himself. We

have had another fuse submitted, which is promised to be ready for

trial next week. Those are the only two fuses, as far as I know, at

present that are offered in competition with the Semple fuse.

The Acting Chairman. Admiral, is there any other statement you

wish to make to the committee ?

Admiral Earle. If you would like to have a long statement cov

ering the whole thing, I can make it.

The Acting Chairman. You can insert that in the record, if there

is no objection to that procedure.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. I can read it, but the only point is

that I should like to know what it is that is going into the record.

Admiral Earle. Then, I will read it [reading] :

The administrative policy of the Navy Department, in particular that of its

Bureau o*f Ordnance, has been questioned in three main instances before this

committee, whose sittings appear to me to have the more strongly brought out

the fact that the Bureau of Ordnance, on learning of the incidents now under

inquiry, took immediate steps along the correct lines to prevent the recur

rence of similar ones.

First. The death of the two nurses on the Mongolia was due to the brass

cartridge case mouth cup, the actual and visual proof being in the hands of the
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committee. The particular line of flight of this mouth cup could not have been

foreseen by any human being, although that their flight was always erratic is

a fact well known. This was due to no defect in the ammunition, which had

been assembled in accordance with the prescribed instructions.

Second. The premature bursts of 6-ineh shell issued to armed merchantmen

was utterly unexpected, and the determination of its cause has not been an easy

problem. The charge that the Navy, when called upon to arm a large number of

merchantmen, used old and defective ammunition and guns, is one that stings

the pride of every American naval officer, and one that hurts as well because of

its injustice, as the facts brought out before the committee prove that guns

were modern—in many cases absolutely new—that the ammunition was recently

assembed, its component parts all being of the latest and best, and all was

tested just prior to issue. The cause of the premature bursts is now believed

due to the combined interaction of shell, fuse, and mouth cup, the removal of

the latter apparently causing a disappearance of the trouble.

Third. The statement that the guns were ruined by these premature bursts

and that consequently the vessels were defenseless has been shown to have had

no foundation upon fact. Not a ship has been lost, nor a single person in

jured on account of the premature bursting of the projectiles, nor has a single

gun been put out of commission. The guns which have been scored have been

withdrawn tor relining simply because it is our policy to have only perfect

ordnance material in the hands of our officers and men, perfect so far as human

effort can accomplish. It may be of interest in this connection to note that a

13-inch gun on one of the older battleships (Alabama) was similarly scored by

the breaking up of a projectile in the bore, in the early days, and this gun was

left on board for a period of years, owing to lack of facilities for relining at

that time. This gun was perfectly accurate. Similarly, a 12-inch gun in No. 4

turret on the North Dakota was scored during long range battle practice, be

lieved to have been due to a breaking off of a fragment of a target projectile.

The ship stood No. 2 in the fleet in this practice, for which this gun was one of

the ranging guns. Later, this same turret got a Navy " E " for excellence in

marksmanship ; the scoring of the rifling had not impaired the accuracy of the

gun in the slightest. It is absolutely certain that the 6-ineh guns of the St.

Louis and other merchantmen were perfectly serviceable, and their subsequent

firings established this definitely. Examination since has shown them to be but

little injured.

For the further information of this committee, I again desire to point out

that upon receipt of official reports indicating an unsatisfactory performance of

certain of the 6-inch ammunition issued to armed merchantmen orders were

issued for its immediate withdrawal, while a comprehensive and searching

investigation was at once undertaken to determine both the cause and the

remedy.

Mindful of the fact that explosives are. in the very nature of things, in

herently dangerous, the bureau and its representatives have persistently exer

cised a scrutiny and attention to detail in the fabrication and assembly of its

ammunition components commensurate with the importance of this work.

That certain of its 6-inch ammunition should have unexpectedly proven de

fective was in itself quite naturally a matter of very grave concern to the

bureau, but one which in no way has impaired our faith and confidence in the

integrity and reliability of our ammunition.

With the knowledge obtained through the resent investigation of 6-inch

ammunition removed from the armed merchant ships it now appears probable

that the recent unsatisfactory performances of this particular ammunition

would have made themselves manifest in the proof firing had the brass mouth

cups been used in the cartridge cases fired at Indianhead.

It should be noted as a matter of particular record that mouth cups have

been extensively tested at Indianhead in the past and found to satisfactorily

perform their functions, and that their use at that station was discontinued for

the sole purpose of eliminating the danger caused by their peculiar and erratic

flight. The danger is due to the conditions prevailing at Indianhead as regards

the presence of personnel and near-by places of habitation, which creafes limi

tations entirely foreign to those under which our ammunition would normally

be used aboard ship.

In other words, prior to any newspaper reports or suggestion of investiga

tion the bureau took the necessary steps to guard against a recurrence of

similar trouble with its material. It is considered that in this case the remedy

is at hand and is being applied. The proving ground, the Washington Navy
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Yard, the general inspector of ammunition depots, the inspector of ordnance in

charge of the Iona Island ammunition deiiot, the inspector of powder for the

east coast, the inspector of ordnance at the New York Navy Yard, and the

officers of the bureau have ail been at work nml in consultation in connection

with the problem of securing a satisfactory substitute for the brass mouth cups.

Reports and samples are being received daily ; so far the proposition of Com

mander Gnlbraith of using a heavy disk of cork or cork composition, which is

sealed in place with eehaline paint, appears to be the simplest, most effective,

and most economical scheme. Further extensive firing at Indianhead has been

ordered. In the meantime, as previously stated, the 6-inch ammunition now

issued to the armed liners is assembled with wooden plugs in place of the

brass mouth cups originally used as a seal in the open end of the cartridge

case.

With regard to the investigation of the fuse, there has never been any ques

tion regarding the fuse in these projectiles. A premature in the gun, with this

type of fuse, is unknown, although it has been in service for over six years,

and thousands of them have been fired at Indianhead and by the fleet. Records

show that our fuses are not only excellent, but the best in the world, and we

have ample justification for this belief. Further, it may be stated that our

specifications were doubled in severity in 1914, and the fuses in this 6-inch

ammunition were of the latest and best type. Ballistically, it is practically

Impossible to obtain perfect tests, yet the fuses fitted to this 6-inch ammunition

for armed merchantmen were taken from lots that had given absolutely per

fect tests, thus showing them to be of exceptionally good quality and uni

formity.

When the present fuse requirements were first adopted as the " ideal," It was

stated by the manufacturers, and by officers of experience, that to develop

such a fuse was actually impossible. The fact remains that this ideal has

been achieved, and our fuses are not only fitted with night tracers, ah enormous

advantage, but all information we possess leads us to the belief that they

are the safest, most reliable, most sensitive, and quickest fuses in the world.

Necessarily our designs and specifications for fuses are to the highest degree

secret and confidential.

If anyone has had a design of fuse to offer, the bureau has stood ready at

any time to consider the type submitted, and to conduct tests, unless the de

sign was palpably unsafe or unsuitable. This is a standing policy of the

bureau, and hundreds of thousands of dollars have been spent by the bureau

in the tests and development of fuses in order to be absolutely sure that the

Navy has the best there is.

Finally, I desire to state to the committee again :

(a) That the causes for the Mongolia accident and the St. Louis trouble

are located and are being corrected as fast as vessels reach American ports.

(6) That proper remedial measures and Investigations were undertaken in

the bureau immediately upon learning of the accidents, aud prior to any hint

of public inquiry.

(c) That the ammunition issued our ships is the best that money and un

ceasing effort and vigilance of naval officers and civilian ordnance experts and

designers can procure, and that we firmly believe it the best in the world.

(d) That the ammunition on the armed merchantmen is giving a good ac-

mount of itself already: Lieut. Ware undoubtedly sank his boat on the first

trip of the Mongolia; Lieut. Vossler successfully repelled attack on the second

trip of the St Louis; and now Lieut. Seymour has again saved the Mongolia,

while Chief Turret Capt. Clark has just sunk his attacking submarine on the

Silve7- Shell.

(e) Accidents with explosives and ammunition are inevitable, as with any

thing else in this world, but when considered with the terrible recent naval

accidents in certain foreign navies, where entire ships have been lost, we may

regard ourselves as extremely fortunate. This is not to mention the scores of

disastrous explosions that have occurred at munitions plants, both here and

abroad. It Is Inevitable that we shall have many accidents, but every human

effort is made to avoid them, and we shall be fortunate indeed if we escape

with only a few premature bursts of projectiles.

(/) In conclusion, I deem it pertinent to bring to this committee,s atten

tion that naval officers, charged with inspection duty, and, in particular, the

inspection of guns, ammunition, and their component parts, of necessity must

be and are ever conscious of the fact that the material they may be inspecting

to-day will be the material with which they must go into battle and upon the
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proper action of which they must depend, not only for their own safety and

the safety of their crew under their command, but also for the larger and more

important end, the honor and ultimate victory of their country.

The Acting Chairman. Now, Admiral Earle, will you put into the

record a list of all the naval ships that use the 6-inch 40-caliber gun ?

Admiral Earle. That is in the record.

The Acting Chairman. No; not for all of them.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. You have in the record a list of the mer

chant ships that it is on. If it is not in the record, I desire to have

a list of all the ships with the number of guns; carrying 6-inch 40-

caliber guns, I believe it is?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir ; 40 and 45 caliber.

The Acting Chairman. Forty and fifty caliber guns, in which this

copper mouthpiece is used.

Admiral Earle. By name?

The Acting Chairman. Yes; by name and with the number of

guns on each.

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

(The matter referred to will be found printed in full on page —.)

Senator Frelinghuysen. I want to make two exceptions to the

report, if I may, on the ground, first, that in the statement that the

fuses and ammunition were tested, the admiral has stated that in

the assembling of the fuses—the Semple fuse and the mouth cup in

this ammunition, it was done for the first time, and no test was made ;

and, further, that in stating the failures and other accidents on mer

chant boats of other nations under other flags, no details or facts

are given, but only a general statement; and that the admiral be

given an opportunity to furnish a further statement in regard to

those two exceptions, if he cares to.

Admiral Earle. I think I have covered both of those points, Sen

ator. The latter would require considerable time in order to quote

all the authorities necessary to absolutely substantiate it here, and

this time can not be spared from other and vital work, and it is not

deemed good policy to disclose confidential reports or to make public

reasons for accidents in foreign or our own Navy which will give

valuable information to an enemy.

Senator Poindexter. Will this cork mouthpiece interfere in any

way with the effectiveness of the gun or ammunition ?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; it can not.

Senator Poindexter. It would not lessen the velocity of the pro

jectile.

Admiral Earle. Oh, no, sir; it certainly would not. The velocity,

of course, is always carefully worked out at Indianhead before it is

made up. I can make it more definite by saying that we have used it

in this way, without this [indicating], with a wooden disk, and the

velocity of the projectile has been the same. I have not used this

cork, because I did not have it.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Admiral, have you, in testing any other

fuse, charged for the use of the gun or the shells used by other fuse

manufacturers?

Admiral Earle. Did we what ?

Senator Frelinghuysen. Compel other fuse manufacturers than

Semple & Co. to pay for the use of the guns and shells and cartridge

cases used ?
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Admiral Earle. I think we have, sir. We usually give all com

panies a certain number of free trials, but after they have had a cer

tain number, which we consider to be fair, I think we charge them.

Lieut. Caskey. Not for experimental work.

Admiral Earle. No; not for experimental work, but after a while

it gets beyond the experimental stage.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Have you charged Semple & Co. for any

such material ?

Admiral Earle. I will have to look that up.

Lieut. Caskey. The inventors are on this basis, that they furnish

the material to be tested, whether it is fuses or apparatus, or whatnot;

they furnish the material and the Government furnishes all the acces

sories that go into the test. If it is something to be fired from a gun,

we give them the time of our officers at Indianhead and the powder

and the shell. That is the way it is done. A man comes up and says,

" I have got a good fuse," and we look at it, and if it looks pretty good,

we say, " Send down 20," and when they arrive there we give instruc

tions to the officers at Indianhead to conduct a test, and they are

usually conducted under an appropriation for " Experiments, ord

nance," but sometimes out of our incidental appropriation, and the

cost of the other material is borne by the Government, and that is the

standard practice, and Mr. Semple is treated no different in that re

spect from Anybody else. On occasion we have given aid to inventors

by furnishing the material that they wanted. Mr. Semple has always

borne that expense himself ; he has never charged us for experimental

material, although on a number of occasions we have offered to buy

for him, in conducting investigations with his material, something

outside of his province.

Senator Frelinghuvsen. I am very glad to have that cleared up,

because it was one of the questions which was asked to-day, or one of

the statements which was made, that Semple & Co. are given the op

portunity at the proving grounds to make their tests free of charge,

while other fuse manufacturers are charged for the material used.

The Acting Chairman. Lieut. Caskey, the experiments there are

under your direction ?

Lieut. Caskey. Yes, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. So the categorical answer is " No "?

Lieut. Caskey. Yes; the categorical answer is "No."

The Acting Chairman. The gunner's mate of the Virginian is here.

Do you wish him to testify about any matter ?

Admiral Earle. He was attacked by a submarine. I thought that

might be interesting.

The Acting Chairman. What ammunition did he have ?

Admiral Earle. He had 4-inch 40-caliber guns.

The Acting Chairman._We will be very glad to hear from him.

STATEMENT OF CHIEF GUNNER'S MATE J. F. BOHAN.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy?

Mr. Bohan. Seventeen years.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position?

Mr. Bohan. Chief gunners mate.

The Acting Chairman. Have you had a recent trip on a merchant

vessel?

Mr. Bohan. Yes.
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The Acting Chairman. What vessel did you have?

Mr. Bohan. The steamship Virginian.

The Acting Chairman. What constituted the gun crew on that

vessel ?

Mr. Bohan. Five men in each crew; two 4-inch guns, with five

men in each crew.

The Acting Chairman. Who was the officer in command?

Mr. Bohan. I was.

The Acting Chairman. You were in command?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What was the size of the guns you had?

Mr. Bohan. Four-inch 40-caliber.

The Acting Chairman. Did you do any practice shooting?

Mr. Bohan. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. How many times did you shoot going

over?

Mr. Bohan. We had one opportunity to fire at a floating target at

about 1,800 yards range. We fired about five shots at her.

The Acting Chairman. And how did your ammunition function?

Mr. Bohan. Perfectly, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Did you make a good record at shooting—

a good score?

Mr. Bohan. Well, according to the way the sights were mounted,

we did not have the opportunity to bore-sight it with the telescopes

and get the center line of the bore of the gun. I judge it was done

very well.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have some experience with sub

marines?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What experience did you have with sub

marines ?

Mr. Bohan. On the way back from St. Lazarre, France, when

about 230 miles off the coast of France, I happened to be on the

bridge, and the captain of the ship was on the bridge at the same

time, and he called my attention to the wake of a torpedo heading

toward the ship off the port beam about two points abaft the port

ueam.

Senator Poindexter. Coming toward the ship ?

Mr. Bohan. Yes; about 250 feet away, and he gave orders to the

helmsman to bring the ship hard to starboard, so that the torpedo

would pass her stern. I did not see anything of a submarine at the

time and neither did he, and the third mate was on watch on the

bridge. We started to zigzag the course of the ship, and about 15

minutes later a submarine appeared on the horizon about 5,000 yards

off our port quarter. My telephone system was out of order

Senator Poindexter. Toward the stern?

Mr. Bohan. Off the port quarter—that is, the stern of the ship—

and I ran aft to stand by and load the gun, and I had the gun crew

standing by the gun all the time, and during that time the sub

marine opened fire on us. I gave the order to set the range at 3,500

yards.

Senator Poindexter. Eight thousand five hundred yards?

Mr. Bohan. Three thousand five hundred yards. The captain of

the ship claimed that the submarine was 5,000 or 6,000 yards off, but
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all I could see from the stern was just her conning tower and the

flash of the gun going off, and my pointers claimed that they could

not pick up the submarine, due to the poor vision of the telescope,

so I gave orders to elevate the gun so many degrees, so as to keep

the gun in action as long as the submarine kept firing at us. The

submarine continued firing, but the nearest shell that came to us

was about 200 or 250 feet away from the stern.

Senator Poindexter. That is. the shells from the submarine?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir; and the submarine finally ceased firing after

firing about 25 shots—estimated 25 shots—at us; so. as she was dis

appearing, I gave the order to cease firing. In the meantime, we

had fired 16 shells.

Senator Poindexter. You fired what?

Mr. Bohan. We fired 16 shells.

Senator Poindexter. You did?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir; but we did not do any damage to the

submarine.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You did not observe a hit at all?

Mr. Bohan. No.

The Acting Chairman. What size gun did the submarine have?

Mr. Bohan. They must have had a 3-inch gun, at least.

The Acting Chairman. How near did the submarine come to

hitting your ship?

Mr. Bohan. The shells from her?

The Acting Chairman. Yes.

Mr. Bohan. About maybe 150 or 200 feet.

The Acting Chairman. And how many shots did the submarine

fire, do you suppose?

Mr. Bohan. Well, about 20 or 25 shells.

The Acting Chairman. And how near did you come to hitting the

submarine ?

Mr. Bohan. Well, I could not give a very good estimation of the

distance. I should judge the last shot fired was about a thousand

yards this side of her, as we were steaming along on our course,

going at a speed of 15 knots—the ship was.

The Acting Chairman. What was the difficulty in ascertaining the

distance the submarine was from the ship ?

Mr. Bohan. Well, I did not have any range finder to pick up the

distance.

The Acting Chairman. Why did you not have a range finder?

Mr. Bohan. There was none furnished to us with the equipment.

The Acting Chairman. Do they not furnish any range finders?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is the nature of the range finder

that you needed ?

Mr. Bohan. Well, to pick up the range, so that it can be trans

mitted to the man setting the sights—what we call the " sight setter " ;

that is a telescope affair.

The Acting Chairman. You say the gunner complained of some

thing being the matter with the telescope? What was the matter

with the telescope?

Mr. Bohan. It was an old-style telescope, and, due to laying in

storage or something, it had collected moisture on the inside of it.
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The Acting Chairman. Did you look at the telescope afterwards

to see whether it was a good telescope or not?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What did you find was the matter with it ?

Mr. Bohan. It was full of spots.

The Acting Chairman. Full of spots ?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir; it was all right for a distance estimated

about 2,000 yards; but if you wanted to pick up an object any farther

than that, it was kind of a blur.

The Acting Chairman. You estimated the range was about 3,500

yards ?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And that was with a 4-inch gun?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And what was the date of the manufac

ture of that gun ?

Mr. Bohan. 1898.

The Acting Chairman. 1898 was the date of the 4-inch gun;

was it a 4-inch gun Or a 3-inch gun ?

Mr. Bohan. A 4-inch 40-caliber.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have any trouble with your

shells?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir ; none whatever.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have any premature explosions?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir; the ammunition worked perfectly.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Who was in command of the gun crews ?

Mr. Bohan. I was in command of both crews, but I had a gunner's

mate, second class.

Senator Frelinghuysen. Was there a lieutenant in command?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir.

Senator Frelinghuysen. You were the ranking officer?

Mr. Bohan. Yes ; I was the ranking officer.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. What is the Virginian?

Mr. Bohan. A steamship of about 7,500 tons.

Senator Frelinghtjtsen. And is she a passenger boat?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir; she is a freighter.

Senator Frelinghtjysen. Were there any passengers on board?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir; well, there was the crew and the captain

and two or three stowaways ; no passengers.

Senator FRELiNGhursEN. Was there anyone on deck when you

began firing?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir. In the excitement, why, they started to

beat it for the boats; that is, to bring up their clothes—the crew, espe

cially—and life preservers.

Senator Frelinghuysen. In order to "beat it"?

Mr. Bohan. Yes.

Senator Frelinghuysen. I suppose if you had ordered them below,

they would have obeyed?

Mr. Bohan. Yes; they would have obeyed.

The Acting Chairman. After you left there, did you do any prac

ticing coming back?

Mr. Bohan. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Did your guns, ammunition, and all func

tion all right in the shots that you fired ?
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Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the only trouble you had was with

the telescope in finding the distance?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And in not having a range finder?

Mr. Bohan. Yes, sir.

The Acting Chairman. Now, Admiral Earle, can you tell us why

that telescope was not good, and why he did not have a range finder?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir; I can answer both questions.

The Acting Chairman. I would be very glad to have you do so

right now.

Admiral Earle. The telescopes for the 4-inch 40-caliber guns have

been stored a considerable time. The owners of this ship, like all of the

merchant ships that have gotten us into trouble, insisted on putting

that gun, telescope, and everything else on board ship with a private

contractor. They did not even give this chief gunner's mate a chance

to bore sight the gun ; it is wrong. I reported it to the Chief of Naval

Operations as soon as I heard of it. Those telescopes have been in

storage, and they have accumulated dust and moisture, and he should

have been allowed an opportunity to clean them before they were

taken out of storage.

The Acting Chairman. Before it was put on board ship?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. Before the ship sailed ?

Admiral Earle. Yes; but they would not even wait 3 hours on a

voyage that took them 20 days.

The Acting Chairman. They would not wait even three hours?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.

The Acting Chairman. And the reason why the telescope had not

been fixed up was that the ship would not wait for it to be done?

Admiral Earle. Yes ; apparently so.

The Acting Chairman. Now, what about the range finder?

Admiral Earle. That is easy, sir. We have not enough.

The Acting Chairman. Why have you not enough ? Is it because

of a failure to appropriate for them, or a lack of orders, or a failure

to use the money that we have given you to get them?

Admiral Earle. No, sir; but the deliveries are behind in range

finders. We are going to ask Congress soon to add a range-finder

establishment to the Washington Navy Yard, so that we can, in a

measure, be independent of private manufacturers; but the further

fact is that we had never thought it was going to be necessary to

arm merchantmen, and we had never provided range finders for them,

sir; and it will be a good many years before we can give a range

finder for every merchantman.

The Acting Chairman. As I understand, the appropriation that

Congress made last year and before that was to get guns and ammu

nition for auxiliaries for the Navy?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. That is, the ships that it was contemplated

would be brought in as a part of the Navy ?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

The Acting Chairman. But no appropriation had been made for

arming these merchant vessels?

Admiral Earle. No, sir.
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The Acting Chairman. And it had to be done as rapidly as we

could do it?

Admiral Earle. No; Congress was not asked for it. This was

something we had not counted on—that anybody would play war the

way the Germans are playing it, without any regard for common,

ordinary law or humanity. That made it necessary to arm mer

chantmen.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Admiral.

Senator Poindexter. I want to ask Admiral Earle just a few

questions, and then to ask a few questions of the gunner. Admiral,

have you supplied or been able to supply a range finder to any of the

merchant ships or to the gun crews on the merchant ships?

Admiral Earle. We have not, sir; and we do not consider it neces

sary. We had a council of war with the most able officers here. The

reason we do not consider it neceasary, I think, I can explain to you

in about two minutes. If you use a range finder you will find that

it is impossible to get a range on a submarine or anything that small

from a moving object. In other words, I do not consider, and neither

does any other officer consider, that a range finder would have

helped him in the slightest.

Senator Poindexter. Why?

Admiral Earle. Because you can not get the range on an object

of that kind quickly enough. I could show you the reason if I could

take you aboard ship and show you a range finder.

Senator Poindexter. The difficulty is what?

Admiral Earle. The difficulty is in picking up the object, and,

after picking it up, to get the definition without losing the object;

and with an object such as a submarine, rising and falling with the

waves, you couid never get it. Even our most expert range-finder

crews can not do it.

Senator Poindexter. What is the general character of the tele

scopes in the Navy ?

Admiral Earle. The general character is similar to the telescope he

had on his gun sight.

Senator Poindexter. Did we manufacture those telescopes and the

component parts of them in this country before the war?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did the Navy, before the breaking out of

the European war, depend on Germany for the lenses or any part of

the telescopic apparatus?

Admiral Earle. We did depend on Germany for a great deal of our

optical glass. Since the war began the Ordnance Bureau of the Navy

has taken up the subject with the Department of Commerce, and we

have put ourselves in a position to manufacture for the Navy sufficient

optical glass to supply our needs. Meanwhile these two firms that

manufacture it have developed their own manufacture of glass, in

stead of depending on Germany.

Senator Poindexter. Is the development of that satisfactory, in

the way of getting first-class instruments?

Admiral Earle. It is satisfactory, so far as first-class instruments

go. It is not satisfactory in that we are not getting them as fast as,

we want them.

Senator Poindexter. The quality, you think, will be all right?

Admiral Earle. The quality, we have every reason Id believe, is

all right.
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Senator Poindexter. Equal to the German?

Admiral Earle. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Now, what hour of the day was this that you

sighted the wake of the torpedo, Mr. Gunner?

Mr. Bohan. About 2.40 p. m. May 30.

Senator Poindexter. Did you only observe one torpedo?

Mr. Bohan. That is all, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What cargo did the Virginian have?

Mr. Bohan. Why, we had horses.

Senator Poindexter. What?

Mr. Bohan. We had on the way over a thousand horses, and bacon,

.lard, shoes, rice, and beans.

Senator Poindexter. And coming back what did you have?

Mr. Bohan. We came back light, sir. We did not have any cargo.

Senator Poindexter. What kind of weather was it ?

Mr. Bohan. Well, on the way over we had pretty rough weather

all the way.

Senator Poindexter. What kind of weather did you have at the

time of the sighting of the submarine ?

Mr. Bohan. It was clear weather and calm. The sea was calm.

Senator Poindexter. That is all.

The Acting Chairman. Thank you very much, Mr. Bohan. Now,

if any Senator has any other witness, we will be very glad to hear

from him.

Admiral Earle. Here is Lieut. Emmet, who was on the Minnesota.

The Acting Chairman. Very well, let us hear him.

STATEMENT OF LIEUT. ROBERT R. M. EMMET, UNITED STATES

NAVY.

The Acting Chairman. How long have you been in the Navy,

Lieutenant ?

Lieut. Emmet. Since 1904, sir.

The Acting Chairman. What is your present position ?

Lieut. Emmet. I am temporarily attached to the Bureau of Navi

gation. I have just returned from a trip to to Europe, in command

of the armed guard on the steamship Minnesota, American registry.

There are two boats named Minnesota in the same company—the

Atlantic Transport Line.

The Acting Chairman. How many guns did you have on the

Minnesota?

Lieut. Emmet. Four 4-inch 50-caliber E. F. guns, of date 1902,

mark 7.

The Acting Chairman. How large was your crew ?

Lieut. Emmet. I had 26 men.

The Acting Chairman. How much practicing did you do going

over?

Lieut. Emmet. I had drills twice a day, morning and afternoon.

We had emergency alarms at all hours of the day and night. I think,

if I am not mistaken, I had an alarm every night, at least some time,

until we were actually in the war zone.

The Acting Chairman. Now, how many shots did you fire in

practice ?

Lieut. Emmet. Immediately on clearing the port of New York I

proved the guns by firing two rounds a gun. The day before reaching
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longitude 20° W., which was within the prescribed area—of course,

we were at peace, as far as I knew then—I held a target practice of

eight rounds a man.

Senator Poindexter. What kind of target did you have?

Lieut. Emmet. I built a target on board. It was just a mark. It

was triangular, and it drifted, and we had the full area—about 8

square feet.

Senator Poindexter. Did you let it off the stern ?

Lieut. Emmet. I dropped it over and we steamed straight away

from it, and it was about a mile from the stern when we fired four

shots right over the stern, and then we turned and fired four shots

over the starboard quarter, and then we steamed straight at it and

fired four shots right over the bow. I hit it a few times, though I con

sidered it a calamity to hit it. I did not want to hit it.

Senator Poindexter. Why ?

Lieut. Emmet. Well, we only had one target and it gave the point

ers good practice aiming at it, and it gave me as good practice

spotting it.

The Acting Chairman. How many shots did you fire in all?

Lieut. Emmet. Thirty-eight.

The Acting Chairman. Did you have any premature explosions?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir. The guns functioned splendidly, and the

fuses. I do not think I had more than two or three shots, that I can

recall—I can recall one from the stern gun and one from the bow

gun—where the shell failed to explode when it hit the water.

Senator Poindexter. Other than in those two 'cases, did the shells

explode properly ?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes, sir; I think that all of them would haxe ex

ploded if they had hit anything solid. All the shells that hit the

raft broke up splendidly.

Senator Poindexter. Those were 4-inch guns ?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. Do you use fixed ammunition in those guns?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes, sir; it is different from this. The shell seals

the end of the cartridge case. It is just like a rifle cartridge.

Senator Poindexter. You use no brass mouth cup at all?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir. The shell takes the place of the brass cup.

It is fixed in the cartridge case. I could not see through my sights

several times on the voyage, but we fixed it so that we could see

through them in a few minutes. They got water in them and mois

ture.

Senator Poindexter. Did you have telescopes ?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did you have a range finder ?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. What is your view as to the utility of a range

finder ?

Lieut. Emmet. I do not think it is necessary, sir. It is a thing

that requires more or less expert handling to keep in adjustment. A

ship with an officer on it, like my ship, you could probably use it to

advantage, but mounting it up there, as Admiral Earle says, the

ranges are likely to be very unreliable. You can spot an object

with four or five shots, and you should be able to get your range

about the fifth or sixth shot. The British consider that if you are
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close to a submarine on the sixth shot it is excellent shooting, and I

think that is plenty time enough. Of course, all submarines are in

structed to be gun-shy, and if they see that fellow is going after them

in a workmanlike way, and they can see that he is chiseling up to

them, and that he is bound to get one unpleasantly near—possibly

the next shot— they usually pack up and leave.

Senator Poindexter. Did you see any indications of submarines?

Lieut. Emmet. Our radio, going over, we had a " S. O. S." call

frequently from all points of the compass. The captain and I put

them on a chart, and we had a chart like a currant bun. Coming

back we had two steamers torpedoed. We got a message at 5 o'clock

in the afternoon that we were approaching the known position of a

submarine, and that night I think most of the officers and the petty

officers had a submarine close after the Minnesota. I fired one shot

at it, but it was a pitch-black night, and I had just come out of a

dark room ; I had turned in half an hour before.

Senator Poindexter. What time of night was that ?

Lieut. Emmet. 12.40 in the morning, sir.

Senator Poindexter. Did you see anything at all ?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir ; I did not see a thing.

Senator Poindexter. Did one of the officers of the ship claim that

he saw something?

Lieut. Emmet. No. One of my men. I had 13 men on the lookout

at the time. I had half of them on watch. He saw a phosphorescent

wake and streaks of phosphorus that appeared to go along with the

ship, so he promptly gave the prescribed alarm, and I popped out on

deck. I heard the chief officer of the ship say that he could see a sub

marine close aboard, and to fire at it. I gave the men the order to

fire, and I saw the shell break up. It hit about 150 yards from the

ship. Then I took another good look, and I had my glass with me,

and I gave an order to cease firing, and I walked to the aft gun,

and most of the men could see submarines back there, but I could not,

and we had not been torpedoed then, but there was a chance for him

to do it if he had been there. There was a tremendous flash from

the firing of the guns, so we ceased firing and kept a sharp lookout

until daylight, but did not see anything. The equipment supplied

the Minnesota was excellent in every way. I did not have a bit of

trouble, except one or two little things, like a broken firing lanyard,

and of course I was a little green on that type of gun ; I had not been

with one for several years, and my men had been trained on another

type of gun, but we had 10 days, and we put in hard work on it and

did pretty well.

Senator Poindexter. Did you have any trouble when you sailed

in getting time to bore sight your guns?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir. The ship anchored in Gravesend Bay for

a day and a half, and I had some trouble with the breech mechanism

of one of the guns, which was, I think, on account of having been

struck by the cargo getting on board, but I got another one from the

navy yard.

Senator Poindexter. What cargo did the ship carry—what kind

of cargo?

Lieut. Emmet. We had wheat, corn, oats, bacon, wax, oil, a lot of

bar steel, and we had quite a large consignment of 9.2 projectiles,

unloaded, and a lot of 6-inch shell forgings, and a deck load of agri
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cultural machinery aft, and we had 176 aeroplanes, all except the

motors.

Senator Poindexter. Any passengers? ,

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir.

Senator Poindexter. When did you sail on that trip?

Lieut. Emmet. The 24th of March.

Senator Poindexter. I would like to ask Admiral Earle, in regard

to the refusal of the Virginian to wait a reasonable length of time for

the proper preparation of the armament of the ship; have you had

that same trouble with any other merchant ships?

Admiral Earle. There has been a great inclination shown not to

wait a sufficient length of time. I do not suppose that the chief petty

officer insisted on it sufficiently.

Senator Poindexter. The point I have in mind is whether the

department would not have means of compelling them to wait ?

Admiral Earle. That was all taken up, sir, and was gone over

carefully, as to whether we should actually put a naval officer in com

mand of the ship, so that we could insure that the ammunition was

all right, and it was decided, and probably wisely so, not to do so.

Senator Poindexter. I remember that question of policy was

raised at the time.

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. And I think it was decided that the respon

sibility for the navigation of the ship should be left with the owner?

Admiral Earle. Yes.

Lieut. Emmet. The International Mercantile Marine, Atlantic

Transport, the Eed Star, and so on, their management, I think, is

fully alive to the necessity of providing the necessary facilities. All

of those ships out of New York were amply instructed on those lines.

Senator Poindexter. The Minnesota was one of that line?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes, sir; she was the Great Northern, and was

bought last February.

Senator Poindexter. Oh, yes; from Seattle?

Lieut. Emmet. Yes.

Senator Poindexter. A large ship ?

Lieut. Emmet. She is the largest ship under American registry—•

she and her sister ship. Her sister ship was a total loss some years ago.

Senator Poindexter. The Mongolia?

Lieut. Emmet. No, sir; the Dalcota.

Admiral Earle. Yes: the Dakota, lost on the coast of Japan.

The Chairman. That is all. We thank you very much.

Now, gentlemen, we will conclude the evidence, unless we can get

a witness that we are now looking for, and exhausting every possible

avenue of information, trying to ascertain where he is, and summon

him before the committee.

I will call the committee together if I can ascertain the where

abouts of that witness whom we are seeking and get him before the

committee.

Admiral Earle. That is all until we hear from you, Senator ?

The Acting Chairman. Yes; this concludes the testimony. We

will have it printed as quickly as possible.

(Whereupon, at 5.30 o'clock p. m., the committee adjourned, subject

to the call of the chairman.)
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